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LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  

 

This Glossary assigns definitions to the listed terms.  The definition given to a term listed in this 

Glossary applies whenever the term appears in this Request for Proposals (RFP) and in any 

response, including a Proposal, to this Request for Proposals.   

Term Definition 

Apparent Successful 

Proposer 

The Proposer recommended by the evaluation committee and 

approved by the Executive Director, subject to the execution of a 

completed contract.  

Backup Data Center 
The back-up computer facility located in the State of Texas, 

which is maintained and operated by the Successful Proposer. 

Contract 

The agreement entered into by the Texas Lottery and the 

Successful Proposer, which will incorporate the contents of this 

RFP and the Successful Proposer‘s Proposal, except as 

specifically provided to the contrary in the Contract and any 

amendments to the Contract. 

Contract Award  
The signing of a Contract between the Texas Lottery and the 

Successful Proposer. 

Corporate, Key, and Chain 

Accounts 

Corporate Accounts - Retailers operating with more than one 

selling location; achieving a $50,000 minimum weekly sales 

average; and utilizing a single bank account for the Electronic 

Funds Transfer process. 

Key Accounts - Retailers operating with more than one selling 

location; achieving a $100,000 minimum weekly sales average; 

and utilizing a single bank account for the Electronic Funds 

Transfer process. 

Chain Accounts - Retailers operating with more than one selling 

location and utilizing a single bank account for the Electronic 

Funds Transfer process. 

Cost Proposal 

The base system and services pricing for any and all 

requirements, goods and services described in this RFP, 

including items specified as an option, submitted by a Proposer, 

as set forth in Attachment H. 

CPA Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts. 

Day   A calendar day. 

Executive Director 

The Executive Director of the Texas Lottery Commission or an 

employee of the Texas Lottery Commission authorized to act on 

behalf of the Executive Director. 
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Term Definition 

Historically Underutilized 

Business (HUB) 

A business based in the State of Texas and formed for the 

purpose of making a profit, which is at least 51 percent owned, 

operated, and controlled by one or more HUB group members 

(see Attachment C). 

HSP  

 The Historically Underutilized Business Subcontracting Plan 

(HSP) required by Chapter 2161 of the Texas Government Code 

and by Texas Lottery Commission Rule, 16 Texas 

Administrative Code § 403.301 (see Attachment C). 

Instant Ticket  

An instant ticket lottery game, developed and offered for sale to 

the public in accordance with Texas Lottery Commission rules, 

that is played by removing the security coating which covers the 

play area on an instant ticket, revealing the ticket play symbols. 

Intellectual Property 

Rights  

The worldwide legal rights or interests evidenced by or 

embodied in: (i) any idea, design, concept, personality right, 

method, process, technique, apparatus, invention, discovery, or 

improvement, including any patents, trade secrets, and know- 

how; (ii) any work of authorship, including any copyrights, 

moral rights or neighboring rights; (iii) any trademark, service 

mark, trade dress, trade name, or other indicia of source or 

origin; (iv) domain name registrations; and (v) any other 

proprietary or similar rights.  The Intellectual Property Rights of 

a party include all worldwide legal rights or interests that the 

party may have acquired by assignment or license with the right 

to grant sublicenses. 

Invited Option 

An Invited Option is identified as being of specific interest to the 

Texas Lottery; however, the Texas Lottery makes no 

commitment to any quantity or timing for acquisition.  The 

Proposer is not obligated to include an Invited Option in the 

Proposal. 

LATA 

Local Access Transfer Area. A geographical area within which a 

divested Bell telephone company is permitted to offer local 

telecommunications and exchange services. 

Lottery Gaming System or 

System, or 

Proposer’s System 

The system to be provided by the Successful Proposer that 

includes the set of Lottery software, Lottery network, Lottery 

equipment and any other components that perform all Lottery 

functions, including, but not limited to, sales, validations, 

inventory and retailer management, claims processing, 

marketing support, Instant Ticket warehousing and distribution, 

and reporting.  These systems will provide the ability to control, 

monitor and report all lottery activity. 
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Term Definition 

Lottery Operator 

The Successful Proposer that the Texas Lottery enters into a 

contract to perform functions, activities, and/or services in 

connection with the operation of the Texas Lottery as required 

by this RFP. 

Lottery Products  
All games presently offered by the Texas Lottery, together with 

new games introduced during the Contract term  

Lottery Sales 

Representative (LSR) 

An employee of the Successful Proposer responsible for dealing 

with the Retailer sales and field services in regard to Lottery 

Products. The Successful Proposer will have multiple LSRs. 

Offered Option  

Offered Options are not identified in this RFP, but may be 

identified by the Proposer and included in the Proposal.  This is 

an opportunity for Proposers to offer options that the Texas 

Lottery may not have been aware of at the time the RFP was 

written.  The Texas Lottery makes no commitment to quantity or 

timing for acquisition of Offered Options. A Proposer is not 

obligated to include an Offered Option in the Proposal. 

On-Line Ticket 

A computer-generated ticket issued to a player as a receipt for 

the combination of numbers a player has selected, and generated 

on a Terminal (as defined herein) on official Texas Lottery paper 

stock, by either selecting his or her own numbers or selecting 

Quick Pick, which is a random number generator operated by the 

computer. That ticket shall be the only acceptable evidence of 

the combination of digits, numbers, or symbols selected. On-

Line Tickets may be purchased only from On-Line retailers. 

Operating Hours 

 The period of time during a Day that the Texas Lottery 

designates, in its sole discretion, that Lottery Products sales, 

validations, reporting, and management functions are available.  

The Texas Lottery‘s current operating hours are daily from 

12:30 a.m. to midnight Central Time. 

Player Activated Sales 

Terminals 

A player-operated terminal installed at a Retailer location that 

communicates with the Lottery Gaming System for the purpose 

of printing On-Line Tickets, selling Instant Tickets, 

communicating winning, non-winning and actual prize amount 

data and performing other functions as identified in this RFP and 

the Contract. 

Player Activated Self 

Check Terminal 

A player-operated terminal installed at a Retailer location that 

communicates with the Lottery Gaming System for the purpose 

of communicating winning, non-winning and actual prize 

amount data. 

Primary Data Center 

The computer facility that supports the Lottery Gaming System 

located in Austin, Texas, which is maintained and operated by 

the Successful Proposer. 
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Term Definition 

Prime Contract  

The following contracts which the Texas Lottery has entered 

into or may enter into in the future are considered prime 

contracts:  lottery operator, instant ticket vending machine 

supplier, instant ticket manufacturer, random animated digital 

drawing system, advertising services, lottery drawings audit 

services, drawings broadcast services, instant ticket testing 

services, annual financial audit and Mega Millions agreed-upon 

engagement procedures,  outside counsel for intellectual 

property matters, outside counsel for Lottery Operations and 

Services Procurement, statistical consulting services, and 

surveillance camera products and related services.  The Texas 

Lottery may, at its sole option, add or delete contracts that are 

considered prime contracts. 

Proposal 

All information and materials submitted by a Proposer in 

response to this RFP. This includes the Cost Proposal, Technical 

Proposal, and other information and materials provided to the 

Texas Lottery by the Proposer prior to Contract Award. 

Proposer 

 

An individual or entity that submits a Proposal. The term 

includes anyone acting on behalf of the individual or entity that 

submits a Proposal, such as agents, employees and 

representatives. 

 

 

Responsive Proposal 

 

 

A Proposal submitted which conforms in all material respects to 

the RFP. 

Retailer 

A Texas Lottery sales agent, licensed by the Texas Lottery to 

sell lottery tickets, as contemplated by Texas Government Code, 

Chapter 466. 

Retailer Sales Terminal 

The clerk assisted terminal installed at a Retailer location that 

communicates with the Lottery Gaming System for the purpose 

of printing and validating On-Line Tickets, validating Instant 

Tickets, performing pack management and accounting and 

reporting functions, and other functions as identified in this RFP 

and the Contract. 

RFP This Request for Proposals. 

Sales 

Sales are defined as sold tickets processed by the Lottery 

Gaming System, less any tickets that have been canceled or 

returned, less any promotional tickets or promotional coupons 

and less any retailer adjustments. 

Service Level or 

Service Level 

Requirements  

(SLR) 

Minimum performance requirement(s) that must be provided by 

the Successful Proposer.  
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Term Definition 

Specified Option 

A Specified Option must be proposed by the Proposer; however, 

the Texas Lottery does not commit to any quantity or timing for 

acquisition of a Specified Option.  A Proposal may be rejected if 

a Specified Option is not included. 

State 
The State of Texas and its agencies, boards and commissions, 

officers and employees. 

Subcontractor  

A person who contracts with the Successful Proposer to work, to 

supply commodities, or contribute toward completing work for 

the Texas Lottery. 

Successful Proposer 
The Proposer with whom the Texas Lottery executes a Contract 

to provide the goods and services that this RFP requires. 

Technical Proposal 
All information and materials submitted by a Proposer in 

response to this RFP with the exception of the Cost Proposal. 

Terminal 

 

Any online device that communicates with the Lottery Gaming 

System for the purpose of selling On-Line and/or Instant Tickets, 

validating On-Line and Instant Tickets or communicating 

winning, non-winning and prize amount data, including 

references to Retailer Terminal. 

Texas Lottery 

Commission, Texas 

Lottery, Lottery or TLC 

That agency created by Chapters 466 and 467, Texas 

Government Code.  The Texas Lottery Commission may be 

referred to as the Texas Lottery, Lottery or TLC throughout this 

document. 

TPASS  
Texas Procurement and Support Services.  TPASS is a division 

of the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts (CPA). 

Working Days 

Business days occurring Monday through Friday except for the 

legal holidays observed by the State of Texas.  The terms 

―working days‖ and ―business days‖ may be used 

interchangeably. 
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Term Definition 

Works 

Any tangible or intangible items or things that have been or will 

be prepared, created, maintained, serviced or developed by a 

Successful Proposer (or such third parties as the Successful 

Proposer may be permitted to engage) at any time following the 

effective date of the Contract, for or on behalf of TLC under the 

Contract, including but not limited to any (i) works of authorship 

(such as literary works, musical works, dramatic works, 

choreographic works, pictorial, graphic and sculptural works, 

motion pictures and other audiovisual works, sound recordings 

and architectural works, which includes but is not limited to 

lottery games, game names, game designs, ticket format and 

layout, manuals, instructions, printed material, graphics, artwork, 

images, illustrations, photographs, computer software, scripts, 

object code, source code or other programming code, HTML 

code, data, information, multimedia files, text web pages or web 

sites, other written or machine readable expression of such 

works fixed in any tangible media, and all other copyrightable 

works), (ii) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade names, 

logos, or other indicia of source or origin, (iii) ideas, designs, 

concepts, personality rights, methods, processes, techniques, 

apparatuses, inventions, formulas, discoveries, or improvements, 

including any patents, trade secrets and know-how, (iv) domain 

names, (v) any copies, and similar or derivative works to any of 

the foregoing, (vi) all documentation and materials related to any 

of the foregoing, (vii) all other goods, services or deliverables to 

be provided to TLC under the Contract, and (viii) all Intellectual 

Property Rights in any of the foregoing. 
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PART 1  

GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1 PURPOSE 

1.1.1 The Texas Lottery Commission is issuing this Request for Proposals (RFP) to solicit 

proposals from interested vendors to provide lottery operations services and equipment, 

including, but not limited to, a Lottery Gaming System and sales, marketing, warehouse, 

distribution and related services to implement and operate Texas Lottery games.   

1.1.2 The Texas Lottery currently contracts with a single vendor (the Lottery Operator) for 

lottery operations and services. The Lottery Operator provides a wide range of goods and 

services essential to the delivery of lottery gaming services. This integrated approach for 

the provision of the Lottery Gaming System and the sales, marketing, warehouse, 

distribution and related services has been successful. The Texas Lottery believes that the 

current integrated operating model provides a cohesive approach to game development, 

systems support, sales, marketing and distribution and mitigates risk to the revenue 

stream that provides funding for education, veterans‘ assistance, and other governmental 

purposes as required by the Texas Legislature. The Texas Lottery is not predisposed to 

any particular solution or service delivery methodology, nor does the Texas Lottery 

intend to limit the creativity of interested parties. Two or more entities may collaborate to 

file a Proposal, but they must designate a single entity that will contract with the Texas 

Lottery and be responsible for the delivery of all goods, services and requirements set 

forth in its Proposal. All Proposals submitted shall completely define the responsibilities 

of the primary contractor and each participating Subcontractor.  

1.1.3 The goods and services required in this RFP can generally be categorized as follows: 

a) Gaming System design, operation and maintenance for On-line and Instant 

Tickets 

b) Lottery management system design, operation and maintenance 

c) Telecommunications network design, operation and maintenance 

d) Terminal installation, maintenance, repair, relocation and removal 

e) Call center support system (Retailer services and system operation) 

f) Facilities 

g) Marketing research personnel and services  

h) Promotions personnel and services 

i) Field sales personnel and services 

j) Instant Ticket and On-Line Ticket stock warehousing 

k) Instant Ticket and On-Line Ticket stock packing 

l) Instant Ticket and On-Line Ticket stock distribution 

m) Ticket order processing and telemarketing 
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1.1.4 Proposers shall provide information in their Proposals that will permit awarding a 

Contract in a manner that provides the best value to the Texas Lottery. A Proposer‘s 

failure to respond in the manner required in this RFP may result in disqualification of its 

Proposal. 

1.2 BACKGROUND 

1.2.1 Through August 2009, total transfers by the Texas Lottery to the State of Texas equal 

more than $17 billion. The Texas Lottery continues to explore new and better ways to 

generate revenue for the State while operating within its governing laws.  

1.2.2 In fiscal year 2009, which ended August 31, 2009, Texas Lottery sales totaled $3.7 

billion.  Approximately 75% of the sales were from the instant ticket product and 25% of 

the sales were from the on-line product.   

1.2.3 The Lottery, in its sole discretion, shall make all final decisions regarding the 

development and implementation of lottery games for the State of Texas. 

1.2.4 The Successful Proposer shall be required to provide goods and services as specified in 

this RFP and shall fully understand the Texas Lottery‘s history and background, and 

support the Texas Lottery‘s vision, mission, core values and goals. Proposers are 

encouraged to review the agency‘s 2008-2011 Business Plan and 2009-2013 Strategic 

Plan, both of which may be found on the Texas Lottery‘s website at www.txlottery.org. 

1.3 CURRENT LOTTERY OBJECTIVES 

Proposals submitted in response to this RFP shall reflect the objectives of the Texas 

Lottery, as described below: 

a) To operate the Texas Lottery in an efficient manner, optimizing revenues to the 

Foundation School Fund;  

b) To operate the Texas Lottery emphasizing security and integrity by maintaining 

public confidence in the fair and ethical operation of the Texas Lottery and its 

games; and  

c) To meet or exceed the statutory requirements for minority participation in the 

provision of goods and services to the Texas Lottery. 

1.4 OUR VISION AND MISSION 

1.4.1 Vision – To be the preeminent Lottery and Charitable Bingo agency through innovative 

leadership. 

1.4.2 Mission – The Texas Lottery is committed to generating revenue for the state of Texas 

through the responsible management and sale of entertaining lottery products. The Texas 

Lottery will incorporate the highest standards of security and integrity, set and achieve 

challenging goals, provide quality customer service and utilize a TEAM approach. 

http://www.txlottery.org/
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1.5 OUR CORE VALUES 

1.5.1 Integrity and Responsibility — The Texas Lottery Commission works hard to maintain 

the public trust by protecting and ensuring the security of our lottery games, systems, 

drawings and operational facilities. We value and require ethical behavior by our 

employees, licensees and vendors. We promote the integrity of Charitable Bingo in Texas 

for the benefit of charitable organizations. 

1.5.2 Innovation — We strive to incorporate innovation into our products to provide the 

citizens of Texas with the best entertainment experience available through our products. 

We pursue the use of technology that enhances the services that we provide to our 

customers and reduces our operating expenses. 

1.5.3 Fiscal Accountability — We emphasize fiscal accountability by ensuring that all 

expenditures directly or indirectly generate revenue, enhance security, fulfill regulatory 

requirements, improve customer service and/or boost productivity. We recognize our 

responsibility in generating revenue for the State of Texas without unduly influencing 

players to participate in our games. We maximize benefits to charities through the 

continual examination and review of Charitable Bingo operations. 

1.5.4 Customer Responsiveness — The Texas Lottery Commission takes pride in providing 

exemplary service to the people of Texas through the courteous dissemination of clear 

and accurate information about our products, services and regulatory functions. We seek 

and respond to feedback expressed by our employees, retailers, licensees and the playing 

and non-playing public. We apply this feedback in the development of our products and 

in the services that we provide.  

1.5.5 Teamwork — We are committed to creating an environment of mutual respect where 

open, honest communication is our cornerstone. We embrace the diversity of our team 

and individual perspectives in working together to achieve our common goals.  

1.5.6 Excellence — We strive for excellence by taking a position of leadership on issues that 

impact the Texas Lottery Commission and achieve challenging goals by focusing on our 

core values. 

1.6 SCHEDULE OF EVENTS 

The following time periods are set forth for informational and planning purposes only. 

The Texas Lottery reserves the right to change any of the time periods and will post all 

changes on the Electronic State Business Daily, http://esbd.cpa.state.tx.us/ and the Texas 

Lottery website, http://www.txlottery.org/  (Click on About Us, Doing Business with 

TLC, Procurement).   

  

http://www.txlottery.org/
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DATE EVENT 

January 4, 2010 

(4:00 p.m., CENTRAL TIME) 

Issuance of RFP 

January 20, 2010 

(9:00 a.m., CENTRAL TIME) 

Pre-Proposal Conference at Texas Lottery 

Headquarters (Mandatory)* 

February 2, 2010 

(9:00 a.m., CENTRAL TIME) 

Pre-Proposal Conference at Texas Lottery 

Headquarters (Mandatory)* 

 February 9, 2010 (4:00 p.m., CENTRAL 

TIME)  

(Late Questions will not be answered) 

First Round Written Questions Due 

February 19, 2010 Responses to Written Questions Issued 

 March 22, 2010 (4:00 p.m., CENTRAL 

TIME)  

(Late Questions will not be answered) 

Second Round Written Questions Due 

March 30, 2010 Responses to Written Questions Issued 

February 22-March 5, 2010 

 (as may be revised by the Texas Lottery) 

Mandatory HSP Workshops  

 April 27, 2010 (4:00 p.m., CENTRAL TIME) 

(Late Proposals will not be considered) 

Deadline for Cost Proposal and Proposer‘s 

Commitment  

 

April 28, 2010 

(4:00 p.m., CENTRAL TIME) 

(Late Proposals will not be considered) 

Deadline for Technical Proposal, Bid 

Bond/Proposal Surety, and Protest/Litigation 

Bond 

 

June 7, 2010 – June 11, 2010  

(as may be revised by the Texas Lottery) 

Oral Presentations (to be conducted at Texas 

Lottery‘s sole discretion) 

June 21, 2010 – June 25, 2010 

 (as may be revised by the Texas Lottery) 

Site Visits (to be conducted at Texas Lottery‘s 

sole discretion) 

on or before 

August 9, 2010 

(or as soon as possible thereafter)  

Announcement of Apparent Successful 

Proposer 

*Proposers must attend one of the two (2) mandatory pre-proposal conferences – 

Refer to Section 2.3. 

 

1.7 SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER’S / LOTTERY RELATIONSHIP 

The Texas Lottery Commission is a part of the Executive Branch of Texas State 

Government. The Texas Lottery will not relinquish control over lottery operations.  The 

Successful Proposer shall function under the supervision of the Texas Lottery. Its 

operations will be subject to the same scrutiny and oversight that would apply if all 

operations were performed by Texas Lottery employees.  Accordingly, all operations 

must be conducted in adherence to applicable statutes and the highest ethical standards.  
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1.8 PROCUREMENT AUTHORITY 

This RFP and all activities leading toward the execution of a written contract pursuant to 

this RFP are being conducted in accordance with the State Lottery Act (Tex. Gov't Code 

Ann. § 466.001 et seq.), as amended; the Texas Lottery's administrative regulations (16 

Tex. Admin. Code  401.101 et seq.); and other applicable laws of the State of Texas.  

All Proposers should read and be familiar with the State Lottery Act and 16 TAC § 

401.101. 

1.9 PROPOSALS SUBJECT TO TEXAS PUBLIC INFORMATION ACT 

1.9.1 The Texas Lottery is subject to the Texas Public Information Act (Act) (Tex. Gov‘t Code 

Ann. Ch.  552). Proposals submitted to the Texas Lottery in response to this RFP are 

subject (in their entirety) to release by the Texas Lottery as public information. However, 

a Proposal, or specific parts thereof, may be shown by the Proposer to fall within one or 

more of the exceptions to disclosure provided in the Act, the State Lottery Act or other 

applicable law. Marking an entire Proposal as ―confidential‖ or copyrighted is 

unacceptable.   If a Proposer believes that parts of its Proposal are confidential under the 

Act, it should specify the confidential information by marking ―Confidential‖ on each 

page or by each paragraph containing such information prior to submitting the Proposal 

to the Texas Lottery. In response to this Section, Proposers shall provide the Texas 

Lottery with specific and detailed reasons for each item marked ―Confidential‖. Vague 

and general claims to confidentiality are not acceptable.  This detail is necessary so that 

the Texas Lottery will have sufficient information to provide to the Attorney General of 

Texas, if a ruling regarding the confidentiality of such information is requested.  The 

Texas Lottery will notify a Proposer if all or part of its Proposal is requested under the 

Act.  Failure of a Proposer to respond to such notification may result in the release of all 

or part of the Proposal as public information.  It is the Proposer‘s obligation to submit 

briefing to the Attorney General setting forth the basis upon which the requested 

information should remain confidential.  The Attorney General may determine all or part 

of a Proposal to be public information even though parts of the Proposal were marked 

―Confidential‖ by the Proposer. Please also note that the Attorney General has previously 

ruled that the statutory exception in Section 552.104 of the Act (Exception: Information 

Related to Competition or Bidding) generally does not apply after a contract has been 

awarded. 

1.9.2 The Texas Lottery assumes no responsibility for asserting legal arguments to the 

Attorney General on behalf of Proposers. 

1.9.3 Proposers are advised to consult with their legal counsel concerning disclosure issues 

resulting from this procurement process and to take precautions to safeguard trade secrets 

and other proprietary information. 

1.10 MISUNDERSTANDING OR LACK OF INFORMATION 

By submitting a Proposal, a Proposer covenants and agrees that it fully understands and 

will abide by the terms and conditions of the RFP and it will not make any claims for, or 
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have any rights to, cancellation or relief without penalty because of any misunderstanding 

or lack of information.  The Executive Director reserves the right to accept Proposals by 

waiving minor technicalities therein if the Executive Director, within his or her sole 

discretion, determines it to be in the best interests of the Texas Lottery.  The decision of 

the Executive Director shall be conclusive, subject to protest under Section 2.21 of this 

RFP.   

1.11 REJECTION OF PROPOSALS AND CANCELLATION OF RFP 

Issuance of this RFP and/or retention of Proposals do not constitute a commitment on the 

part of the Texas Lottery to award a Contract.  The Texas Lottery maintains the right to 

reject any or all Proposals and to cancel this RFP if the Executive Director, in his or her 

sole discretion, considers it to be in the best interests of the Texas Lottery to do so. 

1.12 OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSALS 

All materials submitted by a Proposer will become the property of the Texas Lottery and 

may be used as the Texas Lottery deems appropriate. 

1.13 INCURRED EXPENSES 

The Texas Lottery accepts no obligations for costs incurred in preparing and submitting a 

Proposal.  Proposals shall be submitted at the sole expense of the Proposer.  All Proposals 

shall be prepared simply and economically, providing a straightforward, concise 

delineation of the Proposer‘s capabilities to satisfy the requirements of this RFP. 

1.14 PROPOSAL TENURE 

All Proposals shall be valid for a period of three hundred and sixty-five (365) Days from 

the deadline for submitting Proposals. 

1.15 NO TEXAS LOTTERY OBLIGATIONS 

The Texas Lottery reserves the right to select qualified Proposals to this RFP without 

discussion of the Proposals with Proposers. It is understood that all Proposals will 

become a part of the Texas Lottery‘s official procurement files after a Contract has been 

awarded or the procurement has been terminated, and will be available for public 

inspection except for portions that the Proposer has designated as proprietary and 

confidential (see Sections 552.110 and 552.305 of the Public Information Act and RFP 

Section 1.9 above).   

1.16 SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER’S OBLIGATIONS 

The Successful Proposer shall always be responsible for the performance of any 

contractual obligations that may result from the award of a Contract based on this RFP 

and shall be liable for the non-performance of any or all Subcontractors.   
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1.17 CAPTIONS 

The captions to the Sections of this RFP are for convenience only and are not part of the 

RFP‘s substantive terms. 

1.18 SURVIVAL 

Provisions of this RFP which of their nature and effect are necessary to enable the 

Lottery to function normally and to meet all of its obligations shall survive any 

termination of any Contract resulting from this RFP.  These provisions include, but are 

not limited to, all of the warranties and representations and any provision that by its terms 

provides for applicability beyond the end of any Contract period. 

1.19 PARTS INCORPORATED 

All attachments and appendices listed in the Table of Contents, and all materials provided 

to a prospective Proposer pursuant to the non-Disclosure Statement required under 

Section 2.4 below are incorporated into and expressly made a part of this RFP. 
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2.1 CONTACT PERSONS 

The sole point of contact for communications concerning this RFP will be Angela 

Zgabay-Zgarba, whose address and facsimile number are as follows: 

Angela Zgabay-Zgarba 

Contracts Administrator 

Texas Lottery Commission 

P. O. Box 16630 

    Austin, TX 78761-6630 

Fax (512) 344-5444 

contracts@lottery.state.tx.us 

 

The Texas Lottery headquarters‘ physical address for deliveries is: 

Angela Zgabay-Zgarba  

Contracts Administration 

Texas Lottery Commission 

611 East 6th Street 

Austin, TX  78701 

 

Cost Proposals, Start-up Costs and Proposers‘ Commitments must be delivered to: 

Patrick F. Thompson 

Graves, Dougherty, Hearon & Moody 

401 Congress Ave, Suite 2200 

Austin, Texas 78701 

2.2 PROHIBITION AGAINST UNAUTHORIZED CONTACT 

2.2.1 The Texas Lottery is committed to a procurement process that maintains the highest level 

of integrity. Accordingly, Proposers, as well as their agents, liaisons, advocates, 

lobbyists, ―legislative consultants,‖ representatives or others promoting their position, are 

limited to those communications authorized by and described in this RFP. Any attempt to 

influence any of the participants, whether that attempt is oral or written, formal or 

informal, direct or indirect, outside of this RFP process is strictly prohibited. 

2.2.2 Should allegations of improper contact be made prior to any Contract Award, the 

Executive Director may investigate those allegations and, in his sole discretion, 

disqualify a Proposer. 
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2.3 MANDATORY PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE  

In order to be eligible to submit any Proposals for consideration, Proposers shall attend 

one of the two (2) mandatory pre-proposal conferences to be held at the Texas Lottery 

headquarters.  See the Schedule of Events (RFP Section 1.6) for the dates and times. Each 

pre-proposal conference will include an overview of the RFP and a presentation of the 

HUB Subcontracting Plan (HSP) requirements. A question and answer session will also 

take place regarding general, technical and HSP questions. Proposers who attend a pre-

proposal conference may receive information relevant to Lottery security or information 

that is claimed to be proprietary by third parties. At each conference, prior to receipt of 

any Lottery security or proprietary information, and participation in the question and 

answer session, Proposers will be required to submit a Non-Disclosure Statement 

(Attachment I) which shall be signed by an authorized representative of the prospective 

Proposer. A Proposal from any Proposer that fails to attend one of the two (2) 

mandatory pre-proposal conferences and provide a signed Non-Disclosure 

Statement shall be rejected.  

2.4 NON-DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

Each prospective Proposer will be required to submit a Non-Disclosure Statement (NDS) 

in order to attend a pre-proposal conference, as stated in Section 2.3. The NDS shall be 

signed by an authorized representative of the prospective Proposer, and the original must 

be delivered to the Texas Lottery at the pre-proposal conference by the authorized 

representative or their designee. A Proposer‘s failure to submit and to comply with the 

NDS will result in disqualification of its Proposal. All participants in the pre-proposal 

conference, and all directors, officers, employees and agents of a prospective Proposer, 

will be required to maintain the confidentiality of all confidential information provided 

either in writing or orally pursuant to the NDS, including information relevant to Lottery 

security or information that is proprietary to third parties. 

2.5 MANDATORY HUB SUBCONTRACTING PLAN (HSP) WORKSHOP 

The Texas Lottery will schedule mandatory one-on-one workshops with Proposers as 

discussed further in Part 5 of this RFP.  

2.6 INQUIRIES 

2.6.1 Written inquiries concerning this RFP will be accepted and responses will be faxed or 

emailed to prospective Proposers according to the timetable established in the Schedule 

of Events. Inquiries received after the deadlines set in the Schedule of Events may be 

reviewed by the Texas Lottery, but will not be answered.  Any addenda or amendments, 

whether made as a result of a prospective Proposer‘s written inquiries or otherwise, will 

be faxed or e-mailed only to prospective Proposers who have attended – one of the two 

(2) mandatory pre-proposal conferences and signed the NDS. 

2.6.2 Inquiries shall be submitted by email and/or facsimile by the inquiry submission 

deadline.  If there is any discrepancy between the electronic version (e-mail) and the 



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                               PART 2 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  PROPOSAL PROCESS 

printed version (facsimile) of a document, the printed version will control.  Emailed 

inquiries shall be emailed to: 

contracts@lottery.state.tx.us 

2.6.3 A Proposer shall inquire in writing and should obtain clarification as to any ambiguity, 

conflict, discrepancy, exclusionary specification, omission or error in this RFP 

(collectively, ―errors‖) prior to submitting a Proposal, but in no event shall be entitled to 

additional compensation, relief or time by reason of any error or its later correction.  If a 

Proposer fails to obtain written clarification of any errors the Proposer shall submit a 

Proposal at its own risk; and, if awarded a Contract, the Proposer shall be deemed to have 

waived any claim to contest the Texas Lottery‘s interpretation thereof.  

2.7 STATEMENT OF WORK FORMAT 

Parts 6 through 10 of this RFP constitute the Statement of Work and are structured to 

provide Proposers with a thorough understanding of the goods and services required for 

the Texas Lottery‘s operations as outlined in Section 1.1.4. Some sections of the 

Statement of Work describe in detail the business process and/or functions that must be 

provided. Other sections are written in more general terms to allow Proposers to offer a 

range of solutions. The structure of Parts 6 through 10 is as follows: 

2.7.1 Introductory Paragraph – provides a brief overview of the service area and includes 

information on current state activities and metrics. Example:  

6.2  Account Management 

Account Management Services are those activities associated with the ongoing 

management of the service environment. The following table identifies the 

Account Management requirements. 
 

2.7.2 Roles and Responsibilities – provides a verbal definition of the labor to be performed. 

Example: 

Table 1. Account Management Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Develops, documents and maintains Account Management 

procedures that meet Texas Lottery requirements 
X  

2.7.3 Detail Requirements – provides detailed action requirements that include, but are not 

limited to, service level metrics, deliverables, and service requirements. Example: 

Detail Requirements 

2. The Successful Proposer shall provide verbal and/or written status reports to Texas 

Lottery management in accordance with the requirements of this RFP and the 

Contract and on a frequency to be determined by the Texas Lottery. 
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2.7.4 Response Requirements – outlines the minimum response requirement for Proposers. 

Proposers must provide a detailed response for each numbered item. Responses should 

address how the Proposer will meet all of the roles and responsibilities and detail 

requirements for the section. Invited and Specified Options are also noted in this section. 

Example: 

Response Requirement 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail 

requirements indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide a description of its proposed account management process. 

 

2.7.5 Service Level Requirements – identifies the service level requirements for the section. 

The service levels are described in detail in Sections 3.60 and 3.61 of the Contractual 

Terms and Conditions. Example: 

Table 2. Account Management Service Level Requirements (SLRs) 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.6 Failure to Permit an Audit or Examination 

2.8 SUBMISSION OF TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

2.8.1 Technical Proposals along with the Bid Bond and Protest/Litigation Bond required by 

Sections 2.9 and 2.10 must be delivered to Angela Zgabay-Zgarba at the address 

provided in Section 2.1. 

2.8.2 Technical Proposals, Bid Bonds/Proposal Surety and Protest/Litigation Bonds must be 

received by Angela Zgabay-Zgarba no later than the deadline established in the Schedule 

of Events, in a sealed container addressed and designated conspicuously as ―Technical 

Proposal for RFP 362-10-0001.‖ No exceptions will be made.  Proposers may deliver 

Technical Proposals and bonds prior to the due date and time.  DO NOT INCLUDE A 

COST PROPOSAL WITH THIS SUBMISSION. COST PROPOSALS MUST BE 

SUBMITTED SEPARATELY. 

2.8.3 Proposers must submit Technical Proposals and bonds through the U.S. Postal Service or 

commercial delivery service. The Lottery assumes no responsibility for any delays caused 

by mail or delivery service. It is the Proposer‘s responsibility to allow sufficient time for 

delivery to ensure timely receipt by the contact person. A U.S. Postal Service (USPS) 

postmark or round validation stamp; a mail receipt with the date of mailing stamped by 

the USPS; a dated shipping label, invoice, or receipt from a commercial carrier; or any 

other documentation in lieu of the on-site time stamp will not be accepted. 

2.8.4 The Proposer shall submit one (1) signed original and twenty (20) copies of its Technical 

Proposal. All Technical Proposals submitted must be bound in a three-ring binder, 

organized and arranged to correspond directly with the numbered sections of this RFP, 

and all pages must be numbered.  For Parts 1 and 2 only, Proposers may provide a 

blanket acknowledgment and acceptance in lieu of a section-by-section response. For 
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Parts 3 and 4, Proposers shall provide a section-by-section response to the RFP. For Part 

5, Proposers shall follow the instructions for completing and submitting a HSP. For Parts 

6 through 10, Proposers shall provide a section-by-section response for each Response 

Requirement Table. If a Proposer is claiming any part(s) of its Proposal is confidential, 

the Proposer must provide a detailed response to Section 1.9.  A Proposer may not amend 

a commitment to comply with a specific section of this RFP by a later reference back to 

that section.   

2.8.5 The Proposer‘s Commitment (Attachment A) must be signed by an officer or agent of the 

Proposer with authority to contractually bind the Proposer, and the attachment must be 

included with the original Technical Proposal.   

2.8.6 Proposers are required to propose a complete solution to the Texas Lottery‘s 

requirements in their Technical Proposal.  Any items not specifically requested, but 

integral to the requested services, shall be included in a Proposer‘s Technical Proposal 

and identified in the appropriate sections thereof.  

2.8.7 Proposers responding to this RFP must fully and completely address all goods, services 

and other requirements as described by this RFP.  Incomplete or partial Technical 

Proposals will not be considered. A Proposer shall provide all information that the 

Proposer believes would be helpful to the Texas Lottery in evaluating the Proposer‘s 

ability to fulfill the RFP requirements. 

2.8.8 In addition to the printed Technical Proposal, a Proposer must also submit one copy of 

the text portion of its Technical Proposal, excluding the Cost Proposal, on compact disks 

in a searchable PDF file.  If there is any disparity between the contents of the printed 

Technical Proposal and the contents of the Technical Proposal contained in electronic 

format, the contents of the printed Technical Proposal shall take precedence. The 

electronic or soft copy provided herein will not be accepted in lieu of the signed original 

and copies as required in section 2.8.4. 

2.8.9 Technical Proposals that have been copyrighted by any Proposer are unacceptable and 

may be rejected as non-responsive. 

2.8.10 Proposers may not contact the Texas Lottery to inquire whether a Technical Proposal has 

been received.  No such inquiries will be answered.  Confirmation of receipt will be 

provided via facsimile or e-mail. 

2.9 BID BOND / PROPOSAL SURETY   

2.9.1 Surety in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) is required of all 

vendors submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, to insure that the Proposer will 

accept any resulting Contract Award within sixty (60) Days after notice of an award to 

the Proposer and furnish the performance bond required of the Successful Proposer 

pursuant to section 3.36.1. The Proposal surety may be in the form of a bid bond naming 

the Texas Lottery as obligee, a certified check or cashier‘s check payable to the Texas 

Lottery, or (subject to section 2.9.2) a letter of credit with the Texas Lottery as 

beneficiary. Proposers shall submit the proposal surety with the Technical Proposal. The 
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proposal surety submitted by the Proposer will be returned following Contract Award. 

FAILURE TO PROVIDE THE REQUIRED SURETY WITH THE TECHNICAL 

PROPOSAL WILL RESULT IN DISQUALIFICATION OF THE PROPOSAL. 

2.9.2 A letter of credit may be submitted as proposal surety only if the proposed letter of credit, 

in substantially the form prescribed by the Texas Lottery, is submitted to the Texas 

Lottery for review at least five (5) Working Days prior to the Technical Proposal 

submission deadline and is accepted in writing by the Texas Lottery prior to submission 

with the Proposer‘s Technical Proposal. If a Proposer submits a letter of credit which has 

not been reviewed and accepted by the Texas Lottery with its Technical Proposal, the 

Proposal shall be disqualified. The letter of credit must be in the amount of one hundred 

thousand dollars ($100,000), must name the Texas Lottery as beneficiary, must be 

payable in part or in full upon the Texas Lottery‘s demand or against Proposer‘s drafts at 

sight, must be open, and may not be subject to modification or revocation without the 

written consent of the Texas Lottery for a term ending no sooner than two (2) years after 

receipt of the Proposal. 

2.10 PROTEST / LITIGATION BOND   

2.10.1 Proposers must provide a Protest/Litigation Bond in the name of the Texas Lottery for the 

amount of five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) with the Technical Proposal.  

FAILURE TO PROVIDE THIS BOND WITH THE TECHNICAL PROPOSAL WILL 

RESULT IN DISQUALIFICATION OF THE PROPOSAL. 

2.10.2 The Protest/Litigation Bond shall entitle the State or the Executive Director of the Texas 

Lottery, or any of the officers, employees, or agents of either to recover, and shall 

guarantee payment of, all damages, including consequential damages and reasonable 

attorney‘s fees, resulting from any legal proceedings brought against the Texas Lottery 

and/or the State by or on behalf of the Proposer, or any Subcontractor, agency and/or 

assign of the Proposer, which are dismissed without trial or in which the tribunal rules 

against the person bringing a claim against the Texas Lottery and/or the State in such 

proceedings. The purpose of the Protest/Litigation Bond is to discourage unwarranted 

litigation. The Protest/Litigation Bond shall remain in effect for a period of three (3) 

years after receipt of the Proposal. This requirement is not intended to modify, alter, or 

replace the requirements of Section 466.101, subsection (d), of the State Lottery Act as it 

relates to posting a bond for enjoining the implementation of a proposal or contract. 

2.11 RESPONSE FORMAT & CONTENTS 

The Proposer must demonstrate its understanding of the requested goods and services and 

must address specifically, in writing, the Proposer‘s approach to providing each 

requirement in this RFP. Each Technical Proposal must be organized in the manner 

described below: 

(a) Letter of Transmittal 

(b) Executive Summary 



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                               PART 2 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  PROPOSAL PROCESS 

(c) Section-by-section response to the RFP (with the exception of Parts 1 and 2 – see 

Section 2.8.4 above) 

2.12 LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 

2.12.1 Proposers must submit a Letter of Transmittal that identifies the entity submitting the 

Proposal and includes a commitment by that entity to provide the goods and services 

required by the Texas Lottery in this RFP.  The Letter of Transmittal must state that the 

Proposal is valid for three hundred and sixty-five (365) Days from the Day after the date 

that the Technical Proposal is delivered to the Texas Lottery.  Any Proposal containing a 

term of less than three hundred and sixty-five (365) Days for acceptance shall be rejected.  

The Letter of Transmittal must be signed by a person(s) legally authorized to bind the 

Proposer to the representations in the Proposal.  The Proposer should also indicate, in its 

Letter of Transmittal, why it believes it is the most qualified Proposer to provide the 

goods and services required by the Texas Lottery in this RFP.  

2.12.2 The Letter of Transmittal must include a statement of acceptance of the terms and 

conditions set forth in Part 3 of this RFP that will be included in any Contract resulting 

from this RFP.  If any Proposer takes exception to any of the proposed terms and 

conditions, those exceptions must be noted in the Letter of Transmittal.  The Proposer 

should realize, however, that failure to accept the terms and conditions specified in Part 3 

of the RFP may result in disqualification of the Proposal.    

2.13 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.13.1 Proposers must provide an executive summary of the Technical Proposal, (excluding cost 

information) that asserts that the Proposer is providing, in its Technical Proposal, all the 

requirements of this RFP.  If the Proposer is providing goods or services beyond those 

specifically requested, those goods or services must be identified. If the Proposer is 

offering goods or services that do not meet the specific requirements of this RFP, but in 

the opinion of the Proposer are equivalent or superior to those specifically requested, any 

such differences must be noted in the Executive Summary.  The Proposer should realize, 

however, that failure to provide the goods and services specifically required may result in 

disqualification. 

2.13.2 The Proposer must demonstrate its understanding of the requested goods and services and 

must address specifically, in writing, the Proposer‘s approach to providing each 

requirement in this RFP. 

2.13.3 The Executive Summary must not exceed five (5) pages and should represent a full and 

concise summary of the contents of the Technical Proposal.  

2.14 PROPOSER’S CONTRACTING AUTHORITY 

The Proposer warrants and represents that the person named on the Proposer‘s 

Commitment (Attachment A) has the full right, power and authority to execute a Contract 

resulting from this RFP on behalf of the Proposer. Commitments must be unqualified, not 
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limited, and fully commit the Proposer to provide the goods and services required under 

this RFP. 

2.15 SUBMISSION OF COST PROPOSAL, PROPOSER’S COMMITTEMENT AND 
START-UP COSTS 

2.15.1 Cost Proposals must be submitted separately from the remainder of any Proposal filed in 

response to this RFP.  Cost Proposals must be submitted, along with the Proposer‘s 

Commitment (Attachment A) and Start-up Costs (Attachment J), no later than the 

deadline established in the Schedule of Events and must be submitted to outside counsel 

for the Lottery, as indicated below.  The Proposer‘s Commitment and Start-up Costs 

(Attachment J) must be included in the delivery with the Proposer‘s Cost Proposal, but 

each must be in a sealed envelope separate from the sealed envelope containing the 

Proposer‘s Cost Proposal.   

2.15.2 Cost Proposals, Proposers‘ Commitments, and Start-up Costs must be delivered to: 

Patrick F. Thompson 

Graves, Dougherty, Hearon & Moody 

401 Congress Ave, Suite 2200 

Austin, Texas 78701 

2.15.3 Cost Proposals must be received by Patrick F. Thompson no later than the deadline 

established in the Schedule of Events, in a sealed envelope addressed and designated 

conspicuously as ―Cost Proposal for RFP 362-10-0001.‖  Cost Proposals received after 

the deadline will be rejected and the Proposer will be disqualified. Proposers may deliver 

Cost Proposals prior to the due date and time. 

2.15.4 Proposers must submit Cost Proposals through the U.S. Postal Service or commercial 

delivery service. The Lottery assumes no responsibility for any delays caused by mail or 

delivery service. It is the Proposer‘s responsibility to allow sufficient time for delivery to 

ensure timely receipt by the contact person. A U.S. Postal Service (USPS) postmark or 

round validation stamp; a mail receipt with the date of mailing stamped by the USPS; a 

dated shipping label, invoice, or receipt from a commercial carrier; or any other 

documentation in lieu of the on-site time stamp will not be accepted. 

2.15.5 A Proposer must submit a signed original and twenty (20) copies of its Cost Proposal. 

The original Cost Proposal must be signed by an officer or agent of the Proposer with 

authority to contractually bind the Proposer.  

2.15.6 In addition to the printed Cost Proposal, the Proposer must also submit one electronic 

copy of the Cost Proposal on a compact disk compatible with Microsoft Excel for Office 

2007.  If there is any disparity between the contents of the printed Cost Proposal and the 

contents of the Cost Proposal contained in electronic format, the contents of the printed 

Cost Proposal shall take precedence. The electronic or soft copy provided will not be 

accepted in lieu of the signed original and copies as required by Section 2.15.5. 
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2.15.7 The pricing for the required services is to be presented only in the format set forth in 

Attachment H of the RFP.  All Cost Proposals must be typewritten.  No Cost Proposal 

will be accepted in the form of a letter or by facsimile, telephone call, telegram or mail. 

2.15.8 The Proposer must state its pricing for all services rendered during the course of the 

proposed Contract, including any and all costs involved that are to be paid or reimbursed 

by the Texas Lottery.  No reimbursement is available to the Successful Proposer beyond 

the amount agreed to be paid for the goods and services provided. Pricing agreed to in 

any resulting Contract shall be firm for the initial Contract term and will be mutually 

agreed to by the Texas Lottery and the Successful Proposer for any extension period(s). 

2.15.9 The Proposer shall not disclose its Cost Proposal or other cost information in the body of 

the written Technical Proposal.  Including cost information in the written Technical 

Proposal may be cause for disqualification. 

2.15.10Absolutely no inquiries may be made to Patrick F. Thompson, the office of Graves, 

Dougherty, Hearon & Moody, or the Texas Lottery regarding the receipt of Cost Proposal 

deliveries.  No such inquiries will be answered. Confirmation of receipt will be provided 

via facsimile or e-mail. 

2.16 MULTIPLE PROPOSALS 

The Proposer may submit only one Proposal. If a Proposer submits more than one 

Proposal, all Proposals from that Proposer may be rejected.  

2.17 CHANGES, MODIFICATIONS AND CANCELLATION 

The Texas Lottery reserves the right to make changes to and/or cancel this RFP and will 

post all changes and modifications, whether made as a result of a potential Proposer‘s 

written inquiries or otherwise, and cancellation notices on the Electronic State Business 

Daily (ESBD), http://esbd.cpa.state.tx.us/, and the Texas Lottery web site, 

http://www.txlottery.org. It is the responsibility of the Proposer to check these web sites 

for any additional information regarding this RFP. If the Proposer fails to monitor the 

ESBD or TLC web site for any changes or modifications to the RFP, such failure will not 

eliminate the Proposer‘s obligation to fulfill the requirements as posted. 

2.18 UPDATES TO INFORMATION SUPPORTING A PROPOSAL 

Following the submission of Proposals and prior to the signing of a Contract, the 

Proposer is under a continuing obligation to notify the Texas Lottery in writing of any 

updates or changes to information offered in support of its Proposal that might reasonably 

be expected to affect the Texas Lottery‘s consideration of the Proposal.  Nothing in this 

Section shall be interpreted to permit the unilateral modification by a Proposer of its 

commitment to provide goods and services described in its Proposal as filed for the cost 

stated therein.  

http://esbd.tbpc.state.tx.us/
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2.19 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

By submitting a Proposal, a Proposer grants the Executive Director the right to obtain any 

information from any lawful source regarding the past history, practices, conduct, ability 

and eligibility under the State Lottery Act of a Proposer to supply goods, services and to 

fulfill requirements under this RFP, and the past history, practices, conduct, ability and 

eligibility of any director, officer or key employee of a Proposer.  By submitting a 

Proposal, the Proposer generally releases from liability and waives all claims against any 

party providing information about the Proposer at the request of the Executive Director. 

Such information may be taken into consideration in evaluating Proposals. 

2.20 PROPOSAL EVALUATION AND CONTRACT AWARD 

2.20.1 The Executive Director intends to conduct a fair, comprehensive and impartial evaluation 

of all Proposals received in response to this RFP using an evaluation committee. The 

evaluation committee will be selected by the Executive Director and may consist of 

Texas Lottery employees or outside individuals with expertise in particular areas. In 

addition, the Texas Lottery‘s General Counsel, other in-house legal counsel, and outside 

legal counsel may assist by advising the evaluation committee. Texas Lottery employees 

and consultants may also assist in the process as technical non-voting members of the 

evaluation committee. 

2.20.2 Each member of the evaluation committee will independently score each Proposal 

responsive to this RFP. Evaluation committee members may seek, obtain and consider 

the opinions of other committee members or subject matter experts (including Texas 

Lottery staff, staff from other Texas agencies and consultants retained by the Texas 

Lottery) when evaluating and independently scoring particular areas of the Proposals. 

2.20.3 The evaluation committee may request clarification of information or representations in a 

Proposal before completing the initial evaluation.  Requests for clarification and 

responses to requests for clarification will be in writing and will become part of the 

evaluation record. 

2.20.4 The procurement process will be conducted in accordance with 16 Texas Administrative 

Code § 401.101. 

2.20.5 At a minimum, the factors to be considered by the evaluation committee in evaluating 

Proposals shall include: 

a. as a minimum, (i.e., pass/fail) requirement for further evaluation of any Proposal, 

the financial status of the proposer;  

b. as a minimum, (i.e., pass/fail) requirement for further evaluation of any Proposal, 

whether the proposer performed the good faith effort required by the HUB 

subcontracting plan, when the agency has determined that subcontracting is 

probable; 
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c. the probable quality of the offered goods or services;  

d. the proposer's price to provide the goods or services; 

e. the qualifications of the proposer's personnel;  

f. the experience of the proposer in providing the requested goods or services; and 

g. the quality of the proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, with 

other state entities, or with private sector entities. 

A copy of the scoring matrix is included as Attachment G.  

2.20.6 A written notice of Contract Award will be sent to all Proposers immediately following 

execution of a written Contract. 

2.21 PROTEST PROCEDURE 

Any protest shall be governed by Texas Government Code Ann. § 466.101 and 16 Tex. 

Admin. Code §§ 401.102-103. 

2.22 SITE VISITS AND/OR ORAL PRESENTATIONS 

2.22.1 The Texas Lottery, in its sole discretion, reserves the right to conduct site visits and/or to 

require Proposers to make oral presentations prior to the Contract Award.  Site visits may 

include visits to a state lottery(ies) with whom a Proposer currently contracts. Proposers 

will be notified in writing and will be provided with equal advance notification of site 

visits and/or oral presentation assignments and guidelines. 
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PART 3  

3.1 INTRODUCTION 

This part sets forth terms and conditions applicable to the procurement process as well as 

terms and conditions that will become part of any Contract for Lottery Operations and 

Services executed pursuant to this RFP. The Texas Lottery reserves the right to 

incorporate additional provisions in any Contract in the best interest of the Texas Lottery. 

3.2 GOVERNING LAW 

The procurement process, the award procedure, and any Contract resulting from this RFP 

shall be governed by, construed and interpreted in accordance with the applicable laws of 

the State of Texas.  Any and all actions or suits brought by a Proposer or any related 

party regarding this RFP or any Contract resulting therefrom shall be brought in the state 

district court located in Austin, Travis County, Texas.  By submitting a Proposal, a 

Proposer is deemed to waive the right to bring any action in any other court.  This section 

is purely a venue provision and shall not be deemed a waiver of sovereign immunity. 

3.3 CONTRACT ELEMENTS 

3.3.1 Any Contract between the Texas Lottery and the Successful Proposer will follow the 

general format specified by the Texas Lottery.  The Texas Lottery reserves the right to 

negotiate provisions in addition to those stipulated in this RFP.  The contents of this RFP, 

as modified by published addenda, and the Successful Proposer‘s Proposal will be 

incorporated into the Contract.  In the event of any conflict or contradiction between or 

among these documents, the documents shall control in the following order of 

precedence: the written Contract, the RFP, and the Successful Proposer‘s Proposal.  

Specific exceptions to this general rule may be noted in the written Contract. 

3.3.2 The Texas Lottery has determined that subcontracting opportunities are probable under 

this RFP. Therefore, the Texas Lottery requires the submission of an HSP as a part of 

each Proposal, as discussed further in Part 5 of this RFP. The HSP, if accepted by the 

Texas Lottery, will become a provision of any Contract awarded as a result of this RFP.  

3.3.3 If any term or provision or this RFP or a Contract executed pursuant to this RFP is held 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of 

the RFP or Contract shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, 

impaired or invalidated. 

3.4 AMENDMENTS 

Any Contract resulting from this RFP may be amended only by a written agreement 

signed by both parties. 
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3.5 WAIVER 

The failure of the Texas Lottery to object to or to take affirmative action with respect to 

any conduct of the Successful Proposer which is in violation or breach of the terms of any 

Contract resulting from this RFP shall not be construed as a waiver of the violation or 

breach, or of any future violation or breach. 

3.6 CLARIFICATION OF LOTTERY’S INTENT 

It is the responsibility of the Successful Proposer to address and resolve all questions with 

the Texas Lottery‘s designated staff members, and achieve a clear understanding of all 

Texas Lottery requirements during each stage of the Contract term.  The Texas Lottery 

will use reasonable efforts to provide timely responses to questions of policy or 

procedure as they may affect the Successful Proposer‘s performance.  Key Texas Lottery 

staff will be available to the Successful Proposer on a reasonable basis, but may not be 

available on State or national holidays, as defined in Section 662.003 of the Texas 

Government Code, or weekends.  The Texas Lottery‘s normal office hours are from 8:00 

a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Central Time, Monday through Friday of each week of the Contract 

term, except State holidays. 

3.7 LOTTERY’S FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS 

The financial obligations of the Texas Lottery under any Contract resulting from this RFP 

are payable solely out of the receipts of the Texas Lottery and are subject to statutory 

restrictions and appropriations.  Performance by the Texas Lottery under any Contract 

resulting from this RFP is subject to acts of the Texas Legislature. The Texas Lottery 

shall have no responsibility or liability for any damages, losses, financial obligations, 

breach of contract, or other claims in the event that performance by the Texas Lottery is 

compromised or terminated by acts or omissions of the Texas Legislature (e.g. if the 

Texas Lottery is discontinued or not funded by the Texas Legislature). 

3.8 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES 

The Successful Proposer and the Texas Lottery agree and understand that the Successful 

Proposer shall render the goods, services and requirements under any resulting Contract 

as an independent contractor, and nothing contained in the Contract will be construed to 

create or imply a joint venture, partnership, employer/employee relationship, principal- 

agent relationship or any other relationship between the parties.  Employees of the  

Successful Proposer will not be considered employees of the Texas Lottery within the 

meaning of any federal, state, or local law, ordinance, or regulation including, but not 

limited to, laws, ordinances, or regulations concerning unemployment insurance, social 

security benefits, workers compensation, or withholding requirements.   The Successful 

Proposer shall be responsible for complying with any such laws, ordinances, or 

regulations, and shall indemnify and hold harmless the Texas Lottery from any costs or 

damages, including attorney‘s fees, sustained by the Texas Lottery resulting from the 

Successful Proposer‘s breach of its obligations under this section.  The Texas Lottery will 

withhold indemnified losses from payments to the Successful Proposer, or, if no 
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payments are made, the Texas Lottery will make demand of payment of indemnified 

losses. The Successful Proposer must make payment within thirty (30) Days of the Texas 

Lottery‘s demand. 

3.9 PAYMENT 

3.9.1 All payments will be made in accordance with Texas Government Code Ann.  § 2251 et 

seq. (―Payments for Goods and Services‖).  The Successful Proposer shall submit 

invoices weekly for the previous week‘s services, noting the Contract number and 

detailing services rendered and date of services. Pursuant to Texas Government Code 

Section 2251.025, interest is not due on a payment until it becomes ―overdue.‖  A 

payment is not ―overdue‖ until the 31
st
 day after the latter of: (1) the date the Texas 

Lottery receives the goods or services covered by the contract; (2) the date the 

performance of the service under the contract is completed; or (3) the date the Texas 

Lottery receives an invoice for the goods or services.  Tex. Gov. Code Section 2251.021.  

Services are ―completed‖ when determined by the Texas Lottery as explained above.   

3.9.2 Invoices may be submitted by mail to the Texas Lottery Commission, P.O. Box 16630, 

Austin, Texas 78761-6630, Attn: Accounts Payable or by email to 

AccountsPayable@lottery.state.tx.us.   Payments will be made only upon the completion 

of services or after the delivery of goods authorized in an approved invoice. 

3.9.3 The Successful Proposer agrees that if the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts is 

prohibited from issuing a warrant to the Successful Proposer under section 403.055 of the 

Texas Government Code, any payments owed to the Successful Proposer under any 

Contract resulting from this RFP will be applied towards the debt or delinquent taxes that 

the Successful Proposer owes the State of Texas until the debt or delinquent taxes are 

paid in full. 

3.9.4 The Successful Proposer acknowledges that the State of Texas requires consistent, high 

quality performance during the entire term of any Contract resulting from this RFP and 

during any transition to another vendor. The Successful Proposer agrees that, to ensure 

such consistent high quality performance and an orderly transition to another vendor, the 

Texas Lottery will withhold ten percent (10%) of all weekly payments due the last year 

of any Contract resulting from this RFP (the ―Hold Back‖).  At its sole discretion, the 

Texas Lottery may withhold an additional fifteen percent (15%) of weekly payments 

during the last year of any Contract resulting from this RFP, if the Successful Proposer 

fails to fully and completely perform its duties during any transition to another vendor. In 

the event that the Successful Proposer fully and completely performs all of its duties 

under any Contract resulting from this RFP, and the Texas Lottery determines that the 

successful transition to another vendor has been completed, then upon such completion 

the Texas Lottery shall pay the Hold Back to the Successful Proposer.  The Hold Back 

amount will be paid as soon as reasonably possible following successful completion of 

duties under any Contract resulting from this RFP, but no sooner than thirty (30) Days 

from successful completion of duties. Services will not be considered complete until 

transition to another vendor is successful. In the event that the Successful Proposer fails 

mailto:ayable@lottery.state
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to fully and completely perform all of its duties under any Contract resulting from this 

RFP, or the transition to another vendor is unsuccessful, and such failure is proximately 

caused in whole or part by any act or omission of the Successful Proposer, the Texas 

Lottery shall be entitled to retain the Hold Back or such portion thereof as the Executive 

Director deems equitable. 

3.10 ASSIGNMENTS 

No right or obligation of the Successful Proposer under any Contract may be assigned by 

the Successful Proposer without the prior written approval of the Texas Lottery, and in 

the event of any such approval, the terms and conditions hereof shall apply to and bind 

the party or parties to whom the right or obligation is assigned as fully and completely as 

the Successful Proposer is hereunder bound and obligated.  No assignment shall operate 

to release the Successful Proposer from its liability for the timely and effective 

performance of its obligations hereunder.  Assignments made in violation of this 

provision shall be null and void. 

3.11 SUBCONTRACTING 

3.11.1 The Successful Proposer is prohibited from subletting, conveying, assigning or otherwise 

disposing of all or any portion of any Contract resulting from this RFP, its rights, title, or 

interest therein, or its power to execute such agreement without the previous written 

approval of the Texas Lottery.  If any part of any Contract between the Texas Lottery and 

the Successful Proposer is to be subcontracted, the Successful Proposer must obtain prior 

written approval from the Texas Lottery, and the Subcontractor must comply with all 

applicable requirements of the Texas Lottery.  The Texas Lottery reserves the sole right 

to require the Successful Proposer to terminate any Subcontractor with or without cause. 

3.11.2 In the event the Texas Lottery approves of the use of any Subcontractor in performance 

of the Contract, the Successful Proposer is not relieved of its responsibility and obligation 

to meet all the requirements of this RFP. 

3.11.3 The Texas Lottery will incur no additional obligations and the obligations of the 

Successful Proposer will not be reduced as a result of any such subcontracts. 

3.11.4 The Successful Proposer agrees to indemnify and hold the Texas Lottery harmless from 

any of the claims or actions of its subcontractors. The Texas Lottery will withhold 

indemnified losses from payments to the Successful Proposer, or, if no payments are 

made, the Texas Lottery will make demand of payment of indemnified losses. The 

Successful Proposer must make payment within thirty (30) Days of the Texas Lottery‘s 

demand.  

3.11.5 The Successful Proposer‘s obligation to pay Subcontractors is governed by Texas 

Government Code Ann. § 2251.022 (―Time for Payment by Vendor‖), as it may be 

amended. 
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3.12 LOTTERY APPROVAL OF STAFFING 

3.12.1 The Successful Proposer shall not employ or contract with or permit the employment of 

unfit or unqualified persons or persons not skilled in the tasks assigned to them. The 

Successful Proposer shall at all times employ sufficient labor to carry out functions and 

services in the manner and time prescribed by any Contract awarded pursuant to this 

RFP. Unfit is defined as any person convicted of a felony, criminal fraud, gambling or 

gambling-related offense or a person convicted of a misdemeanor involving moral 

turpitude whose sentence, parole, mandatory supervision or probation ended less than 10 

years ago. The Successful Proposer shall be responsible to the Texas Lottery for the acts 

and omissions of the Successful Proposer‘s employees, agents (including, but not limited 

to, lobbyists) and subcontractors and the Successful Proposer shall enforce strict 

discipline among the Successful Proposer‘s employees, agents (including, but not limited 

to, lobbyists) and subcontractors performing the services under the Contract.   

3.12.2 The Successful Proposer shall provide the Texas Lottery written notification and 

justification within three (3) Working Days of any personnel changes involving key 

management positions, as defined in Section 4.3.2.  The Successful Proposer must 

provide the Texas Lottery the resume of the person who is hired or placed and must 

receive written approval from the Texas Lottery prior to the person working on the 

account. The Texas Lottery must approve key management personnel leaving the Texas 

Lottery account for another position within the Successful Proposer‘s company.  

3.12.3 The Successful Proposer shall provide the Texas Lottery advanced written notification of 

any significant organizational changes to the proposed staffing for the Texas Lottery 

Account. Significant is defined as any reductions-in-force, elimination of positions, etc. 

The Texas Lottery must approve such changes before they are implemented. This 

provision shall apply to the period between the submission of a Proposal and Contract 

Award, as well as the duration of any resulting Contract. 

3.12.4 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any person employed by the Successful 

Proposer shall, at the written request of the Texas Lottery, and within the Texas Lottery‘s 

sole discretion, be removed forthwith by the Successful Proposer from work relating to 

the Contract.   

3.13 BACKGROUND INVESTIGATIONS 

3.13.1 The Texas Lottery Commission may initiate investigations into the backgrounds of (a) 

the Successful Proposer; (b) any of the Successful Proposer‘s officers, directors, 

investors, owners, partners and other principals, as more particularly described in Texas 

Government Code Ann. § 466.155,  (collectively, Successful Proposer Principals); (c) 

any of the Successful Proposer‘s employees; (d) any of the Successful Proposer‘s 

subcontractors, or subcontractors‘ officers, directors, investors, owners, partners, 

principals or employees (collectively, Subcontractor Personnel); or (e) any other 

associates of the Successful Proposer it deems appropriate.  The Texas Lottery 

Commission may also request background information for a spouse, child, brother, sister 

or parent residing as a member of the same household in the principal place of residence 
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of the Successful Proposer, any Successful Proposer Principals, or Successful Proposer 

employees described above. Such background investigations may include fingerprint 

identification by the Texas Department of Public Safety, the Federal Bureau of 

Investigation, and any other law enforcement agency. The Texas Lottery may terminate 

any Contract resulting from this RFP based solely upon the results of these background 

investigations. 

3.13.2 The Successful Proposer agrees that, during the term of the Contract and any renewal 

thereof, it shall be obligated to provide such information about any Successful Proposer 

Principals, Successful Proposer employees, and Subcontractor Personnel as the Texas 

Lottery may prescribe.  The Successful Proposer also agrees that the Texas Lottery may 

conduct background investigations of such persons.   

3.13.3 Upon notification by the Texas Lottery to the Successful Proposer that the Texas Lottery 

objects to an employee based on a background investigation, the Successful Proposer 

shall prevent that employee from working on the Texas Lottery account and shall deny 

that employee access to the Texas Lottery systems.  

3.14 COMPLIANCE 

The Successful Proposer agrees to comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, 

including without limitation those involving non-discrimination on the basis of race, 

color, religion, national origin, age, sex and disability. 

3.15 TERM OF CONTRACT 

3.15.1 Any Contract resulting from this RFP will be effective upon execution and continue 

through August 31, 2018 subject to the termination provisions in this RFP and subject to 

the Texas Lottery being continued and funded by the Texas Legislature.  

3.15.2 The Successful Proposer will receive no compensation prior to successful conversion. 

The conversion period is expected to last approximately twelve (12) months. The Texas 

Lottery expects the Successful Proposer‘s System to be fully operational with Retailers‘ 

selling Lottery Products on September 1, 2011.   

3.15.3 The Texas Lottery reserves the right to extend any Contract resulting from this RFP, at its 

sole discretion, for up to four (4) additional two-year periods, at a mutually agreed upon 

rate, prior to the end of the initial Contract period, or any extension thereof, or at a time 

mutually agreed upon by both parties.   

3.15.4 The Successful Proposer must maintain the Proposer‘s System in a state of readiness for a 

period of ninety (90) Days after the termination of the Successful Proposer‘s role as the 

operator of the Lottery Gaming System, if a different vendor has been chosen to replace 

the Successful Proposer as Lottery Operator. At any time during this ninety (90) Day 

period, the Texas Lottery may require the Successful Proposer to resume its role as the 

operator of the Lottery Gaming System for up to two (2) additional years. Exercising this 

right (i.e., the 90-day extension) shall not be construed as conferring any right or 

expectation for the Successful Proposer to continue operating under the Contract after the 
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expiration of any such ninety (90) Day period. The Successful Proposer shall be entitled 

to compensation during this ninety (90) Day period only for transactions processed by the 

Successful Proposer‘s System. 

3.16 TERMINATION AT WILL 

The Texas Lottery, in its sole discretion, may terminate, in whole or in part, any Contract 

resulting from this RFP at will and without cause upon no less than thirty (30) Days‘ 

advance written notice.    The Texas Lottery also may terminate any contract immediately 

with written notice if the Executive Director, in his or her sole judgment, believes that the 

integrity or security of the Texas Lottery is in jeopardy and it is in the best interest of the 

Texas Lottery to do so. The Texas Lottery‘s right to terminate for convenience any 

Contract resulting from this RFP is cumulative of all rights and remedies which exist now 

or in the future. 

3.17 TERMINATION FOR CAUSE 

The Texas Lottery reserves the right to terminate, in whole or in part, any Contract 

resulting from this RFP upon no less than five (5) Days‘ notice upon the following 

conditions: 

(a) A receiver, conservator, liquidator or trustee of the Successful Proposer, or of any 

of its property, is appointed by order or decree of any court or agency or 

supervisory authority having jurisdiction; or an order for relief is entered against 

the Successful Proposer under the Federal Bankruptcy Code; or the Successful 

Proposer is adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent; or any portion of the property of 

the Successful Proposer is sequestered by court order and such order remains in 

effect for more than thirty (30) Days after such party obtains knowledge thereof; 

or a petition is filed against the Successful Proposer under any state, 

reorganization, arrangement, insolvency, readjustment of debt, dissolution, 

liquidation, or receivership law of any jurisdiction, whether now or hereafter in 

effect, and such petition is not dismissed within thirty (30) Days, or 

(b) The Successful Proposer files a case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or is 

seeking relief under any provision of any bankruptcy, reorganization, 

arrangement, insolvency, readjustment of debt, dissolution, receivership or 

liquidation law of any jurisdiction, whether now or hereafter in effect, or consents 

to the filing of any case or petition against it under any such law, or 

(c) The Successful Proposer makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors, or 

admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, or 

consents to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, or liquidator of the Successful 

Proposer or of all or any part of its property; or judgment for the payment of 

money in excess of $50,000.00 (which is not covered by insurance) is rendered by 

any court or governmental body against the Successful Proposer, and the 

Successful Proposer does not discharge the same or provide for its discharge in 

accordance with its terms, or procure a stay of execution thereof within thirty (30) 
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Days from the date of entry thereof, and within said 30-Day period or such longer 

period during which execution of such judgment shall have been stayed, appeal 

therefrom and cause the execution thereof to be stayed during such appeal while 

providing such reserves therefore as may be required under generally accepted 

accounting principles; or a writ or warrant of attachment or any similar process 

shall be issued by any court against all or any material portion of the property of 

the Successful Proposer, and such writ or warrant of attachment or any similar 

process is not released or bonded within thirty (30) Days after its entry, or 

(d) A court of competent jurisdiction finds that the Successful Proposer has failed to 

adhere to any laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public authority 

having jurisdiction, or 

(e) The Successful Proposer fails to communicate with the Texas Lottery as required 

by the Contract, or 

(f) The Successful Proposer fails to remove any person from work relating to the 

Contract upon written notice from the Texas Lottery, or 

(g) The Successful Proposer breaches the RFP‘s standard of confidentiality with 

respect to this RFP or the goods or services provided thereunder, or 

(h) The Texas Lottery makes a written determination that the Successful Proposer has 

failed to substantially perform under the Contract and specifies the events 

resulting in the Texas Lottery‘s determination thereof, or 

(i) The Successful Proposer fails to comply with any of the terms, conditions or 

provisions of the Contract, in any manner whatsoever, or 

(j) The Successful Proposer engages in any conduct that results in a negative public 

impression including, but not limited to, creating even an appearance of 

impropriety with respect to the Texas Lottery, Texas Lottery games, the 

Successful Proposer, or the State of Texas. 

3.18 TERMINATION FOR IMPOSSIBILITY OF PERFORMANCE 

The Texas Lottery reserves the right to terminate, in whole or in part, any Contract 

resulting from this RFP upon no less than five (5) Days‘ notice upon any of the following 

conditions: 

(a) The failure of the Texas Legislature to appropriate funds to the Texas Lottery for 

any Contract resulting from this RFP. 

(b) Any act or omission by the Texas Legislature which renders performance by the 

Texas Lottery impossible. 

3.19 TERMINATION WITHOUT PENALTY 

Pursuant to Texas Government Code ANN. § 466.014(c), the Executive Director is 

permitted to terminate any Contract entered into as a result of this RFP, without penalty, 
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if an investigation reveals that the Successful Proposer would not be eligible for a sales 

agent license under Texas Government Code ANN. § 466.155.   

3.20 NO LIABILITY UPON TERMINATION  

If any Contract entered into as a result of this RFP is terminated for any reason, the Texas 

Lottery and the State of Texas shall not be liable to the Successful Proposer for any 

damages, losses, financial obligations, breach of contract, or any other claims or amounts 

arising from or related to any such termination.  However, the Successful Proposer may 

be entitled to the remedies provided in Gov‘t Code, Chapter 2260. 

3.21 EFFECT OF TERMINATION 

Upon any termination or expiration of this Contract, the following terms shall apply: 

(a) The permissions, licenses and authorizations granted by the Successful Proposer 

to the Texas Lottery pursuant to the terms of this RFP or any resulting Contract 

shall remain in full force and effect. 

(b) The Texas Lottery may, at its option, purchase the Lottery Gaming System 

equipment at its depreciated value as determined by the lower of the GAAP basis 

or Federal Tax basis. 

(c) In the event that the contracts and assets related to the Lottery Network have not 

been assigned by the Successful Proposer to the Texas Lottery, the Successful 

Proposer shall immediately assign all such contracts and assets to the Texas 

Lottery.  Upon such assignment, the Successful Proposer shall provide a detailed 

inventory and network diagrams of the Lottery Network, which shall include all 

components necessary for the operation of the Lottery Network. 

(d) The Successful Proposer shall immediately surrender to the Texas Lottery all 

memoranda, notes, records, drawings, manuals, computer software, and other 

documents or materials (and all copies of same) pertaining to the Works, reports, 

and other data or materials generated or developed by the Successful Proposer or 

furnished by the Texas Lottery to the Successful Proposer, including all materials 

embodying any Texas Lottery confidential information, regardless of whether the 

works or materials are complete or incomplete; provided however, that as to 

memoranda, notes, records, drawings, manuals, computer software and other 

documents or materials pertaining to the Works, the Successful Proposer shall be 

required to provide only copies thereof, and the Successful Proposer shall be 

entitled to retain copies thereof to facilitate its exploitation of the Works as 

permitted by this Contract.  This section shall apply to all materials made or 

compiled by the Successful Proposer, as well as to all materials furnished to the 

Successful Proposer by the Texas Lottery or by anyone else that pertain to the 

Works. 

(e) If this Contract is terminated for cause by the Texas Lottery, the Texas Lottery 

shall be entitled to receive delivery of the source code for all of the software 
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necessary for operation of the Lottery Gaming System from the source code 

escrow established pursuant to the requirements contained in this Contract. 

3.22 WARRANTIES 

3.22.1 The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that it is lawfully organized and constituted 

under all applicable national, international, state and local laws, ordinances and other 

authorities of its domicile and is otherwise in full compliance with all legal requirements 

of its domicile. 

3.22.2 The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that it has the legal authority and capacity 

to enter into and perform any Contract resulting from its response to this RFP, and that it 

has the financial ability to perform its obligations under such Contract. 

3.22.3 The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that it has been duly authorized to operate 

and do business in all places where it will be required to do business under any Contract 

awarded pursuant to this RFP; that it has obtained or will obtain all necessary licenses 

and permits required in connection with such Contract; and that it will fully comply with 

all laws, decrees, labor standards and regulations of its domicile and wherever 

performance occurs during the term of such Contract. 

3.22.4 The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that it has no present interest and shall not 

acquire, or assign to any third party, any interest that would conflict in any manner with 

its duties and obligations under any Contract awarded pursuant to this RFP. 

3.22.5 The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that all goods and services it supplies in its 

performance under any Contract awarded pursuant to this RFP shall meet the 

performance standards required thereunder and shall be performed in a prompt, high 

quality, professional and competent manner using only qualified personnel. 

3.22.6 The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that its tickets, games, goods and services 

shall in all respects conform to, and function in accordance with, Texas Lottery-approved 

specifications and designs.  

3.22.7 The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that it shall not take any action inconsistent 

with any of the terms, conditions, agreements, or covenants set forth in this RFP without 

the express written consent of the Texas Lottery. 

3.22.8 The Successful Proposer warrants that it is eligible for a sales agent license under Texas 

Government Code Ann. § 466.155 (Chapter 466 is also known as the State Lottery Act).    

3.22.9 The Successful Proposer(s) warrants and agrees to pay the apparent prize value of 

misprinted On-Line Tickets that do not validate as winners.  Altered tickets are not 

misprinted tickets.  

3.22.10The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that it shall keep all equipment, related to 

the performance of any Contract resulting from this RFP, in good condition and repair 

and will not permit anything to be done that may materially impair the value thereof.  The 

Successful Proposer shall use such equipment only in the ordinary course of its 

performance under this Contract and shall not permit such equipment to be used in 
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violation of any applicable law, regulation or policy of insurance, nor for any other lawful 

purpose (e.g., issuing/renewing hunting and fishing licenses, paying utility bills, etc.) 

unless expressly authorized in writing by the Texas Lottery.  The Successful Proposer 

agrees to develop an equipment maintenance and replacement schedule subject to 

approval by the Texas Lottery and agrees to comply with that schedule. 

3.22.11The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that it shall not sell, assign, lease, transfer, 

pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise dispose of any component of any goods or system 

proposed in response to the RFP or any interest therein, or permit any of it to become a 

fixture or accession to other goods or property. 

3.22.12The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that the Lottery Gaming System shall be 

free from any code which would, or is designed to, disable the Lottery Gaming System 

(or any component of the Lottery Gaming System) automatically after the passage of 

time or under the control of a person other than the Texas Lottery and free from any code 

which would permit unauthorized access to the Lottery Gaming System (or any 

component of the Lottery Gaming System), such as a virus.  The Successful Proposer‘s 

use of remote diagnostic software to disable any portion of the Lottery Gaming System 

(other than as necessary for support or maintenance) or to gain unauthorized access to the 

Lottery Gaming System will be deemed a breach of this warranty.  

3.22.13The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that the Lottery Gaming System delivered 

to the Texas Lottery under this Contract shall be free from any clock, counter, virus or 

other limiting design or routine that will cause the Lottery Gaming System to be erased, 

made inoperable, or otherwise become incapable of being used by the Texas Lottery after 

being used a certain number of times, or after the lapse of a certain period of time, or 

after the occurrence or lapse of any other triggering event.  

3.22.14The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that the Lottery Gaming System shall 

maintain the integrity of the data that is used or displayed by the Lottery Gaming System 

throughout the Contract term and any renewal periods.  

3.22.15The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that the Lottery Gaming System shall 

operate in a secure manner and shall be designed and operated so as to prevent intrusions 

and unauthorized use.  The Successful Proposer warrants that it shall immediately report 

to the Executive Director any intrusions or unauthorized uses of the Lottery Gaming 

System. 

3.22.16The Successful Proposer warrants and agrees that it has good and marketable title to 

and/or the right to license, all of the Lottery Gaming System, free and clear of all liens, 

security interests and other encumbrances.  

3.22.17The Successful Proposer warrants, informs, discloses and represents that it has no 

outstanding assignments, grants, licenses, encumbrances, obligations, or agreements 

which relate to the Lottery Gaming System, whether written, oral or implied, and are 

inconsistent with this Contract or the rights, duties, and obligations stated in this 

Contract. 
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All of the above warranties contained in this section 3.22 shall survive expiration or 

termination of the Contract.  

3.23 LICENSES AND PERMITS 

The Successful Proposer shall obtain, maintain and pay for all licenses, permits and 

certificates including all professional licenses required by any statute, ordinance, rule or 

regulation.  The Successful Proposer shall immediately notify the Texas Lottery of any 

suspension, revocation or other detrimental action against its licenses, permits or 

certificates.  

3.24 SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER SITE VISITS 

The Texas Lottery shall have the free and unrestricted right, acting by itself or through its 

authorized representatives, to enter the premises of the Successful Proposer and any 

subcontractors, and to enter any other sites involved in providing goods and/or services 

under any Contract resulting from this RFP, to examine their operations and to inspect 

and copy the records of the Successful Proposer and/or subcontractors pertaining to 

goods and services provided under any Contract resulting from this RFP.  The Successful 

Proposer agrees that the Successful Proposer and its subcontractors shall implement all 

reasonable quality control and security procedures requested by the Texas Lottery or 

representatives as designated by the Texas Lottery.  The Texas Lottery will use 

reasonable efforts not to disrupt the normal business operations of the Successful 

Proposer (or subcontractor, as applicable) during site visits announced or unannounced.  

3.25 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 

3.25.1  Ownership.  As between the Successful Proposer and the Texas Lottery, the Works and 

Intellectual Property Rights in the Works are and shall be owned exclusively by the 

Texas Lottery, and not the Successful Proposer.  The Successful Proposer specifically 

agrees that all Works shall be considered ―works made for hire‖ and that the Works shall, 

upon creation, be owned exclusively by the Texas Lottery.  To the extent that the Works, 

under applicable law, may not be considered works made for hire, the Successful 

Proposer hereby agrees that the Contract resulting from this RFP  transfers, grants, 

conveys, assigns, and relinquishes exclusively to the Texas Lottery all right, title and 

interest in and to the Works, and all Intellectual Property Rights in the Works, without 

the necessity of any further consideration, and the Texas Lottery shall be entitled to 

obtain and hold in its own name all Intellectual Property Rights  in and to the Works, 

subject to any exceptions with respect to pre-existing or third party rights as set forth 

below.  

3.25.2 Ownership of Prior Rights by the Texas Lottery.  All property and tangible or intangible 

items, including the Intellectual Property Rights therein, that were created, developed or  

owned by the Texas Lottery prior to the issuance of this RFP or execution of any 

Contract resulting therefrom (e.g., copyrights, trademarks, etc.) shall continue to be 

exclusively owned by the Texas Lottery, and the Successful Proposer shall have no 

ownership thereof, and no rights thereto, other than the limited, non-exclusive right to use 
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such property or tangible and intangible items solely for the purposes set forth in this 

RFP or resulting Contract, if any, and only for the duration of such Contract.  

3.25.3 Ownership of Prior Rights by the Successful Proposer.  All property and tangible or 

intangible items, including the Intellectual Property Rights therein, that were created, 

developed or owned by the Successful Proposer prior to the issuance of this RFP shall 

continue to be exclusively owned by the Successful Proposer, and the Texas Lottery shall 

have no ownership thereof, and no rights thereto, other than the limited, non-exclusive 

right to use such property or tangible or intangible items solely for the purposes set forth 

in this RFP or resulting Contract, if any.  All intellectual property relating to the goods 

and/or services set forth herein or under the Contract, including the Intellectual Property 

Rights in those goods and/or services, that was created, developed or licensed by the 

Successful Proposer prior to the issuance of this RFP or the execution of the Contract, or 

during the term of the Contract, to the extent such intellectual property is not considered 

―works‖ as defined above, shall be, and is, licensed to the Texas Lottery on a non-

exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty-free, worldwide basis, to allow the Texas 

Lottery or its designees to provide, and continue to provide, the goods and services set 

forth herein or under the Contract, including after the expiration or termination of the 

Contract.  

3.25.4 Further Actions.  The Successful Proposer, upon request and without further 

consideration, shall perform any acts that may be deemed necessary or desirable by the 

Texas Lottery to evidence more fully the transfer of ownership of all Works to the Texas 

Lottery to the fullest extent possible, including but not limited to the execution, 

acknowledgement and delivery of such further documents in a form determined by the 

Texas Lottery.  In the event the Texas Lottery shall be unable for any reason to obtain the 

Successful Proposer‘s signature on any document necessary for any purpose set forth in 

the foregoing sentence, the Successful Proposer hereby irrevocably designates and 

appoints the Texas Lottery and its duly authorized officers and agents as the Successful 

Proposer‘s agent and the Successful Proposer‘s attorney-in-fact to act for and in the 

Successful Proposer‘s behalf and stead to execute and file any such document and to do 

all other lawfully permitted acts to further any such purpose with the same force and 

effect as if executed and delivered by the Successful Proposer. 

3.25.5 Waiver of Moral Rights.  The Successful Proposer hereby irrevocably and forever waives, 

and agrees never to assert, any Moral Rights in or to the Works which the Successful 

Proposer may now have or which may accrue to the Successful Proposer‘s benefit under 

U.S. or foreign copyright laws and any and all other residual rights and benefits which 

arise under any other applicable law now in force or hereafter enacted.  The term ―Moral 

Rights‖ shall mean any and all rights of paternity or integrity of the Works and the right 

to object to any modification, translation or use of the Works, and any similar rights 

existing under the judicial or statutory law of any country in the world or under any 

treaty, regardless of whether or not such right is denominated or referred to as a moral 

right.  
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3.25.6 Confidentiality.  All Works and all materials forwarded to the Successful Proposer by the 

Texas Lottery for use in and preparation of the Works, shall be deemed the confidential 

information of the Texas Lottery, and the Successful Proposer shall not use, disclose, or 

permit any person to use or obtain the Works, or any portion thereof, in any manner 

without the prior written approval of the Texas Lottery. 

3.25.7 Injunctive Relief.  The RFP and Contract are intended to protect the Texas Lottery‘s 

proprietary rights pertaining to the Works, and the Intellectual Property Rights therein, 

and any misuse of such rights would cause substantial and irreparable harm to the Texas 

Lottery‘s business.  Therefore, the Successful Proposer acknowledges and stipulates that 

a court of competent jurisdiction should immediately enjoin any material breach of the 

intellectual property, licensing, and confidentiality provisions of the RFP or Contract, 

upon a request by the Texas Lottery, without requiring proof of irreparable injury as same 

should be presumed. 

3.25.8 Return of Works.  Upon the request of the Texas Lottery, but in any event upon expiration 

or termination of any Contract resulting from this RFP, the Successful Proposer shall 

surrender to the Texas Lottery all documents and things pertaining to the Works, 

including but not limited to drafts, memoranda, notes, records, drawings, manuals, 

computer software, reports, data, and all other documents or materials (and copies of 

same) generated or developed by the Successful Proposer or furnished by the Texas 

Lottery to the Successful Proposer, including all materials embodying the Works, any 

Texas Lottery confidential information, or Intellectual Property Rights, regardless of 

whether complete or incomplete.  This section is intended to apply to all Works made or 

compiled by the Successful Proposer, as well as to all documents and things furnished to 

the Successful Proposer by the Texas Lottery or by anyone else that pertains to the 

Works. 

3.25.9 Successful Proposer’s Name or Logo. The Successful Proposer shall not affix its 

company name, label, logo, or any other similar identifying information to or on any 

products, equipment or any other goods provided under any Contract resulting from this 

RFP.  

3.26 PRE-EXISTING AND THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

3.26.1 To the extent that any pre-existing rights and/or third party rights or limitations are 

embodied, reserved or reflected in the Works, the Successful Proposer shall either (a) 

grant to the Texas Lottery the irrevocable, perpetual, non-exclusive, worldwide, royalty-

free right and license to (i) use, execute, reproduce, display, perform, distribute copies of, 

and prepare derivative works based upon such pre-existing rights and any derivative 

works thereof and (ii) authorize others to do any or all of the foregoing, or (b) where the 

obtaining of worldwide rights is not reasonably practical or feasible, provide written 

notice to the Texas Lottery of such pre-existing or third party rights or limitations, 

request the Texas Lottery‘s approval of such pre-existing or third party rights, obtain a 

limited right and license to use such pre-existing or third party rights on such terms as 

may be reasonably negotiated, and obtain the Texas Lottery‘s written approval of such 
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pre-existing or third party rights and the limited use of same. The Successful Proposer 

shall provide the Texas Lottery with documentation indicating a third party‘s written 

approval for the Successful Proposer to use any pre-existing or third party rights that may 

be embodied, reserved or reflected in the Works.  The Successful Proposer shall 

indemnify, defend and hold the Texas Lottery harmless from and against any and all 

claims, demands, regulatory proceedings and/or causes of action, and all losses, damages, 

and costs (including attorneys‘ fees and settlement costs) arising from or relating to, 

directly or indirectly, any claim or assertion by any third party that the Works infringe 

any third party rights.  The foregoing indemnity obligation shall not apply to instances in 

which the Texas Lottery either (y) exceeded the scope of the limited license that was 

previously obtained by the Successful Proposer and agreed to by the Texas Lottery, or (z) 

obtained information or materials, independent of the Successful Proposer‘s involvement 

or creation, and provided such information or materials to the Successful Proposer for 

inclusion in the Works, and such information or materials were included by the 

Successful Proposer, in an unaltered and unmodified fashion, in the Works.   

3.26.2 The Successful Proposer agrees that it shall have and maintain, during performance of 

any Contract arising from this RFP, written agreements with all employees, 

subcontractors, or agents engaged by the Successful Proposer in performance hereunder, 

granting the Successful Proposer rights sufficient to support all performance and grants of 

rights by the Successful Proposer.  Copies of such agreements shall be provided to the 

Texas Lottery promptly upon request. 

3.27 REMEDIATION 

If the Works or the Intellectual Property Rights therein become the subject of a lawsuit or 

claim of infringement, or the Successful Proposer becomes aware that such items are 

likely to become the subject of a lawsuit or claim of infringement, the Successful 

Proposer shall exercise one (1) of the following two (2) options in order to provide the 

Texas Lottery with continued and uninterrupted use of the Works and Intellectual 

Property Rights therein: (a) obtain for the Texas Lottery the right to continue the use of 

the alleged infringing Works at no additional cost to the Texas Lottery, or (b) obtain 

alternative, substitute or new Works for the allegedly infringing Works, which are of 

equivalent or superior quality to the allegedly infringing Works, at no additional cost to 

the Texas Lottery, and subject to the acceptance of the Texas Lottery in its sole 

discretion. 

3.28 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY SEARCH 

The Successful Proposer, at its expense, shall conduct all appropriate intellectual property 

searches (e.g., full copyright, trademark or service mark or patent searches)  for all 

proposed Works, to ensure that the proposed Works are protectable by the Texas Lottery 

and do not infringe the Intellectual Property Rights of any third person or entity.  The 

Successful Proposer holds the Texas Lottery harmless from the infringement of such 

Works, as set forth above.  The Texas Lottery retains the right and option to obtain or 

secure registration of the Works in its own name, and on its own behalf, without the 
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substantive involvement of the Successful Proposer. The Texas Lottery will withhold 

indemnified losses from payments to the Successful Proposer, or, if no payments are 

made, the Texas Lottery will make demand of payment of indemnified losses. The 

Successful Proposer must make payment within thirty (30) Days of the Texas Lottery‘s 

demand. 

3.29 ACCOUNTING RECORDS 

The Successful Proposer and its subcontractors are required to maintain its books, 

records, information and other materials pertaining to any Contract awarded pursuant to 

this RFP in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  These records 

shall be available to the Texas Lottery, its internal auditor or external auditors (and other 

designees) and the Texas State Auditor at all times during the Contract period and for a 

period of five (5) full years after (i) the expiration date of any Contract awarded pursuant 

to this RFP, or (ii) final payment under any Contract awarded pursuant to this RFP, 

whichever is later. 

3.30 RIGHT TO AUDIT  

The Successful Proposer understands that acceptance of state funds under this Contract 

acts as acceptance of the authority of the State Auditor‘s Office, or its designee, to 

conduct an audit, other assurance services or investigation in connection with those 

funds.  The Successful Proposer further agrees to cooperate fully with the State Auditor‘s 

Office in the conduct of the audit, other assurance services or investigation, including 

providing all records requested.  The Successful Proposer shall ensure that this provision 

concerning the State Auditor‘s Office‘s authority to audit state funds and the requirement 

to cooperate fully with the State Auditor‘s Office is included in any subcontracts it 

awards.  Additionally, the State Auditor‘s Office shall at any time have access to and the 

rights to examine, audit, excerpt, and transcribe any pertinent books, documents, working 

papers, and records of the Successful Proposer relating to this Contract.   

3.31 AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 

The Successful Proposer must meet specific auditing obligations: 

(a) The Successful Proposer shall be required to have a complete financial audit 

conducted annually. A copy of the Successful Proposer‘s audited financial 

statements shall be provided to the Texas Lottery annually. 

(b) In addition, a complete internal control audit, in compliance with Statement on 

Auditing Standards No. 70 (SAS 70) requirements, of the Successful Proposer‘s 

Texas operations shall be conducted annually by an independent certified public 

accounting firm.  The Successful Proposer shall pay for all audit services.  This 

audit shall be conducted pursuant to SAS 70, as issued by the American Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants as it may be updated or amended from time to 

time.  The Texas Lottery reserves the right to specify the type of report and the 

control objectives to be examined as well as the accounting firm to perform the 
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audit. The Texas Lottery reserves the right to designate the annual period to be 

covered by the report relating to the internal control audit.  The Successful 

Proposer agrees (i) to fully cooperate with any auditor retained to perform such 

audit; (ii) to generally release and waive any and all claims against the auditor 

other than those based upon intentional misconduct occurring during such audit; 

and (iii) to indemnify and hold harmless any auditor retained to perform such 

audit.  The Successful Proposer agrees that any such auditor is a direct and 

intended third party beneficiary of this provision.  

(c) The Texas Lottery‘s internal auditor or external auditors (and other designees) 

and the Texas State Auditor shall be given the right to review the work papers of 

the audits conducted by any independent certified public accounting firm, if 

considered necessary or desirable by the Texas Lottery. 

(d) The Texas Lottery‘s internal auditor and Executive Director shall be given a copy 

of all reports including any management letters issued as a result of the specified 

audits within ten (10) Days of issuance.  Ten (10) additional copies of all reports 

must be made available to the Texas Lottery upon request. 

3.32 RIGHT TO ADDITIONALLY AUDIT THE SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER’S TEXAS 
OPERATIONS 

3.32.1 The Texas Lottery reserves the right to audit the Successful Proposer‘s records and 

operations as they relate to the Texas Lottery.  The Successful Proposer‘s records are 

subject to audit by the Texas Lottery and the state auditor. For the purpose of this 

provision, the Texas Lottery or state auditor may examine all books, records, papers, or 

other objects, as well as data and systems that the Texas Lottery or state auditor 

determines are necessary for conducting a complete examination.  The Texas Lottery or 

state auditor may also examine under oath any officer, director, or employee of the 

Successful Proposer. The Texas Lottery or state auditor may conduct an examination at 

the principal office or any other office of the Successful Proposer or may require the 

Successful Proposer to produce the records at the office of the Texas Lottery or state 

auditor. If the Successful Proposer refuses to permit an examination or to answer any 

question during the course of an audit, the Successful Proposer is subject to sanctions as 

provided in the Contract.   

3.32.2 The Successful Proposer agrees (i) to fully cooperate with any auditor retained to perform 

such audit; (ii) to generally release and waive any and all claims against the auditor other 

than those based upon intentional misconduct occurring during such audit, and (iii) to 

indemnify and hold harmless any auditor retained to perform such audit.  The Successful 

Proposer agrees that any such auditor is a direct and intended third party beneficiary of 

this provision. 

3.33 INDEMNIFICATION 

3.33.1 The Successful Proposer shall indemnify, defend and hold the Texas Lottery, its 

commission members, the State of Texas, and its agents, attorneys, employees, 
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representatives and assigns (the ―Indemnified Parties‖) harmless from and against any 

and all claims, demands, causes of action, liabilities, lawsuits, losses, damages, costs, 

expenses or attorneys‘ fees (collectively, ―Claim‖), and including any liability of any 

nature or kind arising out of a Claim for or on account of the Works, or other goods, 

services or deliverables provided as the result of any Contract resulting from this RFP, 

which may be incurred, suffered, or required in whole or in part by an actual or alleged 

act or omission of the Successful Proposer, or a subcontractor of the Successful Proposer, 

or any person directly or indirectly employed by the Successful Proposer or a 

subcontractor of the Successful Proposer, whether the Claim is based on negligence, strict 

liability, intellectual property infringement or any other culpable conduct, whether 

frivolous or not. The foregoing indemnity obligations of the Successful Proposer shall not 

apply to Claims arising out of or related to the exceptions (y) and (z) set forth in Section 

3.26.1 above. 

3.33.2 The Successful Proposer‘s liability shall extend to and include all reasonable costs, 

expenses and attorneys‘ fees incurred or sustained by the Indemnified Parties in: (a) 

making any investigation and in prosecuting or defending any Claim arising out of or in 

connection with the Works, or other goods, services or deliverables provided under any 

Contract resulting from this RFP (including but not limited to any claim that all or any 

portion of the Works infringes the patent, copyright, trade secret, trademark, confidential 

information, or other Intellectual Property Rights of any third party); (b) obtaining or 

seeking to obtain a release therefrom; or (c) enforcing any of the provisions contained in 

this RFP or the Contract.  The Texas Lottery will withhold all indemnification costs and 

related expenses and fees (incurred or sustained by the Indemnified Parties) from 

payments to the Successful Proposer under any Contract resulting from this RFP, or if no 

contract payments are to be made, the Texas Lottery will make demand of payment from 

the Successful Proposer or seek recovery against the Successful Proposer‘s Performance 

Bond. The Indemnified Parties, upon giving notice to the Successful Proposer, shall have 

the right in good faith to pay, settle or compromise, or litigate any Claim under the belief 

that the Claim is well founded, whether it is or not, without the consent or approval of the 

Successful Proposer.  The Texas Lottery has sole discretion as to the choice and selection 

of any attorney who may represent the Texas Lottery.  To the extent that the Successful 

Proposer makes any payments to or on behalf of the Indemnified Parties under the 

Contract, and to the extent permissible by law, the Successful Proposer shall be fully 

subrogated to all rights and claims of the Indemnified Parties in connection therewith.  In 

any event, the Indemnified Parties shall provide reasonable notice to the Successful 

Proposer of any Claim known to the Indemnified Parties to arise out of the Contract. 

3.34 BONDS AND INSURANCE 

All required bonds and insurance must be issued by companies or financial institutions 

which are financially rated Excellent or better as rated by A.M. Best Company and duly 

licensed, admitted, and authorized to do business in the State of Texas.  The Texas 

Lottery shall be named as the obligee in each required bond.  Each insurance policy, 

except those for workers‘ compensation, employer‘s liability and professional liability, 
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must name the Texas Lottery (and its officers, agents and employees) as an additional 

insured on the original policy and all renewals or replacements.  Insurance coverage must 

include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the Texas Lottery, its officers, and employees 

for bodily injury (including death), property damage or any other loss.  The insurance 

shall be evidenced by delivery to the Texas Lottery of certificates of insurance executed 

by the insurer or its authorized agency stating coverage, limits, expiration dates, and 

compliance with all applicable required provisions.  Upon request, the Texas Lottery 

shall be entitled to receive, without expense, certified copies of the policies and all 

endorsements. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, required coverage must 

remain in full force and effect throughout the term of the Contract and any extensions 

thereof, and provide adequate coverage for incidents discovered after termination of the 

Contract. Insurance coverage shall not be canceled, non-renewed or materially changed 

except after thirty (30) Days‘ notice by certified mail to the Texas Lottery.  The 

Successful Proposer must submit original certificates of insurance for each required 

insurance contract, and any renewals thereof, within fifteen (15) Days after contract 

execution.  Renewal certificates shall be submitted prior to or within fifteen (15) Days 

after expiration of the existing policy.  Proposers must submit required bonds when and 

as provided in sections of this RFP outlining bond requirements. 

3.35 SELF INSURANCE 

The Successful Proposer may not elect to provide entirely or in part for the 

insurance/bond protections described in this RFP through self-insurance.  A deductible 

provision contained in an insurance policy that meets the requirements of this RFP is not 

considered as self-insurance unless the deductible amount exceeds ten percent (10%) of 

the face amount of the insurance policy.   

3.36 PERFORMANCE BOND 

3.36.1 The Successful Proposer shall provide an original performance bond (as shown in 

Attachment F attached hereto and incorporated for all purposes) in the amount of thirty-

five million dollars ($35,000,000) within fifteen (15) Days of execution of the Contract.  

Failure to have and keep a bond in place shall constitute a breach of any Contract entered 

into as a result of this RFP. 

3.36.2 The bond must be maintained in full force and effect for the initial term and any renewal 

term of the Contract.  The bond shall be forfeited to the Texas Lottery if the Successful 

Proposer fails to perform as required by the Contract, pay sanctions or liquidated 

damages, or indemnify the Texas Lottery. 

3.37 GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 

The Successful Proposer must maintain general liability insurance coverage with limits of 

not less than two million dollars ($2,000,000) per occurrence, four million dollars 

($4,000,000) general aggregate, two million dollars ($2,000,000) products/completed 

operations aggregate and two million dollars ($2,000,000) personal and advertising 
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injury. Policy shall be endorsed to include the Amendment of Aggregate Limits per 

location. 

3.38 PROPERTY INSURANCE 

The Successful Proposer must maintain insurance on all buildings, furniture, fixtures, 

computer and communications equipment used in operating and supporting the 

Successful Proposer‘s operations under any Contract resulting from this RFP in an 

amount equal to or greater than the actual replacement cost thereof.  Coverage must 

include an All Risk Property Floater to insure personal property including contents, 

equipment, and mobile items against fire, theft, collision, flood, etc.  The Texas Lottery 

will not be responsible for insuring any equipment or facilities included in or associated 

with the Successful Proposer‘s operations. 

3.39 ERRORS AND OMISSIONS INSURANCE 

The Successful Proposer must maintain professional liability errors and omissions 

insurance of not less than ten million dollars ($10,000,000), to be in force and effect 

during the term of the Contract including any extension thereof and one year thereafter.  

Coverage must indemnify the Texas Lottery for direct loss due to errors, omissions, or 

problems of any type arising out of the performance of or failure to perform system 

services or out of the failure of hardware or software to perform the function or serve the 

purpose intended, for which the Successful Proposer is legally liable.   

3.40 CRIME INSURANCE 

The Successful Proposer must maintain crime insurance with a limit of not less than five 

million dollars ($5,000,000) protecting the Texas Lottery against losses, including lost 

income, lost profits, extra expenses and other consequential losses suffered by the Texas 

Lottery, resulting from loss of property (including money, securities and Texas Lottery 

tickets) by robbery, burglary, or theft, computer fraud or the loss of money, securities or 

Texas Lottery tickets because of destruction or disappearance. The policy also must 

include employee dishonesty coverage with a minimum of five million dollars 

($5,000,000) per person endorsed to cover third party property and no conviction clause. 

3.41 AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY INSURANCE 

The Successful Proposer must maintain automobile liability insurance covering drivers 

and vehicles employed by the Successful Proposer.  The Successful Proposer must 

require each subcontractor to carry the same coverage and limits as those required of the 

Successful Proposer.  The automobile liability insurance must have limits of not less than 

two million dollars ($2,000,000) for bodily injury to each person, four million dollars 

($4,000,000) for bodily injury each accident, two million dollars ($2,000,000) for 

property damage, and a combined single limit of not less than four million dollars 

($4,000,000). 
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3.42 WORKERS’ COMPENSATION & EMPLOYERS LIABILITY INSURANCE 

The Successful Proposer must maintain Workers' Compensation insurance coverage in 

accordance with statutory limits, and Employers Liability insurance coverage with 

minimum limits for bodily injury:  

(a) by accident, $100,000 per each accident; and   

(b) by disease, $100,000 per employee with a per policy aggregate of $500,000.   

Coverage must include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the Texas Lottery 

Commission, its officers and employees. 

3.43 DISCLOSURE OF LITIGATION 

The Proposer must include in its Proposal a complete disclosure of any material civil or 

criminal litigation or indictment either threatened or pending involving the Proposer. 

―Threatened litigation‖ as used herein shall include governmental investigations and civil 

investigative demands.  ―Litigation‖ as used herein shall include administrative 

enforcement actions brought by governmental agencies. The Proposer must also disclose 

any material litigation threatened or pending involving subcontractors, consultants, 

and/or lobbyists.  For purposes of this section, ―material‖ refers to, but is not limited to, 

any action or pending action that a reasonable person knowledgeable in the gaming 

industry would consider relevant to any gaming operation or any development such a 

person would want to be aware of in order to stay fully apprised of the total mix of 

information relevant to the gaming industry and its operations, together with any 

litigation threatened or pending that may result in a substantial change in the Proposer‘s 

financial condition, as described in Section 4.7.  This is a continuing disclosure 

requirement, any litigation commencing after submission of a Proposal (and for the 

Successful Proposer, after Contract Award) must be disclosed in a written statement to 

the Texas Lottery‘s General Counsel within fifteen (15) Days of its occurrence. The 

Successful Proposer shall be required to file with the Texas Lottery comprehensive 

monthly reports regarding all threatened or pending litigation involving the Successful 

Proposer‘s Texas operations and all threatened or pending litigation that may be 

considered material to the overall operations of the Successful Proposer, as well as all 

procurement protests or responses to procurement protests involving the Successful 

Proposer or its parents, subsidiaries or affiliates. 

3.44 DISCLOSURE OF SANCTIONS AND LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

The Proposer must include in its Proposal a complete list of all sanctions and liquidated 

damages assessed against the Proposer during the last five (5) years prior to submission 

of the Proposal. The Proposer must also include in its Proposal a complete account of all 

goods or services provided in consideration of contractual sanctions or liquidated 

damages that would have been assessed, including the jurisdiction, the reason for the 

penalty or liquidated damages and the goods or services provided in lieu of the 

assessment. This is a continuing disclosure requirement, any sanctions or liquidated 

damages assessed after submission of the Proposal must be disclosed in writing within 
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fifteen (15) Days of its occurrence. The Texas Lottery reserves the right to request an 

updated report of all sanctions and/or liquidated damages assessed against the Successful 

Proposer during the term of any Contract resulting from this RFP. 

3.45 FORCE MAJEURE / DELAY OF PERFORMANCE 

3.45.1 Except as otherwise provided, neither the Successful Proposer nor the Texas Lottery shall 

be liable to the other for any delay in, or failure of performance of, any covenant 

contained herein caused by force majeure.  The existence of such causes of delay or 

failure shall extend the period of performance in the exercise of reasonable diligence until 

after the causes of delay or failure have been removed.  For purposes of this RFP and any 

Contract resulting therefrom, ―force majeure‖ is defined as ―an act of God or any other 

cause of like kind not reasonably within a party‘s control and which, by the exercise of 

due diligence of such party, could not have been prevented or is unable to be overcome.‖  

The Successful Proposer must inform the Texas Lottery in writing within three (3) Days 

of the existence of any such force majeure or otherwise waives this right as a defense. 

3.45.2 The Successful Proposer shall immediately upon discovery notify the Executive Director 

in writing of any delays in performance regardless of responsibility, fault or negligence.  

If the Successful Proposer contends that the delay is the responsibility, fault or negligence 

of Texas Lottery staff, the Successful Proposer  must provide written notice within three 

(3) calendar Days of the discovery, and to the extent possible, identify the event or 

individual responsible so that the Executive Director may take appropriate action to 

remedy the situation.  Failure to provide such notice to the Executive Director as required 

in this Section 3.45 shall constitute a waiver of the Successful Proposer‘s right to assert 

the Texas Lottery‘s action/inaction as a defense. 

3.46 SECURITY REQUIREMENTS 

3.46.1 Prior to beginning operations under any Contract awarded pursuant to this RFP, the 

Successful Proposer shall establish a security program, subject to the prior written 

approval of the Texas Lottery as specified in this RFP.   

3.46.2 The Texas Lottery reserves the right to require at any time such further and additional 

security measures as deemed necessary or appropriate to ensure the integrity of the  

Successful Proposer‘s goods and services. 

3.47 TAXES, FEES AND ASSESSMENTS 

3.47.1 The Texas Lottery shall have no responsibility whatsoever for the payment of any 

federal, state or local taxes which become payable by the Successful Proposer or its 

subcontractors, or their agents, officers or employees.  The Successful Proposer shall pay 

and discharge when due all such taxes, license fees, levies, and other obligations or 

charges of every nature. 

3.47.2 The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for payment of all taxes attributable to any 

Contract awarded pursuant to this RFP and any and all such taxes shall be identified 

under the Successful Proposer‘s federal tax identification number.  The Successful 
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Proposer shall pay all federal, state and local taxes of any kind, including without 

limitation income, franchise, ad valorem personal property, sales, use, lease, payroll, 

consumption, distribution and storage taxes, for the goods, services and systems relating 

thereto provided by the Successful Proposer, whether or not such taxes are in effect as of 

the date the Contract resulting from this RFP is signed or scheduled to go into effect, or 

become effective during the initial term and any and all renewal terms, if any. 

3.48 NEWS RELEASES 

The Successful Proposer shall not issue any news releases or publish information to the 

public pertaining to this procurement process or the performance of any Contract 

awarded by the Texas Lottery without prior written approval of the Texas Lottery. For 

any required disclosure or any public release of information of any kind, including a non-

required disclosure, that is under a deadline imposed by any statutory or regulatory 

authority, the Successful Proposer shall seek approval from the Texas Lottery no less 

than two (2) Working Days prior to the deadline for the release of the information.  In 

any case in which a deadline for the release of information exists, approval of the release 

by the Texas Lottery shall neither be construed as an endorsement of the release, as 

assent to the content of the release, as an indication of the accuracy of the information in 

the release, nor as any admission of any kind regarding any subject covered in the 

release. 

3.49 ADVERTISING 

3.49.1 The Successful Proposer agrees not to use the Texas Lottery‘s name, logos, images, nor 

any data or results arising from this procurement process or Contract awarded pursuant to 

this RFP as a part of any commercial advertising, or to promote the Successful Proposer 

in another jurisdiction‘s procurement process, without prior written approval by the 

Texas Lottery.  

3.49.2 Any advertising, promotions and point of sale material produced by the Successful 

Proposer under the Contract or proposed for use by the Successful Proposer in Texas 

must be pre-approved by the Texas Lottery in writing. 

3.50 HIRING OF TEXAS LOTTERY PERSONNEL 

3.50.1 At all times following issuance of this RFP and ending with either the award of a 

Contract or the rejection of all Proposals, prospective Proposers are prohibited from 

officially or unofficially making any employment offer or proposing any business 

arrangement whatsoever to any Texas Lottery employee involved in the evaluation of 

Proposals, the Contract Award, or contract negotiations.  A prospective Proposer making 

such an offer or proposition may be disqualified from further consideration. 

3.50.2 At all times following the issuance of this RFP and ending with either the award of a 

Contract or the rejection of all Proposals, Proposers shall not engage the services of any 

State of Texas employee while such person remains employed by the State without the 

written consent of the Texas Lottery. During the term of the Contract, the Successful 
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Proposer shall not engage the services of any State of Texas employee while such person 

remains employed by the State without the written consent of the Lottery. 

3.51 HIRING OF LOBBYIST, CONSULTANT AND/OR ADVISOR; SUPPLEMENTAL 
INFORMATION 

The Proposer shall list the names, addresses and telephone numbers for all lobbyists, 

consultants, and/or advisors who will perform services related to the Proposer‘s 

operations or interests in the State of Texas, pursuant to previously executed contracts, or 

during the three (3) years prior to the issuance of the RFP, who have performed services 

related to the Proposer‘s operations or interests in the State of Texas for the Proposer or 

any subcontractors of the Proposer.  The Proposer shall immediately notify the Texas 

Lottery in the event of change of lobbyist, consultant, or advisor information.  

3.52 NOTICES 

The Proposer shall indicate in its Proposal the name and address of the person to whom 

any notices shall be given.  Notices to the Texas Lottery shall be made by personal 

delivery or by certified (or registered) mail return receipt requested to the Texas Lottery 

at the address below unless the Proposer is notified in writing by the Texas Lottery of any 

change: 

Texas Lottery Commission 

Attention: Contracts Administration 

P.O. Box 16630 

Austin, Texas 78761-6630 

Fax (512) 344-5058 

Contracts@lottery.state.tx.us 

3.53 NON-DISCLOSURE  

In addition to maintaining confidentiality of information as prescribed in the Non-

Disclosure Statement (Section 2.4), the Successful Proposer shall maintain as 

confidential, and shall not disclose to third parties without the Texas Lottery‘s prior 

written consent, any Texas Lottery information including but not limited to the Texas 

Lottery‘s business activities, practices, systems, conditions, products, services, public 

information and education plans and related materials, and game and marketing plans.   

3.54 USUFRUCT 

If, for any reason other than breach of contract by the Texas Lottery, the Successful 

Proposer should lose its ability to service a Contract resulting from this RFP, the Texas 

Lottery shall acquire a usufruct in all contractual items owned by the Successful Proposer 

in conjunction with the Contract and which are necessary to provide such services.  Said 

usufruct shall be limited to the right of the Texas Lottery to possess and make use of such 

contractual items solely for the use and benefit of the Texas Lottery in operating, 

maintaining, altering, replacing and improving the programs and systems being used by 
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the Texas Lottery under the Contract.  Such usufruct shall be limited in time to the 

duration of the Contract and any extension thereof, and in scope for programs, systems, 

and other items being used by the Texas Lottery under the Contract. 

3.55 TICKET PURCHASE  

In accordance with Texas Government Code ANN.  § 466.254 (Purchase of Ticket by or 

Payment of Prize to Certain Persons), no member, officer or employee of the Successful 

Proposer shall purchase a Texas Lottery ticket or be paid a prize in any Texas Lottery 

game.  No spouse, child, brother, sister, or parent of such member, officer or employee 

who resides in the household of such member, officer or employee (collectively, ―Family 

Members‖), shall purchase a Texas Lottery ticket or be paid a prize in any Texas Lottery 

game.  The Successful Proposer shall ensure that these statutory prohibitions are made 

known to each member, officer and employee of the Successful Proposer, prior to that 

person becoming involved in selling or leasing the goods or performing the services that 

are the subject of the Contract. The Successful Proposer shall require its members, 

officers and employees to make the statutory prohibition known to Family Members. The 

Successful Proposer shall promptly notify the Texas Lottery of any violation of Texas 

Government Code ANN.  § 466.254.  

Following contract execution, the Successful Proposer agrees to provide to the Texas 

Lottery the name, address, and any other identifying information requested by the Texas 

Lottery, of all members, officers and employees of the Successful Proposer, or of any 

subcontractor(s), providing goods or performing the services that are the subject of the 

contract with the Texas Lottery.  The Successful Proposer agrees to update such 

information when there is a change in the direct involvement status of any of Successful 

Proposer‘s members, officers and employees, or of any subcontractor(s).   

3.56 END OF CONTRACT CONVERSION  

3.56.1 The Texas Lottery shall be solely responsible for the identification of and time for 

conversions (transfers) of retailer terminals and the Successful Proposer shall cooperate 

fully and in good faith in said conversion (transfer).  Cooperation may include, but is not 

limited to, sharing of liability files and cross-validation of winning tickets. 

3.56.2 At the direction of the Texas Lottery, the Successful Proposer shall remove all equipment 

and materials relating solely to the Successful Proposer‘s System from each Retailer 

location within fourteen (14) calendar days after the successful conversion (transfer) of 

the location to the new system. 

3.56.3 The Successful Proposer must cooperate fully with the Texas Lottery throughout the 

period in which the administration of responsibilities under the Contract is transitioned or 

turned over to the Texas Lottery or a third party.  The Successful Proposer must continue 

to provide all goods and services required under the Contract without interruption or 

degradation in service levels during the turnover period.  The Successful Proposer must 

support the successor, including the sharing of files, until the Texas Lottery determines 

that the successor can satisfactorily maintain contract services without interruption. The 
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Successful Proposer shall provide to the Texas Lottery or its designee promptly and 

without delay, at no cost, copies of all current software specifications, data files, job 

control language, program designs, procedures and all other elements required to install 

and operate the games in machine readable form and/or to perform the other services 

required of the successor.  Required technical, user and programmer documentation as 

the Texas Lottery may require must also be provided promptly and without delay by the 

Successful Proposer to the Texas Lottery or its designee.  The Texas Lottery will 

determine when the Successful Proposer‘s transition services are not necessary and will 

provide written notice to the Successful Proposer. 

3.56.4 Through the conversion period, the Successful Proposer shall provide sufficient 

experienced personnel, resources and facilities to assure that the system and services 

called for by the Contract are maintained at a high level of proficiency. 

3.57 EQUIPMENT 

The Successful Proposer hereby represents and warrants that all equipment provided shall 

be new, shall be free from defects in materials and workmanship, shall be merchantable 

and fit for the purpose for which it is intended, and shall meet or exceed the performance 

standards and specifications required in this Contract.  Any equipment, or component 

thereof, used by the Successful Proposer pursuant hereto that does not conform to the 

foregoing shall be repaired or replaced by the Successful Proposer without cost to the 

Texas Lottery in addition to other amounts the Texas Lottery may be entitled to in law or 

in equity, or as specified in the Contract. 

3.58 PROGRAMS 

3.58.1 The Successful Proposer represents and warrants that all systems analysis, systems design 

and programming prepared or done, or to be prepared or done, by the Successful 

Proposer, its Subcontractors, or its officers, employees or agents in providing all required 

goods and services under the Contract has been and shall be prepared or done in a 

professional manner.  All systems analyses, systems design and programs shall be fully 

documented.  All documentation must also include a security risk and analysis The 

Successful Proposer further hereby represents and warrants that all programs provided 

under the Contract shall meet the performance standards required in the Contract and 

shall correctly and accurately perform their intended functions. 

3.58.2 The Successful Proposer hereby warrants that all Lottery Gaming System software is 

maintainable and reusable.  The Successful Proposer warrants and represents that all 

software used by the Successful Proposer in the performance of any and all Contract 

requirements in the Lottery Gaming System shall be written in languages that can be 

maintained and supported by the Texas Lottery and/or any third party contractor selected 

by the Texas Lottery.  The Successful Proposer hereby warrants that all Lottery Gaming 

System software shall be documented.  The Successful Proposer hereby warrants that all 

software developed for the Texas Lottery and all modifications to existing  software 

developed pursuant to this Contract will be delivered in a format including both source 

code and object code, such that such software can be readily modified, compiled, and 
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maintained by the Texas Lottery and/or a third party contractor selected by the Texas 

Lottery; provided however, that delivery of the source code format, to the extent such 

software does not constitute Works, will be only into escrow pursuant to Section 3.58.4, 

and subject to the terms and conditions of the Source Code Escrow Agreement 

contemplated by said Section 3.58.4. 

3.58.3 Programming languages, tools, and methodologies used by the Successful Proposer in 

performance of Contract obligations must be approved as supportable by the Texas 

Lottery prior to their use by the Successful Proposer.  The Successful Proposer shall 

support all Lottery Gaming System software for the term of the Contract and any 

extension thereof.  If the programming support software is not available in the open 

normal data processing market, then the Successful Proposer shall be required to supply 

to persons designated by the Texas Lottery all compilers and all normal programming 

support software, which is available to the Successful Proposer‘s software staff, as well 

as appropriate and necessary training. 

3.58.4 The Successful Proposer shall deliver copies of all Works to the Texas Lottery promptly 

after they are completed.  If the Works include computer software, the Successful 

Proposer shall deliver copies of source code as well as object code of such software, and 

entity relationship diagrams, in addition to technical documentation sufficient for an 

average programmer to understand, modify, compile and execute the software.  The 

Successful Proposer shall clearly label the media containing any Works to identify the 

Works contained in the media. 

3.58.5 The Successful Proposer shall enter into a source code escrow agreement with the Texas 

Lottery and designate an escrow agent acceptable to the Texas Lottery for the source 

code and system and/or technical documentation for those portions of the software that 

do not constitute Works (the ―Source Code Escrow Agreement‖).  The Successful 

Proposer shall be responsible for all charges associated with the escrow of the source 

code.  The Successful Proposer shall continuously maintain and perform all of the 

respective obligations of the Source Code Escrow Agreement in accordance with the 

terms of the Source Code Escrow Agreement.  At a minimum, the Source Code Escrow 

Agreement shall provide for release of the source code to the Texas Lottery in the event 

of termination for cause of this Contract under Section 3.17.  The Source Code Escrow 

Agreement shall not permit the Successful Proposer to give contrary instructions to the 

escrow agent in the event that the Texas Lottery sends the agent a certified letter 

indicating that a release condition has occurred.  The Texas Lottery shall have full rights 

of inspection during the term of the Source Code Escrow Agreement.  By executing the 

Contract, the Successful Proposer grants the Texas Lottery a non-exclusive, worldwide, 

perpetual, irrevocable, and royalty-free right and license to use, have used, modify, have 

modified, compile, have compiled, execute, have executed, display, have displayed and 

operate and have operated the source code for the software necessary to operate the 

Lottery; it being understood, however, that the Texas Lottery shall only exercise its rights 

under this license with respect to the source code released from the source code escrow 

pursuant to the terms and conditions of the escrow agreement.  In such event, the Texas 

Lottery may allow access to the source code by third party contractors, but only if the 
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Texas Lottery enters into a non-disclosure agreement with such third party requiring the 

third party to maintain the source code in confidence, not to use the source code for any 

other purpose other than to support the Texas Lottery, and naming the Successful 

Proposer as a third party beneficiary of such non-disclosure agreement.  The Texas 

Lottery and the Successful Proposer intend that the Texas Lottery shall have all rights 

afforded to licensees under section 365(n) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (and any 

successor thereto) in connection with any bankruptcy of the Successful Proposer. 

3.59  LOTTERY PURCHASE OPTION 

In the event that the Texas Lottery exercises its option to purchase the Lottery Gaming 

System equipment pursuant to section 3.21(b) of this RFP or any resulting Contract, the 

Texas Lottery shall have an irrevocable, perpetual, worldwide, royalty-free right and 

exclusive license to use third party software or software developed by the Successful 

Proposer and received by the Texas Lottery from the Successful Proposer under the 

Contract in order to operate in Texas any equipment provided under the Contract by the 

Successful Proposer. 

3.60 SANCTIONS AND REMEDIES SCHEDULE  

3.60.1 General.  Section 2261.101 of the Texas Government Code requires that all state 

contracts contain a remedies schedule, a graduated sanctions schedule, or both.  Pursuant 

to that statutory provision, sanctions and remedies will apply for the incidents specified in 

this section.  The sanctions and remedies will be referred to as ―sanctions.‖  

3.60.2 Assessment of Sanctions.  Once the Texas Lottery has determined that sanctions are to be 

assessed, the Executive Director or Executive Director‘s designee may notify the 

Successful Proposer of the assessment(s).  Failure or delay in notifying does not impact 

the Texas Lottery‘s assessment of sanctions and providing notice is not a condition 

precedent thereto.  The Texas Lottery will withhold sanctions from payments to the 

Successful Proposer, or, if no payments are to be made, the Texas Lottery will make 

demand of payment of sanctions.  The Successful Proposer must make payment within 

ten (10) Days of the Texas Lottery‘s demand.  In the event the Successful Proposer fails 

to pay within the ten (10) Day period, the Texas Lottery may make a claim for payment 

against the performance bond under Section 3.36, with or without notice to the 

Successful Proposer.  

3.60.3 Failure to Assess Sanctions.  The failure of the Texas Lottery to assess sanctions in any 

instance where the Texas Lottery is entitled to sanctions pursuant to the terms of this RFP 

and/or the Contract shall not constitute waiver in any fashion of the Texas Lottery‘s 

rights to assess sanctions. 

3.60.4 Severability of Individual Sanctions Clause.  If any portion of this sanctions schedule is 

determined to be unenforceable, the other portions of this schedule shall remain in full 

force and effect.  

3.60.5 Sanction Schedule.  For the purpose of the sanctions schedule, the following definitions 

apply: 
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 Section – references the applicable provision(s) of the RFP. The section references 

are not exclusive. 

 Description – detailed description of the sanction. 

 Amount – sanction assessment amount and frequency. 

 Trigger Examples –how the sanction may be applied. The trigger examples are not 

exclusive. Measure –basis for the sanction assessment. 

 Performance Target – the Contract requirement. 

 Formula – shows how the sanction will be calculated. 

 Maximum Sanction – the maximum sanction amount, if any, per incident. 

 Exceptions – identifies any exceptions to the sanction. 

 Measure Interval – identifies the interval for assessment of a sanction. 

 Reporting Period – identifies the reporting frequency for the sanction. For sanctions 

with a Reporting Period requirement, the Successful Proposer must submit written 

reports based on the required frequency, even if there were no noted incidents during 

the reporting period. The use of the term ‗none‘ only means there is no reporting 

requirement for the applicable sanction. 

 Measurement Basis – the basis for measuring the start and end of an incident. 

 

3.60.6 Failure to Permit an Audit or Examination 

Section Description Amount 

 Multiple The failure of the Successful Proposer to permit financial or 

operational audits or examinations, to produce requested 

records, to provide information, or to provide a timely answer 

for an audit as required in sections 3.30, 3.31 and elsewhere in 

this RFP, may result in the Successful Proposer being assessed 

sanctions for each Day the audit/examination is not permitted, 

the records are not produced, information is not provided 

and/or the answer is not provided. 

$5,000 per 

Day or any 

part of a 

Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Request by Auditor or Texas Lottery Elapsed Time 100% Responsiveness to Auditor's 

Request 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Responsiveness 

Days Past Due = Compliance Date - Request Date 

Total Sanction = Number of Days Past Due x Daily 

Sanction 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Auditor's dated requests 
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3.60.7 Failure to Produce Accurate Records or Provide Accurate Information 

Section Description Amount 

Multiple The failure of the Successful Proposer to produce accurate 

records or information may result in the Successful Proposer 

being assessed sanctions for each Day that accurate 

information is not provided. 

$5,000 per 

Day or any 

part of a 

Day 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Notification by Texas Lottery Accuracy 100% Accuracy of Records and 

Information 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Accuracy 

Total Sanction = (Date Accurate Records/Information 

Provided - Date of Notification of Inaccuracies) x Daily 

Sanction 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Lottery's dated requests 

3.60.8 Failure to Produce Timely Records and/or Information 

Section Description Amount 

Multiple The failure of the Successful Proposer to provide timely 

records and/or information may result in the Successful 

Proposer being assessed sanctions for each Day that the 

records and/or information are not provided after the requested 

due date. 

$5,000 per 

Day or any 

part of a 

Day  

 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Notification by Texas Lottery Elapsed Time 100% Responsive to Texas Lottery 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Responsiveness 

Days Past Due = Compliance Date - Notification Date 

Total Sanction = Number of Days Past Due x Daily 

Sanction 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Lottery's dated requests 
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3.60.9 Failure to Disclose Litigation 

Section Description Amount 

Multiple The failure of the Successful Proposer to disclose any material 

civil or criminal litigation or indictment either threatened or 

pending as part of a monthly report as required in Section 3.43 

may result in the Successful Proposer being assessed 

sanctions. 

$1,000 per 

incident  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Failure to Timely Disclose 

Litigation/Indictment  

Complete and 

Accurate 

Report 

100% of all Litigation Declared in 

Monthly Litigation Reports 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Inaccurate Monthly Reports x Sanction 

Amount 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Receipt of Monthly Litigation Report 

 

3.60.10Failure to Obtain Prior Written Approval Before Issuing News Release 

Section Description Amount 

Multiple The failure of the Successful Proposer to receive prior written 

approval from the Texas Lottery before issuing any news 

releases or publishing information to the public related to the 

Texas Lottery, as required in Section 3.48 may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$100,000 

per incident  

 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

News Release Published Without 

Approval 

# of 

Unapproved 

News 

Releases 

100% of Releases are Texas Lottery 

Approved 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

 

Total Sanction = Unapproved News Release x Sanction 

Amount  

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None News Releases, Written Approvals of News 

Releases 
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3.60.11Failure to Notify the Texas Lottery of Changes of Lobbyist, Consultant and/or Advisor 

Information 

Section Description Amount 

Multiple The failure of the Successful Proposer to inform the Texas 

Lottery of any change of lobbyist, consultant or advisor 

information as required under Section 3.51 may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$10,000 per 

incident  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Annual Review of Texas 

Ethics Commission Records 

# of Incidents Where 

Lobbyist, Consultant 

and/or Advisor 

Changes Were Not 

Disclosed 

100% Full Disclosure of Lobbyist, 

Consultant and/or Advisor Information 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

 

Total Sanction = Non-Disclosure of Lobbyist, Consultant 

and/or Advisor Changes x Sanction Amount 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Yearly None Texas Ethics Commission Records, Successful 

Proposer Employee Records 

3.60.12Failure to Comply with Non-Disclosure Terms 

Section Description Amount 

Multiple The failure of the Successful Proposer, its agents and/or 

employees to comply with the terms of the Non-Disclosure 

Statement required under Section 2.4 may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$5,000 per 

incident  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Discovery of Unauthorized Disclosure  

 

# of 

Unauthorized 

Disclosures 

100% Compliance with Non-

Disclosure Statement 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Detected Disclosure x Sanction Amount None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Media, RFP, Presentations, Other Lottery Related 

Documents 
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3.60.13Unauthorized Purchase of Texas Lottery Tickets 

Section Description Amount 

Multiple Any failure of the Successful Proposer to comply with the prohibition 

set forth in Section 3.55 against the purchase or claiming of a prize in 

any Texas Lottery game by any member, officer or employee of the 

Successful Proposer, or that member‘s, officer's or employee's spouse, 

child, brother, sister or parent who resides in the same household in the 

principal place of residence of such member, officer or employee may 

result in the Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions.   

$5,000 per 

incident  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

System Logs Attempt of 

Successful Proposer Personnel 

to Claim Winnings at Claim 

Center 

Successful Proposer Employees 

and/or their Family Members 

Attempting to Claim Lottery 

Winnings 

100% Compliance with Tex. 

Gov‘t Code Section 466.254 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Detected Violation x Sanction Amount None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Claim Center Database including Successful 

Proposer employees' information 

3.60.14Failure to Report Significant Incidents and Anomalies 

Section Description Amount 

Multiple The failure of the Successful Proposer immediately to report, 

as set forth in Section 3.72, all significant incidents and 

anomalies to the Executive Director or designee may result 

in the Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions.   

$1,000 per 

occurrence 

per Day or 

part of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Lottery Gaming System Incidents, Retailer 

Terminal Incidents, Terminal Availability 

Monitoring, Terminal Performance Monitoring 

(Transaction & Throughput)  

Notification 

 

100% Immediate 

Notification of all 

Incidents and Anomalies 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Days (or Part of Days) Past Due x Daily 

Sanction 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Retailer Terminal Incident Report, Timestamps from 

Availability / Performance Monitoring Software, 

Call Center Log, Incident Management System 
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3.60.15Failure to Timely Notify the Texas Lottery of a Change in Financial Condition, Change 

in Key Management, or Change of Ownership 

Section Description Amount 

Multiple If the Successful Proposer fails to notify timely the Texas Lottery of 

a change in financial condition as described in section 4.7.2 and 

elsewhere in this RFP, or change of ownership or control, or change 

in Key Management as described in section 3.12.2 and elsewhere in 

this RFP, the Successful Proposer may be assessed sanctions. 

$1,000 per 

Day or part of 

a Day  

 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Failure to Provide 

Timely Notice 

# of Days Late on Reporting 

Changes in Financial Condition, 

Key Management Changes, or 

Ownership Changes 

100% Timely Notice of Key 

Financial, Key Management, and 

Key Ownership Data 

 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Number of Days Late x Sanction Per Day None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Financial and Management Reports 

3.60.16Failure to Provide Information and/or Cooperate Fully with Contract Compliance Review 

Section Description Amount 

6.5 

Compliance 

Review 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to provide information 

and/or to cooperate fully with any Contract compliance review 

may result in the Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$1,000 per 

Day or any 

part of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Notification by Texas Lottery Elapsed Time 100% Cooperation with Contract 

Compliance Reviews 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Days Past Due = Compliance Date - Request Date 

Total Sanction = Number of Days Past Due  x Daily Sanction 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Notification from Auditors/Compliance 

Reviewers of Responsiveness 
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3.60.17Failure to Correct Audit and/or Compliance Finding 

Section Description Amount 

6.5 

Compliance 

Review 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to take 

prompt corrective action in response to any 

Lottery audit finding may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions.  

$5,000 per incident plus an 

additional $5,000 per week, or 

portion thereof, until the problem 

noted in the audit/compliance 

finding is corrected.  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Incomplete Resolutions to 

Audit or Compliance Findings 

Incomplete Resolutions to 

Audit or Compliance 

Findings 

100% Prompt Resolution to 

Audit or Compliance Findings  

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days of Delayed Resolution = Resolution Date - 

Resolution Due Date 

Total Sanction = [(# of Incidences of Delayed Resolution) x 

$5,000] + [(Number of Days of Delayed Resolution / 7) x $5,000] 

None  

 

Texas 

Lottery 

Written 

Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Audit/Compliance 

Review 

None Audit/Compliance Review Findings & 

Resolution Tracking 

3.60.18Failure to Receive Texas Lottery Written Approval At Least Twenty-Four (24) Hours in 

Advance for Visitors to the Central Distribution Warehouse 

Section Description Amount 

6.6 – Facilities 

Support Services 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to give written notice to 

and get written approval from the Texas Lottery at least 

twenty-four (24) hours prior to access by any visitors to the 

central distribution warehouse may result in the Successful 

Proposer being assessed  sanctions. 

$1,000 per 

incident  

 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Reports from Warehouse Employees, 

Review of Security Camera Footage or 

Warehouse Sign-in Logs 

Unauthorized 

Warehouse 

Visits 

100% of Warehouse Visitors 

Approved by the Texas Lottery at 

Least 24 Hours in Advance of Visit 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Incidents = Visitors Not Approved by the Texas Lottery 

at Least 24 Hours in Advance  

Total Sanction = Incidents of Visitors Not Approved x Sanction per 

Incident 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Warehouse sign-in sheets, Visitor Approval Records 
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3.60.19Failure to Comply with Title 1 TAC 202 Information Security Standards 

Section Description Amount 

6.7 – Business  

Continuity and 

Disaster 

Recovery and  

7.8 System 

Security 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to take 

corrective action in response to any Lottery audit or 

compliance finding related to Texas Administrative 

Code ch. 202 – Information Security Standards, in 

the timeframe listed in the management response 

and agreed to by the Texas Lottery may result in 

the Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$10,000 per incident 

plus an additional 

$10,000 per week, or 

portion thereof, until 

the problem noted in 

the audit/compliance 

finding is corrected. 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Incomplete Resolutions to Audit 

or Compliance Findings 

Incomplete Resolutions 

to Audit and/or 

Compliance Findings 

100% Resolution to Audit or 

Compliance Findings within by 

agreed deadline 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days of Delayed Resolution = Resolution Date - 

Resolution Due Date 

Total Sanction = [(# of Incidences of Delayed Resolution) x 

$10,000] + [(Number of Days of Delayed Resolution / 7) x 

$10,000] 

None  

 

Texas 

Lottery 

Written 

Approval  

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Audit/Compliance 

Review 

None Audit/Compliance Review Findings & Resolution 

Tracking 

3.60.20Failure to Backup and Restore Data in a Manner and/or Format for Business Processing 

Section Description Amount 

6.7 – Business  

Continuity and 

Disaster Recovery  

 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to backup and 

restore data in a manner and/or format for business 

processing may result in the Successful Proposer being 

assessed sanctions. 

$10,000 per 

incident  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Incomplete or Unavailable Data 

to Restore 

Incomplete Data 

Backups or Restore 

100% Data Backup and Restore 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Incident of Failed Backup and Restore x 

Sanction per Incident 

None  

 

None  

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Availability of Backup Data 
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3.60.21Failure to Perform Retailer Training 

Section Description Amount 

6.8 – Training  The failure of the Successful Proposer to provide training 

for a retailer as required in Section 6.8 may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$200 per 

incident and 

$100 per Day or 

part of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Milestones Elapsed Time 100% of Training Complete On time 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days Past Due = Training Date - Required 

Training Date 

Total Sanction = Sanction per Incident + [Number of Days 

Past Due x Sanction Per Day]  

None  

 

Texas 

Lottery 

Written 

Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Training Logs & Schedules 

3.60.22Failure to Perform Retailer Retraining 

Section Description Amount 

6.8 – Training The failure of the Successful Proposer to perform retraining 

for a retailer within seven (7) Days of written notice from the 

Texas Lottery may result in the Successful Proposer being 

assessed sanctions. 

$200 per 

incident 

and 

$100 per 

Day or part 

of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Milestones Elapsed Time 100% of Re-Training Complete on 

Time 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days Past Due = Training Date - Required 

Training Date 

Total Sanction = Sanction per Incident [Number of Days 

Past Due x Sanction Per Day]  

None  

 

Texas 

Lottery 

Written 

Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Training Logs & Schedules 
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3.60.23Failure to Implement New On-Line Games 

Section Description Amount 

7.2.1 – On-Line  

Game 

Development 

The failure of  the Successful Proposer to implement any new 

On-Line games as scheduled may result in the Successful 

Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$250,000 

per Day or 

part of a 

Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Deadline for New On-Line 

Game 

Elapsed Time 100% On Time Delivery of New 

Games 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days Late = On-Line Game Implementation 

Date - On-Line Game Due Date 

Total Sanction = Number of Days Late x Sanction Per Day 

None  

 

Texas 

Lottery 

Written 

Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Monitoring of On-Line Game Project Schedule 

3.60.24Failure to Conduct Intellectual Property Search 

Section Description Amount 

7.2.1 – On-Line 

Game 

Development 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to conduct, as required 

by Section 3.28,  all appropriate intellectual property searches 

(e.g., full copyright, trademark or service mark or patent 

searches) for all proposed Works, to ensure that the proposed 

Works are protectable by the Texas Lottery and do not infringe 

the Intellectual Property Rights of any third person or entity 

may result in the Successful Proposer being assessed 

sanctions. 

$10,000 per 

incident 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Alleged Infringement Completion of 

intellectual 

property 

Searches 

100% of Intellectual Property Searches 

Completed 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Number of Incidents x Sanction Per 

Incident 

None  

 

None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Infringement Notification 
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3.60.25Failure to Update Jackpot Amount Throughout the Lottery Gaming System 

Section 

 

Description Amount 

7.2.3 – Drawings  The failure of the Successful Proposer to enter the new 

estimated jackpot(s) into the Lottery Gaming System 

within four (4) hours after the draw break process has 

been completed  may result in the Successful Proposer 

being assessed sanctions. 

$10,000 per 

incident and 

$1,000 per hour 

after the first 

hour  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer and Player Complaints Elapsed Time 100% Jackpots Updated On time 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Sanction Hours = Jackpot Actual Update 

Time - Completion of Draw – 4 Hours 

 

Total Sanction = Incident Sanction + 

[Sanction Hours x Sanction Per Hour] 

None  

 

Texas Lottery Written Approval 

for high sales Days;  

for multi-jurisdiction games, any 

extraordinary events outside of 

Successful Proposer's control. 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Daily None Retailer & Player Complaints 
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3.60.26Lottery Gaming System Inability to Cash Winning Tickets at a Retailer Location (All On-

Line Games or All Instant Ticket Games) 

Section Description Amount 

7.4 – Claims 

and 

Validation 

If the Lottery Gaming System will not cash any tickets for 

all On-Line games or any tickets for all of the available 

instant games due to a Lottery Gaming System problem, 

the Successful Proposer  may be assessed sanctions after 

the first two (2) minutes such circumstance exists (referred 

to as ―grace time‖); provided, however, the Successful 

Proposer will be allowed a maximum of five (5) two-

minute periods of grace time per week.  This calculation 

will be made for all On-Line games affected or when all 

available instant games are affected.   

$1,000 per minute or 

part of a minute after 

two (2) minutes 

(maximum of five (5)  

2 minute grace 

periods per week)  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints, Downtime 

Notification, Application Availability and 

Performance Monitoring Alerts, Retailer 

Hotline 

Availability 100% Availability with up to five (5)  

two-minute grace periods per week 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Calculated based on application availability time stamp in log 

file or monitoring program 
 

Downtime = Application Availability (After Outage) Time 

Stamp - Application Availability (Before Outage) Time Stamp 

– Grace Time 
 

Total Sanction = Downtime x Sanction per Minute 

$250,000 

per Day  

Texas Lottery 

Approved 

Scheduled 

Downtime 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Application Availability and Performance 

Monitoring Logs, Incident Management System 
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3.60.27Lottery Gaming System Inability to Cash Winning Tickets at a Retailer Location 

(Specific On-Line Game or One or More Instant Ticket Games) 

Section Description Amount 

7.4 - Claims and 

Validation 

If the Lottery Gaming System will not cash a ticket for a 

specific On-Line game or one or more instant game(s) due to a 

Lottery Gaming System problem, the Successful Proposer may 

be assessed sanctions. This sanction will be separately 

calculated and assessed for each On-Line game affected and/or 

instant games as a whole, but not each instant game affected.  

$5,000 for 

first four 

(4) hours; 

$10,000 per 

hour or part 

of an hour 

thereafter 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints, Downtime 

Notification, Application Availability 

and Performance Monitoring Alerts, 

Retailer Hotline 

Availability 100% Availability 

 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Calculated based on application availability time stamp in 

log file or monitoring program 

 

Downtime = Application Availability (After Outage) Time 

Stamp - Application Availability (Before Outage) Time 

Stamp  

 

Total Sanction = Downtime x Sanction per Hour 

None  Texas Lottery 

Approved 

Scheduled 

Downtime 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Application Availability and Performance 

Monitoring Logs, Incident Management System 
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3.60.28Lottery Gaming System Inability to Cash Winning Tickets at a Texas Lottery Claim 

Center 

Section Description Amount 

7.4  - Claims and 

Validation 

If any Texas Lottery claim center is open for business but 

unable to cash winning tickets and process a claim due to a 

Lottery Gaming System problem, the Successful Proposer 

may be assessed sanctions  after the first two (2) minutes 

such circumstance exists (referred to as ―grace time‖); 

provided, however, that the Successful Proposer will be 

allowed a maximum of five (5) two-minute periods of grace 

time per week.  

$2,000 per 

minute or part 

of a minute 

after two (2) 

minutes 

(maximum of 

five (5) 2 

minute grace 

periods per 

week) 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Claim Center Downtime Notification, 

Application Availability and 

Performance Monitoring Alerts 

Availability 100% Availability with five (5)  two-

minute grace periods per week 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Calculated based on application availability time stamp in 

log file or monitoring program 

 

Downtime = Application Availability (After Outage) Time 

Stamp - Application Availability (Before Outage) Time 

Stamp - Grace Time 

Total Sanction = Downtime x Sanction per Minute 

$100,000 

per Day  

Texas Lottery 

Approved 

Scheduled 

Downtime 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Application Availability and Performance 

Monitoring Logs, Incident Management System, 

Check Printing Log Files 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.29Inability of the Lottery Gaming System to Conduct Retailer, Licensing, Inventory, 

Accounting, or Other Management Functions 

Section Description Amount 

7.6.1 – 

System 

Configuration 

and Capacity 

If any Lottery Management functions required by Texas 

Lottery staff to conduct business (as determined by the 

Texas Lottery in its sole discretion) are unavailable, the 

Successful Proposer may be assessed sanctions after the 

first hour such circumstance exists (referred to as ―grace 

time‖); provided, however, that the Successful Proposer 

will be allowed a maximum of one (1) one-hour period of 

grace time per week. 

 

$1,000 per hour 

(after the first 

hour) and then 

$500 per 

additional hour or 

part of an hour  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Unavailable Instant Ticket Inventories,  

Retailer Management Functions, 

Licensing Management, or other 

Management Function Failures 

Availability 100% Availability With one 1 Hour 

Grace Period Per Week 

 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Calculated based on application availability time stamp in 

log file or monitoring program 

 

Downtime = Application Availability (After Outage) Time 

Stamp - Application Availability (Before Outage) Time 

Stamp - 1 Hour 

 

Total Sanction = Downtime x Sanction per Hour 

None  

 

Texas Lottery 

Approved 

Scheduled 

Downtime 

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Management System Logs, Incident Management 

System 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.30Performance Degradation 

Section Description Amount 

7.6.1 – System 

Configuration 

and Capacity 

The Lottery Gaming System‘s performance shall not be 

degraded during the daily operational sales period for more 

than two (2) cumulative minutes per Day or the Successful 

Proposer may be assessed sanctions. The Lottery Gaming 

System shall be deemed to be operating with degraded 

performance if one or more of the following conditions 

exist: 

a. 20% or more of single wager tickets are not produced 

within four (4) seconds of data entry. 

b. 20% or more of multi-wager tickets are not produced 

within six (6) seconds of data entry. 

c. 20% or more of other transactions are not processed 

within eight (8) seconds. 

$200 per 

minute or part 

of a minute 

that the Lottery 

Gaming 

System 

functions are 

degraded after 

a two (2) 

minute 

cumulative 

grace period 

per Day 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Automated Performance Monitoring 

Alerts 

Transactions 

Speeds 

Over 80% of Transactions Processed 

On Time 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Degraded Transaction = Transaction Complete Time - 

Transaction Start Time > Transaction Deadline 

 

Regular Transaction = Transaction Complete Time - 

Transaction Start Time <= Transaction Deadline 

 

 

Sanction Time = Degraded Performance Time End - 

Degraded Performance Time Begin - 2 Minute Grace Period 

Per Day 

 

Total Sanction = Sanction Time x Sanction Per Minute 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Minute Daily Automated Performance Monitoring Software 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.31Failure to Test Backup Lottery Gaming System 

Section Description Amount 

7.6.1 – System 

Configuration 

and Capacity 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to test the backup 

Lottery Gaming System each month may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$10,000 per 

incident 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Scheduled Test Date Missed Completion of 

Testing of Backup 

Lottery Gaming 

System on Schedule 

100% On Time Testing of Backup 

Lottery Gaming System 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = # of Missed Tests of Backup System x 

Sanction Per Incident 

None  

 

None  

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Monthly Monthly Backup Testing Reports 

3.60.32Failure of the Lottery Gaming System to Execute Planned On-Line Promotion 

Section Description Amount 

7.6.3 – Sales and 

Marketing 

System General 

Requirements 

If the Lottery Gaming System fails to 

execute a planned On-Line promotion as 

configured by the Successful Proposer 

and approved by the Texas Lottery, the 

Successful Proposer may be assessed 

sanctions.  

$25,000 per incident and the 

Successful Proposer must pay 

any additional costs incurred by 

the Texas Lottery from the 

incident (e.g., promotion runs in 

more areas than intended, 

resulting in higher prize liability 

borne by the Texas Lottery for 

more prizes being won)  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Milestones or Improper 

Execution 

Elapsed Time 100% Planned Promotions Executed 

Successfully 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = (Promotion Not Executed According to 

Plan x Sanction) + Additional Costs Incurred by Texas 

Lottery 

 None  Texas Lottery 

Written Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Promotion Go-Live Records 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.33Failure to Provide Software Fixes and/or Enhancements 

Section Description Amount 

7.7 – Change and 

Release 

Management 

 

If the Successful Proposer fails to provide software fixes 

and/or enhancements to the Lottery Gaming System per an 

agreed upon schedule, the Successful Proposer may be 

assessed sanctions. 

$1,000 per 

Day or part 

of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Milestones or Deliverables Elapsed Time 100% On Time Delivery of Software 

Fixes and/or Enhancements 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Days Late = Date Fix/Enhancement Delivered - Date 

Fix/Enhancement Due 

Total Sanction = Days Late x Sanction Per Day 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Schedule of Fixes and/or Enhancements 

 

3.60.34Failure to Implement Change or Release Management Without Incident  

Section Description Amount 

7.7 – Change and 

Release 

Management 

If the Successful Proposer fails to implement any change or 

release to the Lottery Gaming System without an incident, the 

Successful Proposer may be assessed sanctions. 

$25,000 per 

incident  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Incident caused by Change or Release Incidents 100% of Changes and Releases 

implemented without Incident 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Change or Release Implemented with 

Incident * Sanction Per Incident 

 None  Texas Lottery 

Written Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Incidents attributable to a Change or Release 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.35Failure to Comply with Title 1 TAC 202 Resulting in a Security Incident 

Section Description Amount 

7.8 – System 

Security 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to comply with Texas 

Administrative Code Title 1 ch. 202 – Information Security 

Standards, resulting in a security incident may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$100,000 

per incident 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

System Errors, Unauthorized Access, 

Release of Unauthorized Data 

Compliance No Security Incidents 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Security Incident x Sanction Per Incident None None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Incidents attributable to Title 1 TAC 202 non-

compliance 

3.60.36Failure to Provide New Reports and/or to Modify Existing Reports 

Section Description Amount 

7.9 - Reporting If the Successful Proposer fails to provide new reports and/or 

to modify existing reports within thirty (30) Days of written 

request by the Texas Lottery, the Successful Proposer may be 

assessed sanctions. 

$1,000 per 

Day or part 

of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Deliverables Elapsed Time 100% On Time Delivery of Reports 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Days Late = Date Report Delivered - Date Report 

Requested – 30 Days 

Total Sanction = Days Late x Sanction Per Day  None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Requested Report List, List of Existing Reports 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.37Inability of the Internal Control System to Update Lottery Applications 

Section Description Amount 

7.10 – ICS 

System and 

Vendor 

Requirements 

If the Internal Control System fails to update Texas 

Lottery downstream applications, by the date and 

time specified in the data exchange report, due to 

failure of the Lottery Gaming System, the 

Successful Proposer may be assessed sanctions. 

$1,000 per incident 

for up to 4 hours; 

After 4 hours, $1,000 

for each hour or part 

of an hour   

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Automated Alert On Time Application Updates 100% On Time Updates 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Downtime = Application Updated 

Time Stamp - Application Update 

Deadline - 4 Hours 

 

Total Sanction = Incident Sanction + 

(Downtime x Sanction per Hour) 

 None  This sanction shall not apply to a failure 

to update that occurs during 

implementation of a software download, 

enhancement or other modification, 

Lottery Gaming System hardware change 

and/or Lottery Network change for which 

prior written approval has been obtained 

from the Texas Lottery.  

Measure Interval Reporting 

Period 

Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None System Logs 

 

3.60.38Out-of-balance Condition Between ICS and Lottery Gaming Systems 

Section Description Amount 

7.10 – ICS 

System and 

Vendor 

Requirements 

If an out-of-balance condition exists in transactions or amounts 

between ICS and the Lottery Gaming System during nightly 

transaction processing and is determined to be the result of the 

Lottery Gaming System processing, the Successful Proposer 

may be assessed sanctions. 

 $1,000 per 

incident  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Automated Alert Accuracy 100% of Transactions and Amounts Between 

ICS & Lottery Gaming System Balance 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Sanction amount for each incident when ICS balances do 

not equal the Successful Proposer balances  

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None ICS Processing Report 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.39Failure to Load Debit, Credit, and/or New Retailer Files From the Texas Lottery into the 

Lottery Gaming System 

Section Description Amount 

7.10 – ICS 

System and 

Vendor 

Requirements 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to load debit, credit 

and/or new Retailer files from the Texas Lottery into the 

Successful Proposer's Lottery Gaming System within four 

(4) hours after receipt of the files may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$10,000 per 

incident and 

$1,000 per 

hour after four 

(4) hours 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

System Errors Elapsed Time 100% On Time Load of Debit, Credit, 

and New Retailer Files Into Proposer's 

Lottery Gaming System 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Sanction Hours = File Load Time - File Receipt from Texas 

Lottery – 4 Hours 

 

Total Sanction = Incident Sanction + (Sanction Hours x 

Sanction Per Hour)  

None None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Daily None Retailer Complaints, ICS and Lottery Gaming 

Software  
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.40Inability of the Lottery Gaming System to Confirm or Activate Instant Ticket Packs (All 

Retailers) 

Section Description Amount 

7.11 – System 

Supported 

Terminal 

Functions 

If all Texas Lottery Retailers are unable to 

confirm or activate Instant Ticket packs, the 

Successful Proposer may be assessed sanctions 

after the first five (5) minutes such circumstance 

exists (referred to as ―grace time‖) and for each 

additional thirty (30) minutes that the issue is not 

resolved; provided, however, that the Successful 

Proposer will be allowed a maximum of five (5) 

five-minute periods of grace time per week.  

$50,000 per incident 

after five (5) minutes 

(maximum of 5 grace 

periods per week) and 

then $50,000 for every 

thirty (30) minutes or 

every part thereafter  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints,  Instant Ticket 

Warehouse Complaints, Downtime 

Notification, Application Availability 

and Performance Monitoring Alerts 

Availability 100% Availability with five (5) five-

minute grace periods per week 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Calculated based on application availability time stamp in 

log file or monitoring program 

 

Downtime = Application Availability (After Outage) Time 

Stamp - Application Availability (Before Outage) Time 

Stamp - Grace Time 

 

Total Sanction = Downtime * Sanction Per Half-Hour 

$250,000 

per Day  

Texas Lottery 

Approved 

Scheduled 

Downtime 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Application Availability Monitoring Logs, 

Incident Management System 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.41Inability of a Texas Lottery Retailer to Confirm or Activate Instant Ticket Packs (Single 

Retailer) 

Section Description Amount 

7.11 – System 

Supported 

Terminal 

Functions 

If a Texas Lottery Retailer is unable to 

confirm or activate Instant Ticket packs, the 

Successful Proposer may be assessed 

sanctions. 

$1,000 per hour for the first 

4 hours after failed attempt 

to confirm or activate 

Instant Ticket Packs; $5,000 

per hour or part of an hour 

thereafter    

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints,  Warehouse Complaints, 

Downtime Notification, Application Availability 

and Performance Monitoring Alerts 

Availability 100% Availability 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Calculated based on application availability time stamp in 

log file or monitoring program 
 

Downtime = Application Availability (After Outage) Time 

Stamp - Application Availability (Before Outage) Time 

Stamp 
 

Total Sanction = Downtime x Sanction per Hour 

$50,000 per 

Day  

Texas Lottery 

Approved 

Scheduled 

Downtime 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Application Availability Monitoring Logs, 

Incident Management System 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.42Inability of the Lottery Gaming System to Produce Accurate Terminal Reports or Make 

Terminal Reports Available 

Section Description Amount 

7.11 – System 

Supported 

Terminal 

Functions 

If the Lottery Gaming System fails to produce 

accurate terminal reports or if terminal reports are 

unavailable, the Successful Proposer may be 

assessed sanctions after the first ten (10) minutes 

such circumstance exists (referred to as ―grace 

time‖) and for each additional hour that the issue is 

not resolved; provided, however, that the Successful 

Proposer will be allowed a maximum of five (5) ten-

minute periods of grace time per week.  

$5,000 per hour after 10 

minutes (maximum of 5 

grace periods per week) 

and $5,000 per hour for 

each hour or part of an 

hour thereafter   

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Terminal Reports Not Received, 

Inaccuracies Detected in Reports 

Accuracy, 

Elapsed Time 

100% Available and Accurate Reports 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Unavailable Report Sanction Hours = Time Report 

Received - Time Report Due - Grace Time 

 

Inaccurate Report Sanction Hours = Time Report Corrected 

- Time Report Due – Grace Time 

 

Total Sanction = Unavailable/Inaccurate Report Sanction 

Hours x Sanction Amount  

$50,000 per 

Day  

None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Terminal Reports Log 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.43Failure to Install, Relocate or Remove Lottery Sales and/or Validation Equipment 

Section Description Amount 

7.12.1 – 

Installation, 

Relocation 

and Removal 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to install, 

relocate, or remove lottery sales and/or validation 

equipment within three (3) Working Days of 

notification by the Texas Lottery may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$300 per Day or part of 

a Day per service 

request  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Milestones Elapsed Time 100% On Time Installation / Move / Removal 

of Lottery Sales and /or Validation Equipment 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days Past Due = Installation, Relocation or 

Removal Date - Expected Install, Relocation or Removal Date  

Total Sanction = Number of Days Past Due x Sanction Per 

Day 

None  Texas Lottery 

Written Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Equipment Install Plans 

3.60.44Failure to Install, Relocate or Remove Lottery Non-Sales and/or Validation Equipment 

Section Description Amount 

7.12.1 – 

Installation, 

Relocation and 

Removal 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to install, 

relocate, or remove lottery non-sales and/or 

validation equipment within three (3) Working 

Days of notification by the Texas Lottery may 

result in the Successful Proposer being assessed 

sanctions. 

$100 per Day or part of 

a Day per service 

request  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Milestones Elapsed Time 100% On Time Installation / Move / Removal of 

Non- Sales and /or Validation Equipment 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days Past Due = Installation, Relocation or 

Removal Date - Expected Install, Relocation or Removal 

Date  

Total Sanction = Number of Days Past Due x Sanction Per 

Day 

 None  Texas Lottery 

Written Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Equipment Install Plans 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.45Failure to Resolve a Lottery Non-Sales and/or Validation Equipment Problem within the 

Specified Timeframe  

Section Description Amount 

7.12.2 – Installation, 

Relocation and Removal  

8.6 – Marketing 

Material and Related 

Equipment 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to 

resolve all Lottery non-sales and/or validation 

equipment problems and return the equipment 

to service within three (3) Days of notification 

may result in the Successful Proposer being 

assessed sanctions. 

$100 per Day or 

part of a Day until 

equipment is 

returned to service  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Hotline, Automated Alert 

from Incident Management System 

Response 

Time 

100% Response and Resolution to 

Retailer Service Calls On Time 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days Past Due = Date/Time of Return to Service - 

3 Days (72 hours)   

Total Sanction = Number of Days Past Due x Sanction Per Day 

 None  Texas Lottery 

Written 

Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Incident Reporting, Retailer Hotline 

3.60.46Call Center Answer Time 

Section Description Amount 

7.13 – Call 

Center Support 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to answer 95% of all calls 

(answered or abandoned) in forty-five (45) seconds or less 

during any weekly period may result in the Successful Proposer 

being assessed sanctions. ―Weekly‖ is defined as a seven (7) 

Day period beginning at 12 a.m. on Sunday and ending at 11:59 

p.m. on Saturday. Weekly periods will be considered an 

independent event; ―rolling‖ weekly periods will not be utilized. 

$50 per call  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Review of Texas Lottery Retailer Call 

Center Reports, Automated Alerts 

Answer Time 95% of inbound calls to be answered 

within forty-five (45) seconds 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Answer Time = Call Answered Time - Time Reached Menu 

Destination 

 

Total Sanction =[ (# of calls with answer time >45 seconds) 

- (5% x # of inbound calls)] x $50 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Weekly Monthly Automated Call Center Reporting  
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.47Call Center Busy Signal Time 

Section Description Amount 

7.13 – Call 

Center 

Support 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to support 99% of all calls 

without a busy signal during any weekly period may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. ―Weekly‖ is defined as 

a seven (7) Day period beginning at 12 a.m. on Sunday and ending at 

11:59 p.m. on Saturday. Weekly periods will be considered an 

independent event; ―rolling‖ weekly periods will not be utilized. 

$50 per 

call  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Review of Texas Lottery Retailer Call 

Center Reports, Automated Alerts 

Calls With 

Busy Signals 

99% of all calls received without a 

busy signal 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

No Busy Signal Percent = # of Calls Without Busy Signal / Total 

Number of Calls 
 

Total Sanction = [(# of calls with busy signal) - (1% x # of 

inbound calls)] x $50 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Weekly Monthly Automated Call Center Reporting, Phone Carrier 

Service Reporting 

3.60.48Call Center Abandonment Rate 

Section Description Amount 

7.13 – Call 

Center 

Support 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to maintain a call abandonment 

rate less than or equal to 5% during any weekly period may result in 

the Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. ―Weekly‖ is defined 

as a seven (7) Day period beginning at 12 a.m. on Sunday and ending 

at 11:59 p.m. on Saturday. Weekly periods will be considered an 

independent event; ―rolling‖ weekly periods will not be utilized. 

$50 per 

call  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Review of Texas Lottery Retailer Call 

Center Reports, Automated Alerts 

Abandonment 

Rate 

Call Abandonment Rate not to exceed 

5% 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Abandonment Rate = Hang-ups Within thirty (30) Seconds of 

Reaching Menu Destination / Total Calls Received 
 

Total Sanction = [(# of calls with hang-ups within 30 seconds of 

reaching menu destination) - (5% x # of inbound calls)] x $50 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Weekly Monthly Automated Call Center Reporting  
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.49Call Center Hold Time 

Section Description Amount 

7.13 – Call 

Center Support 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to maintain a maximum 

hold time that does not exceed two (2) minutes per call may 

result in the Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

―Weekly‖ is defined as a seven (7) Day period beginning at 12 

a.m. on Sunday and ending at 11:59 p.m. on Saturday. Weekly 

periods will be considered an independent event; ―rolling‖ 

weekly periods will not be utilized. 

$50 per call  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Review of Texas Lottery Retailer Call 

Center Reports, Automated Alerts 

Call Hold 

Time 

Maximum hold time not to exceed two 

(2) minutes per call 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Hold Time = Time Until Live Agent Reached 

Total Sanction = (# of calls with hold time >2 minutes) x 

$50 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Weekly Monthly Automated Call Center Reporting  

3.60.50Call Center Availability 

Section Description Amount 

7.13 – Call 

Center Support 

Any service interruption of the service desk that 

exceeds fifteen (15) minutes per week may result in 

the Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

―Weekly‖ is defined as a seven (7) Day period 

beginning at 12 a.m. on Sunday and ending at 11:59 

p.m. on Saturday. Weekly periods will be considered 

an independent event; ―rolling‖ weekly periods will 

not be utilized. 

$10,000 per hour or 

part of an hour after 

one 15 minute grace 

period per week  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Review of Texas Lottery Retailer Call 

Center Reports, Automated Alerts 

Call Center 

Availability 

100% Availability of Service Desk 

(with one 15 minute grace period per 

week) 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Availability = System Available Timestamp - System Down 

Start Timestamp - 15 minutes 

Total Sanction = Availability x Sanction Per Hour 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Weekly Monthly Automated Call Center Reporting  
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.51LSR Visits  

Section Description Amount 

8.4.1 – Retailer 

Visit 

If the Successful Proposer‘s Lottery Sales Representatives fail 

to visit each Retailer at least once during each two (2) week 

sales cycle, the Successful Proposer may be assessed 

sanctions. 

 $250 per 

incident  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints, Exception 

Reports 

On Time 

Attendance 

100% On Time Attendance At Each 

Retailer  

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Retailer Sanction Incident = LSR Card Scan Day - Last LSR 

Card Scan Day – 14 Days 

 

Total Sanction = Retailer Sanction Incident x Sanction Per 

Incident 

 

 None  Texas 

Lottery 

Written 

Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Monthly Monthly Retailer Visit Report or Log 

3.60.52Retailer Satisfaction 

Section Description Amount 

8.4.1 – Retailer 

Visit 

If the Successful Proposer fails to meet its retailer satisfaction 

target as required in Section 8.4.1 or as set by the Texas 

Lottery, the Successful Proposer may be assessed sanctions. 

$100,000 If 

Lower 

Than 

Target  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints, Exception 

Reports 

Customer 

Satisfaction 

100% Meets, Retailer Satisfaction 

Target 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Customer Satisfaction = Avg. Rating of Customer Surveys 

in a Quarter 

If Target Customer Satisfaction - Customer Satisfaction > 0 

then Total Sanction = $100,000  

 None  Texas 

Lottery 

Written 

Approval 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Quarterly Quarterly Retailer Satisfaction Surveys 
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.53Failure to Properly Process or Assign On-Line Ticket Stock 

Section Description Amount 

8.4.1 – Retailer 

Visit 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to properly process or 

assign On-Line Ticket stock for Retailers may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions. 

$100 per 

roll 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints # of Rolls of  

Misprocessed 

On-Line 

Ticket Stock 

100% Properly Processed On-Line 

Ticket Stock 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = # of Rolls of On-Line Ticket Stock 

Misprocessed x Sanction Per Roll 

None None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Retailer Inventory 

3.60.54Improperly Processed Packs of Instant Tickets 

Section Description Amount 

8.4.2 – LSR 

Ticket Retrieval, 

Transfers and 

Returns 

If the Successful Proposer improperly processes packs of 

Instant Tickets, the Successful Proposer may be assessed 

sanctions. 

$100 per 

pack  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Hotline, Warehouse Scanning # of 

Improperly 

Packaged, 

Damaged, or 

Missing 

Tickets 

100% Properly Processed Packs of 

Tickets 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Improperly Processed Packs x Sanction 

Per Pack 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Warehouse Records, Shipping Records, Retailer 

Hotline 
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3.60.55Failure to Support a Promotional Event 

Section Description Amount 

8.6 – Promotional 

Events and 

Retailer 

Promotions 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to support a 

scheduled promotional event as required under section 8.6 

may result in the Successful Proposer being assessed 

sanctions. 

$5,000 per 

Day pro-

rated across 

10 hour Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Notification to Texas Lottery of Late 

or Missing Successful Proposer Staff 

Assigned to the Event and/or Not 

Fully Prepared at the Promotional 

Event 

On Time 

Attendance, 

Preparation, 

Equipment 

Availability & 

Usability 

100% support based on Texas Lottery 

Promotional Event Schedule 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = (CEILING[Number of Hours Late or 

Equipment Unusable / 10]) x $5,000 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Promotional Event Follow-Up Reports, Problem 

Notifications from Event Attendees 

3.60.56Inability to Program the Programmable Signs 

Section Description Amount 

8.7 – Marketing 

Materials and 

Related 

Equipment 

If the Lottery's interface to update programmable sign 

messaging is unavailable or otherwise not able to be accessed 

by Texas Lottery staff, the Successful Proposer may be 

assessed sanctions. 

$1,000 per 

hour or part 

of a hour  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints, Application Error 

Reports 

Ability to Program 

Signs 

100% Ability to Program Signs 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Hours Downtime = Programmable Sign 

Interface Available Timestamp  - Programmable Sign 

Interface Unavailable Timestamp 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

Total Sanction = Number of Hours Downtime x Sanction 

Per Hour 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Error Messages from Sign Programming Software 
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3.60.57Inability of the Programmable Signs to Communicate 

Section Description Amount 

8.7 – Marketing 

Materials and 

Related 

Equipment 

If the Successful Proposer‘s interface to update the 

programmable signs is not functioning, the Successful 

Proposer may be assessed sanctions. 

$1,000 per 

hour or part 

of a hour  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints, Application Error 

Reports 

Ability for the 

Program 

Signs to 

Communicate 

100% Ability to Update Signs 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Hours Downtime = Programmable Sign 

Communication Available Timestamp  - Programmable 

Sign Communication Unavailable Timestamp 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

Total Sanction = Number of Hours Downtime x Sanction 

Per Hour 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Error Messages from Sign Communication 

Software 

3.60.58Failure to Load Instant Game Files within Specified Timeframe 

Section Description Amount 

9.2 – New 

Instant Ticket 

Delivery and 

Storage 

In the event the Successful Proposer fails to load Instant Ticket 

game files within three (3) Days of notification by the Texas 

Lottery, the Successful Proposer may be assessed sanctions. 

 $1,000 per 

Day or part 

of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Milestones Elapsed Time 100% Instant Game Files Loaded On 

time 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days Past Due = Actual Load Time - Texas 

Lottery Request Received Date - 3 Days 

Total Sanction = Number of Days Past Due x Sanction Per 

Day 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident None Game Load Logs & Date of Texas Lottery 

Requests 
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3.60.59Instant Ticket Packs not Delivered to Texas Lottery Retailers 

Section Description Amount 

9.3 – Instant Ticket 

Delivery 

If any orders for packs of Instant Tickets received for 

processing at the central distribution warehouse Monday 

through Thursday are not delivered to the Retailer 

location within thirty six (36) hours of order receipt, or if 

any orders for packs of Instant Tickets received for 

processing by the central distribution warehouse on Friday 

are not delivered to the Retailer location within seventy 

two (72) hours of order receipt, the Successful Proposer 

may be assessed sanctions. 

$100 per pack  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Carrier Delivery 

System, Retailer 

Complaints 

# of Undelivered or 

Late Delivered Ticket 

Packs at Retailers 

100% On-Time Delivery of Instant Tickets to 

Retailers  

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Packs Not Delivered (Monday through Thursday 

Order Date)  = Ticket Order Received Time  - Tickets Shipped 

Time - 36 Hours 

Number of Packs Not Delivered (Friday Order Date) = Ticket 

Order Received Time  - Tickets Shipped Time - 72 Hours 

Total Sanction = Sanction Per Pack x Number of Packs Not 

Delivered  

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Retailer Inventory. Shipping Records, Ticket 

Status Database/Application 

 

 

  



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.60.60Instant Ticket Packs not Returned to the Warehouse 

Section Description Amount 

9.3.1 Warehouse 

Instant Ticket 

Return Verification 

If the Successful Proposer fails to return Instant Ticket 

packs within twenty-one (21) days from Retailer pickup, the 

Successful Proposer may be assessed sanctions. 

$100 per 

pack  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Order Scanning at Warehouse # of Missing/Late 

Returned Ticket 

Packs to Warehouse 

100% of Returned Packs Received On 

Time at Warehouse 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = Number Instant Ticket Packs Not Returned 

within the Timeframe Specified for Each Pack Status x 

Sanction Per Pack 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Warehouse Inventory, Shipping Records, Retailer 

Inventory, Ticket Status Database / Application 

3.60.61 Warehouse Instant Ticket Return Verification 

Section Description Amount 

9.3.1 Warehouse 

Instant Ticket 

Return Verification 

If an instant ticket pack is damaged or if any tickets are 

stolen while tickets are in the Successful Proposer‘s care or 

custody, the Successful Proposer may be assessed sanctions. 

$100 per 

pack  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Call, Order Scanning at 

Warehouse 

# of Damaged or 

Stolen Tickets and 

Ticket Packs 

100% of Packs/Tickets Not Damaged 

or Stolen 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Stolen Tickets From Warehouse = Warehouse Expected 

Inventory - Warehouse Inventory  

 

Stolen Tickets From Shipping = Shipping Expected 

Inventory - Shipping Inventory  

 

Total Sanction = Stolen Tickets (Warehouse or Shipping) x 

Sanction Per Pack 

Total Sanction = Damaged Tickets x Sanction Per Pack 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Warehouse Inventory, Shipping Records, Ticket 

Status Database Application 
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3.60.62Failure to Timely Provide Accurate Annual Instant Ticket Inventory Report 

Section Description Amount 

9.7 Warehouse 

and Logistics 

General 

Requirements 

The failure of the Successful Proposer to timely file, within 

two (2) Working Days of the Texas Lottery's August 31st 

fiscal year end, an accurate annual instant ticket inventory 

report, including the status of all inventory by game and by 

pack, may result in the Successful Proposer being assessed 

sanctions for each Day that the report is not timely filed or 

accurate. 

$1,000 per 

Day or part 

of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Annual Inventory Reports Not 

Received, Inaccuracies Detected in 

Annual Inventory Report 

Accuracy, 

Elapsed Time 

100% Accurate & On Time Instant 

Ticket Inventory Report 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Timeliness 

Days Past Due = Date Accurate Reports Filed - August 31st 

- 2 Working Days 

 

Total Sanction = Days Past Due x Daily Sanction 

 

Accuracy 

Total Sanction = Date Accurate Reports Filed - Date of 

Notification of Inaccuracies x Daily Sanction 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Annually Annual Inventory Report received by Texas 

Lottery and time stamped (physical) or Receive 

Date and Time (Texas Lottery Email) 
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3.60.63Failure to Cooperate Fully and in Good Faith in the Conversion to any New System 

Section Description Amount 

10.6 – 

Conversion Plan  

The failure of the Successful Proposer to cooperate fully, and 

in good faith, to assist to the extent reasonable and practical in 

the conversion to any new system (including, but not limited 

to, providing access to the telecommunications network as 

required, continuing Contract services at a consistently high 

level without interruption during the turnover period, sharing 

of liability files, cross-validation of winning tickets, providing 

critical documentation such as instant ticket inventories, 

terminal inventories, system specifications, data files, job 

control language, program designs, procedures and all other 

elements required to install and operate the games and/or to 

perform the services required of the successor) may result in 

the Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions for each 

week, and pro rata for each Day of the week, that the 

Successful Proposer fails to perform the services and provide 

the resources required by this Contract. 

$500,000 

per week 

and pro rata 

per Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Conversion Milestones or 

Deliverables 

Elapsed Time 100% Cooperation and Participation in 

Conversion Schedule 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Total Sanction = ((Date Issue Resolved - Date of 

Notification)  / 7) x Sanction per Week 

 None  Approved Changes 

to Texas Lottery 

Approved 

Conversion 

Schedule 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Weekly During 

Conversion to New 

System 

Adherence to Conversion Schedule and 

Deliverables 
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3.60.64Failure to Provide a Detailed Conversion Plan within 45 Days of Contract Execution 

Section Description Amount 

10.1 – 

Conversion Plan  

The failure of the Successful Proposer to provide a detailed 

Conversion Plan within 90 days of Contract execution may 

result in the Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions for 

each Day that the detailed conversion plan is not provided.  

$1,000 per 

Day or part 

of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Deliverables Elapsed Time On-time submission of detailed 

Conversion Plan 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days Overdue = Task Completion Day  

 

Total Sanction = Number of Days Overdue x Sanction 

per Day 

 None  None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Day none Receipt of Detailed Conversion Plan 

 

3.60.65Failure to Deliver According To The Final Approved Detailed Conversion Plan 

Section Description Amount 

10.1 – 

Conversion Plan  

The failure of the Successful Proposer to deliver according to 

the final approved Detailed Conversion Plan, may result in the 

Successful Proposer being assessed sanctions for each Day that 

the detailed conversion plan is not completed.  

$10,000 per 

Day or part 

of a Day  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Missed Milestones or Deliverables Completion % 

According to 

Conversion 

Plan Schedule 

100% On Time Delivery 

Formula 

Maximum 

Sanction Exceptions 

Number of Days Overdue = Task Completion Day - 

Project Milestone 

 

Total Sanction = Number of Days Overdue x Sanction 

per Day 

 None  Written Approval by 

Texas Lottery, Delay 

Directly Caused by the 

Texas Lottery 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Weekly During 

Conversion to New 

System 

Project Management System 
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3.61 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

3.61.1 Liquidated Damages Schedule.  For the purpose of the liquidated damages schedule, the 

following definitions apply: 

 Section – references the applicable provision(s) of the RFP. The section references 

are not exclusive. 

 Description – detailed description of the liquidated damage. 

 Amount – liquidated damage assessment amount and frequency. 

 Trigger Examples –how the liquidated damage assessment may be applied. The 

trigger examples are not exclusive.  

 Measure –basis for the liquidated damage assessment. 

 Performance Target – the Contract requirement. 

 Formula – shows how the liquidated damage will be calculated. 

 Maximum Liquidated Damage – the maximum liquidated damage amount, if any, per 

incident. 

 Exceptions – identifies any exceptions to the liquidated damage assessment. 

 Measure Interval – identifies the interval for assessment of liquidated damages. 

 Reporting Period – identifies the reporting frequency for the liquidated damage 

assessment. For liquidated damages with a Reporting Period requirement, the 

Successful Proposer must submit written reports based on the required frequency 

even if there were no noted incidents during the reporting period. The use of the term 

‗none‘ means there is no reporting requirement for the applicable liquidated damage 

assessment. 

 Measurement Basis – the basis for measuring the start and end of an incident. 
 

3.61.2 General. It is agreed by the Texas Lottery and the Successful Proposer that:  

(a) If the Successful Proposer does not provide or perform the requirements referred to or 

listed in this RFP or fulfill the obligations of the Contract, damage to the Texas Lottery 

will result;  

(b) establishing the precise measure of damages in the event of default by the Successful 

Proposer may be (i) costly, (ii) time consuming, or (iii) difficult or impossible to 

calculate;  

(c) the liquidated damage assessments contained herein represent a good faith effort to 

quantify the damages that could reasonably be anticipated at the time of execution of the 

Contract;  

(d) the damages set forth herein are just and reasonable;  

(e) nothing contained in this section shall be construed as relieving the Successful 

Proposer from performing all Contract requirements whether or not said requirements are 

set forth herein; and  

(f) the Texas Lottery may, therefore, in its sole discretion, deduct damages from the 

compensation otherwise due to the Successful Proposer.  

All assessments of damages shall be within the sole discretion of the Texas Lottery. 
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3.61.3  Liquidated Damages Assessment. Once the Texas Lottery has determined that liquidated 

damages are to be assessed, the Executive Director or Executive Director‘s designee shall 

notify the Successful Proposer of the assessment(s). Failure to notify does not impact the 

Texas Lottery‘s assessment of damage and is not a condition precedent thereto. The 

Texas Lottery will withhold liquidated damages from payments to the Successful 

Proposer, or, if no payments have been made, the Texas Lottery will make demand of 

payment of liquidated damages. The Successful Proposer must make payment within ten 

(10) Days of the Texas Lottery‘s demand. In the event the Successful Proposer fails to 

pay within the ten (10) Day period, the Texas Lottery may then make a claim for 

payment against the performance bond, with or without notice to the Successful Proposer. 

3.61.4  Severability of Individual Liquidated Damages Clauses. If any portion of this liquidated 

damages provision is determined to be unenforceable, the other portions of this provision 

shall remain in full force and effect. 
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3.61.5 On-Line Game Unavailability 

Section Description Amount 

7.6.1 – System 

Configuration 

and Capacity 

If any On-Line Game is unavailable for sales due to a 

Lottery Gaming System problem, liquidated damages 

may be assessed.  The first two (2) minutes of down 

time for sales will be grace time, up to a maximum of 

ten (10) minutes of grace time per week.  Forty 

percent (40%) of the previous fourteen (14) Days 

average per minute sales for the same affected game, 

for the same time of Day corresponding to the period 

the game is unavailable, will be multiplied by the 

number of minutes of down time to compute 

liquidated damages.  If the down time is within ten 

(10) hours of that game‘s drawing, a sixty percent 

(60%) factor will be used in lieu of forty percent 

(40%).  This calculation will be made for each 

affected On-Line Game. 

40% of an average 

"per minute" sales 

Day  

60% of an average 

"per minute" sales 

Day within 10 

hours of drawing 

Grace Time of 2 

minutes; maximum 

of 5 grace periods 

per week 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints, Downtime 

Notification, Application Availability 

and Performance Monitoring Alerts, 

Retailer Terminal Hotline 

On-Line 

Gaming 

System 

Availability 

100% Availability of On-Line Games 

 

Formula 

Maximum 

Assessed 

Damages Exceptions 

Downtime for First 5 Instances Per Week = Application 

Availability (After Outage) Time Stamp - Application 

Availability (Before Outage) Time Stamp - 2 Minutes 

 

Downtime After First 5 Instances = Application Availability 

(After Outage) Time Stamp - Application Availability 

(Before Outage) Time Stamp 

 

Total Damages = Downtime x Damages  

$250,000 per Day 

 

None 

 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Availability and Performance Monitoring Log 

Files for Applications  
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3.61.6 Inability of the Texas Lottery Retailer Terminals to Communicate with the Lottery 

Gaming System 

Section Description Amount 

7.6.1 – System 

Configuration 

and Capacity 

 

7.14. 

Communications 

Network 

If Texas Lottery Retailer terminals are unable to 

communicate with the Lottery Gaming System due to a 

problem with the Successful Proposer‘s hardware,  

software, communications network, or the Lottery 

Gaming System is down, liquidated damages may be 

assessed. The first two (2) minutes of down time for 

sales will be a grace period, up to a maximum of ten 

(10) minutes of grace time per week.  Forty percent 

(40%) of the previous fourteen (14) Days average per 

minute sales for the same affected game, for the same 

time of Day corresponding to the period the game is 

unavailable, will be multiplied by the number of 

minutes of down time to compute liquidated damages.  

If the down time is within ten (10) hours of that game‘s 

drawing, a sixty percent (60%) factor will be used in 

lieu of forty percent (40%).  This calculation will be 

made for each affected On-Line Game. 

40% of an average 

"per minute" sales 

Day  

60% of an average 

"per minute" sales 

Day within 10 

hours of drawing 

Grace Time of 2 

minutes; maximum 

of 5 grace periods 

per week 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Retailer Complaints, Downtime 

Notification, Application Availability 

and Performance Monitoring Alerts, 

Retailer Terminal Hotline 

Connectivity 

to On-Line 

Gaming 

System 

100% Availability of Lottery Gaming 

System 

Formula 

Maximum 

Assessed 

Damages Exceptions 

Downtime for First 5 Instances = Application Availability 

(After Outage) Time Stamp - Application Availability 

(Before Outage) Time Stamp - 2 Minutes 

 

Downtime After First 5 Instances = Application Availability 

(After Outage) Time Stamp - Application Availability 

(Before Outage) Time Stamp 

 

Total Damages = Downtime x Damages  

$250,000 per Day None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly 

Availability and Performance Monitoring Log 

Files for Applications and Communications 

Network 
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3.61.7 Failure to Resolve Terminal and Related Sales Equipment Problems. 

Section Description Amount 

7.12.2 –  

Maintenance and 

Repair 

If the Successful Proposer fails to respond to Retailer 

calls for terminal maintenance and correct terminal 

problems that affect the ability to sell or validate tickets 

(including, but not limited to, inadequate On-Line 

Ticket stock, printer out of ink, terminal down time, 

service degradation, and communication problems), 

and return the equipment to service within four (4) 

hours of the time of the service call, liquidated 

damages may be assessed against the Successful 

Proposer equal to thirty-one percent (31%) of the 

average sales for the affected Terminal per Day 

calculated over the last ten (10) Days.  Failure to 

resolve the problem within eight (8) hours of the time 

of the service call may result in the Successful 

Proposer being assessed liquidated damages equal to 

sixty two percent (62%) of the average sales for the 

affected Terminal per Day calculated over the last ten 

(10) Days.  

Outage from 4-8 

Hours: 31% of 

(Avg. Daily Sales 

for Terminal in 

Last 10 Days)  

 

Outage Exceeding 

8 Hours:62% of 

(Avg. Daily Sales 

for Terminal in 

Last 10 Days)  

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Self Reporting Terminals tied to 

Successful Proposer's Incident 

Management System, Call from 

Retailer 

Ability of Sales 

Terminals to 

Produce and 

Validate Tickets 

100% Resolution within four (4) 

hours 

Formula 

Maximum 

Assessed 

Damages Exceptions 

Outage Hours = Time Stamp when the device is functional 

again - Time Stamp when the device stopped working  

 

Outage Time is 4-8 Hours: 

Damages = [31% x (Avg. Daily Sales for Terminal During 

Last 10 Days)] x (Outage Hours - 4 Hour Grace Period) 

 

Outage Time is Greater Than 8 Hours: 

Damages = [62% x (Avg. Daily Sales for Terminal During 

Last 10 Days)] x (Outage Hours - 4 Hour Grace Period)  

None None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Terminal Downtime Report, Terminal and 

Network Monitoring Logs, Incident Management 

System 
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3.61.8 Unassigned Packs of Instant Tickets Missing from the Warehouse 

Section Description Amount 

9.3 – 

Instant Ticket 

Delivery 

The Successful Proposer may be assessed liquidated 

damages for unassigned Instant Tickets missing from 

the warehouse. 

Face value of each 

pack 

Trigger Examples Measure Performance Target 

Order Scanning at Warehouse, 

Attempted Ticket Validation 

# of Missing 

Unassigned 

Instant 

Tickets Packs 

at Warehouse 

100% of Unassigned Ticket Packs in 

Warehouse 

Formula 

Maximum 

Assessed 

Damages Exceptions 

Total Damages = Unassigned Tickets Missing From the 

Warehouse x Damages 

None None 

Measure Interval Reporting Period Measurement Basis 

Per Incident Monthly Warehouse Inventory, Ticket Status Database / 

Application 

 

3.62 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

The dispute resolution process provided for in Texas Government Code Chapter 2260 

and 16 Texas Administrative Code Ch. 403 must be used by the Successful Proposer to 

attempt to resolve any disputes brought by the Successful Proposer arising under this 

Contract. 

3.63 CERTIFICATIONS 

3.63.1 Pursuant to Texas Government Code Ann. § 466.103, the Executive Director may not 

award a contract for the purchase or lease of facilities, goods or services related to lottery 

operations to a person who would be denied a license as a sales agent under Texas 

Government Code Ann. § 466.155.  All Proposers must read and be familiar with Texas 

Government Code Ann. § 466.155, attached hereto as Attachment D.  All Proposals  shall 

include  a completed Background Information Certification Form, attached hereto as 

Attachment D-1, which certifies that the Proposer has reviewed Texas Government Code 

Ann. § 466.155 and neither the Proposer nor any of the following persons would be 

denied a license as a sales agent pursuant to said section:  (a) Proposer‘s officers, 

directors, investors, owners, partners and other principals, as more particularly described 

in Texas Government Code Ann. § 466.155 (collectively, Proposer Principals); or (b) any 

spouse, child, brother, sister or parent residing as a member of the same household in the 

principal place of residence of the Proposer or any of the Proposer Principals. 
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3.63.2 Under § 231.006 of the Texas Family Code, the Proposer certifies that the individual or 

business entity named in the Proposal or Contract is not ineligible to receive the specified 

grant, loan or payment and acknowledges that any Contract resulting from this RFP may 

be terminated and payment may be withheld if this certification is inaccurate.  

Furthermore, any Proposer subject to Section 231.006 must include names and social 

security numbers of each person with at least 25% ownership of the business entity 

submitting the Proposal.  This information must be provided prior to Contract Award.  

3.63.3 Under Section 2261.053 of the Texas Government Code, a state agency may not accept a 

bid or award a contract that includes proposed financial participation by a person who, 

during the five year period preceding the date of the bid or award, has been: (1) convicted 

of violating a federal law in connection with a contract awarded by the federal 

government for relief, recovery, or reconstruction efforts as a result of Hurricane Rita, as 

defined by Section 39.459, Utilities Code, Hurricane Katrina, or any other disaster 

occurring after September 24, 2005; or (2) assessed a penalty in a federal civil or 

administrative enforcement action in connection with a contract awarded by the federal 

government for relief, recovery, or reconstruction efforts as a result of Hurricane Rita, as 

defined by Section 39.459, Utilities Code, Hurricane Katrina, or any other disaster 

occurring after September 24, 2005.  In submitting a Proposal under this RFP, the 

Proposer certifies as follows:  ―Under Section 2261.053 of the Texas Government Code, 

the contractor certifies that the individual or business entity named in this bid or contract 

is not ineligible to receive the specified contract and acknowledges that this contract may 

be terminated and payment withheld if this certification is inaccurate.‖  

3.63.4 The Proposer certifies that: (a) the Proposer has not given, offered to give, nor intends to 

give at any time hereafter any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, 

gratuity, special discount, trip, favor, or service to a public servant in connection with the 

submitted Proposal; and (b) neither the Proposer nor the firm, corporation, partnership, or 

institution represented by the Proposer, nor anyone acting for such firm, corporation, 

partnership, or institution has violated the antitrust laws of the State of Texas (Tex. Bus. 

& Comm. Code Sec. 15.01, et seq.), or the antitrust laws of the United States (15 

U.S.C.A. Section 1, et seq.), nor communicated directly or indirectly the submitted 

Proposal  to any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of business. 

3.63.5 The Proposer certifies that it is in compliance with Texas Government Code, Title 6, 

Subtitle B, Section 669.003 of the Government Code, relating to contracting with the 

executive head of a state agency.  If Section 669.003 applies, the Proposer will complete 

the following information in order for the Proposal to be evaluated: 

Name of Former Executive 

Name of State Agency 

Date of Separation from State Agency 

Position with Proposer 

Date of Employment with Proposer 
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3.63.6 By signing this Proposal, the Proposer certifies that if a Texas address is shown as the 

address of the Proposer, the Proposer qualifies as a Texas Resident Bidder as defined in 

Texas Administrative Code, Title 34, Part 1, Chapter 20.  

3.63.7 The Texas Lottery is federally mandated to adhere to the directions provided in the 

President‘s Executive Order (EO) 13224, Executive Order on Terrorist Financing – 

Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten to 

Commit, or Support Terrorism, effective 9/24/2001 and any subsequent changes made to 

it via cross-referencing respondents/vendors with the Federal General Services 

Administration‘s Excluded Parties List System (EPLS, http://www.epls.gov), which is 

inclusive of the United States Treasury‘s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) 

Specially Designated National (SDN) list. 

3.63.8 Pursuant to Section 2155.004 of the Texas Government Code, the Proposer has not 

received compensation from the Texas Lottery for participating in the preparation of the 

specifications for this RFP and certifies as follows: ―Under Section 2155.004, 

Government Code, the vendor certifies that the individual or business entity named in this 

bid or contract is not ineligible to receive the specified contract and acknowledges that 

this contract may be terminated and payment withheld if this certification is inaccurate.‖ 

3.64 PREFERENCES 

Any bidder or Proposer entitled to a preference(s) under Texas law shall claim the 

preference(s) in its Proposal.  

3.65 DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES; UNFAIR BUSINESS PRACTICES 

The Successful Proposer represents and warrants that it has not been the subject of 

allegations of Deceptive Trade Practices violations under Tex. Bus. & Com. Code, 

Chapter 17, or allegations of any unfair business practice in any administrative hearing or 

court suit and that the Successful Proposer has not been found to be liable for such 

practices in such proceedings.  The Successful Proposer certifies that it has no officers 

who have served as officers of other entities that have been the subject of allegations of 

Deceptive Trade Practices violations or allegations of any unfair business practices in an 

administrative hearing or court suit and that such officers have not been found to be liable 

for such practices in such proceedings. 

3.66 IMMIGRATION 

The Successful Proposer represents and warrants that it shall comply with the 

requirements of the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, the Immigration Act 

of 1990 and the Illegal Immigrant Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996 

regarding employment of any individual who will perform labor or services under any 

Contract entered into as a result of this RFP, Electronic and Information Resources 

Accessibility Standards, As Required by 1 TAC Chapter 213 (Applicable to State Agency 

and Institutions of Higher Education Purchases Only). 

http://www.epls.gov/
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3.66.1 Effective September 1, 2006 state agencies and institutions of higher education shall 

procure products which comply with the State of Texas Accessibility requirements for 

Electronic and Information Resources specified in 1 TAC Chapter 213 when such 

products are available in the commercial marketplace or when such products are 

developed in response to a procurement solicitation. 

3.66.2 The Successful Proposer shall provide DIR with the URL to its Voluntary Product 

Accessibility Template (VPAT) for reviewing compliance with the State of Texas 

Accessibility requirements (based on the federal standards established under Section 508 

of the Rehabilitation Act), or indicate that the product/service accessibility information is 

available from the General Services Administration ―Buy Accessible Wizard‖ 

(http://www.buyaccessible.gov).  Proposers not listed with the ―Buy Accessible Wizard‖ 

or supplying a URL to their VPAT must provide DIR with a report that addresses the 

same accessibility criteria in substantively the same format.  Additional information 

regarding the ―Buy Accessible Wizard‖ or obtaining a copy of the VPAT is located at 

http://www.section508.gov/. 

3.67 FALSE STATEMENTS; BREACH OF REPRESENTATIONS 

By submitting a Proposal, the Proposer makes all the representations, warranties, 

guarantees, certifications and affirmations included in its Proposal. If a Proposer signed 

its Proposal with a false statement or is selected as the Apparent Successful Proposer and 

signs any Contract resulting from this RFP with a false statement, or it is subsequently 

determined that Proposer has violated any of the representations, warranties, guarantees, 

certifications or affirmations included in the RFP or resulting Contract, the Proposer shall 

be in default and if the determination is made before Contract Award, the Texas Lottery 

may reject the Proposal or if the determination is made after Contract Award, the Texas 

Lottery may terminate the Contract for cause and pursue all other remedies available to 

the Texas Lottery under the RFP, Contract and applicable law. 

3.68 LIMITATION ON AUTHORITY; NO OTHER OBLIGATIONS 

The Successful Proposer shall have no authority to act for or on behalf of the Texas 

Lottery or the State of Texas except as expressly provided for in this RFP or any resulting 

Contract. The Successful Proposer may not incur any debts, obligations, expenses or 

liabilities of any kind on behalf of the State of Texas or the Texas Lottery. 

3.69 PROPOSER ASSIGNMENT 

The Successful Proposer hereby assigns to the Texas Lottery any and all claims for 

overcharges associated with any Contract resulting from this RFP arising under the 

antitrust laws of the United States, 15 U.S.C.A. Section 1, et seq., and the antitrust laws 

of the State of Texas, Tex. Bus. & Comm. Code Sec. 15.01, et seq. 

http://www.buyaccessible.gov/
http://www.section508.gov/


 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 3 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

3.70 CODE OF CONDUCT 

The Texas Lottery is an extremely sensitive enterprise because its success depends on 

maintaining the public trust by protecting and ensuring the security of Lottery Products.  

The Texas Lottery incorporates the highest standards of security and integrity in the 

management and sale of entertaining lottery products, and lottery vendors are held to the 

same standards. Therefore, it is essential that operation of the Texas Lottery, and the 

operation of other enterprises which would be linked to it in the public mind, avoid not 

only impropriety, but also the appearance of impropriety.  Because of this, the Successful 

Proposer shall: 

(a) Offer goods and services only of the highest quality and standards. 

(b) Use its best efforts to prevent the industry from becoming embroiled in 

unfavorable publicity. 

(c) Make presentations in a responsible manner and when it is felt necessary to point 

out the superiority of its goods or services over those of its competitors, do so in 

such a manner as to avoid unfavorable publicity for the industry. 

(d) Avoid activities, operations, and practices that could be interpreted as improper 

and cause embarrassment to the Texas Lottery and/or to the industry. 

(e) Report security problems or potential security problems with any services 

provided pursuant to this RFP immediately and only to the Texas Lottery. 

(f) Otherwise comply with the State Lottery Act (Texas Gov‘t Code Ann. Ch. 466) 

and Texas Lottery rules, procedures and policies. 

(g) Provide best practices related to security and integrity standards within the 

industry. 

3.71 CONTACT WITH TEXAS LOTTERY  COMMISSION 

3.71.1 Except when circumstances require otherwise, employees and Commissioners of the 

Texas Lottery and employees, subcontractors and agents of all prospective Proposers and 

employees, subcontractors and agents of the Successful Proposer should meet only at 

Texas Lottery headquarters. 

3.71.2 Employees, subcontractors and agents of all prospective Proposers and employees, 

subcontractors and agents of the Successful Proposer may not offer or give a gift to a 

Texas Lottery employee.  For purposes of this section, ―gift‖ has the meaning as defined 

in Tex. Gov‘t Code Ann. § 467.001(4) and as may be subsequently changed or amended 

by acts of the Texas Legislature. 

3.71.3 Employees, subcontractors and agents of all prospective Proposers and employees, 

subcontractors and agents of the Successful Proposer should not engage in 

nonprofessional socialization (socialization outside of a work context) with a Texas 

Lottery employee. There may be circumstances, however, in which nonprofessional 

socialization is acceptable, for example, because of family relationships, common 
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acquaintances, or common outside activities. The restrictions on nonprofessional 

socialization are not meant to apply to unplanned, incidental social contact. In such 

circumstances, employees, subcontractors and agents of all prospective Proposers and 

employees, subcontractors and agents of the Successful Proposer should not discuss 

Texas Lottery business.  

3.71.4 Professional socialization at activities such as industry trade conferences and site visits is 

permitted. 

3.72 INCIDENTS AND ANOMALIES  

3.72.1 The Successful Proposer shall report immediately all significant incidents and anomalies 

to the Texas Lottery, followed by a written report to be submitted within one workday of 

the incident or anomaly. At a minimum, incident and anomaly reporting shall include a 

description of the incident, its cause, and corrective action taken. For purposes of this 

section, ―significant‖ incidents include, by way of illustration only, any occurrence that 

affects the Texas Lottery, lottery retailers, or players, and deviation from established 

procedures and those items where sanctions or liquidated damages are applicable. 

3.72.2 The Texas Lottery will assign an investigator to monitor the Successful Proposer 

throughout the contract term and during any renewal period. The Successful Proposer 

shall maintain close contact and regular communication with the investigator regarding 

all matters under the Contract.  

3.73 ATTACHMENT OF THIRD PARTY SYSTEMS, TERMINALS OR PRODUCTS 

3.73.1 The Texas Lottery reserves the right to require the Successful Proposer to allow any 

required access to, and provide support to, the Texas Lottery and to a Texas Lottery 

vendor or Retailer in attaching to the Lottery Gaming System or otherwise installing 

terminals, terminal peripherals, products, or systems other than those required by the 

Lottery Operator RFP. 

3.73.2 The Successful Proposer must supply the Texas Lottery specifications to permit products 

other than products produced by the Successful Proposer to attach to the Lottery Gaming 

System and carry out all functions and capabilities required by the Texas Lottery.  The 

Successful Proposer must provide support and access to the Texas Lottery and to a Texas 

Lottery vendor or retailer for additional products including, but not limited to, providing 

facilities and support to allow other parties to attach, install and/or test products.  The 

Texas Lottery will monitor progress to ensure full cooperation. 

3.73.3 The Successful Proposer is solely responsible for ensuring its interests in its intellectual 

property are protected by appropriate confidentiality agreements.  Should the Texas 

Lottery propose to add terminals, products or systems not provided for in this RFP or the 

Contract but for which the Successful Proposer would be responsible, appropriate 

compensation to the Successful Proposer would be negotiated. 
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3.74 RECORDS RETENTION 

The Successful Proposer shall review the Records Retention Schedule prepared by the 

Texas Lottery and approved by the Texas State Library and Archives Commission (the 

"Retention Schedule"), including periodic revisions thereto, and, in cooperation with the 

Texas Lottery, determine which records generated or held by the Successful Proposer are 

subject to the Retention Schedule.  The Records Retention Schedule will be provided to 

the Successful Proposer after Contract Award. The Successful Proposer shall conform to 

the Retention Schedule and other applicable law regarding retention of records, including 

Texas Government Code Section 441.180 et seq.  The Successful Proposer shall give the 

Texas Lottery at least thirty Days advance notice of any planned destruction of records 

subject to the Retention Schedule.  No record subject to the Retention Schedule or Texas 

Government Code Chapter 441 shall be destroyed without prior written approval from the 

Texas Lottery. 
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PART 4  

4.1 STATEMENT OF UNDERSTANDING 

4.1.1 The Proposer shall include with its Technical Proposal a certificate executed by an authorized 

representative of the Proposer certifying that (i) the Proposer has read this RFP prior to the 

submission of its Proposal, (ii) the Proposer understands the information contained in this RFP, 

(iii) the Proposer has had an opportunity to consult with any experts it deems knowledgeable or 

helpful in any way, (iv) the Proposer is a sophisticated business entity capable of analyzing the 

risks and potential benefits inherent in responding to this RFP and in entering into any Contract 

resulting from this RFP, (v) the Proposer has been and is represented by counsel of its choice, 

(vi) the Proposer has fully investigated any facts that it deems relevant, (vii) the Proposer is not 

under duress to respond to this RFP or to enter into any Contract resulting from this RFP, and 

(viii) after careful consideration and investigation, and after receiving the advice of counsel, the 

Proposer has analyzed the risks associated with responding to this RFP and with performing 

under any Contract resulting from this RFP, and the Proposer has decided to accept such risks 

of its own free will in order to compete to obtain the benefits associated with any Contract 

resulting from this RFP.  The Proposer waives any claim that the exercise by the Texas Lottery 

of any of the rights or remedies specified hereunder, to which Proposer has not objected and 

negotiated out from inclusion in any Contract resulting from this RFP based upon due process 

concerns, violates Proposer‘s rights of due process. 

4.1.2 Any exceptions to the requirements contained in this RFP must be specifically and clearly 

stated at the time the certificate described in the preceding paragraph is delivered.  The Proposer 

should be aware, however, that exceptions taken to any requirements set forth in this RFP may, 

at the sole discretion of the Lottery, result in (i) rejection of the Proposal submitted, and/or (ii) 

disqualification from submitting any Proposal to this RFP. 

4.2 EXPERIENCE OF RESPONDING FIRM AND PRODUCT 

The Proposer shall provide the following information relating to its experience: 

4.2.1 Years of Experience.  The Proposer must indicate the number of years‘ experience the Proposer 

has in providing the services as specified in this RFP and shall include detailed descriptions 

documenting its experience for all engagements of comparable complexity and scale for the 

past ten (10) years. 

4.2.2 Proposers must indicate any previous lottery experience or other relevant experience providing 

similar services, as noted in Section 1.1.4, to governmental or private entities, including name 

of the entity, type of work performed, and duration of project.  

4.2.3 Proposers must indicate any previous experience in transition activities between vendors when 

providing similar services, in scope and size, as noted in Section 1.1.4. Proposers must include 

the name of the entity, type of transition/conversion work performed, duration of the project and 

any service interruptions encountered. 
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4.2.4 The description of experience shall be detailed and cover all contracts the Proposer and any 

subcontractors have or have had that provided experience similar to this Contract which 

qualifies the Proposer to meet the requirements of this Contract, including but not limited to:  

(a) Size of contract. 

(b) Reason for contract termination/expiration, if contract is no longer in effect. 

(c) Types of services directly provided by the Proposer and whether the Proposer was the 

proposer or subcontractor. 

(d) Term and type of contract, including effective dates.  

(e) Any problems encountered. 

4.2.5 The Proposer shall state in its Response whether or not any of the following have occurred 

during the last five (5) years: 

(a) The Proposer has had a contract terminated and, if so, shall provide full details, 

including the other party‘s name, address and telephone number. 

(b) The Proposer has been assessed any sanctions or liquidated damages under any existing 

or past contracts with any state, provincial or other lottery, and if so, note the 

jurisdiction, the reason for and the amount of the sanction or liquidated damages for 

each incident. (See Section 3.44 for continuing disclosure requirement.) 

(c) The Proposer has provided goods or services in consideration of contractual sanctions or 

liquidated damages that would have been assessed, and if so, note the jurisdiction, the 

reason for the penalty or liquidated damages and the goods or services provided in lieu 

of the assessment. 

(d) The Proposer has had any material or significant audit findings. 

(e) The Proposer was the subject of (i) any disciplinary action for substandard work and 

unethical practices or (ii) any order, judgment or decree of any federal or state authority 

barring, suspending or otherwise limiting the right of the Proposer to engage in any 

business, practice or activity. 

(f) The Proposer has been involved in any material civil or criminal litigation or indictment 

either threatened or pending as fully described in Section 3.43.  

(g) The Proposer has applied for, has sought renewal of, has received, has been denied, has 

pending, or has had revoked a gaming license of any kind, or had fines, penalties 

sanctions or liquidated damages assessed against its gaming license, contract or 

operation, and the disposition of such in each such state or jurisdiction.  If any lottery or 

gaming license or contract has been revoked or terminated or has not been renewed or 

any lottery or gaming license or application has been either denied or is pending and has 

remained pending for more than six (6) months, all of the facts and circumstances 

underlying the revocation, termination, non-renewal or the failure to receive such a 

license shall be disclosed. 
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4.3 EXPERIENCE OF PERSONNEL 

4.3.1 Proposers must provide an organizational chart which identifies all staff who will support the 

Texas Lottery account. The organizational chart should include the position titles, number of 

positions, and where applicable names of personnel (e.g., key management staff). The 

organizational chart should include corporate directors and/or officers who will provide 

direction or oversight to the Texas Lottery account. 

4.3.2 Proposers must provide resumes for all key management staff. This should include, without 

limitation, the following positions: 

(a) Executive Management – General Manager/Site Director, Assistant General Manager, 

and any other officers or key personnel who will provide direction or oversight to the 

Texas Lottery account. 

(b) Data Center/Operations – Data Center Supervisor, Software Development Manager, 

Texas Lottery Liaison and any other staff who will have oversight or manage system 

operations for the Texas Lottery account. 

(c) Call Center – Call Center Manager, Retailer Support Supervisor, Dispatch and Supply 

Inventory Supervisor or other key personnel who will provide direction or oversight to 

the Texas Lottery account.  

(d) Sales and Marketing – Sales Manager, Marketing Manager, Promotions 

Manager/Coordinator, District/field Sales Managers, Corporate/Chain Account 

Manager, New Business Development/Recruitment Manager, Research Associate, and 

any other staff who will provide sales or marketing input, direction or recommendations 

for the Texas Lottery account. 

(e) Warehouse and Distribution – Warehouse Manager. 

(f) Transition Team – Project Manager and key personnel assigned to the transition and 

implementation of the Texas Lottery account.  

4.3.3 Each resume must include (i) the proposed position to which the individual will be assigned for 

the Contract; (ii) the position such individual currently holds with the Proposer or its 

subcontractor(s); (iii) a brief description of such individual‘s responsibilities for the Contract; 

and (iv) a description of the experience that qualifies the individual to perform such 

responsibilities. 

4.3.4 The Lottery reserves the right to verify all information in the resumes submitted by the 

Proposer, including contacting previous employers or firms for which work experience is 

indicated. Intentional or negligent misstatements of experience, scope of prior projects or results 

of work on prior projects may be grounds for disqualification of the Proposal. 

4.3.5 Proposers must provide a staffing schedule indicating the projected dates that each of the 

unfilled positions will be filled.  

4.3.6 Proposers must indicate when key management employees will be available to commence 

providing services under any contract awarded hereunder. 
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4.4 REFERENCES 

Proposers must provide verifiable references which include contact person, name of company, 

phone, fax number and e-mail address if available for each engagement identified in Section 

4.2.1.  The Texas Lottery reserves the right to verify all information in the Proposal submitted 

by the Proposer and seek other information it deems necessary to conduct a thorough review.  

4.5 CONTACT PERSON 

The Proposer shall provide the name, address, telephone number, email address, and facsimile 

number of a person to contact concerning questions regarding its Proposal. 

4.6 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

4.6.1 The Proposer must disclose any actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest relative to the 

performance of the requirements of this RFP.  The Proposer must disclose any personal or 

business relationship of (a) itself, (b) any of its principals, officers, directors, investors, owners, 

partners, and employees (collectively, Proposer Personnel); (c) any spouse, child, brother, 

sister, or parent residing as a member of the same household in the principal place of residence 

of any Proposer Personnel; (d) any affiliate, or (e) any subcontractor with any employee or 

representative of the Texas Lottery (including the Texas Lottery Executive Director and its 

commissioners) or its prime vendors.  As of the time of the issuance of this RFP, prime Texas 

Lottery vendors include, but are not limited to:  GTECH Corporation, lottery operator and 

instant ticket vending machine supplier; Scientific Games International, instant ticket 

manufacturer and random animated digital drawing system;  Pollard Banknote Limited 

Partnership, instant ticket manufacturer; TLP, Inc. dba Tracy Locke and LatinWorks, 

advertising services; Davila, Buschhorn and Associates, P.C., lottery drawings audit services; 

Elephant Productions, Inc., drawings broadcast services; Barker & Herbert Analytical 

Laboratories, Inc., instant ticket testing services; Maxwell Locke & Ritter, LLP., annual 

financial audit and Mega Millions agreed-upon procedures engagement; Graves, Dougherty, 

Hearon & Moody, P.C., outside counsel for Lottery Operations & Services Procurement;   

Meyertons, Hood, Kivlin, Kowert &  Goetzel, P.C., outside counsel for intellectual property 

matters; Eubank & Young Statistical Consulting, LLC, statistical consulting services; and 

Knight Security Systems, LLC, surveillance camera products and related services.  

Additionally, any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict should 

be disclosed.  Failure to disclose any such relationship may be a cause for disqualification of a 

Proposal.  

4.6.2 This is a continuing disclosure requirement. The Proposer shall disclose to the Texas Lottery in 

writing any actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest, relative to the performance of the 

requirements of this RFP, during the period prior to the award of any Contract pursuant to the 

RFP, at the time the conflict is identified.  Failure to promptly notify the Texas Lottery will be 

sufficient grounds for rejecting the Proposal.   

4.7 FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS 

4.7.1 In order to evaluate the Proposer's financial ability to perform under the Contract, the Lottery 

requires the following information. 
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4.7.2 Ability to Finance Performance.  The ability to finance or otherwise fund performance under 

the Contract shall be demonstrated by each Proposer through submission of a written analysis of 

its estimated initial or start-up costs for the period from the start of the Contract, including (if 

applicable) conversion of the Lottery system by a new operator through to the end of the first 

complete calendar quarter of operation under the Contract.  Such cost analysis must be 

submitted at the same time as the Proposer's Cost Proposal, but in a separately sealed and 

marked envelope.  The cost analysis will be used in conjunction with the information described 

below to evaluate the sufficiency of the Proposer's financial resources to deliver the goods and 

services proposed. The Proposer must provide start-up costs through conversion plus estimated 

first quarter operating costs in the format as provided in Attachment J. The start-up costs must 

be submitted in a separate sealed envelope. The sealed envelope must be addressed as outlined 

in Section 2.15 and designated conspicuously as ―Start-Up Costs for RFP 362-10-0001.‖ 

 

1) Submission of Financial Statements.  All Proposers (and its parent corporation, if 

applicable, or joint participants, if applicable) must submit copies of consolidated 

audited financial statements for each of the Proposer's three (3) most recently ended 

fiscal years In lieu of the foregoing, if the Proposer has been in existence for less than 

three fiscal years, the Texas Lottery reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to accept 

consolidated audited financial statements for those fiscal years in which the Proposer 

has been in existence.  Such audited consolidated financial statements shall be audited in 

accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS) by a certified public 

accountant.  If the most recent fiscal year for which audited financial statements are 

submitted ended more than [134] days prior to the date of submission of the Proposal to 

the Lottery, the Proposer shall also submit consolidated interim unaudited financial 

statements for the interim period between the date of the latest audited balance sheet and 

ending no earlier than [60] days prior to such date of submission, and for the 

corresponding period of the preceding fiscal year.  The Lottery reserves the right to 

require additional, updated financial statements following submission of the Proposal 

and prior to the award of the Contract, to take into account the lapse of time between the 

date of submission and the estimated date of award of the Contract.  All financial 

statements shall be prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles (GAAP), and must include balance sheets for each fiscal year and each 

interim period ended, income statements, statements of cash flows, statements of 

retained earnings, notes to the financial statements for each such year or period, as the 

case may be, and any management letters that have been received for those years.  For 

non-U.S. vendors the equivalent non-U.S. accounting and auditing standards applicable 

to publicly-traded companies shall apply. 

2) Subsidiaries.  If the Proposer is a subsidiary of a parent entity and the Proposer either 

does not have its own separate financial statements or Proposer wishes to rely on the 

financial soundness of its parent, the Proposer shall satisfy its financial responsibility 

submission requirements by submitting the consolidated financial statements of its 

parent entity.  The consolidated financial statements of the parent shall include the 

activity of the Proposer.  Such financial statements of the parent must meet the criteria 
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set forth in the preceding item 1.1.  The Proposer shall also submit its own financial 

statements in accordance with the preceding item 1.1.  If a Proposer submits the 

consolidated financial statements of its parent, the parent must serve as guarantor of the 

Proposer and must certify to the Lottery the availability of the parent's resources to the 

Proposer, and the parent shall also be held accountable for, and shall unconditionally 

guarantee, the prompt and complete performance of all terms and conditions of the RFP 

and the resulting Contract applicable to Proposer and shall sign the RFP and execute the 

Contract as such guarantor. 

3) Submission Involving Joint Participants.  If the submission involves joint participants as 

opposed to a subsidiary submission relying on the financial soundness of its parent, the 

Proposal must include the financial statements required by item 4.7.1(2) for each joint 

participant.  The Proposal shall designate only one of the joint participants as the 

primary contractor and that joint participant shall be primarily and unconditionally 

obligated for the performance of all terms and conditions of the RFP and the resulting 

Contract applicable to Proposer. The Proposal shall specify those services to be 

performed by such primary joint participant and those services to be performed by each 

other joint participant.  Each joint participant other than the primary joint participant 

(who shall be obligated as described above) shall be unconditionally obligated for the 

performance of all terms and conditions of the RFP and the resulting Contract applicable 

to the services to be provided by such joint participant. 

4) External Borrowing.  If the Proposer plans to fund its obligations under the Contract 

with borrowing from one or more external sources, the Proposer must provide a 

commitment letter in an appropriate amount and in form and substance acceptable to the 

Lottery, from a creditor or other obligors acceptable to the Lottery. 

4.7.3 The Proposal must include an undertaking by the Successful Proposer to notify the Texas 

Lottery of a change in financial condition during the Contract term and any renewal thereof.  If 

a Proposer experiences a material adverse change during the period prior to the award of any 

Contract pursuant to the RFP, or if the Successful Proposer experiences a material adverse 

change during the term of the Contract or any extension thereof, the Proposer shall notify the 

Texas Lottery in writing of such change at the time the change occurs or is identified.  Failure 

to notify the Texas Lottery of such material adverse change will be sufficient grounds for 

rejecting the Proposal or terminating any Contract.  The term "material adverse change" shall 

mean any change or changes that individually or in the aggregate are materially adverse to (i) 

the assets, properties, Business, results of operations or financial condition, taken as a whole, of 

the Proposer or other applicable obligor, (ii) the ability of the Proposer or such other obligor to 

perform its or their obligations under the Contract, or (iii) the legality or enforceability against 

the Proposer or such obligor of the Contract. 

 

4.7.4 Supplemental Information 

Provide the following information in narrative form in order to assist the Lottery staff in 

evaluating the financial soundness of the Proposer: 
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1) Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.  Describe the Proposer's off-balance sheet 

arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on the 

Proposer's financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, 

results of operations liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that could 

reasonably be deemed to be material to the financial soundness of the Proposer.  In 

preparing the response to this item, Proposer should refer to the disclosure instructions 

relating to off-balance sheet arrangements set forth in Securities and Exchange 

Commission Regulation S-K, in paragraph (a)(4) of Item 303. 

2) Defaults on Securities.   

(a) If there has been any material default in the payment of principal, interest or any 

other material default not cured within 30 days, with respect to any indebtedness of 

the Proposer or any of its significant subsidiaries exceeding 5 percent of the total 

assets of the Proposer and its consolidated subsidiaries, describe the indebtedness 

(including the amount thereof) and the nature of the default. 

 

(b) If any material arrearage in the payment of dividends has occurred or if there has 

been any other material delinquency not cured within 30 days, with respect to any 

class of preferred stock of the Proposer, or with respect to any class of preferred 

stock of any significant subsidiary of the Proposer, give the title of the class and 

state the nature of the arrearage or delinquency.  In the case of an arrearage in the 

payment of dividends, state the amount and the total arrearage. 

 

3) Business Plans.  Describe any business plans, including any planned acquisitions, that 

Proposer or any of its significant subsidiaries has which, if implemented, could be 

reasonably be expected to constitute a significant risk factor to the future financial 

soundness of the Proposer. 

4) Liquidity and Capital Resources.   

(a) Describe any known trends or any known demands, commitments, events or 

uncertainties that will result in or that are reasonably likely to result in the Proposer's 

liquidity increasing or decreasing in any material way.  If a material deficiency is 

identified, indicate the course of action that the Proposer has taken or proposes to 

take to remedy the deficiency.  Also identify and separately describe internal and 

external sources of liquidity, and briefly discuss any material unused sources of 

liquid assets. 

 

(b) Describe the Proposer's material commitments for capital expenditures as of the end 

of the latest fiscal year for which financial statements are being furnished, and 

indicate the general purpose of such commitments and the anticipated source of 

funds needed to fulfill such commitments.  Also describe any known material trends 

in the Proposer's capital resources.  Indicate any expected material changes in the 
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mix and relative cost of such resources.  The discussion shall consider changes 

between equity, debt and any off-balance sheet financing arrangements. 

 

4.7.5 The Texas Lottery reserves the right to require any additional information necessary to evaluate 

the financial soundness of the Proposer or other applicable obligors, or their ability to perform 

the obligations under the Contract. 

4.8 BACKGROUND INVESTIGATIONS 

4.8.1 The Texas Lottery Commission may initiate investigations into the backgrounds of any (a) 

Apparent Successful Proposer; (b) any of the Apparent Successful Proposer‘s officers, 

directors, investors, owners, partners and other principals, as more particularly described in 

Texas Government Code Ann. § 466.155,  (collectively, Apparent Successful Proposer 

Principals); (c) any of Apparent Successful Proposer‘s employees; (d) any of Apparent 

Successful Proposer‘s subcontractors, or subcontractors‘ officers, directors, investors, owners, 

partners, principals or employees (collectively, Subcontractor Personnel); or (e) any other 

associates of the Apparent Successful Proposer it deems appropriate.  The Texas Lottery 

Commission may also request background information for a spouse, child, brother, sister or 

parent residing as a member of the same household in the principal place of residence of the 

Apparent Successful Proposer, any Apparent Successful Proposer Principals, or Apparent 

Successful Proposer employees described above. Such background investigations may include 

fingerprint identification by the Texas Department of Public Safety, the Federal Bureau of 

Investigation, and any other law enforcement agency. The Texas Lottery may reject a Proposal 

and/or terminate any Contract resulting from this RFP based solely upon the results of these 

background investigations. 

4.8.2 In order to facilitate the background investigations, the Apparent Successful Proposer, including 

the parent or subsidiary of the Apparent Successful Proposer, shall complete and return: 

(a) The Texas Lottery‘s Background Information Certified List of Vendor Principals Form 

(Attachment E-2) within three (3) Working Days after the written Announcement of the 

Apparent Successful Proposer by the Texas Lottery.   

(b) The Texas Lottery‘s Background Packet (Attachment E) within ten (10) Working Days 

after the written Announcement of the Apparent Successful Proposer by the Texas 

Lottery.   

(c) The ―Personal Background Disclosure Form‖ (Attachment E-1) for all Apparent 

Successful Proposer Principals and any spouse, child, brother, sister or parent residing 

as a member of the same household in the principal place of residence of an Apparent 

Successful Proposer Principal within ten (10) Working Days after the written 

Announcement of the Apparent Successful Proposer by the Texas Lottery. 

4.8.3 The Texas Lottery reserves the right to require additional background information. 
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PART 5  

5.1 HSP REQUIREMENT 

The Texas Lottery has adopted the rules promulgated by the Comptroller of Public Accounts 

(CPA) regarding Historically Underutilized Businesses (HUBs) in 34 Texas Administrative 

Code (TAC) §§ 20.11 – 20.28 (See http://info.sos.state.tx.us/pls/pub/readtac$ext.ViewTAC?tac 

_view=5&ti=34&pt=1&ch=20&sch=B&rl=Y). By submitting a Proposal, the Proposer certifies 

that it has reviewed 34 TAC §§ 20.11 - 20.28. Rule 20.14 addresses the specific requirements of 

Historically Underutilized Business subcontracting plans (HSPs). 

5.2 HSP SUBMISSION AND TEXAS LOTTERY REVIEW 

5.2.1 All proposals must include an HSP (Attachment C) in the format required by the Comptroller of 

Public Accounts. PROPOSALS THAT DO NOT INCLUDE A COMPLETED HUB 

SUBCONTRACTING PLAN PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 34 TEXAS 

ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (TAC) § 20.14 SHALL BE REJECTED. 

5.2.2 An HSP that has been completed in accordance with the Comptroller‘s rules is a pass/fail 

element of each Proposal. Accordingly, the Texas Lottery will reject a Proposal that fails to 

include a completed HSP without evaluating the remainder of the Proposal. 

5.2.3 To determine whether a good faith effort has been performed as required by the HUB rules, the 

Texas Lottery may request clarifications from Proposers, if necessary.  The HSP will be 

reviewed based on the Proposer‘s submission and any clarifications requested by the agency.     

5.3 ASSISTANCE FOR PREPARATION OF HSP 

5.3.1 Mandatory Pre-Proposal Conference.  Proposers are required to attend one of the mandatory 

pre-proposal conferences, which will include a presentation on the HSP requirements.  

Proposers may ask questions at the pre-proposal conference regarding the HSP. A video of the 

pre-proposal conference as well as a copy of the HSP booklet provided during the conference 

will be posted on the Texas Lottery website. 

5.3.2 On-Line tutorial.   Proposers may view an on-line tutorial prepared by the Comptroller of 

Public Accounts that outlines how to complete the HSP forms from the following Web page: 

http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement /prog/hub/hub-subcontracting-plan/ 

5.3.3 HSP Checklist.   The Texas Lottery has prepared a checklist to assist Proposers in preparing the 

HSP form (See Attachment C-1).  A separate checklist should be prepared for each 

subcontracting opportunity. Proposers are not required to submit the checklist(s) with their 

Proposal.   

5.4 MANDATORY HSP WORKSHOPS 

The Texas Lottery will schedule one or more mandatory one-on-one workshops with each 

Proposer to discuss HUB subcontracting requirements, answer any questions specific to 

http://info.sos.state.tx.us/pls/pub/readtac$ext.ViewTAC?tac
http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/hub-subcontracting-plan/
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conducting the good faith effort for HUB subcontracting opportunities and completing the 

required HSP forms, and to review drafts of HSP forms. In these workshops, the Texas Lottery 

will not answer any questions that are not directly related to the HSP development process. At 

the mandatory pre-proposal conference, the Texas Lottery will provide notice to Proposers of 

planned dates for the HSP workshops. Information provided in the workshops and in any 

follow-up discussions regarding the HSP requirements is intended solely to assist a Proposer in 

complying with the HSP requirements set forth in the Texas statutes and the Comptroller‘s 

HUB rules and shall not modify or amend any such requirements for any Proposer. The 

Proposer is solely responsible for ensuring that the good faith effort requirements are completed 

for all subcontracting opportunities under this RFP. Attendance at the HSP Workshop does not 

guarantee that the HSP submitted with a Proposal will pass. 

5.5 REQUIREMENTS FOR COMPLETING THE HSP FORMS 

Proposers must indicate whether or not they intend to subcontract by checking the appropriate 

box in Section 2 of the HSP form. 

5.5.1 Proposer Intends to Subcontract 

Proposers who indicate that they intend to subcontract any portion of the contract must 

identify each area they intend to subcontract in Section 2 of the HSP form and must perform 

the good faith effort for each identified area, as outlined in sections 4, 5 and 6 of the HSP 

form.  At a minimum, the good faith effort requires that Proposers complete the following 

steps for each subcontracting area identified: 

 

 Notify THREE or more HUBs for each subcontracting area. Use the Centralized 

Master Bidders List (CMBL)/HUB Directory to locate HUBs.    

 

o Allow HUBs at least FIVE working days* from receipt of notice to 

respond. 

 

 Notify one or more minority/women trade organizations or development centers 

about subcontracting opportunities.  A list of minority/women trade 

organizations and development centers can be found on the CPA web site at 

http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/mwb-links-1/. 

 

o Notice(s) sent to minority/women trade organizations must be sent no 

later than FIVE working days* prior to the submission of your Proposal. 

 

* See definition in Glossary of Terms of this RFP. 

 

PROPOSERS WHO INTEND TO SUBCONTRACT, AT A MINIMUM, MUST 

CONDUCT THE GOOD FAITH EFFORT STEPS OUTLINED ABOVE.  FAILURE 

TO DO SO WILL RESULT IN DISQUALIFICATION. 

http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/mwb-links-1/
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Supporting documentation which demonstrates that the good faith effort has been performed 

is required for each subcontracting area identified.  Proposers should refer to Section 6 of 

the HSP form to ensure that notices and documentation comply with HSP requirements.  
Proposers must retain and submit all copies of notices and notice confirmations with the HSP.   

Proposers must identify all selected subcontractors (whether HUB or non-HUB), indicate the 

estimated percentage of the contract that will be subcontracted to each subcontractor, and 

specify the approximate dollar amount to be paid to each subcontractor.  If a non-HUB vendor 

is selected, a justification statement is required (see Section 8 of the HSP form). 

5.5.2 Proposer Does Not Intend to Subcontract 

Proposers who intend to fulfill the entire contract with their own resources and without 

subcontracting, must so indicate by checking the appropriate box in Section 2 of the HSP form, 

and by completing Sections 9 and 10 of the form.  

Proposers must provide an explanation of how all functions of the contract will be performed 

without the use of subcontractors.  Proposers should refer to Section 9 of the HSP. 

5.5.3 Pre-Existing Subcontracting Relationships 

THE GOOD FAITH EFFORT IS REQUIRED EVEN FOR AREAS WHERE A PROPOSER 

HAS A PRE-EXISTING SUBCONTRACTING RELATIONSHIP.  

5.6 SUBCONTRACTING OPPORTUNITIES 

5.6.1 The goods and/or services requested in this RFP are classified in the categories of: 

(a) Other Services Contracts.  The HUB participation goal for this RFP is 33%. 

 

5.6.2 The Texas Lottery has identified potential subcontracting opportunities under this RFP, which 

are included as Attachment L. 

  

5.6.3 Proposers are not limited to the list of potential subcontracting opportunities identified in 

Attachment L, and may identify additional areas of subcontracting.  Proposers who intend to 

subcontract are responsible for identifying all areas that will be subcontracted, and must 

perform the good faith effort process for each identified subcontracting area. 

5.6.4 Instructions for using the Centralized Master Bidders List (CMBL) and HUB directory to locate 

potential HUB subcontractors are located under the HUB/CMBL tab of this RFP. 

5.7 HSP CHANGES 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this RFP or any resulting Contract, following 

Contract Award, any proposed changes to the HSP must be submitted, in writing, by the 

Successful Proposer to the Texas Lottery for prior review and must be approved by the Texas 

Lottery in writing before becoming effective under the Contract. In addition, for any changes 

requiring the addition or substitution of a subcontractor, the Successful Proposer must perform 

the good faith effort, as outlined in Section 6 of the HSP form located in Attachment C.   
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5.8 HSP REPORTING 

Following contract award, if the Successful Proposer(s) is subcontracting, the Successful 

Proposer(s) shall maintain business records documenting compliance with the HUB 

subcontracting plan and shall submit a monthly compliance report in the format required by the 

Texas Lottery.  The monthly compliance report shall be submitted to the Texas Lottery by the 

10
th

 of the following month or on the date requested by the agency‘s HUB Coordinator or 

his/her designee. The submission of the monthly compliance report is required as a condition of 

payment.   
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PART 6  

6.1 OVERVIEW 

Account Management and Administration activities apply to the provision and delivery of all 

services that are required to provide and support the Lottery Gaming System, sales & 

marketing, and warehouse & distribution, and related services as further described in Section 

1.1.4.  

6.2 ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT 

Account Management Services are those activities associated with the ongoing management of 

the service environment. The following table identifies the Account Management requirements. 

Table 3. Account Management Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Develops, documents and maintains Account Management 

procedures that meet Texas Lottery requirements 
X  

2. Hires, trains and maintains adequate staffing to meet service 

requirements 
X  

3. Develops criteria, formats and processes for reporting services, 

administrative, and Service Level activities 
 X 

4. Provides on-going reports (e.g., statistics, trends, audits, service level 

performance) 
X  

5. Ensures all contractual reporting requirements are met X  

6. Maintains financial records for Texas Lottery account X  

7. Submits weekly invoices for services provided X  

8. Prepares HUB Subcontracting Plan (HSP) updates and monthly 

compliance reports 
X  

9. Responds to inquiries and requests for information in a timely manner X  

10. Maintains all data and records in accordance with the requirements of 

this RFP and/or Section 3.74 
X  

Detail Requirements 

11. The Successful Proposer shall provide verbal and/or written status reports to Texas Lottery 

management in accordance with the requirements of this RFP and the Contract and on a frequency to 

be determined by the Texas Lottery. 

12. The Successful Proposer shall immediately report to the Executive Director or designee, any incident 

or anomaly, as per Section 3.72. 
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13. The Successful Proposer shall provide electronic organizational charts on a calendar quarter basis. 

Updated organizational charts shall be provided no later than the second week of the first month of 

each calendar quarter. The organizational chart must identify all staff that support the Texas Lottery 

account and include the position titles, number of positions, and contact information (email address 

and phone number).  

14. The Successful Proposer shall provide a comprehensive report of incentives provided to all key 

management staff, as defined in Section 4.3.2, on or before September 1st of each year.     

15. The Successful Proposer shall provide the Texas Lottery a monthly report of all position vacancies, 

including position title, location and date vacant. 

16. The Successful Proposer shall immediately disclose, in a written statement within fifteen (15) Days 

of its occurrence, any actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest, as defined in Section 4.6. 

17. The Successful Proposer shall notify the Texas Lottery of a material adverse change in financial 

condition during the Contract term and any renewal thereof.  If the Successful Proposer experiences 

a material adverse change during the term of the Contract or any extension thereof, the Successful 

Proposer shall notify the Texas Lottery in writing of such change at the time the change occurs or is 

identified.  Failure to notify the Texas Lottery of such material adverse change will be sufficient 

grounds for terminating the Contract.  The term "material adverse change" shall mean any change or 

changes that individually or in the aggregate are materially adverse to (i) the assets, properties, 

business, results of operations or financial condition, taken as a whole, of the Successful Proposer or 

other applicable obligor, (ii) the ability of the Successful Proposer or such other obligor to perform 

its or their obligations under the Contract, or (iii) the legality or enforceability against the Successful 

Proposer or such obligor of the Contract. 

Table 4. Account Management Response Requirements 

Response Requirement 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide a description of its proposed account management process. 

Table 5. Account Management Service Level Requirements (SLR)s 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.6 Failure to Permit an Audit or Examination 

3.60.7 Failure to Produce Accurate Records or Provide Accurate Information 

3.60.8 Failure to Produce Timely Records and Information 

3.60.9 Failure to Disclose Litigation 

3.60.10 Failure to Obtain Prior Written Approval Before Issuing News Release 

3.60.11 Failure to Notify the Texas Lottery of Changes of Lobbyist, Consultant and/or Advisor 

Information 

3.60.12 Failure to Comply with Non-Disclosure Terms 

3.60.13 Unauthorized Purchase of Texas Lottery Tickets 

3.60.14 Failure to Report Significant Incidents and Anomalies 

3.60.15 Failure to Notify Timely the Texas Lottery of a Change in Financial Condition, 

Change in Key Management, or Change of Ownership 
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6.3 SERVICE LEVEL MONITORING AND REPORTING 

Those activities associated with monitoring and reporting service levels that have sanctions and 

liquidated damages are documented in Sections 3.60 and 3.61 of this RFP. The following table 

identifies the Service Level Monitoring and Reporting requirements. 

Table 6. Service Level Monitoring and Reporting Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Defines Service Level monitoring and reporting requirements  X 

2. Develops, documents and maintains Service Level Requirements, 

monitoring, and reporting procedures that meet requirements 
X  

3. Coordinates Service Level Requirement monitoring with Texas 

Lottery 
X  

4. Measures, analyzes and provides reports on performance relative to 

defined Service Levels as defined in Sections 3.60 and 3.61 of this 

RFP 

X  

5. Provides Texas Lottery online access to performance data and Service 

Level reporting and monitoring systems as requested by Texas 

Lottery 

X  

Detail Requirements 

6. The underlying data for Service Level Requirements metrics reports must be documented so that 

Texas Lottery may audit the data and calculations.   

Table 7. Service Level Monitoring and Reporting Response Requirements 

Response Requirement 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section. 

2. The Proposer must provide a description of its proposed Service Level monitoring and reporting 

process. 

3. The Proposer must identify how SLRs as defined in Sections 3.60 and 3.61 of this RFP, will be 

measured and reported. 

4. The Proposer must provide an example of service level reports and its notification process that 

satisfies the requirements as defined in Sections 3.60 and 3.61 of this RFP.  

5. The Proposer must describe the automated reporting capabilities that it will make available to the 

Texas Lottery, including the Texas Lottery‘s ability to access data (real time) and generate reports. 

6.4 SERVICE MANAGEMENT 

6.4.1 Incident and Problem Management 

Incident management activities are associated with restoring normal service operations as 

quickly as possible and minimizing the adverse impact on the Texas Lottery‘s business 

functions. Problem management focuses on activities to identify and solve problems and known 

errors before incidents occur. These activities could include performing predictive analysis 

activities to identify potential future problems, develop recommended mitigation plans, and 
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implement approved corrective mitigation actions and processes. The following table identifies 

the incident and problem management requirements. 

Table 8. Incident and Problem Management Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Recommends criteria for incident and problem management support 

requirements, including: incident severity-level definitions and 

characteristics, categorization and prioritization schema, escalation 

requirements, etc. 

X  

2. Approves the criteria for incident and problem management support 

requirements 
 X 

3. Develops incident and problem management and Root-Cause 

Analysis (RCA) (e.g., events that trigger an RCA) procedures that 

support Texas Lottery‘s requirements 

X  

4. Provides, maintains, and manages an incident and problem 

management system and knowledge database, including all hardware, 

software, databases, automated monitoring tools, and management 

and reporting tools 

X  

5. Provides unrestricted read access by authorized Texas Lottery staff 

and other designated personnel to all current and historical incident 

and problem records and knowledge base data 

X  

6. Resolves incidents on the first call in accordance with the Successful 

Proposer‘s procedures manual, knowledge database documents, and 

configuration database(s) 

X  

7. Identifies and classifies incident severity-level characteristics and 

handle according to agreed-upon incident response procedures  
X  

8. Escalates incidents to the appropriate next-level service group within 

the Successful Proposer, Texas Lottery, or third-party vendor as soon 

as it is clear that the initial receiver of the incident at the Successful 

Proposer is unable to resolve the incident without additional 

assistance or as required to comply with Service Level response times 

X  

9. Tracks incident resolution progress through to final closure and 

records/updates incident record status as appropriate 
X  

10. Provides expert functional and process assistance for all Lottery 

services identified in this RFP at all support levels and escalates to 

other resources as required 

X  

11. Documents solutions to resolved incidents in a central knowledge 

database; accurately updates all information pertinent to the incident 

ticket including general verbiage, codes, etc. 

X  

12. Maintains current and historical records of all incidents and problems 

and their resolution for the life of the Contract and provide reporting 

and trend capabilities 

X  
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13. Provides end-to-end incident identification, escalation and resolution 

management; and a closure process including those incidents escalated 

to third parties 

X  

14. Flags all incidents that require Root Cause Analysis (i.e., Severity 

One [1] and Severity Two [2] incidents or sales and validation related 

incidents) per the agreed-to procedures 

X  

15. Determines whether an incident should be treated as a problem and 

creates a problem record 
X  

16. Tracks ongoing status of any problem record to ensure that identified 

problems are addressed and resolved 
X  

17. Ensures incident and problem resolution activities conform to defined 

change control procedures set forth in the Successful Proposer‘s 

procedures manual 

X  

18. Coordinates and takes responsibility of incident resolution across all 

technical service areas with Texas Lottery and third parties (e.g., 

public carriers, Internet service providers, third party providers, etc.) 

X  

19. Reviews and reports to the Texas Lottery the status of open, 

unresolved incidents and related problems and the progress being 

made in addressing problems  

X  

20. Conducts incident and problem review sessions and provides status 

reports detailing the Root Cause of and procedure for correcting 

recurring problems until closure as determined by Texas Lottery  

X  

21. Jointly participates in incident and problem review sessions as 

appropriate 
X X 

22. Coordinates with Texas Lottery and third-party support groups to 

acquire and transfer knowledge on incident and problem resolution 

and records this knowledge gained into the knowledge base to 

facilitate increased ability for the Successful Proposer to provide first-

call resolution  

X  

23. Provides incident management reporting X  

Table 9. Incident and Problem Management Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide a description of its proposed incident and problem management process 

to ensure adequate resources are available to meet the Texas Lottery‘s Service Level Requirements. 

6.4.2 Capacity Management 

Capacity management services are the activities associated with ensuring that the capacity for  

supporting all Lottery functions matches the evolving demands of the Texas Lottery‘s business 

in the most cost-effective and timely manner. The following table identifies the capacity 

management requirements. 
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Table 10. Capacity Management Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Jointly identifies and plans for future business requirements that may 

alter capacity requirements 
X X 

2. Defines capacity management requirements based on Texas Lottery 

provided projections 
X  

3. Develops, documents and maintains capacity management procedures 

that meet Texas Lottery requirements  
X  

4. Establishes a comprehensive capacity management planning process  X  

5. Defines, develops and implements tools that allow for the effective 

capacity monitoring/trending of the Lottery Gaming System and 

associated business functions 

X  

6. Assesses capacity impacts when adding, removing or modifying the 

Lottery Gaming System and associated business functions 
X  

7. Continually monitors all Lottery operations and services to enable 

proactive identification of capacity and performance issues 
X  

8. Forecasts future Texas Lottery capacity requirements  X  

9. Assesses incidents/problems related to system performance and 

business operations 
X  

10. Identifies and implements capacity changes to improve performance 

of Lottery systems, operations and services 
X  

11. Ensures adequate capacity exists within the Lottery Gaming System 

and all Lottery business operations and services to meet SLR 

requirements taking into account daily, weekly and seasonal 

variations in capacity demands  

X  

Table 11. Capacity Management Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide a description of its proposed capacity planning process to ensure 

adequate resources are available to meet the Texas Lottery‘s Service Level requirements based on 

current and future growth expansion over the life of the Contract. 

6.4.3 Performance Management 

Performance management services are those activities associated with tuning the Lottery 

Gaming System, including the optimization of all Lottery operations and services functions. 

The following table identifies the performance management requirements. 
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Table 12. Performance Management Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Develops, documents and maintains performance management 

procedures that meet Service Level Requirements 
X  

2. Performs Lottery Gaming System tuning to maintain optimum 

performance  
X  

3. Manages Lottery Gaming System and all Lottery operations and 

service functions and distributes resources to meet defined availability 

and performance SLRs 

X  

4. Evaluates and identifies systems and operational configurations or 

changes to configurations that will enhance performance 
X  

5. Implements improvement plans and coordinates with third parties as 

required 
X  

Table 13. Performance Management Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide a description of its proposed performance management processes. 

3. The Proposer must describe how the Proposer plans, develops, modifies, monitors and reports on 

System and network performance. The Proposer must demonstrate knowledge and experience of 

capacity and performance tools for managing the Lottery Gaming System and all managed services 

defined within this RFP. 

6.5 COMPLIANCE REVIEW 

Compliance services are the activities associated with independent testing and verification of 

contractual compliance. The Texas Lottery currently contracts with an independent firm to 

conduct contract compliance reviews. All expenses are reimbursed by the Lottery Operator. The 

current independent firm invoices approximately $349,470 annually.  This amount does not 

include the initial risk assessment and risk analysis report. The following table identifies 

compliance review requirements. 

Table 14. Compliance Review Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer 

TLC/ 
Independent 

Vendor 

1. Conducts comprehensive risk assessment and develops risk analysis 

report 
 X 

2. Assists in developing test procedures for compliance of contractual 

provisions  
X  

3. Reviews and approves test procedures  X 

4. Contracts with an independent third-party for compliance monitoring 

based on approved test procedures 
 X 
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5. Generates compliance reports  X 

6. Applies corrective actions based on findings of non-compliance X  

7. Demonstrates that the corrective actions have been implemented X  

8. Reviews and validates corrective action  X 

Detail Requirements 

9. The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for reimbursing the Texas Lottery for all costs billed by 

the independent firm and paid by the Texas Lottery for the compliance reviews. 

10. The Successful Proposer shall cooperate fully with the independent firm (which will be selected by 

the Texas Lottery). The Successful Proposer shall provide the independent firm full, free and prompt 

access to all activities, records, property, and personnel of the Successful Proposer and of its 

contractors and subcontractors. 

Table 15. Compliance Review Response Requirements 

Response Requirement 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section. 

2. The Proposer must describe how it will meet compliance review requirements. This must include a 

description of the policies and practices to prevent, detect, and resolve compliance issues. In 

addition, the Proposer must demonstrate experience, ability, and intent to meet all contractual 

compliance requirements. 

Table 16. Compliance Review Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.16 
Failure to Provide Information and/or Cooperate Fully with Contract Compliance 

Review 

3.60.17 Failure to Correct Audit and/or Compliance Finding 

6.6 FACILITIES SUPPORT SERVICES 

Facilities support services are the activities associated with acquiring and maintaining the 

facilities necessary to support the Lottery Operator‘s and the Texas Lottery‘s operational 

requirements. The following table identifies facilities support services requirements. 

Table 17. Facilities Support Services Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Acquires and maintains adequate facilities to support the business and 

operational requirements set forth in this RFP and the Contract 
X  

2. Develops, documents and maintains facilities support procedures  that 

ensure secure and efficient facility operations 
X  

3. Implements and maintains adequate physical security for each facility X  

Detail Requirements 

4. All Successful Proposer facilities must comply with State and local building codes, including but not 

limited to, specifications to meet the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements. 
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5. The Successful Proposer must allow the Texas Lottery to audit (including but not limited to physical 

access) any facility used for the support of the Texas Lottery.  

6. All facility acquisition, construction, operation, and maintenance costs shall be the Successful 

Proposer‘s sole responsibility. 

7. The Successful Proposer shall not change the location of any Texas Lottery support facility without 

the prior written consent of the Texas Lottery. Approval of the site by the Texas Lottery shall not 

confer any liabilities upon the Texas Lottery for its operations or maintenance. 

8. At a minimum, there must be badge access at all Successful Proposer facilities to ensure security. 

9. Secured warehouse facilities shall be required for the storage and distribution of all lottery goods, 

equipment scheduled for deployment, On-Line Ticket stock, play slips, point of sale (POS) materials, 

promotional items, and Instant Tickets. 

Administrative Offices 

10. The Successful Proposer‘s administrative offices for key management staff supporting the Texas 

Lottery must be within thirty (30) miles of the State Capitol Building in Austin.  

11. The Successful Proposer shall provide the following dedicated secure office space for Texas Lottery 

staff.  The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for providing the offices with furnishings 

consistent with other offices in the same facility: 

a. Administrative Offices – one (1) office that can accommodate two (2) Texas Lottery staff; and 

b. User Acceptance Testing – one (1) office that can accommodate three (3) Texas Lottery staff for 

user acceptance testing.  

Central Distribution Warehouse 

12. The Successful Proposer must provide a single secured central distribution warehouse that must be 

within thirty (30) miles of the State Capitol Building in Austin in which to perform all shipping and 

receiving functions for Instant Tickets.  

13. At a minimum, the central distribution warehouse must be adequate for the storage of one billion 

(1,000,000,000) instant game tickets at any time regardless of ticket size and must maintain a ninety 

(90) Day supply of secure On-Line Ticket stock and On-Line play slips.  

14. The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for providing space for Texas Lottery staff and 

functions at the central distribution warehouse. The Successful Proposer shall provide the following 

dedicated and contiguous secure space accessible by separate badge access for Texas Lottery staff at 

the central distribution warehouse: 

a. Minimum of 1,200 square feet enclosed area with a minimum of four (4) workstations and 

validation testing space.  This workspace must have clear visibility to the warehouse area main 

entrance and pick & pack area; 

b. Minimum of 1,500 square feet of secured storage space for verified tickets; and  

c. Minimum of 3,500 square feet for file room and supply storage. 

15. The central distribution warehouse must contain a minimum of ten thousand (10,000) square feet of 

secured space with controlled or limited access reserved exclusively for Texas Lottery use, and 

exclusive of the warehouse space for storing Instant Tickets, On-Line Ticket stock and other 

materials and exclusive of the office and storage space referenced in #14 of this Section. 
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16. At a minimum, the central distribution warehouse must be in operation during normal office hours 

from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m., Central Time, Monday through Friday. The Proposer must provide an annual 

list of holidays to the Texas Lottery Commission on which the central distribution warehouse may be 

closed.  

17. Texas Lottery Commission staff will be assigned to the central distribution warehouse and must be 

present when the following activities occur: 

a. Delivery and receipt and/or return of Instant Ticket games from/to the Instant Ticket 

Manufacturer; 

b. Loading of Instant Tickets assigned for destruction; and 

c. Destruction process. 

18. No filming or pictures of the central distribution warehouse‘s interior shall be allowed unless prior 

written approval is received from the Texas Lottery. 

19. Prior notification and approval by the Texas Lottery (at least 24 hours in advance) is required for 

visitors to the warehouse.  

20. The central distribution warehouse must have adequate security to allow for remote monitoring 

(view only) from the Texas Lottery headquarters and from the Texas Lottery dedicated space 

detailed in requirement #14 of this Section. Video security must cover all operational areas and 

access points to the central distribution warehouse. The monitoring system shall include video 

storage and retention capabilities. All video shall be stored by the Successful Proposer in accordance 

with Section 3.74.  

Data Center 

21. The Successful Proposer‘s Primary Data Center must be located within the State of Texas. The 

Backup Data Center must be established in a separate Local Access and Transport Area (LATA) 

from the primary site. 

22. The Primary and Backup Data Centers must have the appropriate environmental safeguards in place 

(e.g. power protection, ―conditioned‖ power, fire suppression, and HVAC) suitable to a high 

availability, high security data center. 

23. The Successful Proposer must provide Primary and Backup Data Centers with each having the 

capability to provide full support for all Lottery Gaming System functions. 

24. Once a month throughout the Contract term, the Lottery Gaming System must be operated from the 

Backup Data Center. Otherwise, the Backup Data Center may be operated ―lights out.‖ 

Table 18. Facilities Support Response Requirements 

Response Requirement 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section. 

2. The Proposer must describe all recommended facilities, to include at a minimum, the locations and 

types of facilities, functions to be supported, accommodations for Texas Lottery and Proposer staff 

and warehousing capacity. 

3. The Proposer must describe other services, procedures, materials, supplies, programs, policies, 

equipment and facilities it believes necessary for successful daily operations. The Successful 

Proposer shall be responsible for providing all necessary items for each proposed facility. 

4. The Proposer must indicate the proposed hours of operation for the central distribution warehouse.   
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Table 19. Facilities Support Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.18 
Failure to Receive Texas Lottery Written Approval At Least Twenty-Four (24) Hours 

in Advance for Visitors to Central Distribution Warehouse 

6.7 BUSINESS CONTINUITY AND DISASTER RECOVERY 

Business Continuity (BC) and Disaster Recovery (DR) Services are the activities associated 

with providing prioritized continuity and recovery services for the Lottery Gaming System, 

sales, marketing, warehouse, distribution and all associated components (e.g., hardware, 

software, network, attached and standalone devices). At a minimum, these activities must be 

maintained in accordance with Title 1, Texas Administrative Code Chapter 202 – (Title 1 TAC 

202) Information Security Standards. The following table identifies the BC and DR service 

requirements. 

Table 20. Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Develops and maintains a detailed plan to meet BC and DR 

requirements, including but not limited to natural disasters, as set 

forth in Title 1 TAC 202 at a minimum 

X  

2. Defines data (file system, database, flat files, etc.) replication, backup 

and retention based on Section 3.74 
X  

3. Establishes processes to ensure BC and DR plans are kept up to date 

and reflect changes in the operating environment 
X  

4. Performs scheduled BC and DR tests X  

5. Tracks and reports BC and DR test results to Texas Lottery X  

6. Develops action plan to address BC and DR testing results X  

7. Initiates the BC and/or DR plan in the event of BC and/or DR 

situation and immediately notifies the Texas Lottery 
X  

8. Develops and implements a data back-up and recovery plan X  

Detail Requirements 

9. In the event of a Successful Proposer hardware, software, or networking system failure, the 

Successful Proposer must maintain sufficient backup systems to ensure functionality and continuity 

at Retailers, Texas Lottery Claim Centers, Texas Lottery headquarters, and the Successful Proposer‘s 

primary and backup sites. There must be no loss of functionality or data due to a failure.  

10. A written Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery plan, including but not limited to resumption 

of sales and business support services based on localized disasters or third-party business disruptions 

(e.g., hurricanes, strikes, delays of instant ticket deliveries, etc.), must be submitted by the Successful 

Proposer for Texas Lottery approval within ninety (90) Days of the conversion start date, and 

updated annually or as necessary thereafter. The Successful Proposer must ensure ticket security 

related to all instant ticket deliveries during any such disruption. 

11. As part of the Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery plan, the Successful Proposer shall 

document the recovery of network communications at all levels.  
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Table 21. Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery Response Requirements 

Response Requirement 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section. 

2. The Proposer must provide a description of its proposed Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery 

capabilities. This must include a description of how primary site system recovery will meet Texas 

Lottery requirements set forth in this section. 

3. The Proposer must describe its data backup and restore process. 

4. The Proposer must describe how tickets will be delivered should its primary delivery service become 

unavailable. 

Table 22. Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.19  Failure to Comply with Title 1 TAC 202 Information Security Standards  

3.60.20 Failure to Backup and Restore Data in a Manner and/or Format for Business Processing 

6.8 TRAINING 

Training activities consist of the following:  

 Training for Texas Lottery and Lottery Operator staff on general operating procedures, lottery 

equipment and inventory/financial functions. 

 Training for existing and new Retailers on lottery equipment, operation, general operating 

procedures, Texas Lottery licensing requirements and sales & marketing techniques. This includes 

training on new Lottery Product implementations, new System applications, new equipment 

installations and refresher training.  

The following table identifies the training requirements. 

Table 23. Training Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Develops, documents and delivers training programs as requested by 

the Texas Lottery 
X  

2. Reviews and approves Successful Proposer developed training 

programs including content, location, training resources and materials 
 X 

3. Provides training when substantive (as defined by the Texas Lottery) 

changes (e.g., new Lottery Product implementations, new Systems or 

functionality) are introduced into the Texas Lottery environment 

X  

4. Provides ongoing training materials for Lottery Operator staff, Texas 

Lottery staff and Retailers 
X  

5. Trains sales force training staff and Retailer corporate trainers (train-

the-trainer)  
X  

6. Educates the playing public about Lottery Products and/or the 

equipment used to sell the Lottery Products 
X  
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Detail Requirements 

System Training Requirements 

7. The Successful Proposer must provide training, initial and on-going, on the Lottery Gaming System 

to designated Texas Lottery staff. Training activities shall include in-person and online.  

8. The Successful Proposer must provide System training and desk reference materials that would allow 

first-time users to learn each module and navigate the System. 

Retailer Training Requirements 

9. At a minimum, training shall consist of new Retailer training, refresher training (at the request of the 

Texas Lottery or the Retailer), conversion training, promotions and new Lottery Product/feature 

training. 

10. For Corporate, Key, and Chain Accounts, the Successful Proposer shall provide train-the-trainer 

courses at locations acceptable to the Corporate, Key, and Chain Accounts. 

11. The Successful Proposer must provide all Retailer and Texas Lottery staff training in English and 

Spanish (as appropriate). 

12. The Successful Proposer must provide the training in a location (e.g., onsite at Retailer location, via 

classroom at the Successful Proposer‘s location, corporate retailer‘s home office, etc.) that best 

meets the requirements of the Retailer. Consideration must be given to geographic travel distance 

and the establishment of a training environment conducive to effective training. 

13. The Successful Proposer must create and update, as needed based on changes, electronic and printed 

manuals for Retailers related to equipment functionality and game ticket generation. At a minimum, 

all materials must be reviewed and updated bi-annually (every two [2] years).  These materials must 

be made available on all Sales Terminals (or in hard copy for equipment where this functionality is 

unavailable) and provided to the Texas Lottery in a format for posting to the Texas Lottery‘s retailer 

web site. All training materials must include, but are not limited to, the following:  

a) Retailer Guide that provides Texas Lottery retailer related policies/procedures, accounting and 

licensing information; 

b) Retailer Manual for each type of equipment that provides instruction on how to utilize 

equipment; 

c) Quick Reference Cards that are a condensed version of Retailer Manual; and 

d) Retailer Best Practices for marketing that provides sales tips and best practices for increasing 

lottery sales. 

Retailer Training Requirements – Licensing 

14. The Successful Proposer must provide Retailer training on the licensing requirements of the Texas 

Lottery. 

Retailer Training Requirements – New 

15. The Successful Proposer must provide new Retailer training before the Retailer can sell Texas 

Lottery Products. The Successful Proposer shall develop and provide all materials. 

16. The Successful Proposer must provide training to all Retailers who receive new equipment or receive 

new features on their equipment. 

Retailer Training Requirements – Recurring 
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17. The Successful Proposer shall develop and provide ongoing training to ensure that Retailers 

understand all facets of terminal operation and lottery policies and procedures.  Ongoing training 

must be performed within seven (7) Days from written notice from the Texas Lottery. 

18. The Successful Proposer must provide training to all Retailers who request training or if requested by 

the Texas Lottery. 

Lottery Sales Representatives Training Requirements 

19. The Successful Proposer must provide on-going sales training for Lottery Sales Representatives 

(LSR). This shall include a minimum of two (2) formal sales training classes each year. 

20. At a minimum, LSR training shall consist of: 

a) new employee training; 

b) new equipment or software training; 

c) new Lottery Product / feature training; 

d) general employee development; 

e) sales skill development training; and 

f) conversion training. 

 

Promotions Staff (dedicated and support) Training Requirements 

21. The Successful Proposer must train its dedicated and support promotions team in product 

knowledge, promotional and sales techniques and other required training to support the promotional 

activities conducted on behalf of the Texas Lottery. 

Table 24. Training Response Requirements 

Response Requirement 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section. 

2. The Proposer must provide a description of its proposed training activities for each requirement. 

Table 25. Training Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.21 Failure to Perform Retailer Training 

3.60.22 Failure to Perform Retailer Retraining 
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PART 7  

7.1 OVERVIEW 

This section describes the systems and services requirements for the Lottery Gaming System 

(the ―System‖) and sets forth the requirements, roles and responsibilities of the Successful 

Proposer for provisioning, delivering and management of all services in support of the Texas 

Lottery.  

7.2 ON-LINE GAMES 

7.2.1 On-Line Game Development 

The TLC Products group works with the Lottery Operator to provide On-Line Game concepts 

that are introduced to the general public. On-Line Game concepts consist of, but are not limited 

to, drawings, play instructions, odds, prize payouts, go to market strategies, etc.  

Table 26. On-Line Game Development Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Develops, researches, and proposes On-Line Game concepts X  

2. Researches and provides On-Line game data and information from 

other jurisdictions where games may be in use 
X  

3. Conducts research on Texas consumer game affinity  X  

4. Approves game concept  X 

5. Chairs On-Line Game implementation project meetings and 

establishes implementation schedule 
 X 

6. Performs software development for new games as scheduled by TLC 

Products 
X  

7. Performs software testing (including User-Acceptance testing) to 

meet the planned software implementation schedule 
X  

8. Participates in software quality assurance testing if necessary  X 

9. Develops and suggests player and retailer focused promotions  X  

10. Makes recommendations related to in-store marketing support for 

Lottery Products 
X  

11. Reviews and approves all marketing and promotional concepts  X 

12. Designs play slips X  

13. Approves play slips  X 

14. Prints and distributes play slips X  

15. Proposes and following approval, implements rules  X 

16. Determines date when new game will be introduced  X 
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17. Develops and suggests training materials for new games X  

18. Reviews and approves all training materials for new games  X 

19. Trains sales force training staff and Retailer corporate trainers (train-

the-trainer) 
X  

Detail Requirements 

20. The Successful Proposer must provide new and modified game specifications (i.e., game play, game 

style, propensity of potential players to play, etc.) for Texas Lottery approval prior to the 

commencement of game development. 

21. The Successful Proposer‘s System must fully support all Lottery Products, whether presently offered 

or added at any time during the Contract term. 

22. The Successful Proposer, at its sole expense, must conduct all appropriate intellectual property 

searches (e.g., full copyright, trademark or service mark or patent searches) for all proposed Works 

in accordance with Section 3.28. 

23. The Successful Proposer must provide proprietary On-Line Games owned by or licensed to the 

Successful Proposer, to the Texas Lottery.  

24. The Successful Proposer must provide its licensed On-Line Game content to the Texas Lottery as 

part of its baseline On-Line Game portfolio offering. 

Table 27. On-Line Game Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide an overview of its On-Line game development, research and 

implementation process.   

3. The Proposer must provide evidence to demonstrate its experience and success in developing and 

implementing new On-Line Game concepts. Examples must include On-Line games currently in the 

market, sales expectations and actual performance, and implementation strategy. 

Table 28. On-Line Game Development Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.23 Failure to Implement New On-Line Games 

3.60.24 Failure to Conduct Intellectual Property Search 

 

7.2.2 On-Line Game Control  

On-Line Game control features allow the Texas Lottery to ensure player, drawing and unique 

game attributes are controlled by parameters established in the Lottery Gaming System. 

Table 29. On-Line Game Control Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Establishes On-Line Game controls  X 

2. Ensures On-Line Game controls meet Texas Lottery requirements X  
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Detail Requirements 

3. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to control advanced wagers, a play where 

the player specifies a starting point (future drawing) to begin either a single or multiple drawing 

play. The System must offer this capability for any drawing occurring in the next three hundred and 

sixty-five (365) Days.   

4. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to control multi-draw wagers; a play 

where the player can specify multiple wagers for a designated number of consecutive future 

drawings up to three hundred sixty-five (365) Days in advance. 

5. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to establish liability limits (including 

designating the maximum payout) for fixed payoff games and automatically cut off wagering. 

Table 30. On-Line Game Control Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe its approach and experience with the development and monitoring of 

On-Line Game Control features. 

7.2.3 Drawings 

The Texas Lottery currently has six (6) On-Line Games, several of which have add-on features. 

Drawings are currently performed twice a Day, six days a week. Drawings are witnessed by an 

independent auditor who certifies the drawing results in coordination with Texas Lottery staff in 

the Lottery Gaming System. Texas Lottery drawings are supported by the Lottery Gaming 

System and Lottery Operator staff.   

Table 31. Drawings Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Establishes contact  (prior to drawings) with the Successful Proposer 

by phone to synchronize time, records the Successful Proposer‘s 

control room operator‘s name, provides backup number for the studio 

and asks if there are any unusual occurrences that would affect 

proceeding with the draw 

 X 

2. Provides synchronized time, Successful Proposer‘s control room 

operator‘s name, and notifies the Texas Lottery of any unusual 

occurrences 

X  

3. Establishes open phone line with the Successful Proposer  X 

4. Notifies Texas Lottery that draw pools are closed X  

5. Updates new Jackpot amount, after notification from the Texas 

Lottery, throughout the Gaming System 
X  

Detail Requirements 

6. The Successful Proposer‘s System must support variation in the number of drawings per game, per 

day, or per week and/or the days the drawings are conducted. 
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7. The Successful Proposer‘s System must allow the Texas Lottery and its designated external 

independent auditor to enter winning number(s) for all On-Line games.  These entries must be made 

through different management terminals by different users with proper access privileges and must be 

internally compared and verified by the Successful Proposer‘s System to be the same before 

allowing the process to continue. All attempts, whether successful or not, must be logged on the 

System. 

8. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide a display and print capability for the following 

information for each On-Line Game: 

a) Verification that the sales for a draw have been closed; 

b) Verification that the sales for the next draw (and appropriate multi-draws) are allowed; 

c) Verification that the dual entry winning numbers procedure has been successfully completed by 

the Texas Lottery and the independent auditor via the Successful Proposer‘s System; 

d) Verification that the prize share verification process has been successfully completed on the 

Successful Proposer‘s System for all jackpot games; 

e) Verification of final share values for each prize level and sales information has been completed 

on the Successful Proposer‘s System for all jackpot games; and 

f) Verification of the final online share count and sales information has been completed on the 

Successful Proposer‘s System for all non-jackpot games. 

9. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the winning retailer number(s) for top-tier jackpot 

prize tickets. 

10. The Successful Proposer must enter the new estimated jackpot(s) into all appropriate systems as soon 

as possible, but no longer than four (4) hours after the draw break process has been completed. 

Table 32. Drawings Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe its proposed System‘s capability to meet the Texas Lottery‘s drawing 

requirements. 

Table 33. Drawings Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.25 Failure to Update Jackpot Amount Throughout the Lottery Gaming System 

7.3 INSTANT TICKET GAME MANAGEMENT 

The Texas Lottery designs and introduces approximately 90 to 100 Instant Ticket Games 

annually resulting in approximately $2.8 billion in sales.  The number of games introduced is 

subject to change (increase or decrease) over time.  The Lottery Gaming System supports the 

sales, inquiry, tracking, monitoring and reporting activities of Instant Tickets both globally and 

at a retailer level.  
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Table 34. Instant Ticket Game Management Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Provides a Lottery Gaming System that supports Instant Ticket Games X  

2. Tracks Instant Ticket inventory status and pack status globally and at 

the retailer level 
X  

Detail Requirements 

3. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to track and report on the destruction of 

individual and ranges of Instant Tickets.  

4. The Successful Proposer‘s System must automatically calculate the retailer account adjustment 

amounts associated with specific Instant Ticket pack status changes.  

5. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to automatically record the transfer or 

return of Instant Tickets via pack status changes. 

6. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to electronically monitor availability of 

game inventory and accept orders through the last available pack and/or ticket-range. 

7. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to provide the Texas Lottery with a 

weekly report indicating the projected dates on which the current supply of tickets for each game 

will be exhausted. Additionally, this report shall show, by game: delivered tickets and start date, 

weekly sales, close of game date and any and all pack statuses. 

8. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability for the inquiry, tracking and monitoring 

capabilities for inventory status and pack status at four levels (System wide, at the retailer level, at a 

pack level and the individual ticket level range [from a ticket range of one (1) and up] within an 

individual pack). The Texas Lottery currently uses twenty-three (23) different pack statuses. 

Additional statuses may be added as needed. The pack statuses shall include but are not limited to 

the following: 

1.  Promotional                                                         13.  Inactive                                  

2.  Activated                                                             14.  Defective Vendor 

3.  Returned InTransit                                              15.  Damaged Retailer Chargeable 

4.  Stolen Retailer Cashable                                     16.  Damaged Retailer NonChargeable 

5.  Stolen Retailer Chargeable                                  17.  Damaged Courier 

6.  Stolen Retailer NonChargeable                           18.  Lottery Omit 

7.  Stolen Warehouse                                                19.  Vendor Omit 

8.  Stolen InTransit                                                   20.  Stolen Aggravated NonCharge 

9.  Stolen Recovered                                                 21.  Stolen Aggravated Charge 

10.  Lost Retailer                                                        22.  Lost Courier 

11.  Lost Warehouse                                                   23.  Stolen Courier 

12.  GLEPS Testing Non Chargeable 

9. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall log all status changes (user/retailer ID and date/time stamp) 

for ranges of tickets (including a range of one [1]) in the pack. The Successful Proposer‘s System 

shall provide the capability to add in text field comments by users. Comments must be permanent 

once saved by the user and logged with user ID and date/time stamp.  
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10. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to provide daily Instant Ticket inventory 

inquiry and reporting, by pack and by ticket range, showing the status of tickets, including the date 

and time of every status change of each ticket and/or ticket pack and range and method of settlement. 

11. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to restore closed games that have been 

archived/purged from the Lottery Gaming System for basic functions (e.g., investigations, 

validations, returned packs, etc.) and have these transactions flow up into the overall Systems. Files 

must be restored within two (2) Working Days of the Texas Lottery request. 

Table 35. Instant Ticket Game Management Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide a description of the proposed Lottery Gaming System‘s capability to 

support the volume, scope, development and management of the Texas Lottery‘s Instant Tickets 

operations as described in this section. 

Invited Option 

3. As an Invited Option, the Proposer must describe if its Lottery Gaming System will support single 

Instant Ticket accounting. This includes the functionality to track all transactions (e.g., location, 

status, sales, validation, etc.) and activities at the ticket level. 

7.4 CLAIMS AND VALIDATION 

Players can claim prize payouts at Retailers or one of the sixteen (16) Texas Lottery Claim 

Centers across the State of Texas. The number of Claim Centers has the potential to increase or 

decrease over time.     

Prizes valued at less than $600 can be claimed at any Retailer location. Prizes valued at $1 

million or less can be claimed at any of the Texas Lottery Claim Centers. Any Lottery prize can 

be claimed at the Austin Claim Center. In addition, the following prizes only may be claimed at 

the Austin Claim Center: 

 Lotto Texas or Mega Millions Jackpot Prizes 

 The prize is greater than $1 million 

 The prize is paid as an annuity 

All claims are subject to the Texas Lottery‘s security and ticket validation requirements and 

procedures. All claims for Lottery tickets that cannot be validated and/or for tickets that appear 

to have been altered are identified and investigated by the Texas Lottery. Texas Lottery 

investigations frequently rely on reporting tools and data in the Lottery Gaming System.  

Table 36. Claims and Validation Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Identifies locations for check printers  X 

2. Installs and tests check printers in each TLC Claim Center X  
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3. Provides check stock with the best available security features as 

approved by the Texas Lottery.  Note:  The Texas Lottery has a 

higher requirement for security features in check stock than most of 

the lotteries in the United States. 

X  

4. Maintains all check printers and provides replacement printers as 

needed 
X  

Detail Requirements 

Check Printers 

5. The Successful Proposer must provide, install, maintain, and test check printer(s) and one (1) backup 

check printer in each TLC Claim Center and one (1) check printer in the Texas Lottery Office of the 

Controller. The Successful Proposer must provide, install, maintain and test additional check 

printers, if required, at new or existing locations at the Texas Lottery‘s request.  

6. Any changes made by the Successful Proposer to primary check printers must be made to the backup 

check printers as well to ensure consistency. 

7. The Successful Proposer-supplied check printers must utilize Magnetic Ink Character Recognition 

(MICR) capable laser printers for check generation.  

8. The Successful Proposer‘s System must have a secure method (and equivalent backup method) of 

applying required signature(s) to the check stock during the check printing process.  This method 

must be approved by the Texas Lottery.  

9. The Texas Lottery reserves the right to establish other check printer specifications. 

10. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide an integrated claims and payment system for On-

Line and Instant Ticket validations that includes check writing software and hardware for use at TLC 

headquarters and each of the TLC Claim Centers. 

11. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to release payments to specific printer 

locations throughout the Claim Center Processing System. A record of the actual printer used and the 

office that processed the claim must be recorded on the Lottery Gaming System and kept as part of 

the payment. 

Validations 

12. The Successful Proposer‘s System must not allow duplicate validations of a winning ticket. 

13. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to capture the prize amount from the 

validation process and record the ticket as validated/paid. Validation processing must include the 

functionality to produce exchange tickets for all Texas Lottery Products when necessary according to 

specific game requirements. 

14. On-Line Tickets that have been previously validated must be maintained on the System for not less 

than ninety (90) Days following prize validation.  Previously validated On-Line Tickets must return 

a previously validated message indicating the validating Retailer when presented for subsequent 

system validation or prize inquiry for a minimum ninety (90) Day period following prize validation.  

15. Instant Tickets that have been previously validated must be maintained on the System for a suitable 

period of time related to the validation periods for Instant Tickets and return a previously validated 

message indicating the validating Retailer. The validation periods for Instant Tickets are determined 

by the close date for a particular game and the one hundred and eighty (180) Day period following 

the close date during which prize-winning tickets from a closed game may continue to be validated 

on the Retailer Sales Terminal. 
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16. The Successful Proposer‘s System must evaluate tickets based on the drawing date and return an 

expiration message to the terminal when a ticket has expired.  

17. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to check claims for eligibility against a 

database(s) that tracks ineligible claimants.   

Payments 

18. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to change or select the payment type 

(annuity or cash option) at the time of the claim. 

19. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to allow users to combine data entry and 

claims processing for multiple low and mid-tier On-Line and Instant Ticket claims with a combined 

total prize amount of five hundred and ninety-nine dollars ($599) regardless of the number of 

individual tickets making up the combined claim. Individual ticket claims of six hundred dollars 

($600) or more must be entered under separate validation entries in accordance with IRS reporting 

requirements. 

20. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to process a manual prize payment, for 

prizes that cannot be paid via normal processing in the validation system. This functionality must 

include the separation of entry and payment release capability based on user access.  The System 

must have a comment field and specified categories for these payments and allow for the generation 

of reports by category. 

21. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the capability to account for non-cash prizes when a 

printed check is not required.  A check or transaction number must be assigned to track these claims.  

A weekly report must be generated to track these types of transactions. 

22. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to track (by agency and time period) and 

manage debt set-off from prize payments for certain identified debts under Tex. Gov‘t Code Ann. 

466.407 owed to  government agencies. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability 

to perform this function for all types of prizes and prize payments. The debt set-off information will 

be provided to the Successful Proposer in a format determined by the Texas Lottery. Due to 

confidentiality requirements of the agencies involved, files used to control set-off processing may be 

required to reside exclusively on the Successful Proposer‘s System and must be password protected.  

23. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to void and reissue payments. This 

functionality must provide the ability to update and modify claimant information and record all 

historical modifications by user I.D with a system-generated date and time stamp. This functionality 

must provide the ability to inquire online and produce ad hoc reports detailing claim modification 

history.  

24. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to verify zip code and addresses in all 

states of the United States, US jurisdictions, Canada and Mexico.  The address must validate with 

United States Postal Services (USPS) requirements.  
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25. At the Texas Lottery‘s request, the Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the capability to 

support ‗Super Retailers.‘ For purposes of this section, ‗Super Retailer‘ means a Retailer authorized 

to validate and pay prizes in an amount greater than the standard Retailer prize payment threshold of 

five hundred and ninety-nine dollars ($599), up to  four thousand nine hundred and ninety-nine 

dollars and ninety-nine cents ($4,999.99). The System is not required to process these Super Retailer 

prize validation claims with actual tax withholding of a portion of the prize amount. The System 

must have the capability to review the prize claimant information and based on data files contained 

in the System, recognize prize claimants who may owe certain financial obligations to the State of 

Texas. The System must not allow the validation of these types of prize claims and must return a 

result that directs the prize claimant to a Texas Lottery Claim Center. 

Reporting 

26. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to maintain game validation records, 

inquire on validation files, and search for cashed ticket records. Access to these records must be 

available online for at least three (3) years.  The long-term access and retention of these records must 

be in accordance with Section 3.74. 

27. The Successful Proposer‘s System must capture, report and print claimant information required for 

IRS reporting at year-end. This functionality must also provide the ability to calculate and withhold 

taxes and other designated amounts from the prize payment automatically and on an ad hoc basis at 

the time of payment issuance. The Successful Proposer‘s System must be responsible for printing the 

required forms for reporting claimant‘s income to the IRS. This includes but is not limited to W-2G, 

and 1042S forms.  The Successful Proposer‘s System must be able to use information gathered and 

entered from Form 5754 to create multiple W-2Gs for one claim. All designated Texas Lottery staff 

must have the ability to generate replacement tax documents via the System upon request.  

28. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to automatically account for unclaimed 

prizes for all Lottery Products based on each game‘s end validation date.  

29. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to generate reports for checks printed at 

each Claim Center and each check printer, with sort criteria including but not limited to TLC Claim 

Center location, check number, date range, prize level range, claimant data and user I.D. The ability 

to inquire online and produce reports is required. 

30. The Successful Proposer‘s System must be able to interface with the Internal Control System (ICS).  

The Successful Proposer‘s System must track, report on and account for all checks issued through 

the ICS to allow the Texas Lottery to track outstanding checks with any exceptions noted by the 

processing of a ―cleared check tape‖ supplied by the Texas Lottery‘s bank. 

31. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to track, report and account for the 

annuity payments and non-annuity payments and current balance due and paid for each winner over 

the annuity period.  

32. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to track, report, and account for the 

assignment of installment prize payments and prize payments to someone other than the prize 

winner.  

33. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to track, report, and account for winner 

pools as reported to the Texas Lottery on IRS Form 5754.  

34. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to provide banking activity updates to the 

Texas Lottery‘s bank at the highest level and quantity accepted by the Texas Lottery‘s bank to 

minimize fraud.  These requirements may be updated by the Texas Lottery. 
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35. The Successful Proposer must provide the check printer paper to be used by the check printers. This 

paper must adhere to all security standards as detailed by the Texas Lottery. These requirements for 

the check paper may be updated by the Texas Lottery. 

 

Table 37. Claims and Validation Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe how it will provide an integrated System for On-Line and Instant Ticket 

claims, validations and payments, which includes check writing software and hardware for use at 

Texas Lottery headquarters and each of the Texas Lottery claim centers. 

3. The Proposer must describe the validation capabilities of its proposed System. 

4. The Proposer must describe its proposed System‘s secured method (and equivalent backup method) 

of applying required signature(s) to the check stock during the check printing process.  

Table 38. Claims and Validation Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.26 
Lottery Gaming System Inability to Cash Winning Tickets at a Retailer Location (All 

On-Line Games or All Instant Ticket Games) 

3.60.27 
Lottery Gaming System Inability to Cash Winning Tickets at a Retailer Location 

(Specific On-Line Game or One or More Instant Ticket Games) 

3.60.28 
Lottery Gaming System Inability to Cash Winning Tickets at a Texas Lottery Claim 

Center 

7.5 RETAILER MANAGEMENT 

The Lottery Gaming System supports a variety of retailer management functions, including 

licensee management such as retailer maintenance and license application processing, inventory 

management, accounting and access control. Additionally, the Texas Lottery also maintains 

internal databases for sensitive licensee information and internal business processes that require 

database interactivity and Lottery Gaming System integration.   

Retailers are held accountable for all charges that accrue from the settlement of Instant Ticket 

packs and the sale of On-Line Game tickets through their licensed business location. Retailer 

accounts are adjusted to credit retailers for sales commissions, prize payments, and other 

transactions related to managing the financial relationship between the Texas Lottery and 

retailers. A Retailer account sweep is executed weekly to debit the Retailer‘s account for all 

charges that have accrued since the last cycle (currently, Sunday morning through Saturday 

night) and transfer the money to the Texas Lottery Commission‘s account. If the sweep results 

in a bank return, the Texas Lottery will initiate a process to recover the funds due plus penalties 

and interest.  Retailer licenses are summarily suspended pending payment.  Four (4) or more 

bank returns for non-sufficient funds (NSF‘s) in a twelve (12) month period or failure to pay all 

amounts owed to the Texas Lottery may result in revocation of the Retailer‘s license. TLC 

Retailer Services can credit a Retailer‘s account for both On-Line and Instant Ticket games and 

related prize activity. 
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Table 39. Retailer Management Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Operates and maintains a Retailer Management System X  

2. Integrates with the Texas Lottery‘s Retailer Management Systems X  

3. Creates debit, credit, and new Retailer files and uploads information to 

a secured environment 
 X 

4. Gets debit, credit, and new Retailer files from the secured environment 

and uploads the files into the Successful Proposer‘s System 
X  

5. Sends updated data file to Texas Lottery X  

6. Researches any differences in Retailer balances between the 

Successful Proposer‘s System and the ICS 
X  

7. Prints and mails the required forms for reporting Retailer‘s income to 

the required tax reporting entity. This includes, but is not limited to, 

IRS 1099 miscellaneous forms 

X  

Detail Requirements 

Retailer Records 

8. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to support one hundred fifty thousand 

(150,000) active and canceled Retailers and their associated records at any time with the ability to 

archive and maintain canceled Retailers and their associated records as the Texas Lottery grows.  

9. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to link Retailer records through changes 

of ownership or through other relationships. These linkages must be able to be modified or broken 

after creation.   

10. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall maintain a transactional history log (including user-

generated financial adjustments) of all changes made to the Retailer record or file. An audit trail 

must be created which includes, at a minimum, the change made, the date of the change, and the user 

who made the change. The transactional history log cannot be altered once it has been system 

generated. Users must have the ability to view the transactional history log online and create ad hoc 

reports.  

11. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to add multiple narratives to each 

Retailer‘s record. At a minimum, the narrative must be date- and time-stamped and indicate user 

identification. This time-stamp and user identification cannot be altered once it has been system 

generated. There must be a separate narrative to each Retailer record to allow comments on Instant 

Tickets (by ranges of one [1] and up).  

12. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide online access (read only) and maintain current and 

36 months of all Retailer records including, but not limited to, sales, accounting, financial, inventory 

and maintenance. Such information must be searchable at the record level and be aggregated or 

summarized for reporting purposes.  

13. The Successful Proposer‘s System must contain thirty-six (36) months of Retailer sales and 

statement history on-line for immediate inquiry and reporting.  This includes, but is not limited to, 

Instant Ticket pack history, all ticket validations, coupon credits, On-Line and Instant sales, 

commission adjustments, etc.   Retailer sales and statement history must be archived in a manner 

approved by the Texas Lottery and retained based on Section 3.74.  
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14. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to view online and print both detailed and 

summary statements for individual Retailers and Key, Chain and Corporate accounts for current and 

prior accounting periods (at least thirty-six [36] months).  The Successful Proposer‘s System shall 

provide the ability to produce account reconciliation reports detailing all inventory and financial 

details by user-specified date ranges up to thirty-six (36) months in length.  The reconciliations must 

be able to be created at the individual store and corporate summary levels. 

15. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to make adjusting entries (debit and 

credit and by individual Instant and On-Line game) to Retailer accounts with a complete audit trail 

including but not limited to: unique identifier, adjustment amount, date of adjustment, user who 

entered the adjustment, and a description/reason for the adjustment. 

16. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to produce terminal reports listing 

adjustments. The reports must list adjustment date, game type and dollar amount. 

17. The Successful Proposer's System shall provide the ability to capture and report sales commission, 

bonus, or other Retailer income as required for tax reporting. 

System Functions 

18. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to immediately enable and/or disable any 

terminal capable of selling Lottery Tickets, performing validation functions and processing Instant 

Ticket orders.  This functionality must be available to System users via the individual Retailer record 

or by specifically defined groups of Retailers. 

19. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to restrict terminal(s) selling, canceling, 

validating or other features selectively (by Retailer or game) by authorized Texas Lottery personnel 

or globally from the Successful Proposer‘s central site upon authorization by the Texas Lottery.  

20. The Successful Proposer‘s System must track NSF amounts associated with each Retailer and at the 

aggregate level. The System must be capable of calculating penalties and interest associated with 

delinquent accounts. 

21. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to notify through a variety of media (sales 

terminal, Retailer Web page or paper reports) individual Retailer and Key, Corporate and Chain 

accounts of amounts to be collected.  The notification at a minimum shall consist of sales, 

validations, commissions, credits and adjustment details for all Lottery Products. 

22. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall have a "three-tiered" coding scheme for differentiating 

Retailers by status, reason, and Texas Lottery defined business (using the North American Industry 

Classification System (NAICS)). The Texas Lottery currently uses fifteen (15) NAICS codes. 

The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to track Retailers by statuses, reason 

codes, Texas Lottery defined business, functions (changes of ownership, training), sales, etc. The 

Successful Proposer must use these codes for all activities involving Retailers. 

23. The Texas Lottery currently uses eight (8) status codes. The initial set of status codes that must be 

supported by the Successful Proposer‘s System includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Active                                                 5.  Closed                        

2. Pending                                               6.  Inactive 

3. Cancelled                                            7.  Suspended 

4. Hold                                                    8.  Unknown 

24. The Texas Lottery currently uses forty-one (41) reason codes. The initial set of reason codes  that 

must be supported by the Successful Proposer‘s System includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Active - Currently Selling 22.  Suspended – Eligibility  
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2. Active - Temporarily Enabled 23.  Suspended - Insufficient Funds 

3. Active – Restricted  24.  Cancelled - Denied 

4. Pending - Waiting Approval 25.  Cancelled - Cert. Bad Debt 

5. Pending - DPS Review  26.  Pending - Work in Progress 

6. Pending – Eligibility  27.  Cancelled - Insufficient Funds                           

7. Pending - Missing Info  28.  Cancelled – Missing Info 

8. Pending - Financial Security 29.  Cancelled - Refused Install                     

9. Cancelled – Involuntary  30.  Cancelled - Out of Business 

10. Cancelled - Duplicate Retailer 31.  Cancelled - Post Deadline App.   

11. Cancelled - COO Cancelled 32.  Cancelled - Termination  

12. Cancelled – Refund  33.  Cancelled - Revoked NSF   

13. Cancelled – Eligibility  34.  Cancelled - Revoked ADA   

14. Hold - Waiting for Training 35.  Cancelled - Revoked Eligibility   

15. Hold - Waiting Telco  36.  Cancelled - PROMOTIONAL EVENT  

16. Inactive - Pending Status  37.  Cancelled - MGMT Only w/ Sweep  

17. Inactive – Eligibility  38.  Cancelled - MGMT Only w/o Sweep    

18. Inactive - Missing Info  39.  Cancelled - With Balance    

19. Inactive - Refused Install  40.  Cancelled - CBD/Bankruptcy  

20. Inactive - Out of Business 41.  Unknown 

21. Inactive - Temporarily Closed 

 

25. The Successful Proposer‘s System must accomplish Retailer accounting, billing, and reporting, 

including the timely, required information to allow the ICS to accomplish multiple electronic funds 

transfers (including but not limited to EFT, ACH, wire transfer, etc.) and billing methods.  

26. The Successful Proposer must upload the debit, credit and new Retailer files from ICS into the 

Successful Proposer‘s System within four (4) hours after receipt from the Texas Lottery. 

27. The Successful Proposer's System must maintain and report all Lottery gaming data. This includes, 

but is not limited to the following: 

a) All Texas Lottery Retailers‘ business and location information; 

b) All Texas Lottery Retailers‘ accounting, financial, and financial security information (including 

adjustments made by Texas Lottery or Successful Proposer personnel); 

c) All Texas Lottery Retailers‘ training information (including date, location, participants, etc.); 

d) All Texas Lottery Retailers‘ Online and Instant sales information (including sales credits, 

promotions/free tickets, etc.); 

e) All Texas Lottery Retailers‘ Instant Ticket inventory information; 

f) All prize payment and claimant history; 

g) Retailer's current tax status (including any differences between the Successful Proposer‘s System 

and the Texas Comptroller's office—through updates from a weekly file from the Texas 

Comptroller database and/or inputs from authorized Successful Proposer/Texas Lottery 

personnel); 

h) All current and previously installed Lottery equipment at each Retailer location (e.g., sales 

terminals, playstations, neon signs, etc.). Historical information must include dates; and 

i) All current and previous historical network communication network lines at each Retailer 
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location. Historical information must include dates. 

28. The Successful Proposer‘s System must have search and reporting tools, with functionality as 

approved by the Texas Lottery, available for the Texas Lottery to respond to inquiries (licensing, 

accounting and inventory questions, billing disputes, etc.) in a prompt and efficient manner. 

29. At the Texas Lottery‘s request, the Successful Proposer‘s System must accept online submissions of 

original and renewal Retailer applications via an internet-based system.  

Table 40. Retailer Management Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe how it will provide an integrated System to support the Texas Lottery‘s 

Retailer management functions. At a minimum, the System must include licensee management 

functions such as Retailer maintenance and license application processing, inventory management, 

accounting and access control.  

3. The Proposer must describe the System‘s ability to provide online access to transactional data. 

4. The Proposer must describe the System‘s capability to accept online submissions of original and 

renewal Retailer applications via an internet-based system and how payments for application fees 

would be processed. 

7.6 LOTTERY GAMING SYSTEM GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

7.6.1 System Configuration and Capacity 

The following table identifies the minimum System configuration and capacity requirements for 

the Successful Proposer‘s Lottery Gaming System. 

Table 41. System Configuration and Capacity Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Plans, designs and implements a Lottery Gaming System that meets 

Texas Lottery requirements  
X  

2. Provides input on System configuration and capacity requirements  X 

3. Operates, supports and monitors System performance and capacity to 

ensure it meets contractual requirements 
X  

4. Reports Systems information, metrics, performance and operational 

anomalies 
X  

Detail Requirements 

5. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the capability for real-time processing and services 

at near twenty-four (24) hours a Day to include all functionality of the Successful Proposer‘s System 

including but not limited to sales, validation, terminal report generation and inquiry.  

6. The Successful Proposer shall provide for a Primary site system recovery of less than two (2) 

minutes with no loss of transactions. 
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7. The Successful Proposer‘s System must support a Sunday to Saturday billing period, or other 

schedule as may be set by the Texas Lottery.  At the Texas Lottery‘s request, the System must 

support multiple billing periods for different classes of Retailers based on variables such as Retailer 

type, business type, financial standing, sales volume, etc. 

8. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall have inquiry/search capabilities for authorized users on all 

Lottery gaming data (real time) through a user-friendly tool. This inquiry/search capability must not 

negatively impact System performance.  This user-friendly tool (e.g., similar to financial stock 

screening tool or other comparable interface) should have an easy-to-use graphical interface to allow 

query selections through marking the various data elements (e.g., by game, transaction level, dollar 

amount, etc.) for graphing and reporting.   

9. The Texas Lottery will provide the ability to request and print the Successful Proposer‘s Gaming 

System‘s master transaction file on the management terminal or any network-attached printer with 

proper authority as controlled by the Texas Lottery. 

10. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the following: 

a) All records of transactions time-stamped to the nearest second; 

b) The capability to sort, select, view and list detailed transactions; 

c) Three years, at a minimum, of historical transactions available online for inquiry; 

d) Data presented in formats approved by Texas Lottery staff; 

e) The ability of the Texas Lottery to generate reports without assistance from the Successful 

Proposer; and 

f) Data must be maintained in accordance with Section 3.74. 

11. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to support up to one hundred and fifty 

thousand (150,000) active online sales and system inquiry devices to support Lottery Products with 

the ability to increase to two hundred fifty thousand (250,000) as the Texas Lottery grows. 

12. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to accommodate sales, validation, cancel 

and cashing transactions associated with, at a minimum, three hundred (300) concurrent Instant 

Ticket games and multiple On-Line jackpots up to ten billion dollars ($10,000,000,000), with no 

degradation of System performance. There will be no exceptions for maintenance, reports 

generation, inquiries, validations, or any other System functions.   

13. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability for real-time processing of sales, 

validation, management, and inventory transactions. 

14. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to process all other transactions—(e.g., 

Instant Ticket pack authorizations, winning ticket validations, cancels, reports, etc.) with a maximum 

eight (8) second response time. 

15. Each single wager ticket (one [1] playboard) must be produced in less than four (4) seconds after 

data entry. 

16. Multi-wager tickets (up to ten [10] playboards) must be produced in less than six (6) seconds after 

data entry. 

17. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to look for indications of fraudulent 

transactions. Examples include, but are not limited to, reporting on winning tickets from one 

Retailer's pack paid at another Retailer, delayed validations, bad or invalid validation attempts, 

Online game ticket cancellations, Instant Ticket pack activations and settlements, and comparisons 

between Retailer database and claimant database.  
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18. The Successful Proposer‘s System must adhere to all Texas Lottery business rules, regulations, all 

applicable banking regulations, and state and federal laws. 

19. The Successful Proposer‘s System must be able to access, present, and report on archived files from 

the previous Lottery Operator‘s Gaming System. 

20. The Successful Proposer shall test monthly, the ability of the backup Lottery Gaming System to take 

over total operation of the On-Line and Instant Ticket games, process transactions for a minimum of 

four (4) hours, and then return operational control to the production Lottery Gaming System.  This 

must occur transparently to all users. 

Table 42. System Configuration and Capacity Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe how its System will meet the configuration and capacity requirements. 

3. The Proposer must demonstrate how its proposed System can meet or exceed the Texas Lottery‘s 

performance requirements. 

4. The Proposer must describe its System‘s capability for detecting and reporting fraudulent 

transactions and activities.   

Table 43. System Configuration and Capacity Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.29 
Inability of the Lottery Gaming System to Conduct Retailer, Licensing, Inventory, 

Accounting, or Other Management Functions 

3.60.30 Performance Degradation 

3.60.31 Failure to Test Backup Lottery Gaming System 

Liquidated Damages 

3.61.5 On-Line Game Unavailability 

3.61.6 
Inability of the Texas Lottery Retailer Terminals to Communicate with the Lottery 

Gaming System 

7.6.2 Electronic Data Exchange 

Electronic Data Exchange services are the activities associated with the day-to-day management 

of the data exchange between the Lottery Gaming System and designated Texas Lottery 

systems. The description and format of current data exchanges will be provided to prospective 

Proposers attending one of the mandatory pre-proposal conferences upon receipt of a signed 

Non-Disclosure Statement. The Data Exchange Report and all associated requirements will be 

incorporated into any Contract resulting from this RFP.   
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Table 44. Electronic Data Exchange Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Defines and provides Data Exchange Report which identifies the 

electronic data exchange format requirements including transport 

(e.g., EDI, XML, FTP), delivery locations, format and schedule 

requirements 

 X 

2. Develops and documents procedures for performing electronic data 

exchange that meet requirements and conform to Texas Lottery 

standards 

X  

3. Develops and maintains a repository of all Texas Lottery electronic 

data exchange distribution and exchange entities 
X  

4. Provides and supports electronic interfaces between the Lottery 

Gaming System and Texas Lottery designated systems 
X  

5. Executes electronic data exchange production and test distribution 

according to production schedules 
X  

6. Monitors all electronic data exchange transactions X  

7. Reruns transactions as required and escalates non-resolved electronic 

data exchange transactions to the Texas Lottery 
X  

8. Performs recovery operations for electronic data exchange 

transactions as required 
X  

9. Interfaces directly with Texas Lottery electronic data exchange 

distribution entities  
X  

Detail Requirements 

10. The Successful Proposer must ensure the accuracy of all data provided to the Texas Lottery. Data 

must be made available in accordance with approved schedules as documented in the Data Exchange 

Report.    

11. The Successful Proposer must ensure the proper and timely completion of electronic data exchange 

transactions. 

Table 45. Electronic Data Exchange Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe how it will meet the data exchange requirements outlined in this section 

and the Data Exchange Report. 

7.6.3 Sales and Marketing System General Requirements 

The following table identifies the minimum System requirements for sales and marketing. 
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Table 46. Sales and Marketing System General Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Plans, designs and implements a Lottery Gaming System that 

supports the Texas Lottery‘s sales and marketing functions 
X  

2. Develops and implements Terminal-oriented promotions with Lottery 

Products that utilize coupons, free tickets, entry forms, vouchers or 

any other Terminal or ticket stock items as required by the Texas 

Lottery 

X  

Detail Requirements 

3. The Successful Proposer must configure and execute planned promotions on the Lottery Gaming 

System as approved by the Texas Lottery. 

4. The Successful Proposer‘s System must be capable of storing, reading, validating and accounting for 

bar-coded coupons used by the Texas Lottery for promotions.   

5. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the ability to allow for simultaneous player and 

Retailer promotions involving multiple Lottery Products, which includes, but is not limited to, tie-ins 

between On-Line and Instant Ticket games, and must be scalable by groups of Retailers (based on 

county, zip code, business type, chain, sales level, or Texas Lottery-designated group) or a single 

Retailer.  

6. The Successful Proposer‘s System must track retailer promotions / player contest winners, including 

current address and the winning prize. 

7. The Successful Proposer must provide a Web-based system, based on Texas Lottery requirements, 

for a player registration program that involves registering players for various informational, 

promotional (e.g., unique player-printed coupons), and data-gathering purposes.  The Web-based 

system must be able to communicate with players using different messaging formats including, but 

not limited to, Really Simple Syndication (RSS), text messaging, etc.  The interface for players to 

access this web site should be very intuitive and user friendly. 

8. The Successful Proposer must: 

a) provide a Web-based subscription system for Texas Lottery players; 

b) provide an interface that will process all player database updates; and 

c) implement the subscription system as directed by the Texas Lottery. 

       The Successful Proposer must provide several funding and prize payout options for the Web-based 

subscription.  The Successful Proposer must also provide a secure method of verifying age.  

Table 47. Sales and Marketing System General Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe its System‘s capabilities for providing player and retailer promotions. 

3. The Proposer must describe its System‘s capability to support Web-based "Second-Chance 

Drawings" for On-Line Games. 
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4. The Proposer must describe its proposed Web-based system for a player registration program that 

involves registering players for various informational, promotional (e.g., unique player-printed 

coupons), and data-gathering purposes.   

5. The Proposer must describe its proposed Web-based subscription system including the funding, prize 

payout, and age verification features of the system. 

Table 48. Sales and Marketing System General Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.32 Failure of the Lottery Gaming System to Execute Planned On-Line Promotion 

7.7 SYSTEM MANAGEMENT 

Change management is a standardized process for managing the introduction and 

implementation of all changes affecting the Lottery Gaming System. The change management 

process is inter-related with the release management process. 

Release management is a standardized process for managing the scheduling and implementation 

of changes to the Lottery Gaming System. This covers both the software and the hardware used 

in delivery of services. Releases typically consist of a number of fixes and/or enhancements to 

the existing Lottery Gaming System. A release consists of the new or changed software 

required and any new or changed hardware needed to implement the approved changes and all 

associated documentation. The following table identifies change and release management 

requirements. 

Table 49. System Management Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Establishes a change and release management process and 

procedures appropriate to Texas Lottery‘s IT and business 

requirements 

X  

2. Establishes a Change Advisory Board (CAB) and identifies 

composition, activities and the technical and business approval 

authorities  

X  

3. Establishes change priority identification and authorization process   X 

4. Receives and documents all approved Requests for Change (RFC) 

and determines priority 
 X 

5. Receives and documents all RFC and classifies proposed changes to 

the System based on risk impact assessment and System security 

considerations 

X  

6. Ensures that appropriate back-out plans are documented and in place 

in the event of Systems failure as a result of the change 
X  

7. Develops and maintains a schedule of planned approved changes   X 

8. Develops and provides change documentation (including release 

notes)  
X  

9. Reviews and approves change documentation   X 



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 7 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  LOTTERY GAMING SYSTEM 

10. Coordinates, schedules and conducts CAB meetings to include a 

review of the schedule of planned changes and results of changes 

made 

X  

11. Jointly participates in CAB meetings  X X 

12. Reviews all Successful Proposer-recommended RFCs to Lottery 

Gaming System 
 X 

13. Oversees the change management process activities to ensure they 

are appropriately resourced and completed according to the change 

schedule  

X  

14. Ensures the test environment(s) is available and properly configured 

to mirror the live production System 
X  

15. Ensures that thorough testing is performed prior to release, and 

assesses Texas Lottery business risk related to any change that is not 

fully tested prior to implementation  

X  

16. Participates in business risk assessment for change to be introduced 

without being fully tested 
 X 

17. Conducts User Acceptance Testing (UAT) for Texas Lottery- 

requested RFCs 
 X 

18. Conducts UAT for all RFCs X  

19. Prior to release, notifies Texas Lottery-affected entities (e.g., 

Retailers and all training and test terminals not connected to the 

central System including test terminals deployed to the Texas Lottery 

and other Texas Lottery vendors [e.g., ticket manufacturers and 

ticket testing vendor, etc.]) of release timing and impact, and 

arranges for all scheduled terminal updates 

X  

20. Monitors changes, performs change reviews and reports results of 

changes 
X  

Detail Requirements 

21. The Successful Proposer must receive approval from the Texas Lottery prior to implementation of 

any changes to the Lottery Gaming System. 

22. The release notes from the Successful Proposer must evidence good configuration management 

practices; namely, each release must be identified by a version number and the changes must be 

succinctly defined. 

23. The Successful Proposer must provide the Texas Lottery access (including remote access) to a test 

environment that duplicates the Lottery Gaming System functionality to allow the Texas Lottery to 

conduct Quality Assurance (QA) and user acceptance testing.  The test environment must be the 

identical architecture and functionality as the production Systems and have the capability to perform 

load testing and test all the different types of terminals and communication protocols installed in the 

production environment.   
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Table 50. System Management Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide an overview of its software development life cycle including, but not 

limited to, change and release management processes, recommended frequency for changes, review 

and approval process,  documentation activities and associated assigned resources to support the 

software development life cycle process. 

3. The Proposer must describe the proposed test environment and access for conducting QA and UAT. 

Table 51. System Management Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.33 Failure to Provide Software Fixes and/or Enhancements 

3.60.34 Failure to Implement Change or Release Management Without Incident 

 

7.8 SYSTEM SECURITY 

System security encompasses the activities associated with maintaining physical and logical 

security of all Lottery Gaming System components (hardware and software), including, but not 

limited to, data and virus protection, and access control. At a minimum, these activities must be 

maintained in compliance with Texas Lottery Security requirements as defined by Title 1, 

Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 202 – Information Security Standards (Title 1 TAC 202). 

The following table identifies System security requirements. 

 

Table 52. System Security Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Develops, documents and maintains security requirements, 

standards, and procedures  
X  

2. Remains up to date with current Security trends, threats, common 

exploits and security policies, procedures and best practices 
X  

3. Conducts periodic security assessments of the Lottery Gaming 

System  
X  

4. Immediately reports security violations/incidents and resolution to 

the Texas Lottery  
X  

5. Installs security patches per change management process and 

procedures  
X  

6. Maintains all documentation required for security assessments, 

audits and internal control testing 
X  

7. Develops and maintains a security awareness program for users of 

the Lottery Gaming System 
X  
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Detail Requirements 

8. The Successful Proposer must submit a detailed security plan to the Texas Lottery for approval no 

later than ninety (90) Days after the Contract Award. At a minimum, the security plan must comply 

with the requirements of Title 1 TAC 202. 

9. The Successful Proposer must conduct periodic security assessments of the Lottery Gaming System, 

as required by Title 1 TAC 202. This includes annual penetration testing. 

10. The Successful Proposer‘s System must have access control features that allow the Texas Lottery to 

control System access privileges on an as-needed basis for viewing and updating information (i.e., 

strong password requirements and expiration periods, audit logs, reporting, permissions, access 

controls, etc.). The Successful Proposer‘s System must allow authorized Texas Lottery personnel to 

be the system administrator for Texas Lottery personnel. 

Table 53. System Security Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide an overview of its System security plan. 

3. The Proposer must describe the physical and logical security components of the Lottery Gaming 

System. At a minimum, this must include an overview of the policies and practices to prevent, 

detect, and resolve security incidents. In addition, the Proposer must demonstrate experience, ability, 

and intent to meet security requirements. 

Table 54. System Security Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.19 Failure to Comply with Title 1 TAC 202 Information Security Standards 

3.60.35 Failure to Comply with Title 1 TAC 202 Resulting in a Security Incident 

7.9 REPORTING 

Reporting Services are the activities associated with the timely and accurate development, 

publishing and tracking of administrative and management reports by the Lottery Operator, the 

Texas Lottery, Retailers and Texas Lottery vendors. An initial list of Texas Lottery-required 

reports will be provided to prospective Proposers attending one of the mandatory pre-proposal 

conferences upon receipt of a signed Non-Disclosure Statement. The Reports list and all 

associated requirements will be incorporated into any Contract resulting from this RFP. The 

Reports list includes the description and frequency of each report. The list is not exhaustive and 

the Texas Lottery reserves the right to add or remove reports as required.  The following table 

identifies the Reporting requirements. 

Table 55. Reporting Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Defines requirement and format for new reports and modifications to 

existing reports 
 X 
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2. Develops, creates and/or modifies reports to meet Texas Lottery‘s 

requirements 
X  

3. Reviews and approves format of report and production schedule  X 

4. Documents and maintains reports that meet end-user requirements X  

5. Produces accurate reports X  

Detail Requirements 

6. The Successful Proposer shall provide, at a minimum, the reports identified in the Reports list. 

7. The Successful Proposer shall add new or modify existing reports within thirty (30) Days of written 

request by the Texas Lottery. 

8. For any automated reports, the Successful Proposer‘s System must track the owner / users of the 

report and the number of occurrences of downloads to be able to track usage (for the future 

elimination of stagnant reports).  

9. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability to provide both daily and weekly sales 

information (as defined by the Texas Lottery) to Retailers and the Texas Lottery, by Retailer type, 

game, and/or region. The information must be accessible online. 

10. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide daily sales reports by product and make the 

supporting data accessible to Texas Lottery personnel. Upon Texas Lottery request, the Successful 

Proposer shall provide two year sales estimates for each product and must make the supporting data 

accessible to Texas Lottery personnel. 

11. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall report Sales as defined by the Texas Lottery. Any other type 

of sales data reported or shown shall be appropriately designated as unofficial sales. 

12. The Successful Proposer‘s System shall provide the ability for the Texas Lottery to generate reports 

using the System and access to real-time data with no System performance degradation. 

Table 56. Reporting Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe its proposed System‘s reporting functions. This must include the ability 

of the Lottery Gaming System to produce a variety of reports as well as permit Texas Lottery staff to 

create ad-hoc reports using user-friendly report development tools including graphical reporting 

capabilities. 

Table 57. Reporting Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.36 Failure to Provide New Reports and/or to Modify Existing Reports 

7.10 ICS SYSTEM AND VENDOR REQUIREMENTS 

The Texas Lottery‘s Internal Control System (ICS) independently processes all daily sales, 

validation, inventory, claims, and retailer management and accounting activity for auditing, 

balancing and reporting purposes. A third-party vendor provides programming support to 

maintain ICS compatibility with the Lottery Gaming System. 
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Table 58. ICS System and Vendor Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Contracts with a third-party vendor to provide the Texas Lottery a 

primary and backup Internal Control System, to include all associated 

hardware, software licenses, programming and maintenance support    

 X 

2. Provides data to the Texas Lottery and/or designated third-party 

vendor to include, but not limited to, daily sales, validation, 

inventory, claims, and retailer management and accounting activity 

for audit, balancing and reporting purposes  

X  

3. Provides support to help resolve out-of-balance conditions and 

maintain compatibility with the third-party ICS System 
X  

Detail Requirements 

4. The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for reimbursing the Texas Lottery for all costs billed by 

the third-party ICS vendor and paid by the Texas Lottery for ICS software and support. 

5. The Successful Proposer shall cooperate fully with the third-party ICS vendor (which shall be 

selected by the Texas Lottery).  

6. The Successful Proposer shall provide any necessary resources to the third-party ICS vendor to 

maintain the linkage between the ICS System and the Successful Proposer‘s System. 

7. The Successful Proposer shall provide data to the Texas Lottery and/or designated third-party vendor 

in near-real time for processing. 

8. The Successful Proposer shall work with the Texas Lottery, any Texas Lottery designated third-party 

vendor and the current ICS vendor to convert, from the existing ICS or the current Lottery 

Operator‘s database, the daily transaction history/files for the past ten (10) years, at a minimum. 

9. The Successful Proposer‘s System must provide automated balancing between the ICS and the 

Lottery Gaming System. The requirement is that there should never be an out-of-balance situation 

between ICS and the Successful Proposer‘s Lottery Gaming System. The Successful Proposer must 

develop procedures to solve out-of-balance situations between the Lottery Gaming System and 

primary and backup ICS. 

10. The Successful Proposer shall load debit, credit and/or new Retailer files from the Texas Lottery into 

the Lottery Gaming System within four (4) hours after receipt of the files. 

Table 59. ICS System and Vendor Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe the process for providing support to the third party ICS vendor and how 

transactions from the Lottery Gaming System will be processed.  

3. The Proposer must describe how out-of-balance incidents are handled and electronic funds transfers 

are accomplished. 
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Table 60. ICS System and Vendor Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.37 Inability of the Internal Control System to Update Lottery Applications 

3.60.38 Out-of-balance Condition Between ICS and Lottery Gaming System 

3.60.39 Failure to Load Debit, Credit, and/or New Retailer Files from the Texas Lottery into 

the Lottery Gaming System 

7.11 SYSTEM SUPPORTED TERMINAL FUNCTIONS 

The Lottery Gaming System supports a variety of Retailer Sales Terminals and related System 

sales equipment. All Terminals and equipment are connected to the Lottery Gaming System and 

process transactions real time. The following table identifies the requirements for System-

supported Terminal functions. 

Table 61. System-Supported Terminal Functions Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Integrates all System-supported Terminal equipment with the Lottery 

Gaming System to process transactions real time 
X  

Detail Requirements 

Functionality 

2. The Lottery Gaming System, through the Retailer Sales Terminal, must support sales and validation 

of all Texas Lottery Products including the confirmation, activation, settlement and return of all 

Instant Ticket game packs.  

3. Transactional activity must be logged on the Lottery Gaming System for all Retailer and player 

Terminal devices connected to the Lottery Gaming System or Terminals connected to each other. 

4. All Terminals, including Player Activated Terminals, must provide ticket prize inquiry 

communication of winning, non-winning and actual prize amount data. 

5. The Lottery Gaming System, through the Retailer Sales terminal, must handle various media, 

variable form sizes, objects of various shapes/sizes and optical mark code types, and identify the 

applications that may use such codes. The media, forms, objects and optical mark codes include, but 

are not limited to, the following: 

a) Packs and single tickets; 

b) Boxes/cartons of tickets; 

c) Instant Tickets of various sizes; 

d) Play slips; 

e) Online tickets; 

f) Bar coded coupons; 

g) Field service identification cards;  

h) Survey tools; and  

i) System generated gift cards. 
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6. The Lottery Gaming System, through the Retailer Sales Terminal, must have a training mode. 

Training mode must not allow for the production of physical ―test‖ tickets.  Representation of ―test‖ 

tickets generated must be graphically represented on the display screen. 

7. When a multi-draw or advanced wager On-Line Ticket is presented for validation through the 

Retailer Sales Terminal, the Lottery Gaming System must provide the ability to request and present 

multiple draw date results for individual On-Line games to determine the prize amounts, if any, for 

each draw that has been completed prior to the ticket validation. The maximum draw dates able to be 

presented must match the length of the multi-draw or advanced wager functionality for each On-Line 

game. 

8. The Lottery Gaming System must provide the capability to set Terminal parameters so that Texas 

Lottery-designated Terminals only have inquiry functionality by product type (i.e., Claim Centers).   

9. The password function must permit (e.g., Claim Centers, etc.) multiple levels of secure access, 

including access for the Texas Lottery representative, store manager/owner, and clerk. This 

capability must restrict privileged transaction types to authorized users; for example, store managers 

(but not clerks) must be able to display Retailer financial reports.  The access profiles and associated 

privileges are to be consistent with Texas Lottery security policies. 

10. For prize payments of twenty-five dollars ($25) to five hundred and ninety-nine dollars ($599) paid 

at a Retailer, the Successful Proposer‘s System must provide the capability to capture and track the 

store information including the ID of the clerk who validated and paid the winning ticket. The 

Terminal and validation system must provide the capability to go into ―confirmation‖ mode to alert 

the Retailer for prizes above a certain dollar threshold so the Retailer can determine that it has 

sufficient funds to pay the prize prior to selecting to proceed with validation.   

11. The Terminal must provide the capability to go into ―confirmation‖ mode to alert the Retailer for 

purchases of Lottery tickets above a certain dollar threshold so the Retailer can determine if the 

player is willing to purchase those Lottery tickets prior to the Retailer‘s recording of the wager on 

the System and selecting to proceed with the Lottery ticket sale transaction.   

12. At the Texas Lottery‘s request, the Lottery Gaming System must have the capability, through the 

Retailer Sales Terminal and other sales devices, to process gift cards, players club cards, other 

commonly accepted transaction cards (debit cards, etc.), coupons or other transactional items related 

to the processing of Lottery transactions. 

Bar Codes 

13. The Lottery Gaming System must be capable of reading ISO/IEC industry standard barcodes to 

allow keyless ticket inquiry and validations.  

14. The Lottery Gaming System must be capable of producing/generating numbers and various graphics 

(symbols and pictures) and ISO/IEC industry standard barcodes.  
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15. The Successful Proposer shall secure and obtain any and all necessary rights (including, but not 

limited to, licensing rights from the appropriate third parties) 

(i) to allow the bar code to be printed on the face of Texas Lottery On-Line Tickets and 

underneath the latex of Texas Lottery Instant Tickets, and  

(ii) for use of the bar-code technology to allow players to confirm, on their own, if a ticket is a 

winner and the amount of the prize, and  

(iii) to ensure that the foregoing rights are obtained on behalf of the Texas Lottery, its vendors, 

and all Retailers, in compliance with the terms and conditions in sections 3.25 and 3.26 of 

this RFP (e.g., for incorporation of Third Party Materials into the Works, to indemnify and 

hold the Texas Lottery and its vendors and Retailers harmless therefore, and to provide 

remediation in the event the Successful Proposer cannot obtain the necessary license rights).  

The Texas Lottery reserves the right to review any language required to be printed on Instant and 

On-Line Tickets by license rights obtained by the Successful Proposer. The bar code technology 

must pass all tests performed by the Texas Lottery or its authorized designee for compliance with 

current Texas Lottery quality and security standards, including all changes to such standards during 

the term of the Contract. 

Inventory 

16. The Lottery Gaming System must be able to assign and track On-Line Ticket stock from receipt at 

warehouse to delivery and assignment to each Retailer. The Lottery Gaming System must be able to 

track the return of unused On-Line Ticket stock to the central distribution warehouse. 

17. The Lottery Gaming System, through the Retailer Sales Terminal, must be capable of verifying 

Retailer receipt of Instant Tickets, collection and transmission of survey data, and other materials. 

18. The Lottery Gaming System, through the Retailer Sales Terminal, must be capable of allowing the 

LSR to change the status of full Instant Ticket packs returned to the central distribution warehouse or 

transferred to another Retailer (i.e., ticket returns). 

19. The Lottery Gaming System must allow Retailers to order Instant Tickets at anytime, through the 

Sales Terminal, in addition to ordering in response to a telemarketing call. The System must provide 

controls to manage this automated ordering process. 

20. The Successful Proposer must provide an inventory system, using the Retailer Sales Terminal, to 

track and maintain inventory of all signage and related Lottery equipment (e.g., playstations, neon 

signs, etc.) as requested by the Texas Lottery.  

Messaging 

21. When the Retailer Sales Terminal is not being used, the Retailer interface must display a Texas 

Lottery-approved programmable messaging screen saver for the Retailer‘s view.  

22. The Lottery Gaming System, through Retailer Sales Terminals, must provide the capability to send 

network messages (including streaming video) or video file downloads to Terminal resident storage 

on all Retailer Sales Terminals to be displayed via Terminal-operated screens or monitors and 

Retailer Sales Terminal display.  Information displayed on Terminals must be shown by groups of 

Retailers (based on county, zip code, business type, chain, sales level, or Texas Lottery designated 

group), or a single Retailer. The Texas Lottery will approve all messages and must have the ability to 

send the message (or ask the Successful Proposer to send the message). The Successful Proposer‘s 

System must also be able to send messages from the Amber/Silver/Blue Alert network (or other 

emergency messages as required) concurrently with other Texas Lottery-approved messaging 

(multiple messaging access). The Successful Proposer‘s System must have the capability to retain 

messages so new messages received do not delete the previously sent message.  
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23. If a Retailer Sales Terminal is not powered on or communicating with the Lottery Gaming System at 

the time of broadcast, the Lottery Gaming System shall ensure that the Terminal receives the 

message immediately upon sign-on.  

24. The Lottery Gaming System must provide the capability to designate a message's categorization 

(e.g., immediate or deferrable [within a specific time]). For certain messages, as designated by the 

Texas Lottery, the message must be read by the Retailer before the Terminal can resume normal 

transaction functions. 

25. The Lottery Gaming System, through the Retailer Sales Terminal, must provide the ability to receive 

content from a centralized content management system which is provided, maintained, and 

administered by the Successful Proposer.  Through the Retailer Sales Terminal or attached video 

displays, the content management system shall stream content and information including but not 

limited to:  local news feeds, local sports scores, local weather, Retailer specials, Texas Lottery-

provided content, etc.  

26. The Retailer Sales Terminal must be capable of receiving, storing and transmitting wired and 

wireless messaging to other messaging communication devices deployed by the Successful Proposer 

in the retail environment. 

Reporting 

27. The Lottery Gaming System, through the Retailer Sales Terminal, must provide Retailers with 

reports of their validations and other account activities, on a daily, weekly, monthly, "shift-level,‖ 

"user code" or Retailer-directed (e.g., "time range") basis, including the ability to provide a report of 

recent Lottery activity by specified date/time range. 

28. The Lottery Gaming System must provide the ability to produce Terminal reports listing 

adjustments. The reports must list adjustment date, game type and dollar amount. 

29. The Successful Proposer must provide Terminal reporting capability to mirror sales period activity to 

support Retailer functions.   

30. The Successful Proposer‘s System, through the Retailer Sales Terminal, shall provide the ability to 

audit a Retailer‘s account including but not limited to all Lottery transactions and financial 

transactions (e.g., validations, cash payments, adjustments made to Retailer account, and inventory). 

31. The Successful Proposer's System, through the Retailer Sales Terminal, shall provide the ability to 

manage and report Retailer bonus and incentive payments. 

32. The Successful Proposer's System shall provide the capability to provide statements to individual 

Retailers, and Key, Corporate and Chain accounts through a variety of media including but not 

limited to: Retailer Sales Terminal, Retailer Web page, electronic files, and printed paper. Statement 

information must be available online via the Retailer Management System for a period of 36 months.  

Financial, inventory, sales and general statement information must be archived for ongoing reference 

in a manner and format approved by the Texas Lottery and based on the records retention 

requirements in Section 3.74. 

Table 62. System Supported Terminal Functions Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe the terminal functions supported by the Lottery Gaming System that 

meet the requirements of this Section.  
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Response Requirements 

3. Each Proposer must provide information on the functionality or capability of all On-Line devices to 

interact with the back-office systems of Retailers. 

4. The Proposer must describe its System‘s capability to inquire and log ticket prize inquiries and 

validations from all Terminals to the Lottery Gaming System.  

5. The Proposer must describe its Terminals‘ capability (including Player Activated Terminals) to 

provide ticket prize inquiry communication of winning, non-winning and actual prize amount data. 

Table 63. System Supported Terminal Functions Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.40 Inability of the Lottery Gaming System to Confirm or Activate Instant Ticket Packs 

(All Retailers) 

3.60.41 Inability of a Texas Lottery Retailer to Confirm or Activate Instant Ticket Packs 

(Single Retailer) 

3.60.42 Inability of the Lottery Gaming System to Produce Accurate Terminal Reports or Make 

Terminal Reports Available 

7.12 SALES TERMINALS AND RELATED SYSTEM SALES EQUIPMENT 

The Lottery Operator provides a variety of Retailer Sales Terminals and related System sales 

equipment used to support all Texas Lottery Products. Diverse business footprints and sales 

environments require a range of solutions. The Texas Lottery currently has Retailer and Player-

Activated Sales Terminals, Instant Ticket Vending Machines and Check-A-Ticket Terminals 

(also known as Player-Activated Self Check Terminals). The following table identifies 

requirements for the Retailer Sales Terminals and related System sales equipment to be 

provided. 

Table 64. Sales Terminals and Related System Sales  Equipment Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Provides Retailer Sales Terminals and/or related System sales 

equipment for Texas Lottery Retailers. 
X  

2. Provides Player Activated Self Check Terminals at Retailer locations X  

Detail Requirements 

Hardware 

3. The Successful Proposer must provide standard and mid-range Retailer Sales Terminals that 

incorporate the latest technology and meet Texas Lottery requirements. All Retailer Sales Terminals 

must print and validate On-Line Tickets, validate Instant Tickets, perform Instant Ticket pack 

management, and accounting and reporting functions, and meet all other requirements as identified 

in this RFP and the Contract. Retailer Sales Terminals must support existing electronically integrated 

cash dispensers used by Texas Lottery Retailers. For example, some Retailers utilize Tidel Safes for 

this purpose. 
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4. The Successful Proposer must provide Player-Activated Sales Terminals that incorporate the latest 

technology and meets Retailer and Texas Lottery requirements. All Player Activated Sales Terminals 

must print On-Line Tickets, sell Instant Tickets, perform Instant Ticket pack management, and 

accounting and reporting functions, and meet other requirements as identified in this RFP and the 

Contract. The Instant Ticket bins included in the Player Activated Sales Terminals must be scalable 

to allow a range (e.g., 8 to 24 or more bins) of Instant Ticket packs to be available for sale. The 

terminals must employ a bill acceptor for payment and allow for purchases using a debit card. Player 

Activated Sales Terminals must meet all of the requirements for Retailer Sales Terminals, except 

those pertaining to validation of tickets. These machines shall provide ticket prize inquiry 

functionality to include communication of winning, non-winning and actual prize amount data. 

Player Activated Sales Terminals must have age verification functionality (using a State of Texas or 

other State or Federal Government issued identification card). These terminals shall be equipped 

with a remote on/off mechanism that will operate from a minimum of fifty (50) feet in a typical 

business environment. These terminals must comply with all applicable Americans with Disabilities 

Act standards. 

5. The Successful Proposer must provide Player Activated Self Check Terminals. The Player Activated 

Self Check Terminal is a stand-alone device that allows players to check their own Instant and On-

Line Tickets for winners. The Terminal must indicate if a ticket is a winner, but not validate the 

ticket.  The terminals shall provide ticket prize inquiry including communication of winning, non-

winning and actual prize amount data via a video display.   

6. The Successful Proposer must provide Handheld Terminals. The Handheld Terminal is a wireless 

mobile device that produces On-Line Tickets.   

7. The Successful Proposer must provide, as an initial deployment, the following Terminal devices: 

Retailer Sales Terminals (standard) – 17,000 

Retailer Sales Terminals (mid-range) – 500 

Player Activated Sales Terminals – 3,500 

Player Activated Self Check Terminals – 17,000 

Handheld Terminals - 40 

8. The Successful Proposer shall work with the Texas Lottery to jointly develop deployment criteria 

and requirements for Retailer Sales Terminals and related System sales equipment. For the term of 

the Contract, the Successful Proposer must provide Retailer Sales Terminals and related System 

sales equipment, beyond the initial deployment above, for all new Retailers in accordance with 

Texas Lottery-approved deployment requirements. The Texas Lottery reserves the sole right to 

approve the Retailer Sales Terminal and related System sales equipment recommended by the 

Successful Proposer for each Retailer or retail venue. At a minimum every Retailer shall have the 

capability to sell Lottery tickets and allow players to check their tickets. 

9. The Successful Proposer shall be required to provide Terminals of each type deployed in the State 

for use at Texas Lottery Claim Centers and for other Lottery uses including internal testing and 

testing with other Texas Lottery vendors.   

10. The design and operating characteristics of all Terminals must emphasize ease of use and efficient 

selection of transaction type. The Retailer Sales Terminal must require minimal training for effective 

use and provide for easily changed consumables. 

11. The Successful Proposer must provide all thermal paper for the printing of On-Line tickets from the 

sales Terminals.  The thermal paper must be front- and back-coated and able to withstand a 

temperature of up to 180 degrees Fahrenheit. 
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12. No manufacturer‘s logos are allowed on Terminals. Terminals may include serial number tags and 

bar coding or other inventory coding for tracking purposes. 

Functionality 

13. Terminals must handle various media and code types, and identify the applications that may use 

such. The media and codes include, but are not be limited to, the following: 

a) Packs and single tickets; 

b) Boxes/cartons of tickets; 

c) Instant Tickets of various sizes; 

d) Play slips; 

e) On-Line Tickets; 

f) Bar coded coupons; 

g) Field service identification cards;  

h) Survey tools; and 

i) System generated gift cards. 

 

14. Terminals must provide visual and aural notifications on winning tickets and non-winning tickets. At 

a minimum, Terminals must support four (4) distinct aural tones to let players know the status of 

their winning and non-winning tickets. Each time a ticket is scanned for inquiry or validation a 

distinct tone must identify one of the following results: 

a) Prize-winning tickets under six hundred dollars ($600) and win-a-free-ticket prizes; 

b) Prize-winning tickets of six hundred dollars ($600) and higher and non-cash prizes. These prizes 

can only be paid at a TLC Claim Center; 

c)  Non-winning tickets; and 

d) Retailer cannot validate (variety of reasons such as inactive pack, expired ticket, previously paid, 

etc.). 

15. All Retailer Sales Terminals must provide a customer-oriented video display (flat-panel monitor) to 

communicate the outcome of each transaction conducted on the terminal to include: 

a) Sales transaction data; 

b) Validation data to include winning, non-winning and prize amount data, if applicable; and  

c) Displays must also be capable of broadcasting video resident on the terminal, downloaded from 

the Content Management System, between terminal transactions. 

 

In retailer environments, where video displays (flat-panel monitors) capable of video broadcast 

cannot be deployed, a customer oriented video display must provide: 

a) Sales transaction data; 

b) Validation data to include winning, non-winning and prize amount data, if applicable; and 

c) Displays must also be capable of broadcasting video resident on the terminal, downloaded from 

the Content Management System, between terminal transactions. 

 

16. At the Texas Lottery‘s request, the Proposer‘s Retailer Sales Terminals must have the capability to 

be equipped with smart card readers. 

17. As the Texas Lottery‘s request, the Proposer‘s Retailer Sales Terminals must have the capability to 

perform ticket branding during validation transactions on Retailer Sales Terminals. 
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Barcode 

18. Terminals and related System sales equipment must have bar code readers capable of reading 

ISO/IEC industry standard barcodes to allow keyless validations. The Terminal readers must provide 

a first read rate of not less than ninety-eight percent (98%). 

19. Terminals and related System sales equipment must have printers capable of producing numbers and 

graphics (symbols and pictures) and ISO/IEC industry standard barcodes. All barcodes produced 

must be of such a quality as to support not less than ninety-eight percent (98%) first reads from 

scanning equipment.  

20. The Successful Proposer‘s Terminal architecture and equipment must be flexible to allow for 

upgrades to new industry standard bar coding. 

Messaging 

21. Terminals must be able to display a message and emit a program-controlled audible alarm to indicate 

errors or anomalies to the Retailer. 

22. When Terminals are not being used, the Retailer interface must display a Texas Lottery-approved 

programmable screen saver for the Retailer‘s view.  

23. Retailer Sales Terminals must have the capability to receive, store and play back graphic-rich media 

content for broadcast of  Retailer/player training and/or marketing content.  

24. The Successful Proposer‘s Retailer Sales Terminals must be capable of receiving, storing and 

transmitting wired and wireless messaging to other messaging communication devices deployed in 

the retail environment. 

Documentation 

25. The Successful Proposer must provide the following training materials for each Terminal type: 

a) English and Spanish training/operational manuals on the correct use of the Terminal, and the 

Texas Lottery Retailer policies and procedures in English and Spanish; 

b) Manuals must contain, at a minimum, information and instructions on replacing supplies (e.g., 

changing paper and terminal ribbons), making minor adjustments to the Terminals, placing each 

transaction, obtaining each report,  call center procedures, use of play slips, claim forms, 

adjustment forms and settlement forms; and 

c) Manuals must be updated when new Lottery Products are introduced and/or other changes are 

made and must be distributed to Retailers prior to the start of the new game(s) and/or the 

effective date of the change(s). 

This information must be made available on all Retailer Sales Terminals (or in hard copy for 

equipment where this functionality is unavailable) and provided to the Texas Lottery in a format for 

posting to the Texas Lottery‘s Retailer Web site. 

Table 65. Sales Terminals and Related System Sales Equipment Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and all detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  
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Response Requirements 

2. The Proposer must describe the proposed Retailer Sales Terminals and related System equipment 

that meets the requirements defined in this section. Proposers must offer the broadest diversity of 

terminals and related System sales equipment options for deployment in support of current and 

future Texas Lottery retail venues. Proposers must fully describe all solutions and how the proposed 

equipment would support the Texas Lottery‘s current retail environment, as well as new retail 

venues.  Proposers should indicate if the proposed Retailer Sales Terminals and related System 

equipment have been successfully deployed in other jurisdictions. 

3. The Proposer shall include information on the functionality or capability of all Terminal devices to 

interact with the back-office systems of Retailers. 

4. The Proposer must provide a sample of its Retailer Training Manual and explain other options for 

training Retailers such as including an online training manual within the Terminal. 

Specified and Invited Options 

5. As a Specified Option, the Proposer must offer an automated in-counter ticket dispensing unit. The 

Proposer shall thoroughly describe the design, installation, maintenance and functionality of the unit. 

If the Texas Lottery exercises this option, the Proposer must install and maintain the units. 

6. As a Specified Option, the Proposer must offer in-lane terminals designed for use in multi-lane stores 

such as supermarkets. The Proposer shall thoroughly describe the design, installation, maintenance 

and functionality of the terminal. If the Texas Lottery exercises this option, the Proposer must install 

and maintain the terminals. 

7. As an Invited Option, the Proposer may offer specialty terminals and equipment, to include new and 

emerging technology, for future deployment. 

7.12.1 Installation, Relocation and Removal 

The Lottery Operator pursues Retailer sales leads across the State; thus, allowing the Texas 

Lottery‘s market to increase. The Texas Lottery expects to grow its retail footprint over time in 

both existing and new trade styles. The Lottery Operator works with the Texas Lottery and 

Retailers to coordinate the installation, relocation and/or removal of all Lottery equipment. 

Table 66. Installation, Relocation and Removal Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

Installation 

1. Notifies the Successful Proposer that a Retailer has been licensed and 

that installation of equipment can begin 
 X 

2. Gathers information to setup, install, and activate Retailers X  

3. Performs site visit and determines needs of each Retailer X  

4. Recommends the type of terminal(s) to be installed at the Retailer X  

5. Reviews and approves the type of terminal(s) to be installed at the 

Retailer 
 X 

6. Coordinates with the Retailer for the date and time of the equipment 

delivery and installation 
X  



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 7 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  LOTTERY GAMING SYSTEM 

7. Performs all aspects of setting up a new Retailer in order for the 

Retailer to be able to sell all Lottery Products. This includes but is not 

limited to:  

a) sales terminals (shipping, installation, and testing);  

b) communication network access (ordering, installation, and 

testing); 

c) playstations (shipping and installation); and 

d) Instant Ticket bins (shipping and installation), etc. 

X  

8. Notifies the Texas Lottery of any problems during delivery or 

installation 
X  

Relocation or Removal 

9. Makes request to the Successful Proposer to relocate or remove 

equipment  
 X 

10. Coordinates with the Retailer for the date and time of the relocation or 

removal 
X  

11. Relocates or removes existing terminal and/or related sales equipment X  

Detail Requirements 

12. The Successful Proposer shall secure a dated, authorized signature from the Retailer on a form 

approved by the Texas Lottery confirming the lottery equipment was installed, is operational and the 

Retailer training requirements are met.  

13. The Successful Proposer shall relocate or remove sales /validation and non-sales/validation lottery 

equipment in Retailer locations within three (3) Working Days of notification by the Texas Lottery, 

unless the Texas Lottery, in its sole discretion, shortens or extends the time requirement under 

certain circumstances (e.g., specified removal date, retailer out of business, etc.). 

14. Under certain circumstances (e.g., change of ownership, store remodels, equipment relocation or 

retailer additions/deletions, etc.), the Successful Proposer shall be required to store Lottery 

equipment. 

Table 67. Installation, Relocation and Removal Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe how it will meet the equipment installation, relocation and/or removal 

requirements. 

Table 68. Installation, Relocation and Removal Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.43 Failure to Install, Relocate or Remove Lottery Sales and/or Validation Equipment 

3.60.44 Failure to Install, Relocate or Remove Lottery Non-Sales and/or Validation Equipment 

7.12.2 Maintenance and Repair 

The Lottery Operator is responsible for maintaining all Lottery equipment to ensure maximum 

possible uptime. Equipment maintenance activities include the ongoing support, maintenance 

and repair of all Terminals and related sales equipment to include hardware, software and 
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network connectivity. The following table identifies the requirements for equipment 

maintenance. 

Table 69. Maintenance and Repair Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Develops and maintains detailed plans and procedures for 

maintenance and repair of all equipment to meet the SLRs 
X  

2. Performs diagnostics and maintenance on all Lottery Gaming System 

components including hardware, software, peripherals, networks and 

special purpose devices  

X  

3. Provides all replacement parts or new equipment to ensure continued 

operation of equipment  
X  

4. Performs preventative maintenance on all equipment X  

5. Maintains all maintenance and repair records per Section 3.74 X  

Detail Requirements 

6. The Successful Proposer shall resolve all Terminal and related sales equipment problems and return 

the equipment to service within four (4) hours as required under section 3.61.7. The Successful 

Proposer shall maintain all Terminals and related sales equipment seven (7) Days a week, three 

hundred sixty-five (365) days a year.  

7. The Successful Proposer shall resolve all non-sales and/or non-validation equipment problems and 

return the equipment to service within three (3) days of notification as required under section 

3.60.45.   

8. The Successful Proposer must keep all maintenance records for twenty-four (24) months and make 

the records available to the Texas Lottery upon request. 

9. If a Retailer location has a chronic equipment problem, the Texas Lottery may request that the 

Successful Proposer monitor the Retailer location closely and keep in contact with the Retailer for a 

specified period of time to assure the problem is corrected. ‗Chronic‘ is defined as four (4) or more 

service calls for any reason in a consecutive ninety (90) Day period. At the sole request of the Texas 

Lottery, the Successful Proposer promptly shall remove equipment with chronic problems and 

replace with new equipment.  

Table 70. Maintenance and Repair Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe in detail the proposed plan and procedures for the maintenance and 

repair of all Terminals and related sales equipment. The plan must include a preventative 

maintenance schedule. 

3. The Proposer must indicate its proposed staffing levels to cover repair functions and the planned 

location of staff. 

4. The Proposer must describe in detail its proposed plan and procedures to address resolution of 

chronic equipment problems. 

5. The Proposer must describe its capabilities to remotely monitor all deployed equipment at the system 
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Response Requirements 

level for proper operational functionality and identification of equipment malfunctions or failure. 

Table 71. Maintenance and Repair Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.45 
Failure to Resolve a Lottery Non-Sales and / or Validation Equipment Problem within 

the Specified Timeframe 

Liquidated Damages 

3.61.7 Failure to Resolve Terminal and Related Sales Equipment Problems 

7.13 CALL CENTER SUPPORT 

A Retailer can obtain certain types of support by contacting either the Lottery Operator call 

center (Retailer Hotline) or the Texas Lottery‘s Retailer call center. Retailers contact the Lottery 

Operator‘s call center to resolve technical issues and order Instant Tickets and supplies. 

Retailers contact the Texas Lottery call center to resolve licensing and accounting issues. The 

Texas Lottery call center also responds to complaints from Retailers, players or the general 

public and handles questions on any lottery-related issue of interest or concern. If either the 

Lottery Operator or the Texas Lottery receives calls related to the other party‘s responsibilities, 

the Retailer‘s call is transferred (warm transfer) to the responsible party. The Texas Lottery‘s 

Retailer licensee base includes a significant number of non-native English speaking licensees 

primarily of Asian, Middle Eastern and Hispanic descent. 

The Lottery Operator‘s call center activities can be generally categorized as follows: 

 Incident Resolution and Field Dispatch Services – This includes, but is not limited to, 

providing first line incident resolution for technical issues for all Terminals and related 

sales equipment and responding to requests for assistance (e.g., stolen tickets, game 

instructions, general Retailer support). This also includes dispatching field service 

technicians and/or Lottery Sales Representatives to a Retailer location to provide 

assistance, support or maintenance services. All maintenance activities are tracked and 

documented through the Lottery Operator‘s call center for audit purposes and SLR 

reporting. 

 Ticket Inventory and Supply Management – This includes, but is not limited to, intake 

activities for requests for Instant Ticket inventory, On-Line Ticket stock and supplies. 

This also includes a wide range of telemarketing activities for Instant Ticket inventory 

which can be customized for particular Retailers.   

Table 72. Call Center Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Provides and maintains an automated call center operation which 

includes all necessary software to support, at a minimum, call 

management, tracking, monitoring and reporting 

X  
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2. Provides a toll-free call center number and twenty-four by seven (24 

hours a Day, 7 Days a week) support for Retailers to report stolen 

tickets and technical problems with the Lottery Gaming System  

X  

3. Provides dedicated ticket inventory management personnel Monday 

through Friday from 7AM to 6PM, Central Time, at a minimum, to 

receive and process Retailer ticket orders 

X  

4. Receives calls for general assistance, technical issues, and Instant 

Ticket and supply orders 
X  

5. Determines if call should be transferred to the Texas Lottery and if so, 

performs a warm transfer to the Texas Lottery 
X  

6. Processes orders for tickets or supplies, troubleshoots by phone, or 

dispatches technical support to Retailer 
X  

7. Maintains an automated dispatch system for tracking all Retailer 

inquiries, service calls and maintenance activities 
X  

8. Contacts Retailer with resolution and updates tracking system X  

9. Provides reports to the Texas Lottery on daily staffing levels, call 

overload on the ACD(s) designated for use by Texas Lottery 

Retailers, each call time on hold, abandoned calls, and steps being 

taken to resolve any substandard performance 

X  

Detail Requirements 

10. The Successful Proposer‘s staff must have sufficient bilingual (English and Spanish) representatives 

to support the Texas Lottery‘s diverse Retailer licensee base.   

11. The Successful Proposer‘s staff must be trained to diagnose network communication connections or 

terminal problems. 

12. The Successful Proposer‘s call center system must handle all incoming calls on the toll-free circuits. 

If all call center operators are busy, a pre-recorded message must be played and the calls must be 

queued. 

13. The Successful Proposer must document how the Texas Lottery Retailer call center will interface 

with the Successful Proposer‘s call center system for transferring calls. 

14. The Successful Proposer‘s call center operators shall attempt to resolve problems over the phone. 

Problem calls and resolutions must be documented for audit purposes. 

15. The Successful Proposer must:  (a)  answer a minimum of 95% of all calls (answered and 

abandoned) in forty-five (45) seconds or less; (b) support a minimum of 99% of all calls without a 

busy signal; (c) maintain a call abandonment rate less than or equal to 5%; (d) maintain a maximum 

hold time that does not exceed two (2) minutes per call; and (e) maintain call center availability so 

there is no more than fifteen (15) minutes of downtime in a seven-day period. 

Reporting 

16. The Successful Proposer must provide the capability to perform remote silent monitoring from Texas 

Lottery headquarters, on calls to and from the Successful Proposer‘s call center. A communications 

system or separate access line is required to support the monitoring.  

17. The Successful Proposer must provide access to the Texas Lottery for its incident tracking system for 

Retailer issues. 
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18. The Successful Proposer must provide real-time reports concerning call volume, staffing, call 

resolution and call length. The Successful Proposer must provide access to these reports for 

authorized Texas Lottery personnel for the purpose of monitoring the status of call volume and 

performance levels. 

19. The Successful Proposer must maintain each call recording for a minimum of six (6) months from 

the Day the call is received and supply the Texas Lottery, in a format approved by the Texas Lottery, 

with the recorded calls upon request.  

Ticket Inventory and Supply Management 

20. The Successful Proposer must document the process, subject to Texas Lottery approval, to customize 

Retailer ticket orders including but not limited to services performed by telemarketing staff, LSRs, 

etc. The goal is to maximize inventory turnover and maximize Retailer ability to order Instant 

Tickets.  

21. The Successful Proposer must provide for a process where Retailers or LSRs can order their own 

On-Line Ticket stock, Instant Tickets, or other supplies via phone, the Texas Lottery Retailer website 

or through the Retailer Sales Terminal. 

22. The Successful Proposer‘s System must have a comment screen for notations (tied to the Retailer 

record) regarding specific Retailer needs for Instant Ticket orders. 

23. The Successful Proposer must document and provide a plan for processing ticket orders on 

weekends, holidays, and other times based on ticket ordering activity and/or under special 

circumstances as required by the Texas Lottery.  

24. The Successful Proposer must provide the Texas Lottery with the ability to obtain real-time updates 

on the ticket orders processed and/or packed. 

Table 73. Call Center Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe its call center system including its capabilities. 

3. The Proposer must describe how the call center will be staffed and managed to ensure timely, 

professional, courteous and accurate response to all calls. 

4. The Proposer must describe how the staffing and management of the call center will support the 

Texas Lottery‘s diverse Retailer licensee base.   

5. The Proposer must indicate how it will achieve the required performance levels for the call center. 

6. The Proposer must document how chronic problems will be handled. 

Ticket Inventory and Supply Management 

7. The Proposer must describe any innovative solutions it proposes to enhance inventory order and 

distribution beyond the noted requirements of this section. 

8. The Proposer must describe how the staffing and management of the ticket inventory and supply 

management functions will support the Texas Lottery‘s diverse Retailer licensee base.   

9. The Proposer must describe what procedures are included to process special, out of cycle, express, 

expedited, or emergency orders from Retailers. 
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Response Requirements 

10. The Proposer must describe its range of automated systems to allow Retailers to order at anytime, 

rather than only ordering in response to a telemarketing call. Additionally, the Proposer must 

describe its ability to manage and place proper controls on this ordering process. 

Table 74. Call Center Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.46 Call Center Answer Time 

3.60.47 Call Center Busy Signal Time 

3.60.48 Call Center Abandonment Rate 

3.60.49 Call Center Hold Time 

3.60.50 Call Center Availability 

7.14 COMMUNICATIONS NETWORK 

The communications network is a satellite, radio, and land-based system that links all computer 

sites, including Primary and Backup Data Centers, the Texas Lottery headquarters and backup 

site, all warehouses, other Lottery Operator offices, Texas Lottery claim centers and Retailers. 

The following table identifies the requirements for the Communications Network. 

Table 75. Communications Network Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Provides communications network connectivity from Successful 

Proposer‘s System to all Retailers and Texas Lottery locations 
X  

2. Provides twenty-four by seven (24 hours a day, 7 Days a week) 

communications network support including break/fix technicians 
X  

3. Documents and provides the network design X  

4. Provides an operational communications network to handle the needs 

of the System and to accommodate growth in the Retailer network  
X  

5. Provides a communications network management system capable of 

monitoring and performing diagnostics on network lines and 

equipment 

X  

6. Provides detailed information and diagrams regarding the network 

topology and equipment configuration 
X  

7. Responsible for the cost of implementing and operating all elements 

of the network including the addition of new Retailers, moving 

existing Retailers and any other issues relating to network changes 

X  

8. Provides installation, maintenance, and ongoing support for all 

network equipment 
X  

9. Specifies the rate at which new locations are added to the network  X 

10. Documents detailed information on the procedures that will be 

followed to address network problems, including trouble reporting 

levels and escalation procedures 

X  
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11. Documents information on how the coordination effort (provisioning, 

monitoring and repair) will be handled with the network carriers and 

any other network providers and contractors that would be involved in 

the implementation, maintenance and operation of the network 

X  

12. Provides notification of problems, incidents and/or changes (moves, 

adds, deletes, etc.) with the network to Texas Lottery 
X  

13. Approves changes to the network that could impact Retailers and/or 

sales 
 X 

14. Provides qualified network personnel with telecommunication 

industry experience to address incidents and problems 
X  

Detail Requirements 

15. The Successful Proposer shall provide a communications network design that allows for maximum 

flexibility, growth, throughput, and cost-effectiveness with an emphasis on stability and operational 

availability.  

16. The Successful Proposer‘s communications network must connect all communications network 

devices to the Primary Data Center as well as the backup site.  The communications network shall 

also be designed to support software downloads to Retailer Sales Terminals and video streaming. 

17. The Successful Proposer must obtain any federal, state, or local licenses and approvals necessary and 

pay any special tariffs for the development, operation and expansion of the communications network. 

The Successful Proposer must comply with all applicable laws regarding communications network 

standards, availability, costs, licenses, etc. 

18. The Successful Proposer shall include a clause in all contracts related to the communications 

network requiring vendors to permit assignment of such agreements by the Successful Proposer to 

the Texas Lottery or any entity designated by the Texas Lottery, upon request by the Texas Lottery. 

19. The Successful Proposer shall provide communications network diagrams that must identify the data 

routing and redundant communications paths and proposed locations of remote nodes, if any, and the 

level of equipment intelligence at those nodes. The Successful Proposer shall provide the location of 

where its communications network components connect to the public network or private network. 

The Successful Proposer is required to disclose any potential single points of failure in the 

communications network and provide potential solutions. 

20. The Successful Proposer‘s communications network system must be capable of providing an 

incident tracking system for all equipment and/or sites on the Lottery network from the time of the 

occurrence to the time of complete incident resolution and closeout. 

21. The Successful Proposer‘s communications network management system must provide the ability to 

segregate (and provide reporting to) Retailers who are down due to Terminal or communication 

malfunctions versus other anomalies not associated with the failure of the system to perform. 

22. The Successful Proposer‘s communications network must include adequate bandwidth and lines for 

connectivity to and between all designated Texas Lottery facilities, including but not limited to: the 

headquarters, claims centers, warehouse, etc. 
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23. The Successful Proposer‘s communications network management system must provide the capability 

to show real-time and historical reports showing the status, incidents, etc., for the entire 

communications network. The ability to show the current status of a line, drop, node or backbone, 

etc., along with a historical trending report is required. The communications network information 

needs to be at the level to allow queries at an individual Retailer level. The ability to display and 

produce reports and/or graphs is desired. 

24. The Successful Proposer‘s communications network must support real-time video security 

monitoring and video teleconferencing with the Texas Lottery‘s headquarters and all claim centers. 

25. The Texas Lottery may, at its discretion, require the Successful Proposer procure an independent 

third-party vendor to perform traffic studies and provide recommendations regarding 

communications network performance.   

 

Table 76. Communications Network Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer shall provide detailed information and communications network diagrams to address 

the performance capabilities of the communications network based on the Proposer‘s System 

requirements and the Texas Lottery‘s system requirements. 

Table 77. Communications Network Service Level 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.61.6 
Inability of the Texas Lottery Retailer Terminals to Communicate with the Lottery 

Gaming System 
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PART 8  

8.1 OVERVIEW 

The primary goal of the Texas Lottery is to optimize revenue for the State of Texas from the 

sale of Lottery Products. Sales and Marketing activities conducted throughout the State provide 

a direct link to the Lottery‘s Retailers and players.  

8.2 SALES MANAGEMENT AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

The Lottery Operator performs a variety of sales management and business development 

activities associated with development of sales programs, Retailer incentives plans and 

merchandising ideas. The following table outlines the sales management and business 

development requirements. 

Table 78. Sales Management and Business Development Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Performs sales and business development activities as designated by 

the Texas Lottery 
X  

2. Performs all functions in a professional manner that will satisfy the 

needs of all Retailers in all geographic areas of the State of Texas 
X  

3. Coordinates and conducts meetings to reach Retailers across the State 

to discuss sales marketing and other Lottery matters 
X  

Detail Requirements 

4. The Successful Proposer must identify the sales management and business development staff whose 

full-time responsibilities are to help the Texas Lottery identify new selling opportunities and new 

marketing strategies. The Successful Proposer must also identify any staff who may assist with these 

activities, but will not be assigned to the Texas Lottery account on a full-time basis (e.g., corporate 

sales staff).  

5. The Successful Proposer‘s sales management staff shall work closely with the TLC‘s Products and 

Retailer Development Team and make sales presentations to Texas Lottery management on a weekly 

basis or as determined by the Texas Lottery. 

6. The Successful Proposer shall:  

a) conduct LSR and business development employee meetings in Texas  (at least bi-weekly);  

b) teach and inform LSR‘s and business development employees about Texas Lottery policies and 

procedures, including Lottery security and Retailer regulatory requirements; 

c) attend various meetings (with Retailers, Texas Lottery vendors, etc.) throughout the State upon 

the Texas Lottery‘s request; 

d) provide real-time access for LSR‘s to the Lottery Gaming System for understanding of their 

accounts‘ (Retailers‘) sales, inventory, trends, etc.; and 

e) conduct at least one joint (Texas Lottery and Successful Proposer) sales meeting per year with 

all Successful Proposer sales personnel assigned to the Texas Lottery account.  
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7. The Successful Proposer must coordinate face-to-face meetings among the Texas Lottery, the 

Successful Proposer and Retailers to facilitate communications on sales, marketing, general Lottery 

Product information and regulatory matters. Meetings must be scheduled to ensure widespread 

participation by Retailers across the State. The Successful Proposer is responsible for obtaining the 

meeting facility and all other resources necessary to conduct the meeting. 

Key, Corporate and Chain 

8. The Successful Proposer‘s criteria to assign account types (e.g., Key, Corporate, Chain) to Retailers 

must be approved by the Texas Lottery. 

9. The Successful Proposer must provide a Corporate Accounts division and designated staff who shall 

specifically be assigned to the marketing and sales support functions for Key, Corporate and Chain 

accounts. The Successful Proposer shall provide to the Texas Lottery, on a monthly basis, the job 

duties and number of personnel assigned to the Key, Corporate and Chain accounts along with all 

account assignments.  

10. At a minimum, the Successful Proposer shall conduct annual reviews with each Key, Corporate and 

Chain Retailer. The Successful Proposer shall provide a copy of all materials to be presented to Key, 

Corporate and Chain accounts to the Texas Lottery for review at least five (5) Working Days prior to 

the annual review meeting with the account. The Successful Proposer shall provide a written report 

to the Texas Lottery of the activities and meeting results within five (5) Working Days after each 

annual review. 

11. For any Retailer-requested meeting with a Key, Corporate or Chain Retailer, the Successful Proposer 

shall provide a copy of all materials to be presented to the Retailer to the Texas Lottery for review 

and approval at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the scheduled meeting. Materials not pre-

approved by the Texas Lottery must not be distributed to Key, Corporate and Chain accounts. The 

Successful Proposer shall provide a written report to Texas Lottery of the activities and meeting 

results within five (5) Working Days after the meeting. 

12. Upon request by the Texas Lottery, the Successful Proposer must: 

a) provide recommendations for minimum sales levels or performance for Key, Corporate and 

Chain Retailers; 

b) develop a program to administer the minimum sales requirements or performance levels for Key, 

Corporate and Chain Retailers;  

c) propose an improvement plan to deal with Key, Corporate and Chain Retailers that do not meet 

minimum sales or performance levels; and 

d) implement the improvement plan if requested by the Texas Lottery. 

13. The Successful Proposer must provide route sales to support Key, Corporate and Chain Retailer 

locations. 

14. The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for receiving, administering, and submitting marketing 

content from Key, Corporate and Chain Retailers, including, but not limited to, Key, Corporate and 

Chain accounts.  The Successful Proposer shall notify the Texas Lottery of any new content 

submitted by Key, Corporate and Chain Retailers for the Texas Lottery‘s approval.  Upon receiving 

the Texas Lottery‘s approval, the Successful Proposer shall send the approved content to the content 

management system for distribution to designated Retailer Sales Terminals at Key, Corporate and 

Chain Retailer locations.   



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 8 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  SALES AND MARKETING 

Table 79. Sales Management and Business Development Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must identify the sales management staff whose full-time responsibilities are to help 

the Texas Lottery identify new selling and business development opportunities. Proposers must also 

identify any staff who may assist with these activities, but will not be assigned to the Texas Lottery 

account on a full-time basis (e.g., corporate sales staff). 

3. The Proposer must describe its sales organization structure and how it will support and optimize 

Texas Lottery sales. 

4. The Proposer must describe how it would provide a route sales model to support Retailer locations. 

5. The Proposer must describe how it would coordinate face-to-face meetings among the Texas Lottery, 

Successful Proposer and Retailers to facilitate communications. The Proposer must describe its plans 

for conducting meetings to reach Retailers across the State of Texas to include proposed frequency 

of meetings and the strategy for engaging the Texas Lottery‘s diverse Retailer licensee base.  

8.3 MARKETING   

The Lottery Operator performs a variety of marketing activities associated with development of 

player/Retailer promotions and game development. The following table outlines the marketing 

requirements. 

Table 80. Marketing Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Performs analysis and makes recommendations for annual Instant 

Ticket game plan which includes: the introduction schedule for new 

Instant Ticket games, recommendations for price point introductions, 

print quantities and themes 

X  

2. Finalizes and approves the fiscal year Instant Ticket game plan and 

introduction schedule 
 X 

3. Recommends an overall strategy for Retailer contests and player 

promotions for Lottery Products to the Texas Lottery 
X  

4. Advises and makes recommendations concerning underperforming 

games, proposed matrix changes, new game development, allocation 

of prize pool percentages and functionality changes such as price 

point per ticket, number of draws, etc. 

X  

5. Reviews and takes into consideration recommendations and, in its 

sole discretion, approves or rejects changes  
 X 

6. Provides direction and instructions for marketing Lottery Products   X 

7. Markets Lottery Products based on Texas Lottery directions and 

instructions 
X  

8. Provides the Successful Proposer with the list of Instant Ticket 

games to be closed 
 X 
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9. Provides feedback on the list of Instant Ticket games to be closed X  

Detail Requirements 

10. The Successful Proposer shall provide the proposed fiscal year Instant Ticket game plan on or before 

January 31
st
 annually. This plan will include the recommended number of new Instant Ticket games 

by price point. The Successful Proposer shall also provide proposed modifications to the Instant 

Ticket game product strategy and a three (3) year sales projection for the product category. 

11. The Successful Proposer must actively participate and contribute in Instant Ticket game 

planning/review meetings. 

12. The Successful Proposer must recommend a plan to optimize the initial allocation and distribution of 

new Instant Ticket games.  

13. The Successful Proposer must provide an annual detailed analysis of all Texas Lottery On-Line 

Games. At a minimum, the analysis must include the following: 

a) three (3) year sales projections for each game; 

b) possible game modifications that may result in maximizing sales; and 

c) sales projections for any proposed game modifications.  

14. The Successful Proposer must provide weekly sales reports and other sales data as required by the 

Texas Lottery. The weekly sales reports must include an evaluation of the sales data, the 

development of trend analysis, and any recommended actions to be taken in response to that data. 

Table 81. Marketing Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must identify the marketing staff whose full-time responsibilities are to help the Texas 

Lottery identify new product and marketing strategies. Proposers must also identify any staff who 

may assist with these activities, but will not be assigned to the Texas Lottery account on a full-time 

basis (e.g., corporate marketing staff). 

3. The Proposer must describe its marketing organization structure and how it will support and 

optimize Texas Lottery sales. 

8.4 LOTTERY SALES REPRESENTATIVES 

Lottery Sales Representatives (LSR) Services are those activities dealing with sales support to 

Retailers and the promotion and sale of Lottery Products.  LSR functions can be generally 

categorized as Retailer setup and training, supply and inventory management, and sales and 

marketing. Retailers are provided a variety of goods and materials to support and sell Texas 

Lottery Products. These include point of sale materials, supplies (e.g., playslips, On-Line Ticket 

stock and printer ribbons) and promotional goods.  
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Table 82. LSR Services Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Develops, documents and maintains standards and procedures for 

LSRs  
X  

2. Provides the Texas Lottery a copy of the standards and procedures 

when changes or additions are made 
X  

3. Develops LSR territory and training schedule  X  

4. Maintains, updates and changes LSR assignments as necessary X  

5. Provides quarterly Lottery Product emphasis and promotional themes   X 

New Retailer Application 

6. Recruits new Retailers on an ongoing basis X  

7. Receives Retailer application for licensing  X 

8. Enters Retailer information into the Lottery Gaming System and 

notifies the Successful Proposer and the Retailer if the Retailer‘s 

application is incomplete 

 X 

9. Assists the Texas Lottery in contacting the Retailer to request missing 

information and provides the information to the Texas Lottery 
X  

10. Finalizes Retailer application entry into the Lottery Gaming System 

and notifies the Successful Proposer after the Retailer‘s application 

has been approved or denied 

 X 

11. Provides Successful Proposer a report, generated by the Lottery 

Gaming System, of all Retailers that are approved 
 X 

12. Notifies Retailer of application approval and schedules site visit X  

13. Conducts site visit and determines optimal equipment display 

configuration 
X  

14. Begins process to setup and install Lottery equipment at Retailer 

location 
X  

15. Activates account and mails license to Retailer  X 

New Retailer Setup 

16. Recommends a type of Terminal to be installed at the Retailer X  

17. Reviews and approves the type of Terminal to be installed at the 

Retailer 
 X 

18. Orders, delivers, installs playstations, Instant Ticket bins, signage, 

POS and materials 
X  

19. Assists Retailer with the display of promotional material and signage X  

Retailer Renewals 

20. Provides report to the Successful Proposer showing expiring Retailer 

licenses by district 
 X 

21. Notifies Retailers of impending license expiration  X 
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22. Proactively works with Retailer to submit application renewal X  

23. Assists the Retailer with the completion of the application if the 

Retailer application is incomplete 
X  

24. Updates the Lottery Gaming System in order to disable the Retailer's 

Terminal(s) if the Retailer‘s application is not renewed 
 X 

25. Retrieves lottery equipment, promotional materials and ticket 

inventory from Retailer if the Retailer‘s application is not renewed 
X  

26. Updates licensing information in the Lottery Gaming System  X 

Detail Requirements 

27. The Successful Proposer must provide Retailers with signage, supplies and other materials as 

required by the Texas Lottery. 

28. The Successful Proposer must provide LSR support to service the Texas Lottery‘s Retailer base. The 

Successful Proposer must support growth in the Retailer base with an appropriate increase in the 

Successful Proposer‘s LSR staffing.  

29. The Successful Proposer must provide a comprehensive annual incentive plan for LSRs and sales 

and business development management, on or before May 31st of each year.  This plan must be 

updated quarterly based on Texas Lottery Product emphasis guidelines.  The Texas Lottery must 

approve the incentive plan before it is implemented and any proposed modification to the incentive 

plan must be submitted to the Texas Lottery for approval prior to implementation. 

30. The Successful Proposer must provide a monthly report of all LSR assignments at the Retailer level 

and by sales district.  

31. The Successful Proposer must treat the TLC claim centers as a Retailer location for the purposes of 

supply replenishment and point of sale materials.  

Table 83. LSR Services Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe its LSR organization structure and how it will support Lottery Retailers 

across the entire geographic and population diversity of the State of Texas. Proposers must identify 

the Proposer‘s staff to Retailer ratio for the provision of Lottery Sales Representative activities. 

3. The Proposer must provide an overview of its incentive plan for LSRs.  

4. The Proposer must describe how sales services will be customized to strategically optimize sales 

performance. 

8.4.1 Retailer Visit 

Each Retailer receives scheduled visits by a LSR. LSRs play a critical role in promoting Texas 

Lottery Products to Retailers. LSR visits are tailored based on the needs of the Retailer and 

guidelines provided by the Texas Lottery. The Retailer visits serve a variety of purposes, but the 

functions can be generally categorized as Retailer setup and training, supply and inventory 

management, and sales and marketing. The following table identifies the Retailer Visit 

requirements. 
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Table 84. Retailer Visit Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Provides annual sales cycle schedule X  

2. Approves annual sales cycle schedule  X 

3. Visits Retailers based on the agreed upon sales cycle schedule  X  

4. Educates Retailers on new Lottery Products (what‘s special/different), 

Retailer/player contests and new promotions 
X  

5. Trains Retailers on new upcoming Lottery Products (including but not 

limited to: marketing differences, key marketing aspects, etc.) and 

answers any game-related questions  

X  

6. Trains Retailers on Terminal operations, and Lottery processes, 

procedures and Retailer regulatory requirements as directed by the 

Texas Lottery 

X  

7. Conducts a physical inventory of Instant Tickets and On-Line Ticket 

stock and calls in ticket orders as needed 
X  

8. Displays new promotional materials, checks that promotional signage 

is properly displayed, optimizes placement of Instant Ticket 

dispensers, checks brochure and play slip inventory, ensures 

playstations are neat and orderly, and checks the inventory of other 

supplies (printer ribbon, ticket claim forms, Retailer adjustment 

forms, etc.) 

X  

9. Determines signage or promotional material needs for the next 

scheduled visit 
X  

10. Works with Retailers on in-store merchandising efforts, marketing 

and sales techniques to promote Lottery Products 
X  

Detail Requirements 

11. The Successful Proposer must provide an automated tracking and reporting system to track LSR 

visits to Retailer locations via the Lottery Gaming System.  

12. The Successful Proposer must visit each Retailer at least once during each two (2) week sales cycle 

regardless of sales level or geographic region. As the Retailer network increases, the Successful 

Proposer shall be required to increase the staffing requirements to maintain the visitation and support 

responsibility requirements. The Successful Proposer must submit the sales cycle schedule to the 

Texas Lottery on an annual basis no later than August 1 each year.  

13. The Successful Proposer must provide a plan, for approval by the Texas Lottery, to supplement the 

staffing, visitation and support requirements outlined in #12 of this Section to drive enhanced 

Retailer sales levels. 

14. LSRs must deliver sell-in, advertising and other materials to all Retailers in their territory within the 

designated sales cycle schedule, unless otherwise authorized by the Texas Lottery. All advertising 

materials must be delivered two weeks prior to the start of a new Lottery Product unless otherwise 

authorized by the Texas Lottery. 

15. LSRs must properly process, assign and return On-Line Ticket stock according to Texas Lottery 

rules and procedures. 
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16. LSRs must develop and administer promotional programs with Retailers in their territory. 

17. LSRs must position and maintain Instant Ticket dispensers at all Retailer locations, replace any faded 

or broken dispensers, and maintain an optimum sales environment for Instant Tickets.  

18. LSRs must meet Retailer satisfaction targets as set by the Texas Lottery.  The Successful Proposer 

shall provide corrective action plans to the Texas Lottery to address missed Retailer satisfaction 

targets. 

19. When a Retailer‘s license to sell Texas Lottery tickets is terminated or suspended, LSRs must 

recover the license and all materials provided to the Retailer by the Successful Proposer or the Texas 

Lottery. These visits are high priority and may require a same Day visit. LSRs shall be required to 

coordinate with all parties in order to recover and return the property. 

20. On a continuing basis, LSRs shall inform the Texas Lottery about any regulatory issues, ownership 

changes, or any other conditions that might impact a Retailer's license. 

21. At the request of the Texas Lottery, LSRs shall be directed to visit a Retailer(s) on an emergency 

basis to assist the Texas Lottery in retrieving information, equipment, inventory, etc., from the 

Retailer. The LSR shall report back to the Texas Lottery the status of the visit as required by the 

Texas Lottery. 

22. The Successful Proposer must monitor and manage LSR performance to ensure that all LSR visit 

standards are being met. 

Table 85. Retailer Visit Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe its overall approach to Retailer visits and support. The Proposer must 

describe its plan for enhanced visits to Retailers that exceeds the minimum required visits for general 

support and sales activity and that emphasizes sales optimization among the Retailer base. The 

Proposer must provide an overview of the methodology and strategy that will be used to enhance 

sales. 

3. The Proposer must describe how it will monitor and manage LSR performance to ensure that all LSR 

visit standards are being met. 

Table 86. Retailer Visit Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.51 LSR Visits 

3.60.52 Retailer Satisfaction 

3.60.53 Failure to Properly Process or Assign On-Line Ticket Stock 

8.4.2 LSR Ticket Retrieval, Transfers and Returns 

Instant Tickets may be retrieved for various reasons during the LSR‘s regularly scheduled sales 

cycle visit or during an emergency visit that is requested by the Texas Lottery. The LSR is 

responsible for optimizing the inventory mix at retail locations in coordination with Retailers.  

LSRs can transfer full packs between retail locations or arrange for the return of full packs of 

tickets upon the request of the Retailer. Damaged and other unsaleable tickets may be returned 

and Retailers may be charged an administrative fee or credited for the return of the tickets. 
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There are three types of ticket returns that occur from Retailer locations: partial pack returns, 

full pack returns and manual returns.  LSRs are responsible for the return ticket processes at the 

Retailer level.  This section covers the steps to transfer tickets from the Retailer location 

through verification and return processing at the central distribution warehouse facility.   

Following the retrieval of tickets from the Retailer: 

1. Manual (Damaged, Defective, Retailer Sales Terminal unavailable for processing, etc.) 

pack ticket returns are delivered to the central distribution warehouse for credit to the 

Retailer‘s account and retention for destruction.  

2. Full pack ticket returns (processed by Terminal at Retailer) will be delivered to the 

central distribution warehouse for verification and destruction or re-distribution based 

on the status of the game. 

3. Partial pack ticket returns (processed by Terminal at Retailer) will be delivered to the 

central distribution warehouse for verification of the range of tickets returned and 

retention for destruction. 

The following table identifies LSR Ticket Retrieval, Transfers and Returns requirements. 

Table 87. LSR Ticket Retrieval, Transfers and Returns Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Optimizes the inventory mix at retail locations through pack transfers 

to other retail locations and returns upon the request of the Retailer 
X  

2. Picks up Instant Tickets from Retailers  X  

3. Recovers tickets from other locations (including but not limited to 

police stations, other governmental agency offices, Texas Lottery 

claim centers, etc.) as directed by the Texas Lottery 

X  

4. Uses Retailer Sales Terminal to process returns of Instant Ticket 

inventory according to processes approved by the Texas Lottery  
X  

5. When Retailer Sales Terminal is not available for Instant Ticket 

returns, documents return manually on forms and in accordance with 

processes approved by the Texas Lottery 

X  

6. Returns tickets to the central distribution warehouse or delivers to 

other Retailer(s) 
X  

Detail Requirements 

7. LSRs shall be required by the Texas Lottery to: 

a) recover unsold Instant Tickets, accounting forms or other materials from Retailers within their 

territory; 

b) document the recovery of unsold Instant Tickets, accounting forms or other materials from 

Retailers as prescribed and directed by the Texas Lottery; and 

c) deliver the unsold tickets and documentation, accounting forms or other materials from Retailers 

as prescribed and directed by the Texas Lottery. 
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8. The Successful Proposer must have a process that ensures Instant Tickets are returned from 

Retailers, field offices, and other locations in an accurate, timely and secure manner. The process 

must address both full and partial pack inventory returns. Ticket returns include returns processed 

through the Retailer Sales Terminal and manual returns when the Terminal is unavailable. Approval 

of the process is at the sole discretion of the Texas Lottery. The process must at a minimum address 

the following: 

a) Preparation of documentation listing Instant Ticket inventory returned; 

b) Accuracy of documentation listing Instant Ticket inventory returned; 

c) Procedures for resolving discrepancies relating to Instant Ticket inventory returned; 

d) Utilization of Retailer Sales Terminals for processing Instant Ticket inventory returned; 

e) Physical security of Instant Ticket inventory returned; 

f) Standard schedule for transporting Instant Ticket inventory from point of pick up to warehouse; 

g) Methods to be utilized for transporting Instant Ticket inventory returned; and 

h) Methods to be utilized for expedited transport of Instant Ticket inventory. 

9. The Successful Proposer must develop processes and/or procedures, subject to approval by the Texas 

Lottery, for Retailer-to-Retailer pack transfers of full packs of Instant Tickets and rolls of On-Line 

Ticket stock. The processes and/or procedures must identify the methods for carrying out these 

transfers and the security and control measures that will be put in place and how system records will 

be maintained. 

Table 88. LSR Ticket Retrieval, Transfers and Returns Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer shall describe how it will perform ticket retrieval, transfers and returns to optimize the 

inventory mix at retail locations in coordination with Retailer. 

3. The Proposer must describe how Retailer-to-Retailer pack transfers will be utilized to optimize 

inventory availability.  Proposers must describe the methods for carrying out these transfers and the 

security and control measures that will be put in place and how system records will be maintained. 

Table 89. LSR Ticket Retrieval, Transfers and Returns Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.54 Improperly Processed Packs of Instant Tickets 

8.4.3 Instant Ticket Game Close 

The Texas Lottery makes the determination to close an Instant Ticket game based on business 

rules established by the Texas Lottery.  The Texas Lottery currently closes games based on one 

or more of the following four criteria: 

1. All the top prizes in the game have been claimed; 

2. Over 85% of the Instant Tickets for the game have been sold; 

3. The Instant Ticket game is underperforming; or 

4. A business decision, which could include an emergency game close where there is a 

problem with the game that the Texas Lottery has determined necessitates closing the 

game. 
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After an Instant Ticket game is declared closed, any remaining Instant Tickets (and packs) for 

the game must be collected by LSRs and reconciled against Instant Ticket inventory records. 

Table 90. Instant Ticket Game Close Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities  
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Notifies the Successful Proposer of Instant Ticket game closing dates  X 

2. Stops distributing Instant Ticket game to Retailers when instructed to 

do so by the Texas Lottery 
X  

3. Notifies LSRs to pick up closed Instant Ticket game inventory from 

Retailers  
X  

Detail Requirements 

4. The Successful Proposer must enter the game ―call‖ and/or ―end of game‖ information into the 

Lottery Gaming System within four (4) business hours after notification from the Texas Lottery. 

5. The Successful Proposer picks up Instant Ticket game inventory from Retailers within 45 Days of 

the ―call‖ date or as required to ensure games are removed from Retailer locations per Texas Lottery 

procedures. 

Table 91. Instant Ticket Game Close Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe its process for handling Instant Ticket Game close. 

8.5 RETAILER CONTESTS AND RETAILER-BASED PLAYER PROMOTIONS 

Retailer Contests and Player Promotions are utilized to optimize Lottery Product sales.  

Throughout the year, the Texas Lottery determines which Lottery Products are to be used in a 

contest and/or promotion. The following table identifies Retailer Contests and Retailer-based 

Player Promotions requirements. 

Table 92. Retailer Contests and Retailer-based Player Promotions Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

On-Line Games 

1. Performs analysis and prepares reports evaluating the success of  

prior contests and promotions in recommending future promotions 
X  

2. Recommends the Retailer Contest and/or Player Promotion 

parameters 
X  

3. Approves Retailer Contest and/or Player Promotion parameters  X 

4. Enters parameters for a Retailer Contest and/or Player Promotion for 

an On-Line game into the Lottery Gaming System  
X  

5. Distributes promotional materials X  

6. Provides ongoing and final reporting related to the On-Line game X  
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promotion to the Texas Lottery 

7. Delivers prizes to Retailers and receives sign-off for receipt of prizes X  

8. Provides documentation of prize receipt confirmations to the Texas 

Lottery as requested 
X  

Instant Games 

9. Performs analysis and prepares reports evaluating the success of 

prior contests and promotions in recommending future promotions 
X  

10. Recommends the Retailer Contest and/or Player Promotion 

parameters 
X  

11. Approves Retailer Contest and/or Player Promotion parameters  X 

12. Distributes promotional materials X  

13. Administers contest for an Instant Ticket game promotion, and 

provides list of Retailer and/or player winners to the Texas Lottery 
X  

14. Delivers prizes to Retailers and receives sign-off of receipt of prizes  X  

15. Provides documentation of prize receipt confirmations to the Texas 

Lottery as requested 
X  

16. Delivers prizes to the players   X 

Detail Requirements 

17. The Successful Proposer must recommend incentive programs for Retailers, including when such 

programs should be initiated and appropriate analysis reflecting the benefits of such programs in 

optimizing revenue to the State from sales of Texas Lottery Products. 

18. On or before May 31
st 

each year, the Successful Proposer must provide an annual incentive program 

plan for Retailers for approval by the Texas Lottery.  Proposed changes to this plan must be 

submitted to the Texas Lottery for prior approval. 

19. The Successful Proposer must deliver the list of winning Retailer(s) within five (5) Working Days of 

the conclusion of the contest.  Upon approval of the list by the Texas Lottery, the Successful 

Proposer must deliver the prizes to the winning Retailer(s) within thirty (30) Working Days and 

provide signed receipts from the winning Retailer(s) to the Texas Lottery.  

20. The Successful Proposer must provide to the Texas Lottery a stand-alone, automated Random 

Number Generator (RNG), plus one backup RNG, certified by a third party to support player and/or 

Retailer incentives or promotions.  

21. The Successful Proposer must provide and support a Web-based system, based on Texas Lottery 

requirements, for a player registration program that involves registering players for various 

informational, promotional (e.g., unique player-printed coupons, reward tracking, etc.), and data 

gathering purposes. This will be done in conjunction with a Texas Lottery website and the database 

must be accessible to Texas Lottery personnel. The Successful Proposer must store player 

information, based on Texas Lottery guidelines, in a database that permits ad hoc inquiry and 

reporting activities in addition to routine scheduled reporting. The Successful Proposer must convert 

any existing player registration data to this new system. The Successful Proposer must accommodate 

banners on the Web pages that may employ advertising, promotions, etc., approved by the Texas 

Lottery. The Web-based system must be able to communicate with players using different messaging 

formats including, but not limited to, Really Simple Syndication (RSS), text messaging, etc., 

consistent with current technology. The interface for players to access this Web site should be very 
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intuitive and user friendly. 

Table 93. Retailer Contests and Retailer-based Player Promotions Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe how it will utilize Retailer and player contests and promotions to 

increase Instant and On-Line ticket sales. 

3. The Proposer must describe its incentive programs for Retailers, including when such programs 

should be initiated and the benefits of such programs in maximizing revenue to the State from sales 

of Texas Lottery Products. 

8.6 PROMOTIONAL EVENTS AND RETAILER PROMOTIONS 

The Texas Lottery works with the Lottery Operator to select promotional selling events and in-

store Retailer promotions that create awareness and interest for Texas Lottery Products among 

adult Texans. The sale of Lottery tickets at selling events and conducting in-store Retailer 

promotions are intended to increase product trial and educate new and potential players about 

Lottery Products. The Texas Lottery also conducts product trial events where Lottery Products 

are not sold. 

TLC promotions emphasize creating awareness of Lottery Products, their availability in certain 

retail environments and product trial.  Promotional Instant Tickets and promotional items may 

be distributed at these events.  Retailer promotions, selling events, non-selling events, Retailer 

sales incentives, and media promotions are used in coordination to create awareness, interest 

and trial of Lottery Products. 

Promotional Events 

The Texas Lottery currently participates in approximately 70 to 80 community and statewide 

fairs, festivals and events around the State of Texas each year. The events include selling and 

non-selling (product trial) events and range from single-day smaller community events (e.g., 

minor league baseball games, etc.) to the State Fair of Texas which operates for approximately 

one month each Fall.   

Retailer Promotions 

A list of current Retailer promotions types and their description is detailed below: 

Active Participation Events 

 Customer Appreciation Events – The Lottery Operator provides a promotional trailer, 

equipment and staff for Retailer special events, anniversary sales or grand openings. The 

Lottery Operator coordinates the promotion with the Retailer and provides POS to 

advertise the event. The Retailer is required to sell tickets from the trailer and supply 

prizes for the spinning wheel used for Lottery promotions. The Retailer may be required 

to provide media support such as radio remotes, TV or newspaper advertising, and 

promotional flyers as approved by the Lottery. 
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 Spin & Win Events– The Lottery Operator conducts promotions using the Lottery 

spinning wheel at Retailer locations. The Lottery Operator coordinates the promotion 

with the Retailer, provides POS to advertise the event, and brings equipment and staff for 

the promotion.  Players are required to purchase Texas Lottery tickets in order to spin the 

wheel and win promotional prizes provided by the Texas Lottery and the Retailer.   

 Ambassador Promotions – The Lottery Operator conducts Ambassador Promotions. 

Lottery Operator staff work at the Retailer location during a designated period to act as a 

Lottery Product ambassador engaging customers and teaching them about Lottery 

Products and/or the equipment used to sell Lottery Products (e.g., player-activated 

equipment, etc.). Players receive a promotional item or other prize provided by the 

Retailer with a eligible Lottery purchase. 

Passive Participation Events 

 Retailer Store 2
nd

 Chance Drawings – The Lottery Operator supplies Retailers with a 

drawing box, entry forms, Texas Lottery promotional items and POS advertising the dates 

and times of the drawing. The Retailer is required to provide a prize(s) from the store.  

Players with a non-winning Lottery ticket get to enter their ticket into the drawing for a 

chance to win a prize. No purchase can be required for this promotion. 

 Ask for the Sale – The Lottery Operator provides Retailers a designated number of Instant 

Tickets (provided by the Texas Lottery), clerk stickers, and POS to promote the Ask for 

the Sale promotion. The Ask for the Sale promotion is a way to increase Lottery sales and 

to train employees to always ask for the sale.  If a clerk forgets to ask the customer if 

he/she would like to purchase a Lottery Product, the customer will receive a free Instant 

Ticket. After the promotion, any tickets remaining are awarded to the Retailer to divide 

among the Retailer‘s sales staff. 

The following table identifies the Promotional Events and Retailer Promotions requirements. 

Table 94. Promotional Events and Retailer Promotions Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Recommends annual promotional events and Retailer (store-level) 

promotions in support of Lottery Products 
X  

2. Jointly develops annual promotional events and Retailer promotions 

plan 
X X 

3. Finalizes and approves annual promotions plan  X 

4. Provides recap of each promotional event and Retailer Promotion 

which includes a sales summary, promotional item usage figures and 

other event measurement data as required  

X  

5. Reviews and evaluates event and promotion summaries  X 

6. Jointly performs an analysis of promotional item allocations related to 

the annual promotions plan   
X X 

7. Procures promotional items (e.g., t-shirts, caps, hats, umbrellas, etc.) 

for the promotional events 
 X 



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 8 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  SALES AND MARKETING 

Promotional (Selling and Non-Selling) Events 

8. Jointly identifies promotional items available each quarter for planned 

events  
X X 

9. Submits a request for promotional items related to each event X  

10. Recommends selling Retailers for participation in selling event 

promotions 
X  

11. Approves Retailer recommendation and promotional items requested 

and determines the number of promotional tickets for the event 
 X 

12. Coordinates the deployment (statewide) of all equipment and 

materials needed to support each event 
X  

13. Sets up the event site and all related equipment (including 

marketing/promotional materials and signage) and enables the 

Retailer for Lottery Product sales at the selling event 

X  

14. Conducts player education and distribution of promotional 

items/tickets at the event 
X  

15. Breaks down all equipment and materials on site for the event and 

returns them to storage.   
X  

16. Accounts for all remaining promotional items/tickets at the end of the 

event and returns them as directed by the Texas Lottery 
X  

Retailer Promotions 

17. Jointly identifies promotional items available each quarter for 

promotions 
X X 

18. Submits a request for promotional items related to proposed 

promotions 
X  

19. Approves promotional items and proposed promotions and 

determines the number of promotional tickets to be used for each 

promotion 

 X 

20. Coordinates the deployment (statewide) of all equipment and 

materials needed to support each promotion 
X  

21. Sets up the event site and all related equipment (including 

marketing/promotional materials and signage) and enables the 

Retailer for Lottery Product sales if applicable 

X  

22. Conducts player education and distribution of promotional 

items/tickets at the promotion if applicable 
X  

23. Breaks down all equipment and materials on site for the event and 

returns them to storage 
X  

24. Accounts for all remaining promotional items/tickets at the end of the 

promotion and returns them as directed by the Texas Lottery 
X  
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Detail Requirements 

25. The Successful Proposer must recommend promotional events and Retailer promotions in an annual 

plan submitted to the Texas Lottery by April 30 of each year.  The Promotions Plan must include 

recommendations for Lottery Product kick-off events, annual promotional events (e.g., State Fair of 

Texas, South by Southwest Music and Film Festival, etc.). The Plan must be robust and detailed and 

contain a package of suggested promotional events and programs that take into account the full scope 

of the Texas Lottery‘s advertising and marketing efforts in creating a complete package of support 

for Lottery Products across the State.  The Plan must contain projected staffing requirements, 

promotional item and ticket quantity projections distribution, point-of-sale signage needs and related 

equipment plans. 

26. The Successful Proposer shall provide dedicated promotions staff, including a promotions 

manager/coordinator, responsible for managing and administering the annual Promotions Plan in 

coordination with the Texas Lottery. 

27. The Successful Proposer must also provide specially trained staff and dedicated equipment to 

conduct promotional activities where an onsite presence is required in all regions of the State.  The 

Successful Proposer shall be required to support: 

a) Promotional events (selling and non-selling) not exceeding 120 calendar Days total per year.  

Each promotional event may be one (1) Day or as many as 30 Days in duration with no more 

than four (4) events being conducted concurrently statewide.  

b) Total Active Participation Retailer Promotions not exceeding 7.5% of the Retailer base for the 

State per year. 

c) Total Passive Participation Retailer Promotions not exceeding 18% of the Retailer base for the 

State per year. 

28. The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for event safety and security for the Retailer, 

Successful Proposer staff, Texas Lottery staff and the public.  

29. The Successful Proposer shall provide Texas Lottery-branded uniforms (hat, shirt, jacket, etc.) for all 

Successful Proposer and Retailer event staff.  

30. For each promotional event, as specified by the Texas Lottery, the Successful Proposer must: 

a) provide promotions staff to conduct promotional activities throughout the event including nights, 

weekends and holidays; 

b) coordinate Lottery Product sales at single or multiple site locations, as required;  

c) provide technical support for the duration of the event; and 

d) ensure the Retailer is available to participate in the selling event. 

31. The Successful Proposer must be capable of supporting multiple Retailer Promotions occurring at the 

same time in the State. 

32. The Successful Proposer must provide a detailed written report to the Texas Lottery evaluating each 

promotional event or Retailer Promotion inclusive of recommendations for future participation in the 

event/promotion or modifications for enhancing future success. Reports must be filed by type of 

promotion, district and date or as otherwise specified by the Texas Lottery. 

33. The Successful Proposer‘s Promotions manager/coordinator must ensure all promotional equipment 

needed for promotional events and Retailer promotions arrives at the event clean and in good 

working order, according to the Texas Lottery promotional event schedule. 

34. The Successful Proposer must provide all promotional equipment to support the promotions plan. 

Currently, the following equipment is utilized to support the promotions plan. The Texas Lottery 
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reserves the sole right to approve the promotional equipment and art work recommended by the 

Successful Proposer.  

a) Large Lone Star Spinning Wheels. Thirty-six inch (36‖) spinning wheels, screw on molding, six 

(6) foot metal pole with metal base, axle for metal pole, heavy-duty plastic indicator with 

indicator holder. 

b) Small Lone Star Spinning Wheels. Twenty-four inch (24‖) spinning wheels, screw on molding, 

five (5) foot metal pole with metal base, axle for metal pole, heavy-duty plastic indicator with 

indicator holder. 

c) Legends for Spinning Wheels. The Successful Proposer must provide erasable legends per trailer 

for the spinning wheels. Design, size, and other exact specifications for the legend must be 

approved by the Texas Lottery prior to production. 

d) Promotional Trailers. A sufficient number of Promotional trailers must be provided to support 

the Promotions Plan schedule. Promotional trailers must be of appropriate size to meet the needs 

and support the Promotions Plan. Currently, the Texas Lottery uses two different size trailers 

with the largest being seven (7) feet, six (6) inches (7‘6‖) inside height by eight (8) feet (8‘) wide 

by twelve (12) feet (12‘) long. At a minimum, the trailers must have compatible hookups for 

Lottery gaming equipment to operate multiple components simultaneously. There must be a 

method for securing cash and Lottery tickets in the trailer.  Each trailer must be equipped with 

four (4) exterior adjustable flood lights, have a minimum power requirement of 20 amps and 

must include at least four (4) internal and two (2) external one hundred ten (110) volt outlets.  

Each trailer must include a CD stereo system with speakers with a built-in rack to hold the 

equipment, a security system, ticket displays and ample storage for promotional components. 

Trailer design considerations must include customer flow, safety, equipment and electrical 

needs, security, lighting, signage, storage, and Retailer, player and staffing needs. Other design 

and trailer options of similar or like quality may be considered by the Texas Lottery. The 

Successful Proposer must submit multiple options for consideration by the Texas Lottery that 

will support the promotions plan. The final design, size, specifications, equipment and layout of 

the trailers must be approved by the Texas Lottery prior to production.  

e) PA Systems. The Successful Proposer must provide a sufficient number of PA systems to 

support the Promotions Plan schedule. Each trailer must have a PA system with two (2) handheld 

cordless microphones and two wireless (non-handheld) microphones. The PA system must have 

an amp of at least two hundred (200) watts of power and must have two (2) speakers. 

f) General Supplies and Equipment. The Successful Proposer must provide all items that are 

essential to conducting a promotional event or Retailer promotion.  This will include but is not 

limited to branded tents, banners, signage, generators, first aid kits, safety equipment, tables, 

portable booths and other promotional equipment as determined and approved by the Texas 

Lottery. 

35. The Successful Proposer must maintain all promotional equipment in good working order, and all 

promotional equipment must be available for use in meeting the approved promotions plan schedule. 

36. The Successful Proposer must maintain and track all promotional equipment inventory. 

Table 95. Promotional Events Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  
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2. The Proposer must provide a description of the promotional equipment and capabilities to support 

the promotions plan and describe the Proposer‘s approach to promotions and how the plan will be 

developed. 

3. The Proposer must identify the entire promotions program team whose full-time responsibility will 

be to develop and run the statewide promotions plan.  Proposers must provide detailed resumes for 

all the promotions team members outlining their experience conducting promotional activities. The 

Proposer must describe its use of full-time dedicated team members working on the program and 

must also identify any other staff who will assist with the promotions plan, describing how the team 

will be coordinated and trained to maximize the benefits of the program.   

4. The Proposer may offer an alternative approach and equipment for conducting promotional events 

and Retailer promotions in support of Lottery Products.  The Texas Lottery reserves the sole right to 

select the approach and equipment to be used for all promotional events. 

Table 96. Promotional Events Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.55 Failure to Support a Promotional Event 

8.7 MARKETING MATERIALS AND RELATED EQUIPMENT 

The Lottery Operator provides a variety of marketing materials and related equipment to 

support sales and marketing activities for all Lottery Products. Texas Lottery Retailers carry an 

average of twenty-four (24) Instant Ticket Games per store. The following table identifies the 

marketing materials and related equipment requirements. 

Table 97. Marketing Materials and Related Equipment Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Provides, delivers, positions and maintains a supply of Instant Ticket 

dispensers to support all active selling games for each Retailer  
X  

2. Provides each Retailer a Texas Lottery-approved sign X  

3. Provides each Retailer a playstation  X  
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Detail Requirements 

4. The Successful Proposer must provide a variety of marketing materials and related equipment that fit 

the varying Retailer environments and placement criteria. At a minimum, the Successful Proposer 

must provide each Retailer the following materials/equipment:  

a) Playstation—A device that is stocked with Texas Lottery play slips and brochures readily 

available for customers to take and fill out, in addition to displaying current Lottery promotional 

material. The Successful Proposer must provide an adequate number of playstations to 

accommodate all licensed Retailers; 

b) Instant Ticket dispenser—The dispensers must be able to securely store, display and dispense all 

tickets and pack sizes offered by the Texas Lottery.  The Successful Proposer must provide an 

adequate number of dispensers to accommodate the inventory selection maintained by the 

Retailer (on average, 24 Instant Ticket games, but with a range of 4 to 100 games). The 

Successful Proposer must also provide unique dispensers that can be used to market and sell 

specialized Lottery Products that may be offered from time to time (e.g., spotlight game, suite of 

games, etc.); and 

c) Neon Lottery Signs with attached LED/Starlite Signs—The LED/Starlite signs must include a 

scrolling messaging display that is remotely programmable by the Texas Lottery. Signs must be 

updated via wired/wireless communication through the Retailer Sales Terminal/Lottery Gaming 

System.  

The Texas Lottery reserves the sole right to approve the equipment recommended by the Successful 

Proposer. Current deployment of marketing materials and related equipment can be found in 

Appendix 1, TLC Current State Operations. 

5. The Successful Proposer shall ensure the Instant Ticket dispensers, playstations, and Texas Lottery 

signs are in new or ―like-new‖ condition including but not limited to appearance and functionality 

and shall replace promptly worn/damaged equipment at the request of the Texas Lottery. 

6. The Successful Proposer shall resolve all non-sales and/or non-validation equipment problems and 

return the equipment to service within three (3) Days of notification as required under section 

3.60.45.  

7. The Successful Proposer may be required to provide and install Texas Lottery-approved signage on 

the Successful Proposer‘s fleet vehicles that are used in the State of Texas.  

8. The Successful Proposer must provide a quarterly inventory of all marketing materials and related 

equipment. The inventory must include a summary of the condition of all items. 

Table 98. Marketing Materials and Related Equipment Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide an overview of the marketing materials and related equipment that will 

be used to support sales and marketing activities for all Lottery Products. 

3. The Proposer must describe its capability to update signage within the Retailer environment via 

wired/wireless communication with the Retailer Sales Terminal/Lottery Gaming System.  



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 8 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  SALES AND MARKETING 

 

Table 99. Marketing Material and Related Equipment Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.45 Failure to Resolve a Lottery Non-Sales and / or Validation Equipment Problem within 

the Specified Timeframe  

3.60.56 Inability to Program the Programmable Signs 

3.60.57 Inability of the Programmable Signs to Communicate 

8.8 RESEARCH AND LOTTERY PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT  

The Lottery Operator conducts research to gather insightful and reliable information about 

people‘s perceptions, attitudes, and behaviors as they relate (actually or potentially) to the 

Texas Lottery and its products.  The goal is to provide supportive information that may be used 

in decision-making and budget development processes. The primary objective of research 

conducted by the Lottery Operator is to identify opportunities to improve and sustain existing 

Lottery Products‘ sales and develop new Lottery Products and/or Lottery Product enhancements 

to meet or exceed customer expectations.  

Table 100. Research and Lottery Product Development Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Monitors new lottery products or lottery game enhancements 

implemented in other States for viability in Texas 
X  

2. Develops new lottery product concepts  X  

3. Conducts and provides the results of research studies and performs an 

analysis of the viability of the lottery products or lottery product 

enhancements that will be proposed to the Texas Lottery  

X  

4. Provides requested research data to the Texas Lottery within an 

agreed-upon time period 
X  

5. Analyzes and develops variety of research reports based on 

information and data provided  
 X 

6. Evaluates viability of new lottery product or lottery product 

enhancement introduction in context of current product offerings 
 X 

Detail Requirements 

7. The Successful Proposer must maintain an ongoing research and development program in the areas 

of game design and new concept development and operation. The results of such research must be 

shared with the Texas Lottery upon request.  

8. The Successful Proposer must consult with the Texas Lottery related to research design whenever 

research is conducted on the Texas Lottery's behalf. 
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9. The Successful Proposer must provide geo-demographic sales forecasts to assist in marketing and 

expansion decisions. Sales forecasts must include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a) Mapping capability—capable of mapping to at least street level by each major city in the state 

and county in the rural areas; 

b) Geo-coding—the ability to use floating decimal or comparable architecture to plot Retailer 

locations; 

c) Propensity to play—ability to produce the propensity to play for each Texas Lottery Product by, 

but not limited to county, zip code and city; and 

d) Site Identification—ability to break down areas by business type. 

10. The Successful Proposer must provide the Texas Lottery with the latest version of graphics programs 

that can provide sales analysis by county, zip code, city, or other criteria as designated by the Texas 

Lottery. 

11. The Successful Proposer must provide comparative reports against other U.S. lotteries on a quarterly 

basis and must make the data accessible to Texas Lottery personnel. 

12. At least quarterly or upon the request of the Texas Lottery, the Successful Proposer shall identify up 

to two million (2,000,000) Texas households, as a result of demographic, geographic and 

psychographic analysis provided by the Texas Lottery, and produce an address list for use by the 

Texas Lottery. 

13. The Successful Proposer shall respond timely to requests for research and data requirements (e.g., 

zone level purchasing information) from Texas Lottery research and advertising vendors.  

14. Upon request by the Texas Lottery, the Successful Proposer must provide a detailed analysis and 

plan for new lottery products or product modifications. At a minimum, the analysis must include the 

following: 

a) additional lottery products proposed—indicate the order in which those products might be 

introduced in Texas; 

b) an indication of the anticipated time required to develop and implement a new lottery product or 

product modification, while maintaining sales levels of all games at maximum levels, based on 

experience in other states; and 

c) the possible impact (cannibalization) of new games or game modifications on existing Lottery 

Products. 

Table 101. Research and Game Development Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section. 

2. The Proposer must provide an overview of its research and development process for new games and 

new game introductions. This must include an overview of all the variety of research methods 

utilized to develop, gather, analyze and report data. 

3. The Proposer must describe the methods that will be utilized to obtain and use geographic and 

psychographic information for making business recommendations to the Texas Lottery. 

4. The Proposer must identify the research and development staff whose full-time responsibilities are to 

conduct research on new selling opportunities and new marketing strategies. Proposers must also 

identify any staff who may assist with these activities, but will not be assigned to the Texas Lottery 

account on a full-time basis. 
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Response Requirements 

5. The Proposer must identify the research and/or data analyst staff whose full-time responsibilities are 

to respond to special reporting requests, develop / respond to requests for specialized sales analysis, 

etc.  Proposers must also identify any staff who may assist with these requirements, but will not be 

assigned to the Texas Lottery account on a full-time basis. 
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PART 9  

9.1 OVERVIEW 

All shipping and receiving functions for Instant Tickets are provided from a secured central 

distribution warehouse provided and maintained by the Lottery Operator. Secure warehousing 

facilities are also provided and maintained by the Lottery Operator for the storage and 

distribution and return of On-Line Ticket stock, play slips and promotional items. Packing and 

distribution functions include filling orders, ticket packaging, documentation, tracking, and 

security and destruction of unsold, returned or unused tickets, and On-Line Ticket stock. The 

Lottery Operator must comply with Texas-Lottery approved management and security 

procedures and rules for the receipt, storage, assignment, delivery, return and destruction of 

materials associated with Lottery Products. Delivery of Instant Tickets to Retailers is contracted 

with a third party courier service by the Lottery Operator. 

9.2 NEW INSTANT TICKET DELIVERY AND STORAGE 

The Texas Lottery contracts with Instant Ticket Manufacturers (ITMs) to produce Instant Ticket 

games. The Instant Ticket games are produced at the ITM‘s facility and shipped to the central 

distribution warehouse. The ITMs provide electronic game files to be loaded on the Lottery 

Gaming System. Random Instant Ticket packs are tested to ensure the tickets meet Texas 

Lottery security and validation standards. Once approved by the Texas Lottery, Instant Tickets 

are distributed to Retailers across the State of Texas. 

Table 102. New Instant Ticket Delivery and Storage Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

ITMs/ 3rd 
Party 

Vendors 

1. Delivers Instant Tickets to the central distribution warehouse 

and provides game files to be loaded on the Lottery Gaming 

System 

  X 

2. Loads Instant Ticket game files on the Lottery Gaming System X   

3. Jointly count and verify receipt of tickets X X  

4. Performs Instant Ticket game testing   X X 

5. Reports any game testing problems to the Successful Proposer 

and ITM 
 X  

6. Jointly perform problem analysis and address any problems X X X 

7. Approves or rejects Instant Ticket game  X  

8. Deletes game files for rejected Instant Ticket games from the 

Lottery Gaming System 
X  

 

9. Distributes Instant Tickets according to the Instant Ticket game 

plan once the game is approved 
X  
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Detail Requirements 

10. The Successful Proposer must load Instant Ticket game files on the Lottery Gaming System within 

three (3) Days of notification from the Texas Lottery and notify the Texas Lottery of completion. 

11. The Successful Proposer must recommend a plan to stage and distribute daily orders to optimize the 

distribution of current Instant Ticket games.  

12. The Successful Proposer must be able to meet the staging and distribution requirements for 

simultaneous game sales launches consistent with the Instant Ticket game plan as identified by the 

Texas Lottery. 

13. Upon request by the Texas Lottery, the Successful Proposer must load and distribute games on an 

expedited basis to meet ticket inventory and sales requirements.  

14. The Successful Proposer must actively participate in the resolution of any issue/problem with the 

installation of a new Instant Ticket game validation file. 

15. The Successful Proposer must delete game files for rejected Instant Ticket games from the Lottery 

Gaming System within one (1) Working Day after notification from the Texas Lottery 

16. The Successful Proposer shall package and release to the Instant Ticket Manufacturer for 

destruction, any Instant Ticket game not approved by the Texas Lottery. 

Table 103. New Instant Ticket Delivery and Storage Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe the level of automation to be used in managing, fulfilling, and storing 

Instant Ticket orders. 

3. The Proposer must describe the proposed staging and distribution plan for simultaneous Instant 

Ticket game sales launches. 

4. The Proposer must describe in detail its warehousing and distribution methodology and staffing plan, 

including any automated functions. 

Table 104. New Instant Ticket Delivery and Storage Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.58 Failure to Load Instant Game Files within Specified Timeframe 

9.3 INSTANT TICKET DELIVERY 

The Texas Lottery designs and introduces approximately 90 to 100 new Instant Ticket games 

each year.  New Instant Ticket games are delivered to Retailers in accordance with the 

designated launch dates identified by the Texas Lottery in the Instant Ticket game plan. Daily 

inventory replenishment is also fulfilled based on orders initiated by Retailers and the Lottery 

Operator‘s ticket inventory management personnel and automated inventory system. 
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Table 105. Instant Ticket Delivery Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Processes orders received from Retailers from the Successful 

Proposer‘s ticket inventory management personnel for additional 

Instant Tickets  

X  

2. Provides copies of Instant Ticket orders to the central distribution 

warehouse staff 
X  

3. Fulfills order and ships to Retailer X  

4. Investigates ―missing‖ tickets / packs based on Texas Lottery rules 

and guidelines 
X  

5. Returns tickets to the central distribution warehouse, if the Retailer 

does not accept the tickets 
X  

Detail Requirements 

6. The Successful Proposer must process (process means issuance of the Instant Ticket order to the 

central distribution warehouse) all daily ticket orders received within the next Working Day to 

ensure ticket deliveries are not delayed. Orders received for processing at the central distribution 

warehouse Monday through Thursday must be delivered to the Retailer location within 36 hours of 

order receipt; orders received for processing at the central distribution warehouse on Friday must be 

delivered to the Retailer location within 72 hours of order receipt.  

7. The Successful Proposer must document and provide a plan for processing and shipping ticket orders 

on weekends, holidays, and other times based on ticket ordering activity and under special 

circumstances as required by the Texas Lottery.   

8. The Successful Proposer must develop an invoice/ticket order document to be included in each ticket 

order package or any alternative methods for this process and obtain Texas Lottery approval of the 

document format. 

9. The Successful Proposer must have a process to prevent Instant Ticket Manufacturer omitted packs 

including, but not limited to, inappropriately wrapped packs, mis-cut packs or other defective packs 

from being shipped to Retailers. 

10. The Successful Proposer shall develop and use a procedure and process to document the delivery of 

tickets and obtain signed delivery receipts from individual Retailers. 

11. The Successful Proposer must maintain written proof of delivery of ticket orders and provide such 

documentation to the Texas Lottery within four (4) business hours of request.  The document must 

include the signature of the party who received the Instant Ticket order. 

12. The Successful Proposer must pack communication and/or marketing pieces with ticket orders as 

required by the Texas Lottery. 

Table 106. Instant Ticket Delivery Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                             PART 9 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES  WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION 

Response Requirements 

2. The Proposer must describe its plan for processing and shipping ticket orders on weekends, holidays, 

and other times based on ticket ordering activity and under special circumstances as required by the 

Texas Lottery. 

3. The Proposer must describe the process (including security features) to be used to document the 

delivery of tickets and obtain proof of signed delivery receipts from individual Retailers. 

4. The Proposer must describe its proposed ticket order delivery plan for Retailers in geographically 

remote areas. 

5. The Proposer must describe the procedures and materials that will be used to package Instant Tickets 

for delivery to Retailers.  

6. The Proposer must describe the process that will be used to prevent Instant Ticket Manufacturer 

omitted packs or other defective packs from being shipped to Retailers. 

7. The Proposer must describe the methods, procedures, hardware and software to be used to monitor 

Instant Ticket inventory and ensure that optimum inventory levels are maintained at each Retailer 

location.  

Table 107. Instant Ticket Delivery Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.59 Instant Ticket Packs Not Delivered to Texas Lottery Retailers 

Liquidated Damages 

3.61.8 Unassigned Packs of Instant Tickets Missing from the Warehouse 

9.3.1 Warehouse Instant Ticket Return Verification 

There are three types of ticket returns that occur from Retailer locations: partial pack returns, 

full pack returns and manual returns.  LSRs are responsible for the return ticket processes at the 

Retailer level.  This section covers the steps to transfer tickets from the Retailer location 

through verification and return processing at the central distribution warehouse facility.   

Following the retrieval of tickets from the Retailer: 

1. Manual (Damaged, Defective, Retailer Sales terminal unavailable for processing, etc.) pack 

ticket returns are delivered to the central distribution warehouse for credit to the Retailer‘s 

account and retention for destruction.  

2. Full pack ticket returns (processed by Terminal at Retailer) will be delivered to the central 

distribution warehouse for verification and destruction or re-distribution based on the status 

of the game. 

3. Partial pack ticket returns (processed by Terminal at Retailer) will be delivered to the 

central distribution warehouse for verification of the range of tickets returned and retention 

for destruction. 

Table 108. Warehouse Instant Ticket Return Verification Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Jointly receive, verify, and report on the status and count of tickets 

returned to a secure area at the central distribution warehouse 
X X 
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2. Sorts returned tickets by ticket or status type according to documented 

procedures 
X  

3. Verifies and validates returned pack and ticket ranges from Retailers 

according to documented procedures 
X  

4. Determines and documents processing of returned tickets within 

specified time frames 
X  

5. Reconciles discrepancies for returned pack and ticket ranges from 

Retailers 
X  

6. Stores defective tickets, partially opened packs, and tickets from 

closed games in the Successful Proposer‘s warehouse in Texas 

Lottery-controlled space  

 X 

Detail Requirements 

7. The Successful Proposer shall document the process and procedure, subject to approval by the Texas 

Lottery, that will be used to track and store partial packs of Instant Tickets returned from Retailers.  

8. The Successful Proposer must document the procedure, subject to approval by the Texas Lottery, for 

handling Instant Tickets that are in a "hold,‖ "lost warehouse,‖ "lost Retailer,‖ or "in transit" status 

for more than 60 Days. 

9. All manual (damaged, defective, etc.) full or partial pack ticket returns must be returned to the 

central distribution warehouse and processed for credit to the Retailer‘s account within twenty-one 

(21) Days from Retailer pickup. 

10. All full pack ticket returns (processed by Terminal at Retailer) must be returned to the central 

distribution warehouse within twenty-one (21) Days from Retailer pickup. 

11. All partial pack ticket returns (processed by Terminal at Retailer) must be returned to the central 

distribution warehouse within twenty-one (21) Days from Retailer pickup. 

12. If, at any time during the return of an Instant Ticket pack to the warehouse, the pack is placed on 

―Hold‖ status for more than ninety (90) consecutive Days or at the end of validation date for the 

game, the Successful Proposer must change the pack status to ―Stolen Warehouse.‖  

13. If, at any time during the return of an Instant Ticket pack to the warehouse, the pack is placed on 

―Lost Warehouse‖ status for more than ninety (90) consecutive Days, at the end of validation date 

for the game, or a validation is attempted after the pack is placed in ―Lost Warehouse‖ status, the 

Successful Proposer must change the pack status to ―Stolen Warehouse.‖ 

14. If, at any time during the return of an Instant Ticket pack to the warehouse, the pack is placed on 

―Lost Retailer‖ status for more than ninety (90) consecutive Days, at the end of validation date for 

the game, or a validation is attempted after the pack is placed in ―Lost Retailer‖ status, the 

Successful Proposer must change the pack status to ―Stolen Retailer Non-chargeable.‖ 

15. If an Instant Ticket full or partial pack is placed on ―InTransit‖ status for more than thirty (30) 

consecutive Days, the Successful Proposer must change the pack status to ―Stolen in Transit.‖ 

16. The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for damage to and/or loss of Instant Ticket 

packs and Instant Tickets in the Successful Proposer‘s care or custody. 

Table 109. Warehouse Instant Ticket Return Verification Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 
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Response Requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe the process and procedure (including security features) that will be used 

to document and store partial packs of Instant Tickets returned from Retailers and the tracking 

system that will be used to follow the packs returned to the warehouse. 

3. The Proposer must describe the procedures for locating Instant Tickets that are in a "Hold,‖ "Lost 

Warehouse,‖ "Lost Retailer,‖ or "In Transit" status longer than the permitted time limit. 

Table 110. Warehouse Instant Ticket Return Verification Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.60 Instant Ticket Packs Not Returned to the Warehouse 

3.60.61 Warehouse Instant Ticket Return Verification  

9.3.2 Stolen and Damaged Instant Ticket Reporting 

If a Retailer reports Instant Tickets as stolen or damaged, the Retailer may be eligible for a 

credit for those tickets based on Texas Lottery rules and/or procedures. The Retailer must notify 

the Lottery Operator, and the Lottery Operator must enter the tickets into the Texas Lottery‘s 

stolen/damaged ticket database and the Lottery Gaming System.  

Before requesting credit from the Texas Lottery for stolen tickets, the Retailer must report the 

theft to a local law enforcement agency. The Lottery Operator then verifies validation attempts 

on these reported stolen tickets and provides feedback to the Retailer regarding the stolen 

Instant Tickets. The Texas Lottery monitors the process. 

If Instant Tickets assigned to a Retailer are damaged and the damage was not caused by the 

Retailer or the result of circumstances within the Retailer‘s control, the Retailer can request 

credit from the Texas Lottery for the damaged tickets. The Retailer must notify the Lottery 

Operator, and the Lottery Operator must enter the damaged tickets into the Texas Lottery‘s 

stolen/damaged ticket database and the Lottery Gaming System. The Texas Lottery monitors 

the process. 

Table 111. Stolen and Damaged Instant Ticket Reporting Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Handles incoming contact from Retailers about stolen or damaged 

tickets 
X  

2. Documents the event and enters the stolen or damaged ticket range 

into the stolen/damaged ticket database and the Lottery Gaming 

System 

X  

3. Checks to determine if the tickets reported stolen/damaged were 

activated or paid for and logs their status based on the review of 

tickets classified as stolen 

X  

4. Monitors the stolen/damaged ticket database  X 

Detail Requirements 

5. The Successful Proposer shall document the process and procedure for handling damaged or stolen 

tickets.  
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6. The Successful Proposer must be available via the call center twenty-four (24) hours a Day, seven 

(7) Days a week, three hundred sixty-five (365) Days a year for the intake of reports and the 

documenting of stolen and/or damaged tickets.  

Table 112. Stolen and Damaged Instant Ticket Reporting Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe how damaged and stolen tickets will be processed.  

9.4 INSTANT TICKET AND ON-LINE TICKET STOCK DESTRUCTION 

The Lottery Operator contracts with a Texas Lottery-approved document destruction vendor to 

destroy Instant Tickets and On-Line Ticket stock that will no longer be circulated to Retailers. 

The Texas Lottery approves and witnesses the destruction of all Instant Tickets, On-Line Ticket 

stock and any other related materials. 

Table 113. Instant Ticket and On-Line Ticket Stock Destruction Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Jointly signs forms logging items that will be destroyed X X 

2. Jointly oversees loading of items to be destroyed onto destruction 

vendor‘s vehicle 
X X 

3. Jointly travels to destruction vendor site and witnesses destruction of 

items 
X X 

4. Jointly signs-off at the completion of items destruction X X 

Detail Requirements 

5. The Successful Proposer must provide:  

a) for the destruction of unsold, returned or unused (after game close and reconciliation of game) 

Instant Tickets and On-Line Ticket stock in a secure method, either within the central 

distribution warehouse facility or at a Texas Lottery-approved off-site facility; and 

b) destruction equipment meeting Texas Lottery specifications and the staff to assist with the 

destruction. 

6. The Successful Proposer shall shred or otherwise destroy other Texas Lottery materials, such as 

promotional coupons, void tickets, etc., at the Texas Lottery‘s direction. 

7. The Successful Proposer shall only destroy Instant Tickets, On-Line Ticket stock and other materials 

with permission of the Texas Lottery and under the direct supervision of Texas Lottery personnel. 

Table 114. Instant Ticket and On-Line Ticket Stock Destruction Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  
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Response Requirements 

2. The Proposer must describe the process and/or procedures to ensure the destruction of Instant 

Tickets, On-Line Ticket stock and other materials will be performed only with permission of the 

Texas Lottery and under the direct supervision of Texas Lottery personnel. 

3. The Proposer must describe its process for the destruction of Instant Tickets, On-Line Ticket stock 

and/or other materials.  

9.5 PROMOTIONAL ITEM AND POINT OF SALE (POS) VERIFICATION AND 
RECEIVING 

Promotional items are procured by the Texas Lottery and verified, received, tracked and 

distributed by Texas Lottery and Lottery Operator personnel. The items are distributed to 

Retailers, current players and potential players during sales contests, incentives, promotional 

events or other events that create awareness and interest for Lottery Products. 

In addition, Point of Sale (POS) advertising materials (e.g., pump toppers, playstation inserts, 

mini billboards, jumbo posters and Terminal toppers) are produced by the Texas Lottery‘s 

advertising vendor and shipped to the Lottery Operator for distribution. The POS advertising 

materials are distributed to Retailers by LSRs. 

Table 115. Promotional Item and POS Verification and Receiving Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Receives and stores promotional items and reconciles shipping, 

receiving, and purchasing documentation for merchandise purchased 

by the Texas Lottery 

X  

2. Reviews and verifies shipping, receiving and purchasing 

documentation prepared by the Successful Proposer for merchandise 

purchased by the Texas Lottery  

 X 

3. Provides monthly perpetual promotional item inventory X  

4. Receives and stores Point of Sale items X  

5. Confirms arrival of Point of Sale items with the Texas Lottery X  

6. Distributes Point of Sale items to Retailers X  

Detail Requirements 

7. The Successful Proposer must deliver and/or install promotional and Point of Sale materials to 

Retailers as directed by the Texas Lottery. 

8. The Successful Proposer must comply with Texas Lottery requirements for verifying and receiving 

all Texas Lottery property delivered to the Successful Proposer‘s facilities (e.g., district offices, 

warehouses, etc.).  

9. The Successful Proposer must provide secure storage space for promotional items, equipment and 

POS. 
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Table 116. Promotional Item and POS Verification and Receiving Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must describe how and where promotional items and POS will be received, stored and 

distributed to meet Texas Lottery requirements. 

3. The Proposer must describe the process for the verification, receiving, and ongoing inventory of 

promotional items. 

9.6 PROMOTIONAL MERCHANDISE INVENTORY 

A detailed itemized physical inventory of all promotional merchandise is performed annually by 

the Texas Lottery and the Lottery Operator. The information is used for financial reporting.  

Table 117. Promotional Merchandise Inventory Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Jointly performs an annual promotional merchandise physical 

inventory 
X X 

2. Performs a monthly physical inventory of the promotional 

merchandise in its warehouses or as otherwise requested by the Texas 

Lottery 

X  

Detail Requirements 

3. The Successful Proposer must provide monthly (or as otherwise requested by the Texas Lottery) a 

physical inventory of all promotional items located in the Successful Proposer‘s warehouses. The 

Successful Proposer must conduct the inventory in compliance with all applicable Texas Lottery 

requirements and shall include summary of the condition (e.g., broken, dirty, etc.) of all items. 

4. The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for entering the inventory results into the Texas 

Lottery‘s inventory/financial management system. 

5. The Successful Proposer must provide a comprehensive inventory system capable of tracking 

incoming and outgoing inventory by location (storage/distribution facility). The system must be 

capable of fully interfacing with the Texas Lottery‘s inventory/financial management system. 

Table 118. Promotional Merchandise Inventory Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section. 

2. The Proposer must describe the process for handling incoming and ongoing inventory of all Texas 

Lottery promotional merchandise. 
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9.7 WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Warehouse and Distribution Services are the activities associated with the central distribution 

warehouse and the storing of Instant Tickets, On-Line Ticket stock, On-Line play slips and 

other materials. The following table identifies warehouse and distribution general requirements. 

Table 119. Warehouse and Distribution General Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer TLC 

1. Notifies the Texas Lottery of any inventory conditions that may result 

in the inability to process Retailer Instant Ticket orders for a particular 

game or any general inventory issues 

X  

2. Provides the procedures and processes that will be used to document 

and store full packs of Instant Tickets and rolls of On-Line Ticket 

stock returned from Retailers or refused orders 

X  

3. Provides the procedures and processes that will be utilized to prevent 

the theft of Instant Tickets and rolls of On-Line Ticket stock being 

returned to the central distribution warehouse 

X  

4. Provides physical inventory procedures to be used in the central 

distribution warehouse. The standard of inventory control is one 

hundred percent (100%) reconciliation between computer system and 

physical inventories at the central distribution warehouse by pack and 

ticket for Instant Tickets, and by roll stock identification number for 

On-Line Ticket stock 

X  

5. Performs annual physical inventory of Instant Tickets X  

Detail Requirements 

6. The Successful Proposer must store Instant Tickets for all games in segregated areas in the central 

distribution warehouse depending on game status. 

7. The Successful Proposer shall notify the Texas Lottery, within one (1) hour, of any inventory 

conditions that may result in the inability to process Retailer Instant Ticket orders for a particular 

game or any general inventory issues. 

8. The Successful Proposer must provide all reports required by the Texas Lottery for the annual Instant 

Ticket inventory and the annual Instant Ticket audit to include Short Carton Report, Open Carton 

Report and Tickets Count by game for all available inventory in the central distribution warehouse.  

9. The Successful Proposer shall provide an annual Instant Ticket inventory report including the status 

of all inventory, by game and by pack. This inventory must be completed by the Successful Proposer 

and submitted to the Texas Lottery Controller‘s office within two Working Days of the Texas 

Lottery‘s August 31 fiscal year end. 

10. The Successful Proposer must cooperate and assist in the verification process (physical inventory) 

conducted by Texas Lottery Auditors or authorized designees. 

Table 120. Warehouse and Distribution General Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section. 
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Response Requirements 

2. The Proposer must describe the processes that will be utilized to accomplish Instant Ticket order 

processing and packing at the central distribution warehouse.   

3. The Proposer must describe the process that will be utilized to prevent the theft of Instant Tickets 

and rolls of On-Line Ticket stock being returned to and stored at the central distribution warehouse. 

Table 121. Warehouse and Logistics General Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.62 Failure to Timely Provide Accurate Annual Instant Ticket Inventory Report 
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PART 10  

10.1 CONVERSION PLAN 

Conversion includes all activities to transition from the current Lottery Operator to a 

replacement provider or conversion of the existing Lottery Gaming System to a new System. 

The current Contract for Lottery Operations and Services ends August 31, 2011, and requires 

the current Lottery Operator to cooperate fully with the Texas Lottery and the Successful 

Proposer in the conversion/transition of lottery operations and services to the Successful 

Proposer and to continue to provide contract services at a consistently high level without 

interruption during the turnover period. 

Table 122. Conversion Plan Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer 

TLC 

1. Create a detailed Conversion Plan  X  

2. Review Conversion Plan and provide feedback as appropriate  X 

3. Update the Conversion Plan as required based on the Texas Lottery‘s 

feedback 
X  

4. Review and approve final Conversion Plan  X 

5. Provide full-time Conversion Plan project manager X  

6. Propose project management process and structure X  

7. Review and approve project management process and structure as 

appropriate 
 X 

8. Finalize project management process including the project oversight 

structure 
X  

9. Review and approve the project management process including the 

project oversight structure 
 X 

10. Provide support and assistance during transition to replacement 

provider or conversion to new Lottery Gaming System 
  

Detail Requirements 

11. The Successful Proposer must provide a detailed Conversion Plan as addressed in this section 

within 45 days of Contract execution. 

12. The Successful Proposer‘s System must be enhanced or modified as necessary to conform to the 

Texas Lottery‘s business rules and regulations prior to conversion. 

13. The Texas Lottery requires the Successful Proposer and the current Lottery Operator to work 

together to implement an expedient, seamless and uninterrupted transition of services from the 

current environment to the Successful Proposer‘s System.   The transition shall be planned for and 

accomplished by the Successful Proposer in such a way as to minimize any adverse effect upon any 

Texas Lottery system user, including but not limited to Texas Lottery departments, Retailers, 

players, and TLC vendors and their subcontractors that rely on the services. 
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14. The Successful Proposer must identify the conversion staff whose full-time responsibilities are to 

convert the Texas Lottery to the Successful Proposer‘s System. The Successful Proposer must also 

identify any staff who may assist with these activities, but will not be assigned to the Texas Lottery 

account on a full-time basis (e.g., corporate technical staff).  The assigned project manager must 

have had prior similar systems conversion management experience. 

15. The detailed Conversion Plan must be constructed in Microsoft Project and all supporting 

schedules must be constructed in common Microsoft Office applications and be provided to the 

Texas Lottery as part of the project plan. 

16. The Successful Proposer must work with any third party representatives designated by the Texas 

Lottery as part of the oversight of the Conversion project.  

17. The Successful Proposer must provide a risk identification, escalation and management process as 

part of the Conversion Plan. 

18. The Successful Proposer must complete the conversion to the Successful Proposer‘s System by no 

later than August 31
st
, 2011. 

Table 123. Conversion Plan Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide an overview of its proposed Conversion Plan and process. 

3. The Proposer must provide its proposed Conversion Plan project management process. 

4. The Proposer must identify, including names and resumes, the conversion staff whose full-time 

responsibilities are to convert the Texas Lottery to the Proposer‘s System. Proposers must also 

identify any staff who may assist with these activities, but will not be assigned to the Texas Lottery 

account on a full-time basis (e.g., corporate technical staff). 

Table 124. Conversion Milestones Service Levels 

SLR # SLR Name 

3.60.63 Failure to Cooperate Fully and in Good Faith in the Conversion to any New System 

3.60.64 Failure to Provide a Detailed Conversion Plan within 45 Days of Contract Execution 

3.60.65 Failure to Deliver According to the Final Approved Detailed Conversion Plan 

10.2 INTEGRATION AND TESTING 

Integration and testing are the activities associated with ensuring that all individual Lottery 

Gaming System components are configured and deployed to provide a cohesive solution and to 

achieve the intended results. The following table identifies the integration and testing 

requirements. 

Table 125. Integration and Testing Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer 

TLC 

1. Provides proposed Integration and Test Plan X  

2. Reviews and approves Integration and Test Plan  X 
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3. Defines integration and testing requirements X  

4. Reviews and approves integration and testing requirements  X 

5. Develops, documents and maintains Integration and Testing Plan 

that meets Texas Lottery-defined requirements and adheres to Texas 

Lottery-defined policies 

X  

6. Manages integration and test environment X  

7. Maintains software release matrices across development, QA, and 

production environments and networks 
X  

8. Conducts integration and security testing for all equipment, 

networks, and software to include terminal, system, integration and 

regression testing based on Texas Lottery requirements  

X  

9. Evaluates all new Lottery Gaming System components and services 

for compliance with Texas Lottery security requirements  
X  

10. Assesses and communicates to the Texas Lottery the overall impact 

and potential risk to Lottery Gaming System components prior to 

implementing changes 

X  

11. Jointly defines User Acceptance Test (UAT) requirements X X 

12. Develops UAT plans per requirements X  

13. Reviews and approves UAT plans  X 

14. Conducts and documents UAT results per requirements X  

15. Reviews and approves UAT results  X 

16. Stages new equipment, software and services to smoothly transition 

into existing environment based on Texas Lottery requirements and 

Texas Lottery-approved design documents 

X  

17. Performs modifications and performance enhancement adjustments 

to Lottery Gaming System software and utilities as a result of 

changes to architectural standards or additions and upgrades to the 

environment 

X  

18. Tests new releases of Lottery Gaming System hardware and 

software to ensure required performance and functionality is 

maintained in conformance with SLRs 

X  

19. Provides and supports any and all software required to integrate 

Lottery Gaming System software and hardware 
X  

20. Provides integration of Lottery Gaming System software X  

21. Performs configuration management and change management 

activities related to integration and testing 
X  

22. Documents the procedures to test the integrity and validity of 

archived files  
X  

23. Conducts comprehensive Gaming System tests and provides the 

results to the Texas Lottery 
X  
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24. Reviews and accepts or rejects Gaming System test results as 

appropriate 
 X 

25. Modifies architecture, hardware or software components as required 

based on testing outcomes 
X  

26. Re-tests as appropriate and provides results to the Texas Lottery X  

27. Reviews and accepts test results approving migration of System into 

production 
 X 

Detail Requirements 

28. The Texas Lottery will conduct a series of acceptance tests, which the Successful Proposer must 

support. To support acceptance testing, the Successful Proposer must have testing site facilities 

within 30 miles from the State Capitol building in Austin, Texas, and also provide the ability for 

the Texas Lottery to test from the Texas Lottery headquarters building. The Successful Proposer 

must provide all necessary and required computer hardware, communications hardware, software, 

and at least six (6) test sales Terminals representing each planned Retailer Sales Terminal type with 

appropriate attachments, and six (6) additional non-sales Terminals installed and operational for 

integration, system and acceptance testing prior to the scheduled conversion.  The date to start 

acceptance testing must be no later than June 1
st
, 2011. 

29. The Back-up Data Center and required ICS interfaces must also complete successful acceptance 

testing before conversion. 

30. Each release of the software for testing by the Texas Lottery must be accompanied by release 

notes.  The release notes must evidence good configuration management practices, namely each 

release must be identified by a version number and the changes must be succinctly defined.  This 

requirement shall extend throughout the Contract and not just the conversion period. 

31. The Texas Lottery will consider the System ready for acceptance testing once all hardware and 

software items are installed and configured to operate in the Texas Lottery‘s environment and in 

accordance with the Texas Lottery‘s standards.  The Texas Lottery will have successfully 

completed testing when all components of the System have been tested and all significant issues 

identified during testing are resolved by the Successful Proposer and validated by the Texas 

Lottery.  The Successful Proposer and Texas Lottery will develop and agree upon detailed criteria 

to be met prior to the System being accepted and put into production.  

32. The Texas Lottery takes a comprehensive approach to acceptance testing and reserves the right to 

conduct any acceptance testing deemed necessary.  The results of these tests will determine 

whether the Texas Lottery accepts an application or a change to an application.  The Texas Lottery 

is the exclusive decision-maker for determining acceptance test passing or failing.  

33. The Successful Proposer must perform and document extensive self-testing, debugging, security 

testing, and quality assurance on all software prior to submitting the software to the Texas Lottery 

for acceptance testing.  All software submitted to the Texas Lottery for testing must be fully 

operational and principally ready for production use.  The Texas Lottery reserves the right to reject 

any software.  

34. The Successful Proposer shall provide onsite personnel capable of modifying the Lottery Gaming 

System and all support systems during acceptance testing.  The onsite personnel must be assigned 

to the Texas Lottery on a full-time (at least 40 hours a week) basis during acceptance testing, and 

must also be experienced with the specific hardware and software being tested.  
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35. The Successful Proposer must ensure any system used for acceptance testing is identical to the 

Lottery Gaming System and shall provide document of such upon request by the Texas 

Lottery. 

36. The Successful Proposer must ensure all security controls and encryption schemas remain in effect 

during all tests.  

37. The Successful Proposer must ensure any system used for acceptance testing has working 

interfaces identical to those found in the production system.  

38. The Successful Proposer shall test the ability of the backup Lottery Gaming System to take over 

total operation of all Texas Lottery Products, associated systems and functions and then return 

operational control to the production Lottery Gaming System.  This must occur transparently to all 

System users.  

Table 126. Integration and Testing Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide an overview of its proposed integration and testing process. 

3. The Proposer must provide its proposed acceptance testing process and provide its standard 

acceptance testing criteria. 

4. The Proposer must provide its proposed integration and test Plan. 

5. The Proposer must describe its Lottery Gaming System backup, recovery, failover process and test 

plan. 

10.3 IMPLEMENTATION AND MIGRATION 

Implementation and migration services are the activities associated with the installation of new 

Lottery Gaming System components (e.g., hardware, software, Terminals and network 

components). The following table identifies the implementation and migration requirements. 

Table 127. Implementation and Migration Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer 

TLC 

1. Provides implementation requirements and migration plan and install 

schedule for all system components and Terminals 
X  

2. Reviews and approves implementation and migration plan and 

schedules 
 X 

3. Develops, documents and maintains implementation and migration 

procedures that meet Texas Lottery-approved requirements and 

adhere to Texas Lottery-approved defined policies 

X  

4. Coordinates and reviews all implementation and migration plans and 

schedules with the Texas Lottery in advance, in accordance with 

change management process and procedures 

X  

5. Conducts pre-installation Retailer site surveys, as required  X  
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6. Participates in pre-installation Retailer site surveys, as desired  X 

7. Installs enhancements to technical architecture or services provided 

as needed based on surveys 
X  

8. Installs new or enhanced Lottery Gaming System components (e.g., 

hardware, software, middleware, utilities, networks, peripherals, 

Terminals, configurations, etc.) as necessary to meet service 

requirements 

X  

9. Coordinates implementation and migration support activities with the 

Texas Lottery and the Successful Proposer call center 
X  

10. Performs data migration and conversion by electronic or manual 

methods as part of implementation and migration plan 
X  

11. Provides the Texas Lottery and Retailers with training related to the 

implementation of new Lottery Products, services and equipment  
X  

Detail Requirements 

12. The Successful Proposer shall provide a mechanism by which the Texas Lottery and/or an 

independent vendor may verify that the software provided by the Successful Proposer and tested 

and accepted by the Texas Lottery is the same software moved into production, and that no other 

software is moved into production without the Texas Lottery‘s express prior written approval.  

13. The Successful Proposer shall develop and maintain an installation tracking system and provide 

reports as required by the Texas Lottery.  The installation tracking system must confirm the 

completion of training, Terminal(s) installation and operational status.  

14. The Successful Proposer must select (subject to Texas Lottery prior approval) and use an 

independent certified public accountant with systems experience to design and approve the 

accounting reports provided by the Successful Proposer‘s System. The Successful Proposer must 

ensure the firm‘s services are available at all times during the implementation of the Successful 

Proposer's System and for a period of six (6) months thereafter.  Throughout the Contract, the 

Successful Proposer must make available, on an as-needed basis or as otherwise requested by the 

Texas Lottery, equivalent accounting and systems expertise to assist with corrections and 

extensions to the body of system reports. 

Table 128. Implementation and Migration Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide a description of its proposed implementation and migration strategy and 

processes. 

10.4 CONVERSION PLAN GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

The Texas Lottery wants to minimize conversion risks and maintain good Retailer relations 

throughout the conversion process.  All existing terminals and related System sales equipment 

will be removed by the current Lottery Operator within fourteen (14) Days of the Conversion 

completion date, unless otherwise directed by the Texas Lottery. 
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Table 129. Conversion Plan  General Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer 

TLC 

1. Jointly develop Conversion Plan responsibilities X X 

Detail Requirements 

2. The Successful Proposer must minimize conversion risks and maintain good Retailer relations 

throughout the conversion process. 

3. The Successful Proposer must submit a detailed Conversion Plan and schedule for all Retailers, 

including but not limited to, Retailer Sales Terminals and related System sales equipment. The 

Successful Proposer must submit the plan to the Texas Lottery for prior approval within the 

timeframe specified by the Service Level Requirements. At a minimum, and in addition to the 

Retailer requirements above, the Conversion Plan must include, but not be limited to, staffing, 

failover procedures, acceptance testing and a security plan.  The final Conversion Plan must be 

approved by the Texas Lottery. All changes to the plan must be approved by the Texas Lottery 

prior to implementation. 

4. The Successful Proposer shall provide the Texas Lottery with the project management software to 

be used by the Successful Proposer to enable the Texas Lottery to monitor and maintain project 

management schedules. 

5. The Successful Proposer must convert a minimum of thirty-six (36) months of pre-existing sales 

and operating data, including the data from the current Lottery Operator, so the Texas Lottery and 

the Retailers will see a continuity of data in displays and reports from before, during, and after the 

start-up day.  A conversion process for historical Texas Lottery data (older than thirty-six [36] 

months) must be developed by the Successful Proposer in conjunction with the Texas Lottery.  

Interim Facilities and Processes 

6. If the conversion involves interim configurations, facilities, staffing, or business procedures, the 

Successful Proposer must explicitly describe them in the Conversion Plan and place their 

development and use within the Conversion Plan schedule. 

7. Costs associated with interim facilities are wholly the Successful Proposer‘s obligation.  

Lottery Staff Training 

8. Texas Lottery staff must be fully trained by the Successful Proposer on the various Lottery Gaming 

System applications and Retailer Sales Terminals prior to conversion.    At a minimum, training 

must consist of new System training, and conversion training. 

Project Reporting and Monitoring 

9. The Successful Proposer must provide a project team structure and management process which 

facilitates Texas Lottery oversight of the conversion. Regular project status meetings, 

walkthroughs, and reporting are required. 

10. The Successful Proposer must provide a dedicated on-site Conversion plan manager for the 

duration of the implementation and conversion to the new System.  

11. The Successful Proposer must provide access to project records to enable Texas Lottery staff to 

monitor project management tasks, schedules, and issues.  This requirement begins with Contract 

execution and continues throughout the Contract.  

Validation After Conversion 
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12. The Successful Proposer must accommodate and provide validation of winning tickets that have 

been sold prior to the conversion, either by reading the bar code or by accepting manual entry of 

the ―old‖ winning ticket‘s serial number into the new system. The goal, during conversion and 

after, is to minimize confusion and effort for the players and Retailers. 

Process Documentation 

13. The Successful Proposer must provide the following process guides for Texas Lottery review and 

approval: 

a) Change management; 

b) Release management; 

c) Performance management; 

d) Service Level Monitoring and Reporting; and 

e) Texas Lottery security requirements as defined in this RFP and the Contract. 

Table 130. Conversion Plan General Requirements Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  

2. The Proposer must provide a proposed high-level Conversion Plan that would be appropriate for 

the size and complexity of the Texas Lottery‘s needs as described in this RFP. The Conversion 

Plan must include an information sharing and communication plan and expected participation from 

the Texas Lottery and the level and duration of involvement from the current vendor.  

3. The Proposer must describe the structure and content of its process documentation and explain how 

the documentation will be customized to fit Texas Lottery needs. 

4. The Proposer must describe the project management methodology that will be employed during the 

transition, which will address the following at a minimum: 

a)  Project Management; 

b) Business Change Management; 

c) Issue Management; 

d) Communication Strategy 

e) Knowledge Transfer; 

f) Relationship Management; 

g) Risk Management and Mitigation; and 

h) Transition Reporting (Type and Frequency). 

5. The Proposer shall provide a detailed initial distribution plan for Instant Tickets, On-Line Ticket 

stock, Retailer Sales Terminals and associated System sales equipment, Point-of-Sale materials, 

On-Line play slips, promotional merchandise, playstations, signage and other materials, as 

required. Quality control procedures should be included in this plan.  

10.5 CONVERSION MILESTONES 

The following are the critical milestone requirements that must be included in the Conversion 

Plan.  It is expected that the Conversion Plan tasks will be at a greater level of detail than those 

listed in the following table. 
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Table 131. Conversion Milestones 

Milestone Description Milestone Date 

1. Identify and make available to the Texas 

Lottery on TLC‘s premises the Conversion 

Project Manager 

 

2. Creation and delivery of detailed Conversion 

Plan 

 

3. Lottery Gaming System software available for 

TLC User Acceptance Testing (UAT) 

 

4. Successful UAT Testing and System 

Acceptance Signoff by the Texas Lottery 

 

5. System fully operational with Retailers‘ 

selling Lottery Products 

1  September 2011 

Table 132. Conversion Milestones Response Requirements 

Response Requirements 

1. The Proposer must provide a Conversion Plan and time chart (Gantt, PERT, or similar format) 

identifying the major milestones to be accomplished for the construction, equipment delivery, 

software programming, installation, testing, user training, data conversion, and documentation of 

the proposed System.  The Proposer must also provide the dates (expressed as the number of Days 

from Contract Award) for the described milestones in the Conversion Milestone table above (Table 

131) as part of the Proposal. The detailed Conversion Plan must include acceptance testing and 

security plan milestones. 

10.6 END OF THE CONTRACT CONVERSION PLAN 

The Texas Lottery requires that the Successful Proposer shall fully cooperate with any 

replacement provider and the Texas Lottery and assist with planning for the End of Contract 

Conversion Period. This is to ensure a complete knowledge transfer to the Texas Lottery and 

any designated entity for Texas Lottery-specific functions, information, processes, and 

procedures.    

The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for managing the implementation of the End of 

Contract Conversion Plan while the Texas Lottery and/or any designated entity such as a 

replacement provider will be responsible for managing the implementation of the Business 

Cutover Plan to new services. The Business Cutover Plan will address unique or different 

aspects of the replacement solution. The Successful Proposer shall provide input relating to the 

goods and services provided by the Successful Proposer under the Contract and regarding all 

activities required of the Successful Proposer during conversion.  This includes implementing 

the overall transition plan to move the services to the Texas Lottery and/or the replacement 

provider (the ―Business Cutover Plan‖).  

The Successful Proposer, the Texas Lottery and any replacement provider will manage 

performance of their respective responsibilities in a cooperative and coordinated fashion.  The 

parties will communicate through scheduled meetings and other communications as may be 

appropriate. The parties must communicate with each other regarding any circumstances that 
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come to one of the parties‘ attention that may impact the performance of either of the other 

party(ies)‘s responsibilities during any point in the conversion. The following table identifies 

the roles and responsibilities that the Successful Proposer and the Texas Lottery will perform. 

Table 133. End of Contract Conversion Plan Requirements 

Roles and Responsibilities 
Successful 
Proposer 

TLC 

1. Schedules meetings to begin planning for the transition of the 

services to the Texas Lottery or the replacement provider, as 

applicable 

X  

2. Develops End of Contract Conversion Plan, in participation with the 

replacement provider, that will detail activities that are required of the 

Successful Proposer to support execution of a smooth transition 

X  

3. Acknowledges and agrees that in addition to the activities included in 

the End of Contract Conversion Plan, the Successful Proposer must 

also participate as reasonably requested by the Texas Lottery in the 

following transition sub-plans as appropriate: 

a) Communications plan; 

b) Human capital management (HCM) plan; 

c) Business cutover; 

d) Relationship management; 

e) Contract management; 

f) Asset management; 

g) Financial management; and 

h) Security management 

X  

4. Participates in detailed planning activities including developing a 

timetable with milestones and a process with critical controls for the 

transfer of the provision of the goods and services provided under the 

Contract from the Successful Proposer to the replacement provider or 

back to the Texas Lottery in coordination with the Business Cutover 

Plan 

X  

5. Documents the management structure to be employed by the 

Successful Proposer in the execution of the End of Contract 

Conversion Plan 

X  

6. Within ten (10) Working Days of commencement of the End of 

Contract Transfer Period, provides details of the Successful 

Proposer‘s personnel and other resources that will provide End of 

Contract Conversion services, including a list of the Successful 

Proposer‘s subject matter experts and other personnel who will be 

engaged 

X  

7. Works with the Texas Lottery to define the scope and extent of the 

Successful Proposer‘s obligations to the relevant hand-over activities 

and the resource profile 

X  
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8. Provides a list of the Texas Lottery‘s and/or the replacement 

provider‘s obligations that are necessary for the proper and timely 

execution of the End of Contract Conversion Plan 

X  

9. Identifies the End of Contract Conversion information including 

documents that are to be delivered by the Successful Proposer to the 

Texas Lottery during the hand-over process 

X  

10. Reviews and approves the list of End of Contract Conversion 

information to be delivered during the hand-over process 
 X 

11. Provides copies of process and procedure manuals to the Texas 

Lottery no later than ten (10) Days after commencement of the End of 

Contract Transfer Period 

X  

Detailed Requirements 

12. The Successful Proposer must provide a detailed End of Contract Conversion Plan.  Any and all 

System changes during the term of the Contract must be reflected in an updated End of Contract 

Conversion Plan.  At a minimum, the End of Contract Conversion Plan must address: 

a) Contract assignment to either the Texas Lottery or the replacement provider; 

b) Asset purchase assignment to either the Texas Lottery or the replacement provider; 

c) Inventory assignment to either the Texas Lottery or the replacement provider; 

d) License assignment to either the Texas Lottery or the replacement provider; 

e) Network and system diagrams; and 

f) Materials pertaining to the Successful Proposer‘s System (including but not limited to: 

memoranda, notes, records, drawings, manuals, computer software). 

13. The Successful Proposer shall promptly remove all Successful Proposer equipment and materials 

from each Retailer location and from Lottery property after final conversion to the replacement 

provider, within a reasonable period as set by the Texas Lottery. Equipment and materials not 

removed promptly by the Successful Proposer shall be considered abandoned and may be disposed 

of at the Texas Lottery's sole discretion.  All costs will be deducted from any amounts owed to the 

Successful Proposer and if no payments are due, then billed back (charged) to the Successful 

Proposer. 

Table 134. End of Contract Conversion Plan Response Requirements 

Response Requirement 

1. The Proposer must acknowledge and accept the roles and responsibilities and detail requirements 

indicated in this section.  
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Response Requirement 

2. The Proposer shall describe the following processes and factors related to End of Contract 

Conversion with the Texas Lottery: 

a)  People Processes: 

1. Knowledge transfer to the Texas Lottery or replacement provider 

b) Management Processes: 

1.  Issue Management 

2. Risk Management and Mitigation 

3. Exit Reporting (Type and Frequency) 

c) Technology 

1. Handover Procedures 

2. Tools, Software, Network Connections and Data Transfer 

d) License Transfer (Indicate Where This Would Be Required) 
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I hereby commit             

(Company Name) 

 

to provide the goods and services described in the attached Proposal for Lottery Operations and 

Services required by the Request for Proposals for the Texas Lottery Commission. 

 

 

      Signature:         

 

   Title:         

 

   Date:         
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This financial commitment and responsibility statement is to be completed by the parent 

corporation‘s chief financial officer. 

 

          is a fully-owned subsidiary of 

 (Subject) 

 

       and that as such       

 (Parent)       (Parent) 

 

is fully responsible for any and all financial obligations of 

 

        up to _________________________________. 

           (Subject)                                                                            (Dollar Value) 

 

 

      Signature:         

   Title:         

   Date: _______________________________ 



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                                       ATTACHMENTS  

                                                                          

   

 

  

In accordance with Texas Government Code §§2161.181-182 and §466.107, and with the Texas 

Lottery Commission‘s adopted rules, Texas Administrative Code, §403.301, relating to 

Historically Underutilized Businesses (HUBs), state agencies shall make a good faith effort to 

utilize HUBs in contracts for construction, services, including professional and consulting 

services, and commodity contracts.  The Commission has adopted the Comptroller of Public 

Accounts HUB Rules as its own rules, and encourages the use of HUBs by implementing these 

policies through race, ethnic, and gender neutral means.  The Commission is committed to 

promoting full and equal business opportunities for all businesses in State contracting in 

accordance with the goals specified in the State of Texas Disparity Study:  

 

(1) *11.9% for heavy construction other than building contracts; 

(2)  *26.1% for all building construction, including general contractors and operative 

builders contracts; 

(3)   57.2% for all special trade construction contracts; 

(4)   20% for professional services contracts; 

(5)   33% for all other services contracts; and, 

(6)   12.6% for commodities contracts. 

 

* Heavy Construction and Building Construction categories/goals are not applicable to the 

Lottery Commission‘s operations.  Currently, the Commission does not have programs or 

strategies related to these categories. 

 

The Commission and its contractors shall make a good faith effort to meet or exceed these goals 

and assist HUBs in receiving a portion of the total contract value of all contracts that the 

Commission expects to award in a fiscal year.  It is the policy of the Commission to accomplish 

these goals either through contracting directly with HUBs or indirectly through subcontracting 

opportunities.  The Commission‘s policy on the utilization of HUBs and minority businesses is 

related to all contracts with an expected value of $100,000 or more, and whenever possible, in 

contracts less than $100,000.  

 

The Texas Government Code defines a historically underutilized business as an entity with 

its principal place of business in the State of Texas, which is certified by the Comptroller of 

Public Accounts (CPA).   The CPA’s HUB Rule §20.12 defines a HUB as:   

 

A business with its principal place of business in Texas in which the owner(s) have a 

proportionate interest and demonstrate active participation in the control, operation, and 

management of the entities‘ affairs; and are economically disadvantaged because of their 
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identification as members of the following groups: Black Americans, Hispanic 

Americans, American Women, Asian Pacific Americans, or Native Americans.   

 

The Comptroller of Public Accounts will certify those eligible businesses that apply for 

HUB certification under the following business structures and defined ownership:   

 

a) a corporation formed for the purpose of making a profit in which at least 51% of all 

classes of the shares of stock or equitable securities are owned by one or more 

person(s) identified above; 

             

b) a sole proprietorship created for the purpose of making a profit that is 100% owned, 

operated, and controlled by a person identified above; 

 

c) a partnership formed for the purpose of making a profit in which 51% of the assets 

and interest in the partnership is owned by one or more persons identified above; 

 

d) a joint venture in which each entity in the joint venture is a HUB;  

 

e) a supplier contract between a historically underutilized business and a prime 

contractor/vendor under which the HUB is directly involved in the manufacture or 

distribution of the supplies or materials or otherwise warehouses and ships the 

supplies; and  

 

f) a business which is formed for the purpose of making a profit which is otherwise a 

legally recognized business organization (i.e. Limited Liability 

Companies/Corporations, Limited Liability Partnerships) under the laws of the State 

of Texas, provided that at least 51% of the assets and 51% of any classes of stock and 

equitable securities are owned by one or more persons identified above.  
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HUB SUBCONTRACTING PLAN (HSP) 

In accordance with Gov’t Code §2161.252, the contracting agency has determined that subcontracting opportunities are probable under this contract.  Therefore, 
respondents, including State of Texas certified Historically Underutilized Businesses (HUBs), must complete and submit a State of Texas HUB Subcontracting Plan 
(HSP) with their solicitation response. 

NOTE: Responses that do not include a completed HSP shall be rejected pursuant to Gov’t Code §2161.252(b). 

The HUB Program promotes equal business opportunities for economically disadvantaged persons to contract with the State of Texas in accordance with the goals 
specified in the State of Texas Disparity Study.  The HUB goals defined in 34 TAC §20.13 are: 11.9 percent for heavy construction other than building contracts, 
26.1 percent for all building construction, including general contractors and operative builders contracts, 57.2 percent for all special trade construction 
contracts, 20 percent for professional services contracts, 33 percent for all other services contracts, and 12.6 percent for commodities contracts. 

- - Agency Special Instructions/Additional Requirements - - 

 

SECTION 1 -  RESPONDENT AND SOLICITATION INFORMATION 

a. Respondent (Company) Name:       State of Texas VID #:       

 Point of Contact:       Phone #:       

b. Is your company a State of Texas certified HUB?      - Yes      - No 

c. Solicitation #:       
 

SECTION 2 -   SUBCONTRACTING INTENTIONS 

After having divided the contract work into reasonable lots or portions to the extent consistent with prudent industry practices, the 
respondent must determine what portion(s) of work, including goods or services, will be subcontracted.  Note: In accordance with 34 TAC 
§20.12., a “Subcontractor” means a person who contracts with a vendor to work, to supply commodities, or contribute toward completing 
work for a governmental entity.  Check the appropriate box that identifies your subcontracting intentions: 

 -  Yes, I will be subcontracting portion(s) of the contract. 
         (If Yes, in the spaces provided below, list the portions of work you will be subcontracting, and go to page 2.) 

 -  No, I will not be subcontracting any portion of the contract, and will be fulfilling the entire contract with my own resources.                                                               
(If No, complete SECTION 9 and 10.) 

Line Item # - Subcontracting Opportunity Description Line Item # - Subcontracting Opportunity Description 

(  #1) -       (#11) -       

(  #2) -       (#12) -       

(  #3) -       (#13) -       

(  #4) -       (#14) -       

(  #5) -       (#15) -       

(  #6) -       (#16) -       

(  #7) -       (#17) -       

(  #8) -       (#18) -       

(  #9) -       (#19) -       

(#10) -       (#20) -       

 

*If you have more than twenty subcontracting opportunities, a continuation page is available at 
http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/hub-forms/HUBSubcontractingPlanContinuationPage1.doc 

 

 

  

.    

http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/hub-forms/HUBSubcontractingPlanContinuationPage1.doc
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Enter your company’s name here:        Solicitation #:        
      

IMPORTANT:  You must complete a copy of this page for each of the subcontracting opportunities you listed in SECTION 2.  You may photocopy this 
page or download copies at http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/hub-forms/HUBSubcontractingPlanContinuationPage2.doc  

SECTION 3 -  SUBCONTRACTING OPPORTUNITY 

Enter the line item number and description of the subcontracting opportunity you listed in SECTION 2. 

Line Item #      Description:          
    

 

SECTION 4 -  MENTOR-PROTÉGÉ PROGRAM 

If respondent is participating as a Mentor in a State of Texas Mentor Protégé Program, submitting their Protégé (Protégé must be a State of Texas certified HUB) as a 
subcontractor to perform the portion of work (subcontracting opportunity) listed in SECTION 3, constitutes a good faith effort towards that specific portion of work.  Will 
you be subcontracting the portion of work listed in SECTION 3 to your Protégé? 

 - Yes (If Yes, complete SECTION 8 and 10.)         - No / Not Applicable (If No or Not Applicable, go to SECTION 5.) 

SECTION 5 -  PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACTS ONLY 
 This section applies to Professional Services Contracts only.  All other contracts go to SECTION 6. 

Does your HSP contain subcontracting of 20% or more with HUB(s)?  

 - Yes (If Yes, complete SECTION 8 and 10.)         - No / Not Applicable (If No or Not Applicable, go to SECTION 6.) 

In accordance with Gov’t Code §2254.004, “Professional Services" means services: (A) within the scope of the practice, as defined by state law of accounting; architecture; 
landscape architecture; land surveying; medicine; optometry; professional engineering; real estate appraising; or professional nursing; or (B) provided in connection with the 
professional employment or practice of a person who is licensed or registered as a certified public accountant; an architect; a landscape architect; a land surveyor; a physician, 
including a surgeon; an optometrist; a professional engineer; a state certified or state licensed real estate appraiser; or a registered nurse.   

SECTION 6  -  NOTIFICATION OF SUBCONTRACTING OPPORTUNITY 

 Complying with a, b and c of this section constitutes Good Faith Effort towards the portion of work listed in SECTION 3.  After performing 
the requirements of this section, complete SECTION 7, 8 and 10. 

a. Provide written notification of the subcontracting opportunity listed in SECTION 3 to three (3) or more HUBs.  Use the State of Texas’ Centralized Master Bidders 
List (CMBL), found at http://www2.cpa.state.tx.us/cmbl/cmblhub.html and its HUB Directory, found at http://www2.cpa.state.tx.us/cmbl/hubonly.html to 
identify available HUBs. Note: Attach supporting documentation (letters, phone logs, fax transmittals, electronic mail, etc.) demonstrating evidence of the 
good faith effort performed. 

b. Provide written notification of the subcontracting opportunity listed in SECTION 3 to a minority or women trade organization or development center to assist in 
identifying potential HUBs by disseminating the subcontracting opportunity to their members/participants.  A list of trade organizations and development centers may 
be accessed at http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/mwb-links-1/. Note: Attach supporting documentation (letters, phone logs, fax 
transmittals, electronic mail, etc.) demonstrating evidence of the good faith effort performed. 

c. Written notifications should include the scope of the work, information regarding the location to review plans and specifications, bonding and insurance requirements, 
required qualifications, and identify a contact person.  Unless the contracting agency has specified a different time period, you must allow the HUBs no less than five 
(5) working days from their receipt of notice to respond, and provide notice of your subcontracting opportunity to a minority or women trade organization or 
development center no less than five (5) working days prior to the submission of your response to the contracting agency. 

SECTION 7 -  HUB FIRMS CONTACTED FOR SUBCONTRACTING OPPORTUNITY 

List three (3) State of Texas certified HUBs you notified regarding the portion of work (subcontracting opportunity) listed in SECTION 3. Specify the vendor ID number, 
date you provided notice, and if you received a response.  Note: Attach supporting documentation (letters, phone logs, fax transmittals, electronic mail, etc.) 
demonstrating evidence of the good faith effort performed. 

 Company Name  VID #  Notice Date 
(mm/dd/yyyy) 

Was Response Received? 

                    /        /       - Yes       - No 

                    /        /       - Yes       - No 

                    /        /       - Yes       - No 
 

SECTION 8 -  SUBCONTRACTOR SELECTION 

List the subcontractor(s) you selected to perform the portion of work (subcontracting opportunity) listed in SECTION 3.  Also, specify the expected percentage of work to 
be subcontracted, the approximate dollar value of the work to be subcontracted, and indicate if the company is a Texas certified HUB. 

 Company Name  VID #  
Expected % 
of Contract 

 Approximate 
Dollar Amount 

Texas 
Certified HUB? 

                  %  $       - Yes    - No* 

                  %  $       - Yes    - No* 

*If the subcontractor(s) you selected is not a Texas certified HUB, provide written justification of your selection process below: 
 

      
 

 
 

 

http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/hub-forms/HUBSubcontractingPlanContinuationPage2.doc
http://www2.cpa.state.tx.us/cmbl/cmblhub.html
http://www2.cpa.state.tx.us/cmbl/hubonly.html
http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/mwb-links-1/
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Enter your company’s name here:        Solicitation #:        
      

 

SECTION 9 -  SELF PERFORMANCE JUSTIFICATION 
(If you responded “No” to SECTION 2, you must complete SECTION 9 and 10.)  

Does your response/proposal contain an explanation demonstrating how your company will fulfill the entire contract with its own resources? 
 

 - Yes If Yes, in the space provided below, list the specific page/section of your proposal which identifies how your company will perform the entire contract 
  with its own equipment, supplies, materials and/or employees. 
 

 - No If No, in the space provided below, explain how your company will perform the entire contract with its own equipment, supplies, materials,  
  and/or employees.  

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SECTION 10 -  AFFIRMATION 

As evidenced by my signature below, I affirm that I am an authorized representative of the respondent listed in SECTION 1, and that the information and supporting 
documentation submitted with the HSP are true and correct. Respondent understands and agrees that, if awarded any portion of the solicitation: 

 The respondent must submit monthly compliance reports (Prime Contractor Progress Assessment Report – PAR) to the contracting agency, verifying 
their compliance with the HSP, including the use/expenditures they have made to subcontractors.  (The PAR is available at 
http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/hub-forms/progressassessmentrpt.xls). 

 The respondent must seek approval from the contracting agency prior to making any modifications to their HSP.  If the HSP is modified without the 
contracting agency’s prior approval, respondent may be subject to debarment pursuant to Gov’t Code §2161.253(d). 

 The respondent must, upon request, allow the contracting agency to perform on-site reviews of the company’s headquarters and/or work-site where 
services are to be performed and must provide documents regarding staff and other resources. 

____________________________________ _________________________________ ___________________ ___________________ 

 Signature Printed Name Title Date 

http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/prog/hub/hub-forms/progressassessmentrpt.xls
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This checklist is provided as a tool to assist Proposers in the preparation of the HSP.  Use of the checklist does not 
guarantee that a compliant HSP has been submitted.  Proposers are not required to return this checklist. 
 

  Did you complete Section 1 of the HSP form? 
       

  Did you check the “YES” box in Section 2 of the HSP form?  If so, proceed to Section A below.  
   

  Did you check the “NO” box in Section 2 of the HSP form?  If so, proceed to Section B below.  
 

A. Proposer Intends to Subcontract: 
 

  Did you identify all areas that you intend to subcontract in Section 2 of the HSP form?      
 

The steps below are required for each subcontracting opportunity identified in Section 2.   Note: A) Using your 

protégé as a subcontractor for a particular opportunity (refer to HSP Section 4) satisfies the good faith effort for that 
specific opportunity; B) For professional services contracts ONLY (refer to HSP Section 5), subcontracting at least 
20% of the contract to HUBs satisfies the good faith effort.  If either one of these situations applies, skip to Section 8. 
 
PRE-EXISTING SUBCONTRACTING RELATIONSHIPS: THE GOOD FAITH EFFORT IS REQUIRED EVEN FOR AREAS WHERE A PROPOSER 

HAS A PRE-EXISTING SUBCONTRACTING RELATIONSHIP. 
 

 Did you submit a copy of page 2 of the HSP form for each opportunity? 
 

Section 6 

 Did you utilize the State of Texas Centralized Master Bidders List and/or HUB Directory to identify HUBs for each opportunity? * 

 Did you send written notices to three or more HUBs for each opportunity? * 

 Did you allow HUBs five working days from their receipt of the notices to respond? * 

 Did you send a written notice to at least one minority or woman trade organization or development center for each opportunity?*   

 Was the notice(s) to a trade organization/development center sent no later than five working days prior to the proposal  
due date? * 

 Did all notices to HUBs and trade organizations/development centers include the items outlined in Section 6,  
Part C of the HSP form? 

 Did you include with your Proposal copies of all notices and supporting documentation which confirms that  
notices regarding each opportunity were sent (i.e., e-mails, fax confirmations, mail receipts, etc.)? 

Section 7 

 Did you list the certified HUBs that you notified regarding each opportunity? 

Section 8 

 Did you identify the subcontractor(s) to be used for each opportunity? (Use a continuation sheet, if necessary.)  

 Did you indicate the expected contract percentage and approximate dollar amount to be paid to each subcontractor for  
each opportunity? 

 If the selected subcontractor for the opportunity is a non-HUB, did you provide a written justification of your selection process? 
 

  Did you sign and date the HSP form? 
 

* As required under Part 5 of the RFP.   Failure to complete and document these steps will result in disqualification of 
your Proposal.   

===============================================================================================     

B. Proposer Does Not Intend to Subcontract: 
 

  Did you complete Section 9?        
 

  If you checked “YES” in Section 9, did you provide the section/page number of your Proposal  that contains a detailed 
explanation of how your company will perform all functions of the contract without the use of subcontractors? 
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  If you checked “NO” in Section 9, did you provide a detailed explanation of how your company will perform all 
functions of the contract without the use of subcontractors in the box provided? 

 
 Did you sign and date the HSP form? 
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(a) After a hearing, the director shall deny an application for a license or the commission shall 

suspend or revoke a license if the director or commission, as applicable, finds that the applicant 

or sales agent: 

(1) is an individual who: 

(A) has been convicted of a felony, criminal fraud, gambling or a gambling-related offense, or a 

misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, if less than 10 years has elapsed since the termination of 

the sentence, parole, mandatory supervision, or probation served for the offense; 

(B) is or has been a professional gambler; 

(C) is married to an individual: 

(i) described in Paragraph (A) or (B); or 

(ii) who is currently delinquent in the payment of any state tax; 

(D) is an officer or employee of the commission or a lottery operator; or 

(E) is a spouse, child, brother, sister, or parent residing as a member of the same household in the 

principal place of residence of a person described by Paragraph (D); 

(2) is not an individual, and an individual described in Subdivision (1): 

(A) is an officer or director of the applicant or sales agent; 

(B) holds more than 10 percent of the stock in the applicant or sales agent; 

(C) holds an equitable interest greater than 10 percent in the applicant or sales agent; 

(D) is a creditor of the applicant or sales agent who holds more than 10 percent of the applicant's 

or sales agent's outstanding debt; 

(E) is the owner or lessee of a business that the applicant or sales agent conducts or through 

which the applicant will conduct a ticket sales agency; 

(F) shares or will share in the profits, other than stock dividends, of the applicant or sales agent; 

or 

(G) participates in managing the affairs of the applicant or sales agent; 

(3) has been finally determined to be: 

(A) delinquent in the payment of a tax or other money collected by the comptroller, the Texas 

Workforce Commission, or the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Commission; 

(B) in default on a loan made under Chapter 52, Education Code; or 

(C) in default on a loan guaranteed under Chapter 57, Education Code; 

(4) is a person whose location for the sales agency is: 

(A) a location licensed for games of bingo under Chapter 2001, Occupations Code; 

(B) on land that is owned by: 

(i) this state; or 

(ii) a political subdivision of this state and on which is located a public primary or secondary 

school, an institution of higher education, or an agency of the state; or 
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(C) a location for which a person holds a wine and beer retailer's permit, mixed beverage permit, 

mixed beverage late hours permit, private club registration permit, or private club late hours 

permit issued under Chapter 25, 28, 29, 32, or 33, Alcoholic Beverage Code; or 

(5) has violated this chapter or a rule adopted under this chapter. 

(b) If the director proposes to deny an application for a license or the commission proposes to 

suspend or revoke a license under this section, the applicant or sales agent is entitled to written 

notice of the time and place of the hearing. A notice may be served on an applicant or sales agent 

personally or sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, to the person's mailing 

address as it appears on the commission's records. A notice must be served or mailed not later 

than the 20th day before the date of the hearing. The commission shall provide for a formal 

administrative hearings process. 

(c) At a hearing, an applicant or sales agent must show by a preponderance of the evidence why 

the application should not be denied or the license suspended or revoked. 

(d) The director shall give an applicant or sales agent written notice of a denial of an application 

or a suspension or revocation of a license. 

(e) The director may not issue a license to a person who has previously had a license under this 

chapter revoked unless the director is satisfied the person will comply with this chapter and the 

rules adopted under this chapter. The director may prescribe the terms under which a suspended 

license will be reissued. 

(f) The director may not issue a license to an applicant who fails to certify to the director the 

applicant's compliance with the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 

Section 12101 et seq.). 

(g) For purposes of Subsection (a)(3), the comptroller, Texas Workforce Commission, Texas 

Alcoholic Beverage Commission, Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, and Texas 

Guaranteed Student Loan Corporation shall each provide the executive director with a report of 

persons who have been finally determined to be delinquent in the payment of any money owed to 

or collected by that agency. The commission shall adopt rules regarding the form and frequency 

of reports under this subsection. 

 

Added by Acts 1993, 73rd Leg., ch. 107, § 4.03(b), eff. Aug. 30, 1993. Amended by Acts 1995, 

74th Leg., ch. 76, § 6.21, eff. Sept. 1, 1995; Acts 1995, 74th Leg., ch. 696, § 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1995; 

Acts 1997, 75th Leg., ch. 1275, § 51, eff. Sept. 1, 1997. 

 

Amended by Acts 2001, 77th Leg., ch. 394, § 1, eff. Sept. 1, 2001; Acts 2001, 77th Leg., ch. 

1420, § 14.760, eff. Sept. 1, 2001. 
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§466.155

Pursuant to Texas Government Code §466.103, the Executive Director of the Texas Lottery Commission 

may not award a contract for the purchase or lease of facilities, goods or services related to lottery 

operations to a person who would be denied a license as a sales agent under Texas Government Code 

§466.155.  

 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

      (Company Name) 

 

certifies that it has reviewed Texas Government Code §466.155 and that it would not be denied a license 

as a sales agent pursuant to said section. 

 

 

  _____________________________________ 
  (signature of person authorized to contractually bind the Proposer) 

 
 

  _____________________________________ 
  (printed name) 
 
 

  _____________________________________ 
  (title) 
 
 

  _____________________________________ 
(date) 
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Section 466.103 of the Texas Government Code states that the Executive Director may not 

award a Contract to a person who would be denied a license as a sales agent under section 

466.155 of the Texas Government Code. 

 

FOR ASSISTANCE 

 Please call the Enforcement Division of the Texas Lottery at 512-344-5000. 

 

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS 

 Type or print all information. 

 The Apparent Successful Proposer, including the parent or subsidiary of the Apparent 

Successful Proposer, may need to complete and return these forms. 

 The Texas Lottery is authorized to obtain criminal history records from the Texas 

Department of Public Safety, the Federal Bureau of Investigation or any other law 

enforcement agency. 

 This form is open to public inspection during normal business hours as required by the 

Texas Public Information Act, Tex. Gov‘t. Code Ann., § 552.021.  

 

SALES AGENT ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS 

The following people are prohibited from holding a Texas Lottery Ticket Sales License: 

 

1. Persons convicted of a felony, criminal fraud, gambling or a gambling-related offense 

whose sentence, parole, mandatory supervision or probation ended less than 10 years ago. 

2. Persons convicted of a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude whose sentence, parole, 

mandatory supervision or probation ended less than 10 years ago. 

3. Persons who are or have been professional gamblers. 

4. Persons currently delinquent in the payment of certain state taxes or student loans. 

5. The spouses of those people named above. 

 

Also, a business is prohibited from holding a Texas Lottery Ticket Sales License if that business 

includes a person identified in items 1-5 above and that person: 

 

 is an officer or director of that business; 

 holds 10 percent or more of the stock in that business; 

 holds an equitable interest greater than 10 percent in that business; 

 is owed more than 10 percent of the business‘s debt; 

 owns or leases a business through which the applicant will conduct ticket sales; 

 will share in the profits of that business (not including stock dividends); or  

 participates in managing the affairs of the applicant or sales agent.
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TEXAS LOTTERY COMMISSION 

Vendor Background Investigation 

 

OWNERSHIP INFORMATION FOR APPARENT SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER 

 

 

   Sole Owner     Partnership     Texas Corporation   Foreign Corporation 

  Other (explain)____________________________________________
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ELIGIBILITY STANDARDS 

An individual is not eligible for a sales license if: 

 

a. The individual or the individual‘s spouse has been convicted of a felony, criminal fraud, 

gambling or a gambling-related offense or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude and 

less than 10 years have passed since the end of the sentence, parole, mandatory 

supervision or probation served for the conviction. 

b. The individual or the individual‘s spouse is a professional gambler. 

c. The individual‘s spouse is currently delinquent in the payment of any state tax. 

d. The individual is an officer or employee of the Texas Lottery Commission or a lottery 

operator. 

e. The individual‘s spouse, child, brother, sister or parent (1) lives in the same principal 

place of residence as the individual and (2) is an officer or employee of the Texas Lottery 

Commission or a lottery operator. 

f. The individual is delinquent in the payment of a tax or other money collected by the 

Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, the Texas Workforce Commission, or the Texas 

Alcoholic Beverage Commission; in default on a loan made under Chapter 52 of the 

Texas Education Code; or in default on a loan guaranteed under Chapter 57 of the Texas 

Education Code. 

 

An entity is not eligible for a sales license if the entity includes any of the following individuals 

who would be ineligible for a sales license under item a, b, c, d or e above: 

 

 An officer or director of the entity; 

 An individual who holds more than 10 percent of the stock in the entity; 

 An individual who holds an equitable interest greater than 10 percent in the entity; 

 The creditor of the entity who holds more than 10 percent of the entity‘s outstanding 

debt; 

 The owner or lessee of a business conducted by the entity or through which the entity will 

conduct a ticket sales agency; 

 An individual who shares or will share in the profits, other than stock dividends, of the 

entity; or  

 An individual who participates in managing the affairs of the entity. 

 

An applicant is not eligible for a sales license if the proposed ticket sales location is: 

 

 A location licensed for games of bingo, or  

 On land that is owned by: 

 This state, or 

 On which is located a public primary or secondary school, an institution of higher 

education, or an agency of the state.  
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By signing below, I certify that the information provided on this form is correct to the best of my 

knowledge and _____[company name]_________________ is not ineligible for a sales license 

under the eligibility standards described above. I understand that providing false or incomplete 

information may be grounds for termination of any contract.  _______[company 

name]______________ has read and agrees to abide by the requirements of section 466.155 of 

the Texas Government Code. I understand that owners/officers/partners/directors, as designated 

by the Texas Lottery, must furnish a complete legible set of fingerprints, and that failure to do so 

will result in the termination of any contract. The Texas Lottery is authorized to obtain criminal 

history records. 

 

sign 

here  _________________________________________________________  __________ 

         Signature of person           Title                                   Date 

         authorized to contractually bind Proposer 

 

 

          ______________________________________   

           Corporation or Legal Business Name        
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______________________________ 

(Name) 
 

______________________________ 
(Position) 

 
READ THE ENTIRE FORM BEFORE AND AFTER COMPLETION.  THIS FORM MUST BE 
COMPLETED IN ITS ENTIRETY, TYPED OR LEGIBLY PRINTED.  IF ADDITIONAL SPACE IS 
NEEDED IN COMPLETING A CERTAIN SECTION OF THIS APPLICATION, ATTACH A 
SEPARATE PAGE AND REFER TO THE DESIGNATED CATEGORY NUMBER. 
 
1.0 PERSONAL INFORMATION 
 

Name__________________________________________U.S.Citizen___________ 
Address_____________________________________________________________ 
City________________________State___________________Zip Code__________ 
Telephone Number Home (___)_______________Work (___)__________________ 
Birth Date_______________Birth Place___________________________________ 
Drivers License Number____________________________State________________ 
Social Security Number_________________________Years Texas Resident______ 
e-mail address_______________________________________________________ 

 
1.1 List all previous addresses for the past ten (10) years in reverse chronological order.  

Use month and year for date information. 
 
1.2 Previous Address__________________________________From______To_______ 

City______________State__________Zip_________Own____Rent____Other____ 
 
1.3 Previous Address__________________________________From______To_______ 

City_______________State_________Zip_________Own____Rent____Other____ 
 
1.4 Previous Address__________________________________From______To_______ 

City_______________State_________Zip_________Own____Rent____Other____ 
 
1.5 Previous Address__________________________________From______To_______ 

City_______________State_________Zip_________Own____Rent____Other____ 
 
1.6 Previous Address__________________________________From______To_______ 

City_______________State_________Zip_________Own____Rent____Other____ 
  
1.7 Previous Address__________________________________From______To_______ 

City_______________State_________Zip_________Own____Rent____Other____ 
 
1.8 Previous Address__________________________________From______To_______ 
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City_______________State_________Zip_________Own____Rent____Other____ 
 
1.9 Previous Address__________________________________From______To_______ 

City_______________State_________Zip_________Own____Rent____Other____ 
 
2.0 EDUCATION 
 
2.1 High School_______________________________________Year Graduated______ 

Location____________________________________________________________ 
 
2.2 University or Vocational School__________________________________________ 

Location_______________________________Years Attended _______to________ 
Major________________Degree_________________Year Graduated___________ 

 
2.3 University or Vocational School__________________________________________ 

Location_______________________________Years Attended _______to________ 
Major________________Degree_________________Year Graduated___________ 

 
3.0 MILITARY SERVICE 
 
3.1 Branch____________________________Type of Discharge___________________ 

Duties_____________________________________________________________ 
Service Number_____________________________Dates of Service____________ 

 
4.0 EMPLOYMENT 
 

List present and all previous employment for the past ten (10) years in reverse 
chronological order.  Add another page, if necessary. 

 
4.1 Present Employer______________________________Supervisor______________ 

Address_________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 
Employed From______to______Position____________________Salary_________ 
Reason for Leaving____________________________________________________ 

 
4.2 Present Employer______________________________Supervisor______________ 

Address_________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 
Employed From______to______Position____________________Salary_________ 
Reason for Leaving____________________________________________________ 

 
4.3 Present Employer______________________________Supervisor______________ 

Address_________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 
Employed From______to______Position____________________Salary_________ 
Reason for Leaving____________________________________________________ 

 
 
4.4 Present Employer______________________________Supervisor______________ 

Address_________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 
Employed From______to______Position____________________Salary_________ 
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Reason for Leaving____________________________________________________ 
 
4.5 If ever dismissed or asked to resign from any job, explain here__________________ 

___________________________________________________________________
 ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
5.0 CERTIFICATES AND LICENSES 
 

List any professional certificates or licenses, including government security clearances. 
 
5.1 Certificate/License_____________________________Valid__________________ 

Contact Number_______________________________ 
 
5.2 Certificate/License_____________________________Valid__________________ 

Contact Number_______________________________ 
 
5.3 Certificate/License_____________________________Valid__________________ 

Contact Number_______________________________ 
 
5.4 Certificate/License_____________________________Valid__________________ 

Contact Number_______________________________ 
 
6.0 CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 

List all active and inactive businesses, limited partnerships, general partnerships, joint 
ventures and/or investment syndicates.  Include the names of all partners, investors, 
officers, registered agent(s), etc. to the extent you know or the information is reasonably 
available.  Add other pages, if necessary. 

 
6.1 Business Name_________________________________Phone (____)___________ 

Address________________________________City_______________State______ 
 
6.2 Registered Agent________________________________Phone (____)___________ 

Address________________________________City_______________State______ 
 
6.3 Officer________________________________________Phone (____)___________ 

Address________________________________City_______________State______ 
 
6.4 Officer________________________________________Phone (____)___________ 

Address________________________________City_______________State______ 
 
6.5 Officer________________________________________Phone (____)___________ 

Address________________________________City_______________State______ 
 
6.6 Officer________________________________________Phone (____)___________ 

Address________________________________City_______________State______ 
 
6.7 Officer________________________________________Phone (____)___________ 
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Address________________________________City_______________State______ 
 
6.8 Officer________________________________________Phone (____)___________ 

Address________________________________City_______________State______ 
 
6.9 Has applicant owned businesses or invested in companies which are or were scrutinized 

by any federal or state investigatory agency? 
Yes_____No_____ If yes, explain. _______________________________________ 

 ___________________________________________________________________
 ___________________________________________________________________
 ___________________________________________________________________
 ___________________________________________________________________
 ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
7.0 SOURCES OF COMPENSATION 
 

List all sources of funds in the last five (5) years including funds received by spouse.  
Also list funds received as gifts, inheritances, insurance claims, judgements, special 
interests groups etc. 

 
7.1 Source_____________________________________________________________ 

Type of Business_____________________________________________________ 
Address____________________________City__________________State_______ 
Contact Person_________________________Contact Number________________ 

 
7.2 Source_____________________________________________________________ 

Type of Business_____________________________________________________ 
Address____________________________City__________________State_______ 
Contact Person_________________________Contact Number________________ 

 
7.3 Source_____________________________________________________________ 

Type of Business_____________________________________________________ 
Address____________________________City__________________State_______ 
Contact Person_________________________Contact Number________________ 

 
7.4 Source_____________________________________________________________ 

Type of Business_____________________________________________________ 
Address____________________________City__________________State_______ 
Contact Person_________________________Contact Number________________ 

 
7.5 Source_____________________________________________________________ 

Type of Business_____________________________________________________ 
Address____________________________City__________________State_______ 
Contact Person_________________________Contact Number________________ 

 
7.6 Source_____________________________________________________________ 

Type of Business_____________________________________________________ 
Address____________________________City__________________State_______ 
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Contact Person_________________________Contact Number________________ 
 
7.7 Source_____________________________________________________________ 

Type of Business_____________________________________________________ 
Address____________________________City__________________State_______ 
Contact Person_________________________Contact Number________________ 

 
8.0 RELATIVE INFORMATION 
 

All applicants are required to give complete information concerning relatives.  If 
previously married, complete information on former spouse(s) and add dates and places 
of court action.  Furnish same information, including dates and places of court action, for 
any member of immediate family who has been divorced.  In cases where a relative is 
deceased, complete information and indicate last residence and date of death. If 
engaged or contemplating marriage, information must be included under Section 10 
regarding fiancé/fiancée and future in-laws and indicate it as a future relationship. 

 
8.1 Father_______________________________________Phone (____)____________ 

Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.2 Mother__________________________________Maiden Name________________ 

Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date_____________Birth Place______________Occupation______________ 
Business_________________________________________Phone (____)________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.3 Spouse__________________________________Phone (____)________________ 

Address_____________________________City_________________State______ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date_____________Birth Place______________Occupation______________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
 

8.4 Former Spouse____________________________Phone (____)________________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date_____________Birth Place______________Occupation______________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.5 Child___________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 

Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
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8.6 Child___________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.7 Child___________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 

Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.8 Stepchild________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 

Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.9 Stepchild________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 

Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.10 Stepchild________________________________Phone (____)_________________ 

Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.11 Brother___________________________________Phone(____)________________
 Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

BirthDate_____________Birth Place______________Occupation_______________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.12 Brother___________________________________Phone(____)________________
 Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

BirthDate_____________Birth Place______________Occupation_______________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.13 Brother___________________________________Phone(____)________________
 Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

BirthDate_____________Birth Place______________Occupation_______________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
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8.14 Sister____________________________________Phone(____)________________-
 Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.15 Sister____________________________________Phone(____)________________-
 Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.16 Sister____________________________________Phone(____)________________-
 Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.17 Spouse’s Father_______________________________Phone(____)_____________ 

Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.18 Spouse’s Mother____________________________Maiden Name______________ 

Address______________________________City_________________State______ 
Birth Date______________Birth Place______________Occupation_____________ 
Business_____________________________________Phone (____)____________ 
Address______________________________City_________________State______ 

 
8.19 Are any of the individuals listed in Items 8.1 through 8.18 naturalized or non-United 
 States citizens? Yes____No____ If yes, give full details_______________________ 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
8.20 Full Name________________________Alien Registration_____________________ 

Date/Place of Naturalization_______________Naturalization Number____________ 
 
8.21 Full Name________________________Alien Registration_____________________ 

Date/Place of Naturalization_______________Naturalization Number____________ 
 
8.22 Full Name________________________Alien Registration_____________________ 

Date/Place of Naturalization_______________Naturalization Number____________ 
 
9.0 RELATIVES EMPLOYED BY THE STATE OF TEXAS 
 

List any relatives (including in-laws) who are employed by the State of Texas. 
 
9.1 Name________________________________Relationship___________________ 
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Agency Employed___________________________Location___________________ 
 
9.2 Name________________________________Relationship____________________ 

Agency Employed___________________________Location___________________ 
 
9.3 Name________________________________Relationship____________________ 

Agency Employed___________________________Location___________________ 
 
10.0 CRIMINAL COURT RECORDS 
 
10.1 Has applicant ever been arrested, charged, or convicted of a felony and/or 

misdemeanor, not including minor traffic offenses?  Yes_____ No____ (List all such 
matters even if not formally charged, did not appear in court, found not guilty and/or 
matter settled by payment of fine or forfeiture of collateral.) 

 
10.2 Date_____________Place______________________________________________ 

Charge_________________________Final Disposition_______________________ 
Details______________________________________________________________ 

 
10.3 Date_____________Place______________________________________________ 

Charge_________________________Final Disposition_______________________ 
Details______________________________________________________________ 

 
10.4 Has any member of applicant’s immediate family, i.e. spouse, parents, brothers, sisters, 

children, or stepchildren ever been arrested for any violation other than minor traffic 
offenses?  Yes____No____ If  yes, list below. 

 
10.5 Name________________________________Relationship____________________ 

Date_____________Place_____________Charge___________________________ 
Final Disposition______________________________________________________ 

 
10.6 Name________________________________Relationship____________________ 

Date_____________Place_____________Charge___________________________ 
Final Disposition______________________________________________________ 

 
10.7 Name________________________________Relationship____________________ 

Date_____________Place_____________Charge___________________________ 
Final Disposition______________________________________________________ 

 
11.0 CIVIL COURT RECORDS 
 
11.1 List all occasions when applicant has been a participant (plaintiff, defendant or witness) 

in a court action within the past ten (10) years.  Include corporate and personal lawsuits, 
bankruptcies, judgments, divorces, etc. 

 
11.2 Date____________City_______________________State_____________________ 

Court_________________________________Cause Number__________________ 
Nature and Disposition of Case__________________________________________ 
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___________________________________________________________________ 
 
11.3 Date____________City_______________________State_____________________ 

Court_________________________________Cause Number__________________ 
Nature and Disposition of Case__________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________ 

  
11.4 Date____________City_______________________State_____________________ 

Court_________________________________Cause Number__________________ 
Nature and Disposition of Case__________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
Are there any concerns that the applicant would like to discuss before we initiate a 
background investigation? 
Yes_____No_____,If yes, explain. ______________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
13.0 CERTIFICATION I certify that the answers given to questions in this background 

disclosure form are true, complete and correct to the best of my knowledge. 
 

_______________________________ 
(Signature) 
 
_______________________________ 
(Date) 
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must complete and return Consent to Release Personal 

Information forms for all individuals subject to background investigation under section 4.8.

TO THE APPLICANT:  All persons contracting with the Texas Lottery Commission must meet the 

requirements of the Texas Government Code § 466.155 (Print or type all information in blue or black 

ink):  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I understand and agree that: 

I hereby give my voluntary consent to any investigation or any other inquiry into information described 

above.  Further, I hereby consent to the release of any information to the Texas Lottery Commission, 

Enforcement Division, or persons conducting an investigation or inquiry on their behalf. I understand that 

certain information obtained through this investigation or inquiry may prevent me from contracting with 

the Texas Lottery Commission. 

I further hold harmless and release the Texas Lottery Commission, its agents, officers or employees, from 

any and all liability for this investigation or inquiry, and for any action taken as a result of information 

obtained through this investigation or inquiry. I further hold harmless and release any person providing 
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information in good faith to the Texas Lottery Commission or to any person conducting an investigation 

or inquiry on their behalf. 

I further understand that any person or employee who intentionally, knowingly, or with criminal 

negligence makes a material incorrect or deceptive oral or written statement to a person conducting an 

investigation commits a misdemeanor. 

 

 

________________________________________ 

Applicant‘s Signature    

 

________________________________________ 

Date 

 

STATE OF  __________________________ 

 

COUNTY OF __________________________ 

 

Sworn and subscribed to before me this 

 

 _____day of________,201__ 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Signature of Notary Public 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Printed Name of Notary Public 

 

 

My Commission Expires: ______________ 
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The following is a list of vendor principals for       (Company Name) 

as defined by Texas Government Code §466.155. 

Vendor Principals as defined by Texas Government Code § 466.155 (attach additional sheets if 

necessary): 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

List of all individuals subject to background investigation under section 4.8 (attach 

additional sheets if necessary): 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ _______________________________ 
(signature of person authorized to contractually bind the Proposer) (title) 

 
 

_____________________________________ _______________________________ 
(printed name)      (date) 



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                                       ATTACHMENTS 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES    

Bond No.  ________________ 

 

  [company name, address], as Principal, and [surety company], a corporation licensed to do 

business in the State of Texas and admitted to write bonds, as Surety, are held and firmly bound unto the 

Texas Lottery Commission, P.O. Box 16630, Austin, Texas 78761-6630, as Obligee, in the full sum of 

[written amount] Dollars ($         ) for the payment of which said Principal and Surety bind themselves, 

and their respective heirs, administrators, executors, successors, assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by 

these presents.   

 

 WHEREAS, the Principal has entered into a written Contract with Obligee dated the ____ day of 

_______________, ______, for [type of services], which Contract is hereby referred to, as if fully and to 

the same extent as if copied at length herein.   

 

 NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that, if during the term of this 

Contract (or annual bond), the Principal shall faithfully perform such Contract, or shall indemnify and 

save harmless the Obligee from all cost and damage by reason of Principal‘s failure to do so, then this 

obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 

(If annual bond, add this paragraph.) 

 

 The term of this obligation is for the period commencing on ______________ and expiring at 

12:00 a.m. on _____________.  This bond may be renewed on an annual basis at the option of the surety.  

If the surety does not choose to renew this obligation, it will so notify the Obligee and Principal not later 

than 30 days prior to its expiration. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and Surety have signed and sealed this instrument this 

____ day of __________________, ______. 

 

 

      Principal: ________________________________ 

(seal) 

      By:   ________________________________ 

 

      Surety:   ________________________________ 

(seal) 

      By:  ________________________________ 

         Attorney-in-Fact  
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Vendor Name:

Evaluator Name:

Date / 

Pre-Qualification Time

A. Mandatory Pre-Proposal Conference and Non-Disclosure Statement

A.1
The Proposer attended one of the mandatory pre-proposal conferences and submitted a signed 

non-disclosure statement.
B. Cost Proposal and Proposer's Commitment Submission

B.1
The Proposer submitted the Cost Proposal and Proposer's Commitment in the manner as 

prescribed and by the deadline provided in Section 2 of the RFP.
C. Technical Proposal, Bid Bond/Proposal Surety and Protest/Litigation Bond Submission

C.1

The Proposer submitted the Technical Proposal, Bid Bond/Proposal Surety and 

Protest/Litigation Bond in the manner as prescribed and by the deadline provided in Section 2 of 

the RFP.

Round 1:  Minimum Qualification Requirements

A. Financial Status of the Proposer

A.1
The Proposer is financially viable and Office of the Controller has validated the financial status of 

the Proposer.

Pass/Fail

B. Historically Underutilized Businesses (HUB)

B.1

Whether the Proposer performed the good faith effort required by the HUB subcontracting plan.                                                                                                                                                       

*HUB Subcontracing Plan                                                                                                               

*Mandatory HSP Workshop

Pass/Fail

Round 2: Technical Scoring
RFP 

Reference

 Maximum 

Available Points 
Awarded Points

2.1                 550 
Past Performance.   The quality of the Proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, 

with other state entities, or with private sector entities.

Texas Lottery Commission

Lottery Operations and Services RFP

Evaluation Scoring Matrix

The RFP references are intended as a guide for Proposers in preparing responses to this RFP, but do not limit the Texas Lottery’s review of any Proposal in 

evaluating responsiveness to the RFP requirements and selecting a Proposer whose solution provides the best value to the agency.
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Round 2: Technical Scoring
RFP 

Reference

 Maximum 

Available Points 
Awarded Points

Past Performance.   The quality of the Proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, 

with other state entities, or with private sector entities.

2.1.1 Contract performance issues, which include, but are not limited to: 

--contract terminations

--sanctions / liquidated damages / goods or services in lieu of sanctions/LDs

--significant or material audit findings or compliance issues                                                                                                                                  

--disciplinary action for substandard work or unethical practices

--pending/past litigation                                                                                                                                                             

--gaming license status

4.2.5(a), (b), 

(c), (d), (e), 

(f), (g)

                     440 

2.1.2 Reference checks and site visits (to include site visits to other lotteries if applicable) 4.4 and 2.22                      110 

2.2                 800 

2.2.1 Executive Management – General Manager/Site Director, Assistant General Manager, and any 

other officers or key personnel who will provide direction or oversight to the Texas Lottery account.

4.3.2(a)                  160 

2.2.2 Data Center/Operations – Data Center Supervisor, Software Development Manager, Texas Lottery 

Liaison and any other staff who will have oversight or manage system operations for the Texas 

Lottery account.

4.3.2(b)                    80 

2.2.3 Call Center – Call Center Manager, Retailer Support Supervisor, Dispatch and Supply Inventory 

Supervisor or other key personnel who will provide direction or oversight to the Texas Lottery 

account. 

4.3.2(c)                    80 

2.2.4 Sales and Marketing – Sales Manager, Marketing Manager, Promotions Manager/Coordinator, 

District/field Sales Managers, Corporate/Chain Account Manager, New Business 

Development/Recruitment Manager, Research Associate, and any other staff who will provide 

sales or marketing input, direction or recommendations for the Texas Lottery account.

4.3.2(d)                  160 

2.2.5 Warehouse and Distribution – Warehouse Manager. 4.3.2(e)                    80 

2.2.6 Transition Team – Project Manager and key personnel assigned to the transition and 

implementation of the Texas Lottery account. 

4.3.2(f)                  120 

2.2.7 Organizational structure for Texas Lottery account, which includes position titles and number of 

positions and staffing schedule for unfilled positions and dates when key management will be 

available.

4.3.1; 4.3.5 

and 4.3.6

                 120 

 Total Points 

2.3              2,600 

2.3.1 ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION                      130 

2.3.1.1 Account management; Service level monitoring; Service management, which includes incident 

and problem management, capacity management and performance management; Compliance 

review.

6.2 through 

6.5

                   46 

2.3.1.2 Facilities support services, which includes all facilities and equipment to support the Texas 

Lottery account.

6.6                    20 

2.3.1.3 Business continuity and disaster recovery capabilities which includes primary site system 

recovery.

6.7                    32 

2.3.1.4 Training activities which includes training on Lottery Gaming System, various retailer training 

requirements and LSR training.

6.8                    32 

Personnel.   The qualifications of the Proposer's personnel. 

Quality.   The probable quality of the offered goods or services. 

Total Points
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Round 2: Technical Scoring
RFP 

Reference

 Maximum 

Available Points 
Awarded Points

Past Performance.   The quality of the Proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, 

with other state entities, or with private sector entities.

2.3.2 LOTTERY GAMING SYSTEM                  780 

On-Line Games                     47 

2.3.2.1 On-Line game development which includes demonstrated experience and success in On-Line 

game development, research and implementation. 

7.2.1                    21 

2.3.2.2 On-Line game controls which includes development and monitoring of On-Line game control 

features.

7.2.2                    12 

2.3.2.3 Drawings which includes the Lottery Gaming System's capability to meet the Texas Lottery's 

drawing requirements.

7.2.3                    14 

Instant Ticket Game Management                    47 

2.3.2.4 Lottery Gaming System's capability to support the volume, scope, development and 

management of the Texas Lottery's Instant Ticket operations, which includes the ability to 

inquire, track and monitor pack activity both globally and at the Retailer level, and monitor game 

inventory levels and order statuses. 

7.3                    47 

Claims and Validations                    47 

2.3.2.6 Lottery Gaming System's validation capabilities, which include Integrated On-Line and Instant 

Ticket claims, validations and payments, and check writing software and hardware for use at 

Texas Lottery headquarters and each of the Texas Lottery Claim Centers.

7.4                    37 

2.3.2.7 Lottery Gaming System's functionality for a secured method (and equivalent backup method) of 

applying required signature(s) to the check stock during the check printing process. 

7.4                    10 

Retailer Management                    47 

2.3.2.8 Integrated Lottery Gaming System to support the Texas Lottery’s retailer management functions, 

which includes retailer maintenance and license application processing, inventory management, 

accounting and access control. 

7.5                    33 

2.3.2.9 Lottery Gaming System's ability to provide online access to retailer management transactional 

data.

7.5                    14 

Lottery Gaming System General Requirements                    94 

2.3.2.10 Lottery Gaming System's ability to meet the Texas Lottery's configuration, capacity and 

performance requirements; detect and report fraudulent transactions and activities; and meet 

data exchange requirements. 

7.6.1 and 

7.6.2

                   42 

2.3.2.11 Lottery Gaming System's capability for configuring and executing player and retailer promotions. 7.6.3                    19 

2.3.2.12 Web-based systems to support "Second-Chance Drawings", player registration programs for 

informational, promotional and data gathering purposes, and subscription services which 

includes transaction handling, prize payout and age verification features.

7.6.3                    33 

System Management, System Security and ICS System and Vendor Requirements                    78 

2.3.2.13 Change and release management process, and test environment and access for conducting 

user acceptance testing.

7.7                      8 

2.3.2.14 Lottery Gaming System's security plan, which includes physical and logical security components 

and an overview of the policies and practices to prevent, detect, and resolve security breaches. 

7.8                    35 

2.3.2.15 Processing transactions from the Lottery Gaming System to the internal control system, which 

includes handling out-of-balance incidents and accomplishing electronic funds transfers.

7.10                    35 

Reporting                    47 

2.3.2.16 Reporting functions which include the ability of the Lottery Gaming System to produce a variety 

of reports as well as the ability of Texas Lottery staff to create ad-hoc Systems reports using user-

friendly graphical tools.

7.9                    47 
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Round 2: Technical Scoring
RFP 

Reference

 Maximum 

Available Points 
Awarded Points

Past Performance.   The quality of the Proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, 

with other state entities, or with private sector entities.

System Supported Terminal Functions                    47 

2.3.2.17 System supported terminal functions, which include the Lottery Gaming System's capability to 

inquire and log ticket prize inquiries from all sales terminals, including player activated, and 

communication of winning, non-winning and actual prize amount data.

7.11                    47 

Sales Terminals and Related System Sales Equipment                    94 

2.3.2.18 Sales Terminals and related System equipment that offer the broadest diversity of options for 

deployment in support of current and future Texas Lottery retail venues. 

7.12                    61 

2.3.2.19 Functionality or capability of all online devices to interact with the back office systems of 

Retailers.

7.12                    19 

2.3.2.20 Sample Retailer training manual and other options for training Retailers such as including 

training manual within the Retailer Terminal.

7.12                    14 

Installation, Relocation and Removal and Maintenance and Repair                    47 

2.3.2.21 Plan and procedures for handling equipment installation, relocation and/or removal 

requirements.

7.12.1                    12 

2.3.2.22 Plan and procedures for the maintenance and repair of all terminals and related Sales 

Equipment, which includes a preventative maintenance schedule and procedures for resolution 

of chronic problems.

7.12.2                    12 

2.3.2.23 Staffing levels to cover repair functions and the planned location of staff. 7.12.2                    12 

2.3.2.24 Lottery Gaming System capability to remotely monitor all deployed equipment for proper 

operational functionality and identification of equipment malfunctions or failure.

7.12.2                    11 

Call Center Support                    60 

2.3.2.25 Call Center staffing and management to support the Texas Lottery's diverse Retailer base; 

ensure timely, professional, courteous and accurate response to all calls; achieve required 

performance levels; and plan for handling chronic problems.

7.13                    60 

Ticket Inventory Supply and Management                    78 

2.3.2.26 Innovative solutions to enhance inventory order and distribution beyond the noted requirements 

of the RFP.

7.13                    12 

2.3.2.27 Staffing and management of the ticket inventory and supply management functions to support  

the Texas Lottery’s diverse Retailer base. Procedures to process special, out of cycle, express, 

expedited or emergency orders.

7.13                    43 

2.3.2.28 Ability to allow Retailers to order at anytime through an automated system, rather than ordering 

in response to a telemarketing call, which includes the ability to manage and place proper 

controls on this ordering process.

7.13                    23 

Communications Network                    47 

2.3.2.29 Communications network, which includes information and diagrams to support the performance 

capabilities of the Lottery Gaming System and the Texas Lottery.

7.14                    47 

2.3.3 SALES AND MARKETING                  910 

Sales Management and Business Development and Marketing                  182 

2.3.3.1 Route sales component to support Retailer locations. 8.2                    18 

2.3.3.2 Sales management staff responsible for identifying new selling and business development 

opportunities. 

8.2                    73 

2.3.3.3 Marketing staff responsible for identifying new product and marketing strategies. 8.3                    55 

2.3.3.4 Sales and marketing organization structure to support and optimize Lottery sales. 8.2 and 8.3                    36 

Lottery Sales Representatives                  136 

2.3.3.5 LSR organization structure and how it will support Lottery Retailers across the entire geographic 

and population diversity of the State of Texas, which includes the proposed staff to Retailer ratio 

for the provision of Lottery Sales Representative activities.

8.4                    82 

2.3.3.6 Incentive plan for LSRs. 8.4                    27 
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Round 2: Technical Scoring
RFP 

Reference

 Maximum 

Available Points 
Awarded Points

Past Performance.   The quality of the Proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, 

with other state entities, or with private sector entities.

2.3.3.7 Sales services customized to strategically optimize sales performance. 8.4                    27 

Retailer Visit                    91 

2.3.3.8 Retailer visits and support. 8.4.1                    27 

2.3.3.9 Monitor and manage LSR performance to ensure that all LSR visit standards are being met. 8.4.1                    27 

2.3.3.10 Enhanced schedule for Retailer visits that exceeds the minimum required visits for general 

support and sales activity that emphasizes sales optimization.  Overview of the methodology and 

strategy that will be used to enhance sales.

8.4.1                    37 

LSR Ticket Retrieval, Transfers and Returns                    73 

2.3.3.11 Perform ticket retrieval, transfers and returns to optimize the inventory mix at retail locations in 

coordination with Retailers.

8.4.2                    36 

2.3.3.12 Retailer-to-Retailer pack transfers utilized to optimize inventory availability, which includes the 

methods for carrying out these transfers and the security and control measures that will be put in 

place and how system records will be maintained.

8.4.2                    37 

Instant Ticket Game Close                    46 

2.3.3.12 Process for handling Instant Ticket game close. 8.4.3                    46 

Retailer Contests and Retailer-based Player Promotions                    91 

2.3.3.13 Retailer contests and promotions to increase Instant and On-Line Ticket Sales. 8.5                    46 

2.3.3.14 Incentive programs for Retailers, which includes when such programs should be initiated and the 

benefits of such programs in maximizing revenue to the State from the sale of Texas Lottery 

Products.

8.5                    45 

Promotional Events and Retailer Promotions                    91 

2.3.3.15 Promotional equipment and capabilities to support the Promotions Plan, which also includes 

approach to promotions and how the plan is developed. 

8.6                    59 

2.3.3.16 Promotions program team to run the statewide Promotions Plan, which includes how the team 

will be coordinated and trained to maximize the benefits of the program.

8.6                    32 

Marketing Materials and Related Equipment                    91 

2.3.3.17 Marketing materials and related equipment used to support sales and marketing activities for all 

Lottery Products.

8.7                    59 

2.3.3.18 Remote wired and wireless signage that is connected to the Retailer Terminals. 8.7                    32 

Research and Lottery Product Development                  109 

2.3.3.19 Research and development process for new games and new game introductions, which includes 

the research methods utilized to develop, gather, analyze and report data.

8.8                    43 

2.3.3.20 Methods utilized to obtain and use geographic and psychographic information for making 

business recommendation to the Texas Lottery.

8.8                    22 

2.3.3.21 Research and development staff to conduct research on new selling opportunities and new 

marketing strategies. 

8.8                    22 

2.3.3.22 Research and/or data analyst staff to respond to special reporting requests, develop / respond to 

requests for specialized sales analysis, etc.  

8.8                    22 

2.3.4 WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION SERVICES                  520 

New Instant Ticket Delivery and Storage                  114 

2.3.4.1 Automation for managing, fulfilling, and storing instant ticket orders. 9.2                    46 

2.3.4.2 Staging and distribution plan for simultaneous Instant Ticket game sales launches. 9.2                    34 

2.3.4.3 Warehousing and distribution methodology and staffing plan, which includes any automated 

functions.

9.2                    34 

Instant Ticket Delivery                  104 
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Round 2: Technical Scoring
RFP 

Reference

 Maximum 

Available Points 
Awarded Points

Past Performance.   The quality of the Proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, 

with other state entities, or with private sector entities.

2.3.4.4 Plan for processing and shipping all ticket orders, including on weekends, holidays, and other 

times  based on ticket ordering activity, delivery to Retailers in geographically remote areas, and 

under special circumstances as required by the Texas Lottery.  

9.3                    36 

2.3.4.5 Process (including security features) to be used to document the delivery of tickets and obtaining 

proof of signed delivery receipts from individual Retailers.

9.3                    22 

2.3.4.6 Procedures and materials used to package Instant Tickets for delivery to Retailers, which 

includes the process used to prevent Instant Ticket Manufacturer omitted packs or other 

defective packs from being shipped to Retailers.

9.3                    10 

2.3.4.7 Methods, procedures, hardware and software used to monitor inventory and ensure optimum 

inventory levels are maintained at each Retailer location. 

9.3                    36 

Warehouse Instant Ticket Return Verification                    52 

2.3.4.8 Process and procedure (including security features) used to document and store partial packs of 

Instant Tickets returned from Retailers, which includes the tracking system that will be used to 

follow the packs returned to the warehouse.

9.3.1                    26 

2.3.4.9 Procedures for locating Instant Tickets that are in a "Hold,” "Lost Warehouse,” "Lost Retailer,” or 

"In Transit" status longer than the permitted time limit.

9.3.1                    26 

Stolen and Damaged Instant Ticket Reporting                    52 

2.3.4.10 Damaged or stolen tickets processing. 9.3.2                    52 

Ticket and On-Line Ticket Stock Destruction                    42 

2.3.4.11 Security process and/or procedures for the destruction of tickets, On-Line Ticket stock and other 

materials.

9.4                    42 

Promotional Item and Point of Sale (POS) Verification and Receiving                    52 

2.3.4.13 Receipt of promotional items and POS, which includes how and where the items will be 

received, stored and distributed to meet Texas Lottery requirements.

9.5                    26 

2.3.4.14 Process for the verification, receiving and ongoing inventory of promotional items and POS 

materials.

9.5                    26 

Promotional Merchandise Inventory                    52 

2.3.4.15 Process for handling an ongoing inventory of Texas Lottery promotional merchandise. 9.6                    52 

Warehouse and Distribution General Requirements                    52 

2.3.4.16 Process utilized to accomplish ticket order processing and packing at the Central Distribution 

Warehouse.

9.7                    26 

2.3.4.17 Process utilized to prevent the theft of returned Instant Tickets and rolls of On-Line Ticket stock 

being returned to and stored at the Central Distribution Warehouse.

9.7                    26 

2.3.5 CONVERSION                  260 

Integration and Testing                    52 

2.3.5.4 Integration and testing process, which includes the test plan and acceptance criteria. 10.2                    26 

2.3.5.7 Lottery Gaming System backup, recovery, failover process and test Plan. 10.2                    26 

Implementation and Migration                     52 

2.3.5.8 Implementation and migration strategy and processes. 10.3                    52 

Conversion Plan and General Requirements                  104 

2.3.5.9 High level conversion plan, which includes the project management process, the structure and 

content of process documentation, an information sharing and communication plan, expected 

participation from Texas Lottery and the level and duration of involvement from the current 

vendor. 

10.1 and 

10.4

                   62 

12/18/2009 Page 6



Round 2: Technical Scoring
RFP 

Reference

 Maximum 

Available Points 
Awarded Points

Past Performance.   The quality of the Proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, 

with other state entities, or with private sector entities.

2.3.5.11 Project Management methodology for the transition, which includes at a minimum:

a) Project Management;

b) Business Change Management;

c) Issue Management;

d) Risk Management and Mitigation; and

e) Transition Reporting (Type and Frequency).

10.4                    10 

2.3.5.12 Initial distribution plan for Instant Tickets, On-Line Ticket stock, Retailer Terminals and 

associated system sales equipment, Point-of-Sale materials, On-Line play slips, promotional 

merchandise, playstations, signage and other materials, as required. Quality control procedures 

included in the plan. 

10.4                    16 

2.3.5.13 Validation of winning tickets sold prior to the conversion. 10.4                    16 

Conversion Milestones                    26 

2.3.5.14 Conversion plan and time chart identifying the major milestones to be accomplished for the 

construction, equipment delivery, software programming, installation, testing, user training, data 

conversion, and documentation of the proposed System.  

10.5                    26 

Conversion Plan                    26 

2.3.5.15 Processes and factors related to End of Contract Conversion, which includes knowledge transfer 

to the Texas Lottery or Replacement Provider, risk management and mitigation, exit reporting, 

handover procedures, license transfers, etc.

10.6                    26 

 Total Points 
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Round 2: Technical Scoring
RFP 

Reference

 Maximum 

Available Points 
Awarded Points

Past Performance.   The quality of the Proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, 

with other state entities, or with private sector entities.
2.4                 550 

2.4.1 Past 10 years of experience providing the services as specified in the RFP for engagements of 

comparable complexity and scale.

4.2.1 and 

4.2.4

                     275 

2.4.2 Previous lottery experience or other relevant experience providing similar services as specified in 

the RFP to governmental or private entities.

4.2.2 and 

4.2.4

                     165 

2.4.3 Previous experience in transition activities between vendors when providing similar services, in 

scope and size, as specified in the RFP.

4.2.3 and 

4.2.4

                     110 

Total Points

TECHNICAL SCORING SUMMARY

                550 

                800 

             2,600 

                550 

             4,500 

COST SCORING SUMMARY

                500 

TOTAL POINTS AWARDED

             5,000 

Total Possible Points

Total Possible Points

Total Possible Points

Past Performance.   The quality of the Proposer's past performance in contracting with the agency, 

with other state entities, or with private sector entities.

Quality.   The probable quality of the offered goods or services. 

Personnel.   The qualifications of the Proposer's personnel. 

Experience.   The experience of the Proposer in providing the requested goods or services.

The following formula will be used in scoring cost proposals:

Lowest Cost Proposal Amount / Other Cost Proposal Amount = % of total points available for the Cost Proposal.

Experience.   The experience of the Proposer in providing the requested goods or services.
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NOTE TO ALL PROSPECTIVE PROPOSERS: THE COST PROPOSAL MUST BE 

SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN SECTION 

2.15 OF THIS RFP OR THE PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED. 

 

Options 

As part of the basic compensation that has been proposed by the Successful Proposer, all items 

represented in the Proposal must be provided unless specifically identified as Specified or 

Invited Options. Any such options must be specifically detailed in the Cost Proposal. 

If programs, equipment or services represented in the Proposal are not clearly indicated as 

optional items, the cost for such programs, equipment, and services shall be deemed to be 

included in the ―Base System and Services‖ proposal price. Base System and Services includes 

any and all requirements, goods and services described in this RFP that are not specified as an 

option. 

Offering a required function as an option may be cause for rejection of the Proposal. 

Offered Options are not identified in this RFP, but may be identified by the Proposer and 

included in the Proposal.  This is an opportunity for Proposers to offer options that the Texas 

Lottery may not have been aware of at the time the RFP was written.  The Texas Lottery makes 

no commitment to quantity or timing for acquisition of Offered Options. 

 

Evaluation of the Cost Proposal 

For purposes of evaluation and comparison, the percentages submitted by each Proposer will be 

multiplied by a uniform hypothetical annual sales figure. The same uniform hypothetical annual 

sales figure will be used in evaluating all proposals. 

 

Base System and Services Pricing 

The Successful Proposer‘s payment will be based on the specified percentage of Sales processed 

by the Successful Proposer‘s Lottery Gaming System. 

Proposers are required to include the following items as a percentage of Sales.  Sales are defined 

as sold tickets processed by the Lottery Gaming System, less any tickets that have been canceled 

or returned, less any promotional tickets or promotional coupons and less any retailer 

adjustments. Carry the percentage to four (4) decimal places (to the ten-thousandth decimal 

place) for the Base System and Services.   
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The Successful Proposer will receive no compensation prior to successful conversion. The 

conversion period is expected to last approximately twelve (12) months. Price quoted will be 

firm for the initial Contract term and will be mutually agreed for any extension periods. 

Price Quoted as a Percentage of Sales: 

Base System and Services ________% 

Annual Credit 
 

The Texas Lottery relies on marketing advice and expertise from the Successful Proposer in 

making business decisions about Lottery Products. As the Successful Proposer will be 

compensated under the Contract based on a percentage of Sales (see definition in the Glossary of 

Terms), it is important to the Texas Lottery that the interests of the Successful Proposer and the 

Texas Lottery are generally aligned to ensure the greatest return to the State of Texas, consistent 

with the Lottery‘s objectives in section 1.3. The prize payout percentage from the sale of Lottery 

Products is a significant factor in determining net revenue and must be considered by the 

Successful Proposer when providing advice and expertise to the Texas Lottery. , the Successful 

Proposer shall provide credits to the Texas Lottery based on lottery sales and increases in the 

overall prize payout percentage for Texas Lottery games as follows: 

 

Annual Credit Based on Increase in Overall Prize Payout Percentage. Effective upon successful 

conversion, and continuing through the remainder of the Contract term (and any renewals 

thereof), the Successful Proposer shall provide a yearly credit to the Texas Lottery equal to 12% 

of the Successful Proposer‘s annual incremental revenue from sales above those revenues from 

sales over the previous state fiscal year (September 1 through August 31) for every .1% increase 

(rounded to the nearest tenth) in the overall prize payout percentage for Texas Lottery instant and 

on-line games, using the prize payout percentage for the previous state fiscal year as the basis. 

Sales are defined as sold tickets processed by the Lottery Gaming System, less any tickets that 

have been canceled or returned, less any promotional tickets or promotional coupons and less 

any retailer adjustments. State Fiscal Year 2011 revenue and prize payout percentage will be the 

basis for the calculation for the state Fiscal Year beginning September 1, 2011.  This credit 

calculation shall be conducted quarterly (in December, March, June and September) each state 

fiscal year (with a final adjustment at the end of each fiscal year, if necessary) and the Texas 

Lottery will withhold the credit, if any, from payments to the Successful Proposer. Such credit 

will not exceed 50% of the Successful Proposer‘s incremental annual revenue in any state fiscal 

year. If the credit calculation final adjustment at state fiscal year end results in a credit payment 

owed to the Successful Proposer, such credit payment will be added to payments due to the 

Successful Proposer and paid by the Texas Lottery to the Successful Proposer within 60 days 

after the state fiscal year end. 

 

Annual Credit Based on Declining or Flat Lottery Sales and Increase in Overall Prize Payout 

Percentage. Effective upon successful conversion, and continuing through the remainder of the 

Contract term (and any renewals thereof), the Successful Proposer shall provide a yearly credit to 

the Texas Lottery equal to 4.5% of the year-to-year decline (comparing current year dollar 
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returns to the state to returns in the immediately preceding year), calculated on a modified 

accrual basis, in Texas Lottery monthly transfers to the state under Tex. Gov‘t Code § 466.355 

(or as may be amended), excluding Texas Lottery transfers of any unspent administrative funds– 

provided, during the applicable period, (i) overall lottery sales are flat or decline and (ii) the 

overall prize payout percentage for Texas Lottery instant and on-line games increases by at least 

.1% (rounded to the nearest tenth). This credit calculation shall be conducted quarterly (in 

December, March, June and September) each state fiscal year (with a final adjustment at the end 

of each state fiscal year, if necessary) and the Texas Lottery will withhold the credit, if any, from 

payments to the Successful Proposer. If the credit calculation final adjustment at state fiscal year 

end results in a credit payment owed to the Successful Proposer, such credit payment will be 

added to payments due to the Successful Proposer and paid by the Texas Lottery to the 

Successful Proposer within 60 days after the state fiscal year end. This section will be rendered 

null and void and no additional credits will be due if Texas law mandates a reduction to the prize 

payout percentage. 

 

Texas Lottery-Specified Options 

Proposers are required to submit specifications and pricing for the following Specified Options.  

The unit cost is a one-time fee that is for the use of the equipment or services for the remainder 

of the Contract.   

a. In-counter Ticket Dispensing Unit (Section 7.12). The Proposer must offer an 

automated in-counter ticket dispensing unit.  The Proposer shall thoroughly describe the 

design, installation, maintenance and functionality of the unit. If the Texas Lottery 

exercises this option, the Successful Proposer must install and maintain the units. 

Price Per Unit: __________  

b. In-lane Terminals (Section 7.12). The Proposer must offer an in-lane terminal designed 

for use in multi-lane stores such as supermarkets. The Proposer shall thoroughly describe 

the design, installation, maintenance and functionality of the terminal. If the Texas 

Lottery exercises this option, the Successful Proposer must install and maintain the 

terminals. 

Price Per Unit: __________  

Texas Lottery-Invited Options 
 
Proposers are not required to submit specifications and pricing for Invited Options.  The unit 

cost is a one-time fee that is for the use of the equipment or services for the remainder of the 

Contract. 

a. Single Instant Ticket Accounting (Section 7.3). As an Invited Option, the Proposer 

must describe if its Lottery Gaming System will support single Instant Ticket accounting.  

This includes the functionality to track all transactions (e.g., location, status, sales, 

validation, etc.) and activities at the ticket level.   
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Price: __________  

b. Specialty Terminals and Equipment (Section 7.12) As an Invited Option, the Proposer 

may offer specialty terminals and equipment, to include new and emerging technology, 

for future deployment. 

Price Per Unit: __________  

 
Offered Options 

The Proposer should respond to this section on sheets attached hereto the price for Proposer-

offered optional items.  Clearly identify the items offered and the terms under which they are 

offered.  Proposers are not required to submit any Offered Options. 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

____________________________________________________ 

Signature of person authorized to contractually bind the Proposer 

 

____________________________________________________ 

Printed Name 

 

____________________________________________________ 

Title 

 

____________________________________________________ 

Date 
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RECITALS 

 

A. Company wishes to receive certain trade secret, confidential and proprietary 
information (hereinafter, collectively “Information”) pertaining to the Request for 
Proposals for Lottery Operations and Services 362-10-0001, including, but not limited 
to, information relevant to Lottery security or information that is claimed to be proprietary 
by third parties. Company wishes to receive the Information for the sole purpose of 
responding to the Request for Proposals for Lottery Operations and Services 362-10-
0001. 

 

B. Company is willing to receive the Information on the terms and conditions set forth 
herein. 

 

Therefore, Company agrees as follows: 

 

1. That the disclosure of Information by the Texas Lottery Commission (“TLC”) to 
Company is in strictest confidence and thus Company shall: 

 

a. (1) Except in accordance with Section 1(c) of this disclosure, not disclose to 
any other person the Information and (2) use at least the same degree of care to 
maintain the Information secret as the Company uses in maintaining as secret its 
own secret information, but always at least a reasonable degree of care; 

 

b. Use the Information only for the purposes stated herein; 

 

c. Restrict disclosure of the Information solely to those directors, officers, 
employees and agents of Company having a need to know such Information in 
order to accomplish the purpose stated herein; 

 

d. Advise each such director, officer, employee or agent, before he or she 
receives access to the Information, of the obligations of Company under this 
Non-Disclosure Statement, and require each such director, officer, employee and 
agent to maintain those obligations; 

 

e. Within fifteen (15) days following the earlier of (i) the deadline for submission 
of Proposals (if Company does not submit a Proposal) or (ii) request of TLC, 
return to TLC all documentation, copies, notes, diagrams, and other materials 
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containing any portion of the Information, or confirm to TLC, in writing, the 
destruction of such materials; and 

 

f. Immediately upon sale of Company or merger of Company with a third party, 
return to TLC all documentation, copies, notes, diagrams, and other materials 
containing any portion of the Information, or confirm to TLC, in writing, the 
destruction of such materials. 

 

2. This Non-Disclosure Statement imposes no obligation on Company with respect to 
any portion of the Information received from TLC which: (a)(1) was known to the 
Company prior to disclosure by TLC, and (2) the Company has no obligation not to 
disclose or use; (b) is lawfully obtained by the Company from a third party under no 
obligation of confidentiality; (c) is or becomes generally known or available other than by 
unauthorized disclosure; (d) is independently developed by the Company; or (e) is 
generally disclosed by TLC to third parties without any obligation on the third parties. 

 

3. This Non-Disclosure Statement imposes no obligation on Company with respect to 
any portion of the Information disclosed by TLC, unless such portion is (a) disclosed in a 
written document or machine readable media marked “CONFIDENTIAL” at the time of 
disclosure or (b) disclosed orally to Company as being confidential.  

 

4. The Information shall remain the sole property of TLC. 

 

5. TLC DOES NOT MAKE ANY REPRESENTATION WITH RESPECT TO AND DOES 
NOT WARRANT ANY INFORMATION PROVIDED UNDER THIS NON-DISCLOSURE 
STATEMENT, BUT SHALL FURNISH SUCH IN GOOD FAITH. WITHOUT 
RESTRICTING THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING, TLC DOES NOT MAKE 
ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, WHETHER WRITTEN OR ORAL, 
STATUTORY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WITH RESPECT TO THE INFORMATION 
WHICH MAY BE PROVIDED HEREUNDER, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, 
ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE. TLC SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR 
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OF ANY NATURE WHATSOEVER RESULTING FROM 
RECEIPT OR USE OF THE INFORMATION BY THE COMPANY. 

 

6. In the event of a breach or threatened breach or intended breach of this Non-
Disclosure Statement by Company, TLC, in addition to any other rights and remedies 
available to it at law or in equity, shall be entitled to preliminary and final injunctions 
enjoining and restraining such breach or threatened breach or intended breach. 

 

7. This Non-Disclosure Statement is governed by the laws of the state of Texas. 
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8. The rights and obligations of the Company under this Non-Disclosure Statement may 
not be sold, assigned or otherwise transferred. 

 

This Non-Disclosure Statement is binding upon Company, and upon its directors, 
officers, employees and agents. This Non-Disclosure Statement is effective as of the 
date of execution by Company and will continue indefinitely. However, Company’s 
obligations of confidentiality and restrictions on use of the Information disclosed by TLC 
shall survive termination of this Non-Disclosure Statement. 

 

Company Name 
 

 

Address 
 

 

City, State, Zip Code 
 

 

Authorized Representative Name  
(Printed) 

 

Authorized Representative Signature 
 

 

Title of Authorized Representative 
 

 

Date 
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The Proposer must provide start-up costs through conversion plus estimated first quarter 

operating costs.  

 

Start-Up Costs: 
 

Primary and Backup Data Center   $_________________ 

 

Software Development    $_________________ 

 

Communications Network    $_________________ 

 

Call Center      $_________________ 

 

Terminal Equipment     $_________________ 

 

Terminal Installation, Maintenance & Repair $_________________ 

 

Lottery Sales Representatives    $_________________ 

 

Corporate Overhead     $_________________ 

 

First Quarter Operating Costs: 
 

Operating Costs     $_________________ 

 

 

___________________________________________________ 

Signature of person authorized to contractually bind the Proposer 

 

____________________________________________________ 

Printed Name 

 

____________________________________________________ 

Title 

 

____________________________________________________ 

Date 
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 Current Facilities 

1.1 Texas Lottery Facilities 

Texas Lottery Headquarters: 611 E. 6th Street, Austin, Texas 78701.  

Table 135. Texas Lottery Claim Centers 

TLC Claim Center Address 

Abilene 

209 S. Danville,   

Suite C-103  

Abilene, TX  79605 

Amarillo  

7120 IH-40 West,  

Suite 110,  

Park West Office Centre  

Amarillo, TX  79106 

Austin 
611 E. 6th Street  

Austin, TX  78701 

Beaumont 
6444 Concord Rd.  

Beaumont, TX  77708 

Corpus Christi 
4639 Corona, Suite 19  

Corpus Christi, TX  78411 

Dallas 

1555 West Mockingbird Lane,  

Suite 203  

Oakbrook Plaza  

Dallas, TX  75235 

El Paso 
401 East Franklin Avenue, Suite 150  

El Paso, TX  79901 

Fort Worth 

4040 Fossil Creek Blvd.,  

Suite 102  

Fort Worth, TX  76137 

Houston  

 

1919 N. Loop W., Suite 100  

Houston, TX  77008 

Laredo 

1202 Del Mar Blvd.,  

Suite 4  

Laredo, TX  78045 

Lubbock 

6202 Iola Ave  

Suite #900A  

Lubbock, TX 79424 

McAllen 
4501 West Business 83  

McAllen, TX  78501 

Odessa  

 

4682 E. University,  

Suite 100  

Odessa, TX  79762 

San Antonio 
9514 Console, Suite 111  

San Antonio, TX  78229 

Tyler 3800 Paluxy Drive,  
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Suite 330  

Tyler, TX  75703 

Victoria 

2601 Azalea,  

Suite 16  

Victoria, TX  77901 

1.2 Lottery Operator Facilities 

This section contains a list of locations that the current Lottery Operator utilizes for services 

rendered to the Texas Lottery:  

Table 136. Lottery Operator Facilities 

City 
Total Sq. 

Ft. 

Office 

Space 
Warehouse Type of Space 

Abilene 8,020 5,100 2,920 Office/Warehouse 

Austin 24,320 8,000 16,320 Data Center 

Austin 70,900 10,000 60,900 Instant Ticket Warehouse 

Austin 42,537 42,537 0 Technology Hub 

Austin 19,976 19,976 0 Office 

El Paso 4,126 2,026 2,100 Office/Warehouse 

Houston 16,100 7,100 9,000 Office/Warehouse 

Irving 45,800 23,800 22,000 General Warehouse 

Lubbock 6,000 2,000 4,000 Office/Warehouse 

McAllen 6,000 3,180 2,820 Office 

San Antonio 13,738 8,223 5,515 Office/Warehouse 

Tyler 6,000 2,322 3,678 Office/Warehouse 

Victoria 6,000 2,748 3,252 Office/Warehouse 

 Lottery Operations and Services 

2.1 Current Lottery Operator 

The Texas Lottery contracts with GTECH Corporation (GTECH) for lottery operations and 

services. The current contract expires August 31, 2011.  

2.1.1 Lottery Gaming System 

The Lottery Gaming System is an integrated data processing system that performs lottery 

functions, including but not limited to: 

1) Real time processing/reporting of all sales, ticket validation and inventory 

transactions. 

2) Capability to support a network of approximately thirty thousand (30,000) on-line 

devices.    

3) Processing up to two hundred thousand (200,000) sales transactions per minute. 
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4) Maintaining processing capabilities of three thousand (3,000) combined cash 

(validation) and cancel transactions per minute. 

5) Providing for primary system recovery (failover) accomplished with no loss of 

transactions.  

6) Providing processing and storage capacity to accommodate at a minimum two 

hundred (200) concurrent instant games.  

7) Supporting up to one hundred thousand (100,000) active and cancelled Retailers. 

2.1.2 Lottery Management System 

The Lottery Management System performs management functions such as Retailer maintenance 

and license application processing, Retailer accounting, inventory management, access control, 

on-line and instant game management, on-line and instant game promotions control, and 

reporting. The Lottery Management System also includes an Internal Control System that 

independently processes all daily sales, validation, inventory, claims, and Retailer management 

and accounting activity for auditing, balancing and reporting purposes.   

NOTE: The Lottery Operator contracts with Elsym, a third party vendor for the provision of the 

Texas Lottery‘s Internal Control System. 

2.1.3 Communications Network 

The communications network is a satellite and land-based system that links all computer sites, 

including primary and backup data centers, the Texas Lottery headquarters and backup site, all 

warehouses, claim centers and lottery Retailers.  

2.1.4 Retailer Terminals 

Retailer Terminals require user identification/verification, and support sales, ticket validation, 

and Retailer reporting for all Texas Lottery games. Lottery Operator services include the 

installation, support, maintenance and repair for the following equipment: 

Table 137. Retailer Terminal Equipment 

Equipment Type 
Number of Devices 

Contracted 
Devices Installed 

Lottery Terminals 16,500 16,469 

Mid-range specialty Terminals (On-Line Tickets, Quick Pick 

only) 
2,500 281 

Self-service Terminals 1,000 838 

Instant ticket vending machines (ITVMs) 1,483 1,471 

Gamepoint (combination On-Line and Instant Terminals) 1,000 152 

Express Point Check-a-ticket Terminals 15,050 7,644 

The installation and maintenance activities are performed by Lottery Operator field service 

technicians. Lottery Operator services also include related training of Retailer staff. 
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2.1.5 Marketing Research, Promotions and Lottery Sales Representatives 

Marketing and sales staff are located statewide and provide a direct link to the Lottery‘s Retailers 

and players. Sales and marketing activities can be generally categorized as follows:  

 Marketing Assistance - Marketing includes such things as the development of sales 

programs, player/Retailer promotions and Retailer incentive planning, game 

development, merchandising ideas, etc.  

 Promotional Events – Promotional activities are conducted throughout the state with a 

minimum of four (4) selling events and three (3) non-selling events annually in each of 

the ten (10) sales districts.  

 Lottery Sales Representatives – Approximately one hundred and thirty-five (135) field 

sales personnel who are responsible for visiting most Retailers at least twice every month 

(a small percentage of Retailers may be visited only once every month due to their 

Terminal type) to provide training on lottery games and equipment, ensure adequate 

lottery supplies are available, and distribute marketing items such as signage and point of 

sale materials. Sales representatives must also be able to make visits to individual or all 

retail locations to address immediate business needs of the Texas Lottery upon request. 

These services also include relationship/sales management with all corporate and chain 

accounts. 

Table 138. Promotions Equipment 

Equipment Description 
Number of Devices 

Contracted 

Large Lone Star Spinning Wheels 16 

Small Lone Star Spinning Wheels 50 

Legends for Spinning Winner 5 

Promotional Trailers 12 

PA Systems 10 

 

Table 139. Marketing & POS Items 

Item Description 
Number of Devices 

Contracted 
Devices Installed 

Starlet/Starlite 7,000 11,721 

Neon Lights Not Limited 8,227 

Playstation Not Limited 13,575 

VFD 15,000 8,043 

Programmable Sign 8,000 4,615 

Curb Sign TLC Procured 5,150 

Instant Ticket Bins Not Limited 15,955 
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2.1.6 Instant and On-Line Ticket Stock Warehousing, Packing and Distribution 

All shipping and receiving functions for instant tickets are provided from a secured central 

distribution center. The Lottery Operator also maintains secure warehousing facilities in each of 

the ten (10) sales districts for the storage and distribution of on-line game ticket stock (roll 

stock), playslips and promotional items. Packing and distribution functions include filling orders, 

ticket packaging, documentation, and the security and destruction of unsold, returned or unused 

tickets. Delivery of instant tickets to Retailers is contracted with UPS. On-Line ticket stock (roll 

stock) is distributed by Lottery Sales Representatives and maintenance staff during their 

scheduled Retailer visits. 

 Estimated number of instant ticket packs shipped from the Lottery Operator 

warehouse in Austin to Retailers statewide on an annual basis - 8,860,221 

o Total Number of Packages Shipped (2008): 1,486,697 

o Average Per Month: 123,697 

o Total Weight: 8,867,400 lbs. 

o Average Weight Per Month: 738,950 lbs. 

 Estimated number of instant ticket packs (partial and full) collected by Lottery 

Operator Sales Representatives from Retailers and returned to Austin warehouse on 

an annual basis - 653,889  

 Instant ticket destructions are conducted approximately four (4) times annually 

2.1.7 Ticket Order Processing and Telemarketing 

Staff process instant ticket orders and perform telemarketing functions, manage system generated 

orders and take phone orders from Retailers.   

2.1.8 Call Center 

The Lottery Operator maintains a toll-free Retailer Call Center.  The Call Center support system 

is a customer service telephone assistance group that is responsible for responding to Retailer 

complaints, questions, and concerns. Call Center operators provide Retailers with information on 

how to use their Terminals, help identify and resolve issues with on-line Terminal performance, 

and receive reports of lost or stolen tickets from Retailers. 

Current average number of calls per year = 70,000 

2.2 Current Games 

The Games of Texas are the body of games that the Texas Lottery makes available to the playing 

public. These include instant games and on-line games. The Texas Lottery currently offers six 

on-line games. Drawings are conducted twice daily, six days a week. The Lottery also supports a 

diverse collection of instant ticket products offered at different price points. Over one hundred 

(100) instant games, approximately two per week, were introduced during FY 2009.  Instant 

Ticket products represent approximately seventy-five percent (75%) of overall lottery sales.  

Sales – Fiscal year 2009 (September 1, 2008 – August 31, 2009) 
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 Instant - $2,783,836,095 

 On-Line - $887,641,858 

2.3 Retailer Base 

As of September 30, 2009, there are 16,648 active Retailer locations and 59,489 cancelled 

Retailer locations. The types and number of Retailer locations are identified below: 

Table 140. Retailer Locations 

Number of 

Locations NAICS Code NAICS 

1 312229 Other Tobacco Product Manufacturing 

1 424710 Petroleum Bulk Stations and Terminals 

3 424720 

Petroleum & Petroleum Products Merchant Wholesalers (except Bulk Stations & 

Terminals) 

1 443120 Computer and Software Stores 

2074 445110 Supermarkets and Other Grocery (except Convenience) Stores 

1430 445120 Convenience Stores 

1 445220 Fish and Seafood Markets 

1 445299 All Other Specialty Food Stores 

817 445310 Beer, Wine, and Liquor Stores 

11687 447110 Gasoline Stations with Convenience Stores 

158 447190 Other Gasoline Stations 

1 451120 Hobby, Toy, and Game Stores 

4 451212 News Dealers and Newsstands 

105 452910 Warehouse Clubs and Supercenters 

1 452990 All Other General Merchandise Stores 

3 453310 Used Merchandise Stores 

88 522390 Other Activities Related to Credit Intermediation 

9 532230 Video Tape and Disc Rental 

4 561439 Other Business Service Centers (including Copy Shops) 

24 722110 Full-Service Restaurants 

2 811192 Car Washes 

233 999999 (Does Not Exist) Other 

NOTE: Additional detailed information will be provided at the mandatory Pre-Proposal 

Conferences. 
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 Texas Lottery Retained Functions 

The Texas Lottery has retained a number of functions for security reasons or because they are 

more appropriately performed in-house. These in-house functions, which include Retailer 

licensing, high-tier prize payment, Retailer accounts receivable, call support for Retailer 

licensing and accounting matters, drawings for On-Line games, fund accounting, player 

information services, security, communications, and marketing oversight are operated and 

supported through a number of internal systems,  and updated by the Lottery Gaming System, 

provided by the Lottery Operator. 
Figure 1. Texas Lottery Org Chart 
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 37 CLASS 037 - AMUSEMENT, DECORATIONS, ENTERTAINMENT, GIFTS, TOYS, 
ETC. 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  25   Carnival and Fair Equipment, Accessories and Supplies 
 52   Novelties and Advertising Specialty Products, Including Biodegradable 
 

 71 CLASS 071 - AUTOMOBILES, SCHOOL BUSES, SUVS, AND VANS (INCLUDING 
DIESEL, GASOLINE, ELECTRIC, HYBRID, AND ALL OTHER FUEL TYPES) 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  04   Automobiles and Station Wagons 
 55   Motor Homes (Incl. Bookmobiles, Mobile and Field Offices, etc.) 
 77   Specialty Vehicles 
 80   SUV Type Vehicles (Incl. Carryalls) 
 90   Vans, Cargo 
 91   Vans, Customized 
 92   Vans, Passenger (Regular and Handicapped Equipped) 
 

 72 CLASS 072 - TRUCKS (INCLUDING, DIESEL, GASOLINE, ELECTRIC, HYBRID, 
AND ALTERNATIVE FUEL UNITS) 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  02   Class 2 Trucks (6,001 - 10,000 lb. GVWR) 
 03   Class 3 Trucks (10,001 - 14,000  lb. GVWR) 
 04   Class 4 Trucks (14,001 - 16,000  lb. GVWR) 
 

 73 CLASS 073 - TRAILERS 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  10   Trailers, Semi, Enclosed 
 14   Trailers, Specialty, Enclosed, Tag-Along 
 15   Trailers, Specialty, Frame, Tag-Along 
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200 CLASS 200 - CLOTHING: ATHLETIC, CASUAL, DRESS, UNIFORM, WEATHER 
AND WORK RELATED 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  70   Shirts, Dress and Casual 
 74   Silk Screened Shirts, Jackets, Hats, etc. 
 

 204 CLASS 204 - COMPUTER HARDWARE AND PERIPHERALS FOR 
MICROCOMPUTERS 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  13   Cables: Printer, Disk, Network, etc. 
 48   Keyboards 
 53   Microcomputers, Desktop or Towerbased 
 54   Microcomputers, Handheld, Laptop, and Notebook 
 60   Monitors, Color and Monochrome (CGA, VGA, SVGA, etc.) 
 64   Network Components: Adapter Cards, Bridges, Connectors, Expansion 

Modules/Ports, Firewall Devices, Hubs, Line Drivers, MSAUs, Routers, 
Transceivers, etc. 

 68   Peripherals, Miscellaneous: Joy Sticks, Graphic Digitizers, Light Pens, Mice, 
Pen Pads, Trackballs, Secure I.D. Access Cards, Headsets and Microphones, etc. 

 75   Printers, Dot Matrix 

 76   Printers, Inkjet 

 77   Printers, Laser 
 79   Printers, Digital 
 80   Printers, Thermal 
 82   Printers, Microcomputer (Not Otherwise Classified) 
 88   Scanners, Document: Handheld, Desktop and High Volume 
 89   Scanners and Readers, Magnetic Strip 
 90   Scanners and Readers, Optical Character and Magnetic Type: Bar Code, 

Remittance Scanner/Processors, Point of Sale Scanners, etc. 
 91   Servers, Microcomputer (Application, Database, File, Mail, Network, Web, etc) 
 93   Terminals and CRTs: Data Processing Systems 
 

 206 CLASS 206 - COMPUTER HARDWARE AND PERIPHERALS FOR MINI AND MAIN 
FRAME COMPUTERS 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  14   Cables: Printer, Disk, Network, etc. 
 21   Communication Control Units: Concentrators, Multiplexers, Couplers, etc. 
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 23   Communication Processors and Protocol Converters: Front-End Processor, 
Network Interface Module, Protocol Interchange, Switching  Controls,etc. 

 25   Computer Systems, Digital 
 31   Controllers, Disk: Disk Subsystems, etc. 
 32   Controllers, Local and Remote 
 34   Controllers, Peripheral: Plotters, Printers, Digitizers, etc. 
 54   Geographic Information Systems (GIS) 
 59   Modems, External Data Communications 
 61   Monitors, Color and Monochrome (CGA, VGA, SVGA, etc.) 
 64   Network Components: Adapter Cards, Bridges, Connectors, Expansion 

Modules/Ports, Hubs, Line Drivers, MSAUs, Routers, Transceivers, etc. 
 70   Printer Sharing Devices 
 71   Printers, Dot Matrix 
 72   Printers, High Speed, Line Printers, and Printer Subsystems 
 73   Printers, Inkjet 
 74   Printers, Laser 
 77   Printers, Thermal 
 78   Printers, Mainframe Computer (Not Otherwise Classified) 
 80   Retrieval Systems, Computer Aided: Indexing, Retrieval and Access Systems 

(CD ROM Jukebox, etc.) 
 84   Scanners, Document: Handheld, Desktop, and High Volume 
 85   Scanners and Readers, Magnetic Strip 
 86   Scanners and Readers, Optical Character: Bar Code, Remittance  

Scanner/Processors, etc. 
 87   Servers, Mini/Mainframe Computer (Application, Database, File, Mail, 

Network, Web, etc.) 
 89   Storage Devices, Electronic (Disk Drive Compatible) 
 93   Terminals and CRTs: Data Processing Systems 
 

 207 CLASS 207 - COMPUTER ACCESSORIES AND SUPPLIES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  10   Batteries, Computer and Peripheral 
 14   Battery Chargers, Computer and Peripheral 
 30   Compact Disks, DVD, ROM, etc. 
 42   Diskettes, Disk Packs, Floppy Diskettes, Labels, etc. 
 67   Power Supplies: Surge Protectors, Uninterruptible Power Supplies,  

Switches, etc. 
 72   Printer Accessories and Supplies: Chemicals, Forms Tractors, Inks and 

Cartridges, Paper, Label Sheets, Sheet Feeders, Toner Cartridges Wheels, etc. 

 84   Storage Devices for Tapes and Diskettes: Containers, Racks, etc. 
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 85   Systems Environmental Monitor for Computer Rooms 
 87   Tapes, Tape Cartridges, Tape Cassettes, Tape Reels, Tape Labels, etc. 
 

 208 CLASS 208 - COMPUTER SOFTWARE FOR MICROCOMPUTERS 
(PREPROGRAMMED) 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  32   Customer Relationship Management Software (CRM) 
 44   E-Mail Software 
 55   Inventory Management 
 56   Logistics and Supply Chain Software 
 68   Project Management 
 82   Scientific, Statistical, Engineering, Mathematical, and Mapping  Software 

(Including Photogrammetry) 
 83   Shipping and Postal Management Software 
 84   Spread Sheet Software 
 94   Word Processing, Text Editors, Spell Checkers 

 

 209 CLASS 209 - COMPUTER SOFTWARE FOR MINI AND MAINFRAME COMPUTERS 
(PREPROGRAMMED) 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  28   Communications: Networking, Linking, etc. 
 49   Geographic Information System (GIS) Software 
 54   Internet and Web Site Software for Main Frame Computers 
 56   Inventory Management 
 59   Logistics and Supply Chain Software 
 69   Project Management 
 70   Printing Software (Mini/Mainframe Computer) 
 82   Scientific, Statistical, Engineering, Mathematical, and Mapping Software 

(Including Photogrammetry) 
 84   Shipping and Postal Management Software 
 91   Utilities: Back-up, Batch File, Menus, Network Management, Operating 

System, Recovery, Screen, Security, Virus Protection, etc. 
         
285 CLASS 285 - ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES (EXCEPT CABLE AND 

WIRE) 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  37   Generators, Portable, Engine Driven (Including Fog and Mist Types) 
 39   Generators, Stationary Type (Not Automotive) 
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 96   Uninterruptible Power Supplies 
 

 340 CLASS 340 - FIRE PROTECTION EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  20   Fire Detecting Equipment 
 29   Fire Extinguisher Systems, Complete, All Types (See Item 28 for Individual 

Extinguishers) 
 

 345 CLASS: 345 FIRST AID AND SAFETY EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES (EXCEPT 
NUCLEAR AND WELDING) 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
         

 32   First Aid Cabinets, Kits, and Refills 
 

 405 CLASS 405 - FUEL, OIL, GREASE AND LUBRICANTS 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  03   Butane and Propane (Including Liquefied Petroleum Gas) 
 

 425 CLASS 425 - FURNITURE: OFFICE 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  03   Bookcases and Bookshelves, Metal and Wood 
 06   Chairs, Metal 
 07   Chairs, Wood 
 17   Data Processing Furniture, Metal and Plastic (For Storage Cabinets See Item 

87) 
 18   Data Processing Office Furniture, Wood (Not Storage Cabinets -See Item 87) 
 20   Desks and Tables, Metal 
 21   Desks and Tables, Wood 
 40   Filing Cabinets, Metal: Card, Jumbo, Lateral, Legal, and Letter 
 41   Filing Cabinets, Wood: Card, Lateral, Legal, and Letter 
 42   Filing Systems, Mobile, High Density (Electrical and Mechanical) 
 44   Fire Files 
 47   Floors, Raised Access Type (For Data Processing Equipment) 
 48   Furniture, Office (Custom Made) 
 49   Hutches for Desks, Credenzas, etc. 
 54   Modular Panel Systems, (With Metal Connecting Mechanism) 
 55   Modular Panel Systems, (With Synthetic Connecting Mechanism) 



 

 

PAGE 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR                                       ATTACHMENTS 

LOTTERY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES   
 

 

 58   Plastic, Polypropylene, Fiberglass Office Furniture: Chairs, Desks, Tables, 
etc. 

 60   Posture Chairs (Ergonomic) 

 62   Racks, Metal, Stationary and Mobile 
 80   Shelving, Metal (Not Library or Shop) 
 81   Shelving, Mobile, Track Type 
 83   Stands, Office Equipment and Machines 
 87   Storage Cabinets, Data Processing 
 89   Storage Cabinets, Metal 
 94   Work Stations, Modular, Systems Furniture 
 

 560 CLASS 560 - MATERIAL HANDLING, CONVEYORS, STORAGE EQUIPMENT AND 
ACCESSORIES 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  15   Conveyors, Belt Type: Canvas, Metal, and Rubber 
 21   Conveyors, Gravity, Roller Type, Aluminum and Steel Frames 
 24   Conveyors, Gravity, Wheel Type, Aluminum and Steel Frames 
 27   Conveyors, Pneumatic 
 30   Conveyors, Powered, Roller Type 
 48   Lifters and Stackers, Hydraulic and Powered 
 49   Lifting and Loading Equipment and Accessories (Not Otherwise Classified) 
 53   Pallet Storage Racks 
 54   Pallets and Skids (Metal, Plastic, Wood) 
 61   Moving Devices, Equipment 
 63   Trucks, Dolly 
 66   Trucks, Hand, Shelf 
 69   Trucks, Hand, Two-Wheeled 
 72   Trucks, Lift, Hand Operated 
 75   Trucks, Lift, Powered: Fork Lifts, etc. 
 78   Trucks, Pallet, Hand Operated and Powered 
 82   Storage, Shelving, and Accessories (Not Otherwise Classified) 
 83   Warehouse Equipment and Supplies (Not Otherwise Classified) 
 

 578 CLASS 578 - MISCELLANEOUS PRODUCTS (NOT OTHERWISE CLASSIFIED) 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  31   Display and Showroom Equipment and Supplies  (Including Exhibit Booths) 
 

  

 600 CLASS 600 - OFFICE MACHINES, EQUIPMENT, AND ACCESSORIES 
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 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  36   Check Machines: Protection, Signing, Writing, etc. 

 38   Copy Machines, Bond (Plain) Paper Type Including Parts and Accessories 
 42   Copy Machines, Including Parts and Accessories 
 43   Copy Machines, Digital-Networked 
 46   Copy Machines, Digital 
 61   Fax Machines, Parts and Supplies (See Class 726 for Industrial Type and 

Class 645 for Paper) 
 62   Folding Machines 
 71   Mailing, Packaging, and Shipping Machines (Including Packaging Material 

Dispensing Machines) 
 72   Multi-Function Office Machines (Combination of Fax-Copier-Scanner-Printer, 

etc.) 
 77   Postage Meters 
 80   Postage Meter Supplies 
 82   Shredders, Paper and Media 
 

 610 CLASS 610 - OFFICE SUPPLIES: CARBON PAPER AND RIBBONS, ALL TYPES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  56   Ribbons, Computer and Data Processing, All Types (For Tab See  610-73) 
 

 615  CLASS 615 - OFFICE SUPPLIES, GENERAL 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  ALL - refer to Commodity Code List at:  
 http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement//com_book/com_615.html  

 

 620 CLASS 620 - OFFICE SUPPLIES: ERASERS, INKS, LEADS, PENS, PENCILS, ETC. 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  ALL - refer to Commodity Code List at: 

 http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement//com_book/com_620.html  

 

 640 CLASS 640 -  PAPER AND PLASTIC PRODUCTS, DISPOSABLE 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  25   Corrugated Boxes and Sheets (Including Fillers) 
 43   Packing Materials for Mailing and Shipping (Not Containers) 
 44   Packing List Envelopes (Plastic and Paper), Self Adhesive 

http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/com_book/com_615.html
http://www.window.state.tx.us/procurement/com_book/com_620.html
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 645 CLASS 645 - PAPER (FOR OFFICE AND PRINT SHOP USE) 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  21   Bond Paper (Including Recycled) 
 64   Offset Paper, Including Recycled 
 80   Stationery w/Envelopes (Including Recycled) 
 

 665 CLASS 665 - PLASTICS, RESINS, FIBERGLASS: CONSTRUCTION, FORMING, 
LAMINATING,  AND MOLDING EQUIPMENT, ACCESSORIES, AND SUPPLIES 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  82   Shrink Film Packaging Equipment and Supplies 
 83   Stretch Film and Wrapping Equipment 
 

 726 CLASS 726 - RADIO COMMUNICATION EQUIPMENT, ACCESSORIES, AND 
SUPPLIES 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  51   Global Positioning Systems, Satellite (Global Info. System) 
 54   Ground Stations,  Satellite : Transmit/Receive and Receive Only (Including 

Antennas) 
 70   Pagers, Radio (Including Parts and Accessories) 
 84   Towers: Broadcasting, Microwave, Transmitting, etc. 
 

 801 CLASS 801 - SIGNS, SIGN MATERIALS, SIGN MAKING EQUIPMENT, AND 
RELATED SUPPLIES 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  12   Brackets and Holders, Sign 
 66   Signs, Electronic Display (Marquee, etc.) 
 76   Signs and Posters, Informational (No Smoking, Fire Extinguisher, etc.) 
 82   Signs, Magnetic 
 83   Signs, Metal (Not Blanks) 
 84   Signs, Message, Computerized 
 85   Signs, Neon 
 86   Signs, Miscellaneous (Not Otherwise Classified) 
 89   Signs, Plastic and Polyethylene (Including Blanks) 
 

 803 CLASS 803 - SOUND SYSTEMS, COMPONENTS, AND ACCESSORIES: GROUP 
INTERCOM, MUSIC, PUBLIC ADDRESS, ETC. 
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 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  60   Public Address Systems, Portable 
 

 838 CLASS 838 - TELECOMMUNICATION EQUIPMENT, ACCESSORIES AND 
SUPPLIES 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  26   Cabinets for Data, Frames, Runway, Cable Management, Raceway, Interduct 
(Telecom Closets) 

 28   Cable, Copper (Cat. 5E 6 etc) Including Interconnecting Components  and 
Accessories (See Class 280 for Other Communications Cable) 

 29  Cable, Fiber Optic w/Interconnecting Components and Accessories (See 
Class 280 for Other Communications Cable) 

 32  Communication Devices, Multi-Function (Blackberries, Palm Pilots, PDAs, etc) 
 33  Communications: Networking, Linking, Fiber Modems, Power Over  Ethernet, 

Wireless 
 34  Communication Security Systems  
 39   Consoles and Racks, Security 
 86  Telecommunicators for The Hearing and Speech Impaired 
 

 839 CLASS 839 - TELEPHONE EQUIPMENT, ACCESSORIES AND SUPPLIES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  31  Call Answering Telephone Systems, High Volume 
 32   Call Answering Telephone Systems (Low Volume) 
 35   Cellular Telephones (All Types) 
 77   Switchboards, Telephone  
 87   Telephone Systems (2-60 Stations) 
 88   Telephone Systems (Over 60 Stations) 
 

 906 CLASS 906 - ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES, PROFESSIONAL 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  07   Architect Services, Professional 
 38   General Construction - Architectural 
 52   Interior Design, Space Planning, and Exhibits/Displays 
 

 910 CLASS 910 - BUILDING MAINTENANCE, INSTALLATION AND REPAIR SERVICES 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
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  01   Acoustical Ceilings and Walls: Cleaning, Installation, Restoration, 
Maintenance and Repair (Including Panel Wall Systems) 

 06   Carpentry Maintenance and Repair Services 
 17   Energy Computerized Control System (HVAC, Lighting, Utilities, etc) 

Installation, Maintenance and Repair Services 
 27   Garbage/Trash Removal,Disposal and/or Treatment 
 36   Heating, Air Conditioning, and Ventilation Maintenance and Repair Services 

(Including Installation) 
 39   Janitorial/Custodial Services 
 52   Maintenance and Repair Services, Building (Not Otherwise Classified) 
 56   Panel Wall Systems Installation, Maintenance, and Repair 
 65   Remodeling and Alterations 
 82   Wiring and Other Electrical Maintenance and Repair Services 
 

 915 CLASS 915 -   COMMUNICATION AND RELATED MEDIA RELATED SERVICES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  22   Communications Marketing Services 
 23   Conference Coordinating and Planning Services 
 48   Graphic Arts Services (Not Printing) 
 49   High Volume, Telephone Call Answering Services (See 915-05 for Low 

Volume Services) 
 51   Information Highway Electronic Services (Internet, World Wide Web, Virtual 

Tours to Include Construction Renderings, etc.) 
 58   Mailing Services (Includes, Addressing, Collating, Packaging, Sorting and 

Delivery) 
 59   Mail Services, Express 
 75   Telephone Services, Cellular 
 

76  Telephone Services Includes Installation, Moves, Changes, Adds, 
Programming, Removal, Training, etc. (To Include Pay Telephones) 

 77   Telephone Services, Long Distance and Local (Including 800, Telex, Watts 
Services, and Offender Telephone Systems) 

 84   Video Recording 
 96   Web Page Design, Management and Maintenance Services 
 

 918 CLASS 918 - CONSULTING SERVICES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  28   Computer Hardware Consulting 
 29   Computer Software Consulting 
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 30   Computer Network Consulting 
 76   Marketing Consulting 
 89   Real Estate/Land Consulting (Including Land Survey Consulting) 
 95   Telecommunications Consulting 
 

 920 CLASS 920 - DATA PROCESSING, COMPUTER, PROGRAMMING, AND 
SOFTWARE SERVICES 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  03   Application Service Provider (ASP) (Web Based Hosted) 
 23   Data Recovery Services 
 24   Data Conversion Services 
 31   Installation of Computers, Peripherals, and Related Equipment (Including 

Software) 
 33   Mapping Services, Digitized, Cartography (See 962-52 for Standard Mapping 

Services) 
 37   Networking Services (Including Installation and Maintenance ) 
 40   Programming Services, Computer 
 45   Software Maintenance/Support 
 91   Training, Computer Based (Software Supported) 
 

 924 CLASS 924 - EDUCATIONAL/TRAINING SERVICES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  16   Course Development Services, Instructional/Training 
 35   In-Service Training (For Employees) 
 

 926 CLASS 926 - ENVIRONMENTAL AND ECOLOGICAL SERVICES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  77 -  Recycling Services 
 

 928 CLASS 928 - EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR SERVICES FOR 
AUTOMOBILES, TRUCKS, TRAILERS, TRANSIT BUSES AND OTHER VEHICLES 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  
47   General Maintenance and Repair, Vehicle (Not Otherwise Classified), to 
Include Oil Changes, Lubrication, Guaranteed Maintenance Programs, etc.  (See 
928-88 for Tune-Ups) 

 67   Road Services, Vehicle (Includes Mobile Repair Services) 
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936 CLASS 936 - EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR SERVICES FOR 
GENERAL EQUIPMENT 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  09   Alarm Equipment Maintenance/Repair (Fire, etc.) 
 

33   Fire Protection Equipment and Systems Including Fire Hydrants, Fire 
Sprinkler Systems, Smoke Detectors, Jaws of Life, Fire Protection Material 
Treatment, etc. Maintenance and Repair 

 34   Fire Extinguisher Maintenance (Including Recharging) and Repair 
 37   Gates, Electric (Card Reader, etc.) Maintenance and Repair 
 73   Security and Access Systems Maintenance and Repair 
 

 939 CLASS 939 - EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR SERVICES FOR 
COMPUTERS, OFFICE, PHOTOGRAPHIC, AND RADIO/TELEVISION EQUIPMENT 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  21   Computers, Data Processing Equipment and Accessories (Not Word 
Processing Equipment), Maintenance and Repair 

 59   Office Equipment, Filing Systems, etc., Maintenance and Repair 
 72   Radio/Telecommunications/Telephone Equipment (Including 911 Systems 

and Facsimile Transceivers) Maintenance and Repair 
 

 946 CLASS 946 - FINANCIAL SERVICES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  10  Accounting and Billing Services (Including Payroll Services, 3rd Party 
Reimbursement for Medicare, Medicaid, Private Insurance, etc) 

 20  Auditing 
 31  Certified Public Accountant (CPA) Services 
 54  Installment Purchase/Lease Purchase Financing and Lease With Option to 

Purchase Financing 
 

 961 CLASS 961 - MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES, NO. 1 (NOT OTHERWISE 
CLASSIFIED) 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  30  Employment Agency and Search Firm Services (Including Background 
Investigations and Drug Testing for Employment) 

 53  Marketing Services (Incl. Distribution, Research, Sales Promotions, etc.) 

 78  Travel Agency Services 
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 962 CLASS 962 -  MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES, NO. 2 (NOT OTHERWISE 
CLASSIFIED) 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  18   Cable Construction, Installation and Maintenance (Fiber Optic, 
Communication, Computer, etc.) 

 24   Courier/Delivery Services (Including Air Courier Services) 
 46   Installation and Removal Services (Not Otherwise Classified) 
 56   Moving Services 
 69   Personnel Services, Temporary 
 86   Transportation of Goods and Other Freight Services 
 87   Travel, Local (Provided by Third Party) 
 88   Travel, Non-Local (Scheduled and Unscheduled), Provided by Third Party 

(Incl. Commercial Airplane Travel and Helicopter Services) 

 

 966 CLASS 966 - PRINTING AND TYPESETTING SERVICES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  03   Bar Code Printing 
 05   Bumper Stickers, etc.: Printed 
 07   Business Cards Printed 
 18   Copying Services (Reproduction) 
 31   Envelope Printing 
 51   Letterheads Printed 

 

57   Offset Printing, General, Small Press Work (Quan. up to 25,000), One or More 
Colors, No 4 Color Processes or Large Solids or Close Registration; up to 11 x 17 
In.: Brochures, Newsletters, Covers, Posters, etc. 

 

58   Offset Printing, General, Large Press Work (Quan. up to 100,000); One or 
More Colors, No 4 Color Processes or Close Registration Required, Finished 
Sizes May Exceed 11 x 17 In., May Have Large Solids 

 

59   Offset Printing, General, Large Production Runs on Large or Web Press 
(Quan. Over 100,000), One or More Colors, No 4 Color Processes  or Close 
Registration Required, May Exceed 11 x 17 In. and Have Large Solids 

 

60   Offset Printing, Large Production Runs (Quan. up to 100,000); 4 Color 
Process or Close Registration Required: Color Brochures, Maps, etc. 

 

61   Offset Printing, Large Production Runs (Quan. Over 100,000); 4 Color Process 
or Close Registration Required: Color Brochures, Maps, etc. 

 

68   Offset Printing, General, Large Press Work (Quan. up to 100,000); One or 
More Colors, Close Registration Required, No 4-Color Processes, Finished Sizes 
May Exceed 8-1/2 x 11 in., Newsletters, etc 
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69   Offset Printing, General, Large Press Work (Quan. up to 100,000); One or 
More Colors, Close Registration Required, No 4-Color Processes, Finished Sizes 
May Exceed 11 x 17 in., May Have Large Solids 

 70   Optical Scanning Form Printing 
 71   Paper Cutting, Drilling, Folding, Punching, Shredding, Trimming, etc. 
 81   Security Paper, Custom Printed (Quan. Over 100,000) 
 84   Silk Screen Printing 
 85   Snap-Out Form Printing (See 395-70,80 for Continuous Shelf Items) 
 

86   Specialty Printing: Die Cutting, Laser, Plastic, Thermography, etc. (Folders, 
Invitations, Tabs, Binders, etc.) 

 92   Typesetting, Hot Type (Linotype) 
 93   Typesetting, Laser 
 94   Typesetting, Photocomposition (Cold Type) 
 95   Typesetting with Modem Capability 
 

 967  CLASS 967 - PRODUCTION AND MANUFACTURING SERVICES 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  49   Metals and Metal Products 
 59   Plastics and Plastic Products (Incl. Fiberglass, Poly, etc.) 
 

 971 CLASS 971 -  REAL PROPERTY RENTAL OR LEASE 
 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  45   Office Space Rental or Lease 
 65   Room Rental or Lease for Conferences, Seminars, etc. 
 91   Warehouse Rental or Lease 
 

 975 CLASS 975 -  RENTAL OR LEASE SERVICES OF AGRICULTURAL, AIRCRAFT, 
AIRPORT,  AUTOMOTIVE, MARINE, AND HEAVY EQUIPMENT 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  14   Automobiles and Other Passenger Vehicles (Including Emergency Type) 
Rental or Lease 

 46   Material Handling Equipment and Allied Item Rental or Lease 
 86   Truck and Van Rental or Lease (Incl. Fire and Garbage Trucks) 

 88   Utility Vehicle Rental or Lease 
 

 977 RENTAL OR LEASE SERVICES OF APPLIANCES, CAFETERIA, FILM, FURNITURE, 
HARDWARE, MUSICAL, SEWING, AND WINDOW AND FLOOR COVERINGS 
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 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  85   Vending Machine Rental or Lease 
 

 985 CLASS 985 -   RENTAL OR LEASE SERVICES OF EQUIPMENT - OFFICE, 
PHOTOGRAPHIC, PRINTING, RADIO/TELEVISION/TELEPHONE EQUIPMENT 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  26   Copy Machine, Plain Paper Type (Including Cost-Per-Copy Type Leases) 
Rental or  Lease 

 

 988 CLASS 988 - ROADSIDE, GROUNDS, RECREATIONAL AND PARK AREA 
SERVICES 

 Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 
 

  15   Fence Installation, Maintenance and Repair 
 

 990 CLASS 990 -  SECURITY, FIRE, SAFETY, AND EMERGENCY SERVICES 
(INCLUDING DISASTER DOCUMENT RECOVERY) 

 
Item Number and Commodity Descriptions: 

  

 
05   Alarm Services 

 
22  Card Access Security Services 

 
42   Fire and Safety Services 

 
46   Guard and Security Services 

 
50   Installation of Security and Alarm Equipment 

 

77   Safety Training and Awareness Services (Including Highway Safety, Boating, 
Seat Belt, CPR and AED Training) 

 


